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This combined report is separately filed by Sempra Energy, San Diego Gas & Electric Company and Southern California Gas Company. Information contained herein relating to any
individual company is filed by such company on its own behalf. Each company makes st herein only as to itself and its consolidated subsidiaries and makes no statement
whatsoever as to any other company.

You should read this report in its entirety as it pertains to each respective reporting company. No one section of the report deals with all aspects of the subject matter. Separate Part I —
Item 1 sections are provided for each reporting company, except for the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
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The following terms and abbreviations appearing in the text of this report have the meanings indicated below.

GLOSSARY

2019 GRC FD final decision in the California Utilities’ 2019 General Rate Case

AB California Assembly Bill

AFUDC allowance for funds used during construction

Annual Report Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019

AOCI accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

ARO asset retirement obligation

ASC Accounting Standards Codification

ASU Accounting Standards Update

Bay Gas Bay Gas Storage Company, Ltd.

Bechtel Bechtel Oil, Gas and Chemicals, Inc.

Blade Blade Energy Partners

bps basis points

CalGEM California Geologic Energy Management Division (formerly known as Division of Oil, Gas, and Geothermal Resources or DOGGR)

California Utilities San Diego Gas & Electric Company and Southern California Gas Company, collectively

Cameron LNG JV Cameron LNG Holdings, LLC

CARB California Air Resources Board

CCM cost of capital adjustment mechanism

CFE Comision Federal de Electricidad (Federal Electricity Commission of Mexico)

Chilquinta Energia Chilquinta Energia S.A. and its subsidiaries

COVID-19 Coronavirus disease 2019

CPPMA COVID-19 Pandemic Protections Memorandum Account

CPUC California Public Utilities Commission

CRR congestion revenue right

DOE U.S. Department of Energy

ECA LNG JV ECA LNG Holdings B.V.

ECA LNG Regasification Energia Costa Azul, S. de R.L. de C.V. regasification

Ecogas Ecogas México, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Edison Southern California Edison Company, a subsidiary of Edison International

EFH Energy Future Holdings Corp. (renamed Sempra Texas Holdings Corp.)

Eletrans Eletrans S.A., Eletrans Il S.A. and Eletrans 1l S.A., collectively

EPC engineering, procurement and construction

EPS earnings per common share

ESJ Energia Sierra Juarez, S. de R.L. de C.V.

ETR effective income tax rate

FERC Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

Fitch Fitch Ratings

FTA Free Trade Agreement

GCIM Gas Cost Incentive Mechanism

GHG greenhouse gas

GRC General Rate Case

HMRC United Kingdom’s Revenue and Customs Department

IEnova Infraestructura Energética Nova, S.A.B. de C.V.

IMG JV Infraestructura Marina del Golfo

[0]V] investor-owned utility

IRS Internal Revenue Service

ISFSI independent spent fuel storage installation

ISO Independent System Operator

Y joint venture

LA Superior Court Los Angeles County Superior Court

Leak the leak at the SoCalGas Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility injection-and-withdrawal well, SS25, discovered by SoCalGas on
October 23, 2015

LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate

LIFO last in first out

LNG liquefied natural gas

LPG liquid petroleum gas

Luz del Sur Luz del Sur S.A.A. and its subsidiaries



GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)

MD&A

Mississippi Hub
MMBtu

Moody’s

MOU

Mtpa

MWh

NCI

NDT

NEIL

NOL

OcClI

oll

O&M

Oncor

Oncor Holdings
Otay Mesa VIE
PPA

PP&E

PUCT

RBS

RBS SEE

RBS Sempra Commodities
ROE

ROU

RSU

SB

SDG&E

SEC

SEDATU

Sempra Global
series A preferred stock
series B preferred stock
Sharyland Holdings
Sharyland Utilities
SoCalGas
SONGS

S&P

TAG JV

TCJA

TdM

TechnipFMC
Tecnored

Tecsur

TO4

TO5

TTHC

TTI

U.S. GAAP

VAT

Ventika

VIE

Wildfire Fund
Wildfire Legislation

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Mississippi Hub, LLC

million British thermal units (of natural gas)

Moody’s Investors Service

Memorandum of Understanding

million tonnes per annum

megawatt hour

noncontrolling interest(s)

nuclear decommissioning trusts

Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited

net operating loss

other comprehensive income (loss)

Order Instituting Investigation

operation and maintenance expense

Oncor Electric Delivery Company LLC

Oncor Electric Delivery Holdings Company LLC

Otay Mesa Energy Center LLC VIE

power purchase agreement

property, plant and equipment

Public Utility Commission of Texas

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc

RBS Sempra Energy Europe

RBS Sempra Commodities LLP

return on equity

right-of-use

restricted stock unit

California Senate Bill

San Diego Gas & Electric Company

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

Secretaria de Desarrollo Agrario, Territorial y Urbano (Mexican agency in charge of agriculture, land and urban development)
holding company for most of Sempra Energy’s subsidiaries not subject to California or Texas utility regulation
Sempra Energy’s 6% mandatory convertible preferred stock, series A
Sempra Energy’s 6.75% mandatory convertible preferred stock, series B
Sharyland Holdings, L.P.

Sharyland Utilities, L.L.C.

Southern California Gas Company

San Onofre Nuclear Generating Station

Standard & Poor’s

TAG Norte Holding, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017

Termoeléctrica de Mexicali

TP Oil & Gas Mexico, S. De R.L. De C.V., an affiliate of TechnipFMC plc
Tecnored S.A.

Tecsur S.A.

Electric Transmission Owner Formula Rate, effective through May 31, 2019
Electric Transmission Owner Formula Rate, effective June 1, 2019
Texas Transmission Holdings Corporation

Texas Transmission Investment LLC

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
value-added tax

Ventika, S.A.P.l. de C.V. and Ventika Il, S.A.P.I. de C.V., collectively
variable interest entity

the fund established pursuant to AB 1054

AB 1054 and AB 111



INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

‘We make statements in this report that are not historical fact and constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are based on assumptions with respect to the future, involve risks and uncertainties, and are not
guarantees of performance. Future results may differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements
represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the filing date of this report. We assume no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement
as a result of new information, future events or other factors.
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In this report, forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates, estimates,
“forecasts,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “will,” “confident,” “may,” “can,” “potential,” “possible,” “proposed,” “target,” “pursue,” “
or similar expressions, or when we discuss our guidance, strategy, goals, vision, mission, opportunities, projections or intentions.

plans,

2«

projects,”
outlook,” “maintain,”

Factors, among others, that could cause our actual results and future actions to differ materially from those described in any forward-looking statements
include risks and uncertainties relating to:

= California wildfires and the risk that we may be found liable for damages regardless of fault and the risk that we may not be able to recover any such
costs from insurance, the Wildfire Fund or in rates from customers;

= decisions, investigations, regulations, issuances of permits and other authorizations, renewal of franchises, and other actions by the CFE, CPUC, DOE,
PUCT, regulatory and governmental bodies and jurisdictions in the U.S. and other countries in which we operate;

= the success of business development efforts, construction projects and major acquisitions and divestitures, including risks in (i) the ability to make a final
investment decision and completing construction projects on schedule and budget; (ii) obtaining the consent of partners; (iii) counterparties’ financial or
other ability to fulfill contractual commitments; (iv) the ability to complete contemplated acquisitions and/or divestitures; and (v) the ability to realize
anticipated benefits from any of these efforts once completed;

= the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our (i) ability to commence and complete capital and other projects and obtain regulatory approvals, (ii)
supply chain and current and prospective counterparties, contractors, customers, employees and partners, (iii) liquidity, resulting from bill payment
challenges experienced by our customers, decreased stability and accessibility of the capital markets and other factors, and (iv) ability to sustain
operations and satisfy compliance requirements due to social distancing measures or if employee absenteeism were to increase significantly;

= the resolution of civil and criminal litigation, regulatory investigations and proceedings, and arbitrations;

= actions by credit rating agencies to downgrade our credit ratings or to place those ratings on negative outlook and our ability to borrow at favorable
interest rates;

= moves to reduce or eliminate reliance on natural gas and the impact of the extreme volatility and unprecedented decline of oil prices on our businesses
and development projects;

= weather, natural disasters, accidents, equipment failures, computer system outages and other events that disrupt our operations, damage our facilities and
systems, cause the release of harmful materials, cause fires and subject us to liability for property damage or personal injuries, fines and penalties, some
of which may not be covered by insurance (including costs in excess of applicable policy limits), may be disputed by insurers or may otherwise not be
recoverable through regulatory mechanisms or may impact our ability to obtain satisfactory levels of affordable insurance;

= the availability of electric power and natural gas and natural gas storage capacity, including disruptions caused by failures in the transmission grid,
limitations on the withdrawal or injection of natural gas from or into storage facilities, and equipment failures;

= cybersecurity threats to the energy grid, storage and pipeline infrastructure, the information and systems used to operate our businesses, and the
confidentiality of our proprietary information and the personal information of our customers and employees;

= expropriation of assets, the failure of foreign governments and state-owned entities to honor the terms of contracts, and property disputes;

= the impact at SDG&E on competitive customer rates and reliability due to the growth in distributed power generation and from departing retail load
resulting from customers transferring to Direct Access, Community Choice Aggregation or other forms of distributed power generation and the risk of
nonrecovery for stranded assets and contractual obligations;



= Oncor’s ability to eliminate or reduce its quarterly dividends due to regulatory and governance requirements and commitments, including by actions of
Oncor’s independent directors or a minority member director;
volatility in foreign currency exchange, interest and inflation rates and commodity prices and our ability to effectively hedge the risk of such volatility;

= changes in trade policies, laws and regulations, including tariffs and revisions to or replacement of international trade agreements, such as the North
American Free Trade Agreement, that may increase our costs or impair our ability to resolve trade disputes;

the impact of changes to federal and state tax laws and our ability to mitigate adverse impacts; and
= other uncertainties, some of which may be difficult to predict and are beyond our control.

We caution you not to rely unduly on any forward-looking statements. You should review and consider carefully the risks, uncertainties and other factors
that affect our business as described herein, in our Annual Report and in other reports that we file with the SEC.



PART | — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts; shares in thousands)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
(unaudited)
REVENUES
Utilities $ 2,665 $ 2,515
Energy-related businesses 364 383
Total revenues 3,029 2,898
EXPENSES AND OTHER INCOME
Utilities:
Cost of natural gas (337) (531)
Cost of electric fuel and purchased power (229) (256)
Energy-related businesses cost of sales (59) (108)
Operation and maintenance (951) (832)
Depreciation and amortization (412) (383)
Franchise fees and other taxes (237) (130)
Other (expense) income, net (254) 82
Interest income 27 21
Interest expense (280) (260)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity earnings 397 501
Income tax benefit (expense) 207 (42)
Equity earnings 263 101
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax 867 560
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 80 (42)
Net income 947 518
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests (151) (41)
Mandatory convertible preferred stock dividends (36) (36)
Earnings attributable to common shares $ 760 $ 441
Basic EPS:
Earnings from continuing operations $ 235 % 1.79
Earnings (losses) from discontinued operations $ 025 % (0.19)
Earnings $ 260 $ 1.60
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 292,790 274,674
Diluted EPS:
Earnings from continuing operations $ 230 $ 1.78
Earnings (losses) from discontinued operations $ 023 $ (0.19)
Earnings $ 253 % 1.59
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 313,925 277,228

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.



SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy shareholders’ equity

Income tax Noncontrolling
Pretax benefit Net-of-tax interests
amount (expense) amount (after-tax) Total
(unaudited)
Three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019

2020:
Net income $ 610 $ 186 $ 796 % 151 $ 947
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments (138) — (138) (20) (158)

Financial instruments (188) 53 (235) (12) (147)

Pension and other postretirement benefits 24 2 22 — 22

Total other comprehensive loss (302) 51 (251) (32) (283)
Comprehensive income $ 308 $ 237 % 545 % 119 $ 664
2019:
Net income $ 670 $ (193) $ 477 $ 41 % 518
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 32 — 32 4 36

Financial instruments (68) 22 (46) 4) (50)

Pension and other postretirement benefits 4 Q) 3 — 3

Total other comprehensive loss (32) 21 (11) — (11)
Comprehensive income $ 638 $ a72) $ 466 $ 41 3 507

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.



SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019®W
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,247 % 108
Restricted cash 23 31
Accounts receivable — trade, net 1,222 1,261
Accounts receivable — other, net 369 455
Due from unconsolidated affiliates 64 32
Income taxes receivable 120 112
Inventories 217 277
Regulatory assets 210 222
Greenhouse gas allowances 79 72
Assets held for sale in discontinued operations 566 445
Other current assets 307 324
Total current assets 5,424 3,339
Other assets:
Restricted cash 3 3
Due from unconsolidated affiliates 592 742
Regulatory assets 1,837 1,930
Nuclear decommissioning trusts 987 1,082
Investment in Oncor Holdings 11,619 11,519
Other investments 2,215 2,103
Goodwill 1,602 1,602
Other intangible assets 211 213
Dedicated assets in support of certain benefit plans 413 488
Insurance receivable for Aliso Canyon costs 511 339
Deferred income taxes 265 155
Greenhouse gas allowances 515 470
Right-of-use assets — operating leases 592 591
Wildfire fund 385 392
Assets held for sale in discontinued operations 3,364 3,513
Other long-term assets 691 732
Total other assets 25,802 25,874
Property, plant and equipment:
Property, plant and equipment 50,185 49,329
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,118) (12,877)
Property, plant and equipment, net 37,067 36,452
Total assets $ 68,293 $ 65,665

@ Derived from audited financial statements.
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
(unaudited)
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt 5,742 3,505
Accounts payable — trade 1,038 1,234
Accounts payable — other 163 179
Due to unconsolidated affiliates 8 5
Dividends and interest payable 548 515
Accrued compensation and benefits 264 476
Regulatory liabilities 444 319
Current portion of long-term debt and finance leases 2,079 1,526
Reserve for Aliso Canyon costs 284 9
Greenhouse gas obligations 79 72
Liabilities held for sale in discontinued operations 538 444
Other current liabilities 990 866
Total current liabilities 12,177 9,150
Long-term debt and finance leases 20,198 20,785
Deferred credits and other liabilities:
Due to unconsolidated affiliates 263 195
Pension and other postretirement benefit plan obligations, net of plan assets 1,085 1,067
Deferred income taxes 2,466 2,577
Deferred investment tax credits 21 21
Regulatory liabilities 3,533 3,741
Asset retirement obligations 2,945 2,923
Greenhouse gas obligations 348 301
Liabilities held for sale in discontinued operations 1,006 1,052
Deferred credits and other 2,136 2,048
Total deferred credits and other liabilities 13,803 13,925
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Equity:
Preferred stock (50 million shares authorized):
6% mandatory convertible preferred stock, series A
(17.25 million shares issued and outstanding) 1,693 1,693
6.75% mandatory convertible preferred stock, series B
(5.75 million shares issued and outstanding) 565 565
Common stock (750 million shares authorized; 292 million shares outstanding;
no par value) 7,472 7,480
Retained earnings 11,577 11,130
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (1,190) (939)
Total Sempra Energy shareholders’ equity 20,117 19,929
Preferred stock of subsidiary 20 20
Other noncontrolling interests 1,978 1,856
Total equity 22,115 21,805
Total liabilities and equity 68,293 65,665

() Derived from audited financial statements.
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
(unaudited)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 947 % 518
Less: (Income) loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax (80) 42
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax 867 560
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 412 383
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits (243) 24
Equity earnings (263) (101)
Foreign currency transaction losses (gains), net 123 @)
Share-based compensation expense 22 21
Other 124 @)
Intercompany activities with discontinued operations, net — 31
Net change in other working capital components 217 169
Insurance receivable for Aliso Canyon costs a72) (26)
Changes in other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net 163 (199)
Net cash provided by continuing operations 1,250 858
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 68 93
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,318 951
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (1,010) (783)
Expenditures for investments and acquisitions (86) (94)
Proceeds from sale of assets 5 327
Purchases of nuclear decommissioning trust assets (552) (225)
Proceeds from sales of nuclear decommissioning trust assets 552 225
Advances to unconsolidated affiliates (30) —
Repayments of advances to unconsolidated affiliates — 3
Intercompany activities with discontinued operations, net ?3) —
Other 8 7
Net cash used in continuing operations (1,116) (540)
Net cash used in discontinued operations (65) (70)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,181) (610)

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
(unaudited)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Common dividends paid (269) (232)
Preferred dividends paid (36) (36)
Issuances of common stock 11 11
Repurchases of common stock (57) 14)
Issuances of debt (maturities greater than 90 days) 1,619 304
Payments on debt (maturities greater than 90 days) and finance leases (1,433) (837)
Increase in short-term debt, net 2,127 497
Advances from unconsolidated affiliates 64 —
Purchases of noncontrolling interests (16) (26)
Intercompany activities with discontinued operations, net 2) 2)
Other 5) Q)
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations 2,003 (336)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations 111 (45)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 2,114 (381)
Effect of exchange rate changes in continuing operations (6) —
Effect of exchange rate changes in discontinued operations (8) 1
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (14) 1
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, including discontinued operations 2,237 (39)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, including discontinued operations, January 1 217 246
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, including discontinued operations, March 31 2,454 % 207
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest payments, net of amounts capitalized 263 % 257
Income tax payments, net of refunds 68 16
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Accrued capital expenditures 437  $ 388
Increase in finance lease obligations for investment in property, plant and equipment 20 7
Equitization of long-term debt for deficit held by NCI 22 —
Preferred dividends declared but not paid 36 36
Common dividends issued in stock 14 13
Common dividends declared but not paid 306 265

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEMPRA ENERGY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Dollars in millions)

Accumulated Sempra
Energy Non-
Preferred Common Retained comprehensive shareholders' controlling Total
stock stock earnings income (loss) equity interests equity
(unaudited)
Three months ended March 31, 2020

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2,258 $ 7,480 $ 11,130 $ (939) $ 19,929 $ 1,876 $ 21,805
Cumulative-effect adjustment from

change in accounting principle ) (0} 2) 9)
Net income 796 796 151 947
Other comprehensive loss (251) (251) 32) (283)
Share-based compensation expense 22 22 22
Dividends declared:

Series A preferred stock ($1.50/share) (26) (26) (26)

Series B preferred stock ($1.69/share) (10) (10) (10)

Common stock ($1.05/share) (306) (306) (306)
Issuances of common stock 25 25 25
Repurchases of common stock (57) (57) (57)
Noncontrolling interest activities:

Purchases 2 2 (18) (26)

Acquisition 1 1

Equitization of long-term debt for

deficit held by NCI 22 22
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 2,258 $ 7,472 $ 11,577 $ (1,190) $ 20,117 $ 1,998 $ 22,115
Three months ended March 31, 2019

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 2,258 $ 5,540 $ 10,104 $ (764) $ 17,138 $ 2,110 $ 19,248
Cumulative-effect adjustments from

change in accounting principles 57 (42) 15 15
Net income 477 477 41 518
Other comprehensive loss (11) (11) (11)
Share-based compensation expense 21 21 21
Dividends declared:

Series A preferred stock ($1.50/share) (26) (26) (26)

Series B preferred stock ($1.69/share) (10) (10) (20)

Common stock ($0.97/share) (265) (265) (265)
Issuances of common stock 24 24 24
Repurchases of common stock (24) (14) (14)
Noncontrolling interest activities:

Distributions 4) (4)

Purchases ?3) 3) (23) (26)
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ 2,258 $ 5,568 $ 10,337 % 817) $ 17,346 $ 2,124  $ 19,470

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020
(unaudited)

Operating revenues
Electric $ 1,050 $ 940
Natural gas 219 205
Total operating revenues 1,269 1,145

Operating expenses
Cost of electric fuel and purchased power 231 258
Cost of natural gas 60 79
Operation and maintenance 310 286
Depreciation and amortization 201 186
Franchise fees and other taxes 78 74
Total operating expenses 880 883
Operating income 389 262
Other income, net 31 22
Interest income 1 1
Interest expense (201) (103)
Income before income taxes 320 182
Income tax expense (58) 5)
Net income 262 177
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest — 1)
Earnings attributable to common shares $ 262 $ 176

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollars in millions)

SDG&E shareholder’s equity

Noncontrolling

Pretax Net-of-tax interest
amount Income tax expense amount (after-tax) Total
(unaudited)
Three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
2020:
Net income/Comprehensive income $ 320 % (58) 262 % — 262
2019:
Net income $ 181  $ (5) 176  $ 177
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Financial instruments — — — 1
Total other comprehensive income — — — 1
Comprehensive income $ 181 $ (5) 176  $ 178

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019W
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 203 % 10
Accounts receivable — trade, net 411 398
Accounts receivable — other, net 111 119
Income taxes receivable, net 61 128
Inventories 93 94
Prepaid expenses 105 120
Regulatory assets 198 209
Fixed-price contracts and other derivatives 33 43
Greenhouse gas allowances 13 13
Other current assets 27 24
Total current assets 1,255 1,158
Other assets:
Regulatory assets 457 440
Nuclear decommissioning trusts 987 1,082
Greenhouse gas allowances 189 189
Right-of-use assets — operating leases 123 130
Wildfire fund 385 392
Other long-term assets 194 202
Total other assets 2,335 2,435
Property, plant and equipment:
Property, plant and equipment 22,850 22,504
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (5,656) (5,537)
Property, plant and equipment, net 17,194 16,967
Total assets $ 20,784 % 20,560

@ Derived from audited financial statements.
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019W
(unaudited)
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt — 3 80
Accounts payable 462 496
Due to unconsolidated affiliates 59 53
Interest payable 63 43
Accrued compensation and benefits 59 138
Accrued franchise fees 37 53
Regulatory liabilities 69 76
Current portion of long-term debt and finance leases 57 56
Customer deposits 74 74
Greenhouse gas obligations 13 13
Asset retirement obligations 105 95
Other current liabilities 186 133
Total current liabilities 1,184 1,310
Long-term debt and finance leases 6,687 6,306
Deferred credits and other liabilities:
Pension obligation, net of plan assets 156 153
Deferred income taxes 1,880 1,848
Deferred investment tax credits 14 14
Regulatory liabilities 2,200 2,319
Asset retirement obligations 760 771
Greenhouse gas obligations 72 62
Deferred credits and other 669 677
Total deferred credits and other liabilities 5,751 5,844
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Shareholder's equity:
Preferred stock (45 million shares authorized; none issued) = =
Common stock (255 million shares authorized; 117 million shares outstanding;
no par value) 1,660 1,660
Retained earnings 5,518 5,456
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (16) (16)
Total shareholder’s equity 7,162 7,100
Total liabilities and shareholder's equity 20,784 $ 20,560

@ Derived from audited financial statements.
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
(unaudited)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 262 % 177
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 201 186
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits (8) (28)
Other (20) 1
Net change in working capital components 73 96
Changes in other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net (20) 11
Net cash provided by operating activities 498 443
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (402) (356)
Purchases of nuclear decommissioning trust assets (552) (225)
Proceeds from sales of nuclear decommissioning trust assets 552 225
Net cash used in investing activities (402) (356)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Common dividends paid (200) —
Issuances of debt (maturities greater than 90 days) 400 —
Payments on debt (maturities greater than 90 days) and finance leases (23) (22)
Decrease in short-term debt, net (80) (53)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 97 (75)
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 193 12
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, January 1 10 37
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, March 31 203 $ 49
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest payments, net of amounts capitalized 79 % 86
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Accrued capital expenditures 128 $ 100
Increase in finance lease obligations for investment in property, plant and equipment 4 4

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Dollars in millions)

Accumulated

other SDG&E
Common Retained comprehensive shareholder's Noncontrolling Total
stock earnings income (loss) equity interest equity
(unaudited)
Three months ended March 31, 2020
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 1660 $ 5456 $ (ae) $ 7,100 $ — 8 7,100
Net income 262 262 — 262
Common stock dividends declared ($1.72/share) (200) (200) (200)
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 1660 $ 5518 $ ae) $ 7,162 $ —  $ 7,162
Three months ended March 31, 2019
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 1338 $ 4687 $ (10) $ 6,015 $ 100 $ 6,115
Cumulative-effect adjustment from
change in accounting principle 2 2) — —
Net income 176 176 177
Other comprehensive income = = 1
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ 1338 $ 4865 $ 12) $ 6,191 $ 102 $ 6,293

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
(unaudited)
Operating revenues $ 1,395 $ 1,361
Operating expenses
Cost of natural gas 278 455
Operation and maintenance 543 410
Depreciation and amortization 159 147
Franchise fees and other taxes 51 48
Total operating expenses 1,031 1,060
Operating income 364 301
Other income, net 30 16
Interest income 1 —
Interest expense (40) (34)
Income before income taxes 355 283
Income tax expense (52) (29)
Net income/Earnings attributable to common shares $ 303 % 264

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Dollars in millions)

Pretax
amount

Income tax expense

Net-of-tax
amount

(unaudited)

Three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019

2020:
Net income/Comprehensive income
2019:
Net income/Comprehensive income

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019®
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 389 $ 10
Accounts receivable — trade, net 669 710
Accounts receivable — other, net 74 87
Due from unconsolidated affiliates 7 11
Income taxes receivable, net 116 161
Inventories 79 136
Regulatory assets 9 7
Greenhouse gas allowances 60 52
Other current assets 48 44
Total current assets 1,451 1,218
Other assets:
Regulatory assets 1,297 1,407
Insurance receivable for Aliso Canyon costs 511 339
Greenhouse gas allowances 291 248
Right-of-use assets — operating leases 90 94
Other long-term assets 449 447
Total other assets 2,638 2,535
Property, plant and equipment:
Property, plant and equipment 19,661 19,362
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (6,140) (6,038)
Property, plant and equipment, net 13,521 13,324
Total assets $ 17,610 $ 17,077

@ Derived from audited financial statements.
See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.

23



SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019W
(unaudited)
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt $ — 3 630
Accounts payable — trade 331 545
Accounts payable — other 105 110
Due to unconsolidated affiliates 49 47
Accrued compensation and benefits 111 182
Regulatory liabilities 375 243
Current portion of long-term debt and finance leases 9 6
Customer deposits 73 71
Reserve for Aliso Canyon costs 284 9
Greenhouse gas obligations 60 52
Asset retirement obligations 64 65
Other current liabilities 236 222
Total current liabilities 1,697 2,182
Long-term debt and finance leases 4,442 3,788
Deferred credits and other liabilities:
Pension obligation, net of plan assets 802 785
Deferred income taxes 1,477 1,403
Deferred investment tax credits 6 7
Regulatory liabilities 1,333 1,422
Asset retirement obligations 2,144 2,112
Greenhouse gas obligations 242 208
Deferred credits and other 416 422
Total deferred credits and other liabilities 6,420 6,359
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock (11 million shares authorized; 1 million shares outstanding) 22 22
Common stock (100 million shares authorized; 91 million shares outstanding; no par value) 866 866
Retained earnings 4,186 3,883
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (23) (23)
Total shareholders’ equity 5,051 4,748
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 17,610 $ 17,077

@) Derived from audited financial statements.
See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.

24



SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
(unaudited)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 303 % 264
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 159 147
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits 4 (65)
Other 6 5
Net change in working capital components 343 287
Insurance receivable for Aliso Canyon costs (172) (16)
Changes in other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net 114 (246)
Net cash provided by operating activities 757 376
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (388) (324)
Net cash used in investing activities (388) (324)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuances of debt (maturities greater than 90 days) 649 —
Decrease in short-term debt, net (630) (66)
Other 9) 1)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 10 (67)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 379 (15)
Cash and cash equivalents, January 1 10 18
Cash and cash equivalents, March 31 389 % 3
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest payments, net of amounts capitalized 37 % 26
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Accrued capital expenditures 126 $ 163
Increase in finance lease obligations for investment in property, plant and equipment 16 3

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Dollars in millions)

Accumulated

other Total
Preferred Common Retained comprehensive shareholders’
stock stock earnings income (loss) equity
(unaudited)
Three months ended March 31, 2020
Balance at December 31, 2019 22 $ 866 $ 3,883 $ 23) $ 4,748
Net income 303 303
Dividends declared:
Preferred stock ($0.38/share) — —
Balance at March 31, 2020 22 % 866 $ 4186 $ (23) $ 5,051
Three months ended March 31, 2019
Balance at December 31, 2018 22 $ 866 $ 3390 $ 20) $ 4,258
Cumulative-effect adjustment from
change in accounting principle 2 (4) (2)
Net income 264 264
Dividends declared:
Preferred stock ($0.38/share) — —
Balance at March 31, 2019 22 $ 866 $ 3,656 $ 24) $ 4,520

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.

26



SEMPRA ENERGY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Sempra Energy

Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Sempra Energy, a California-based energy-services holding
company, and its consolidated subsidiaries and VIEs. Sempra Global is the holding company for most of our subsidiaries that are not subject to California
or Texas utility regulation. Sempra Energy’s businesses were managed within six separate reportable segments until April 2019 and five separate reportable
segments thereafter, which we discuss in Note 12. All references in these Notes to our reportable segments are not intended to refer to any legal entity with
the same or similar name.

SDG&E

SDG&E’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include its accounts and the accounts of a VIE of which SDG&E was the primary beneficiary
until August 23, 2019, at which time SDG&E deconsolidated the VIE. SDG&E’s common stock is wholly owned by Enova Corporation, which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Sempra Energy.

SoCalGas
SoCalGas’ common stock is wholly owned by Pacific Enterprises, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sempra Energy.

In this report, we refer to SDG&E and SoCalGas collectively as the California Utilities.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

This is a combined report of Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas. We provide separate information for SDG&E and SoCalGas as required. References
in this report to “we,” “us,” “our” and “Sempra Energy Consolidated” are to Sempra Energy and its consolidated entities, unless otherwise indicated by the
context. We have eliminated intercompany accounts and transactions within the consolidated financial statements of each reporting entity.

Throughout this report, we refer to the following as Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial

Statements when discussed together or collectively:

= the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes of Sempra Energy and its subsidiaries and VIEs;

= the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes of SDG&E and its VIE (until deconsolidation of Otay Mesa VIE in August 2019);
and

= the Condensed Financial Statements and related Notes of SoCalGas.

We have prepared the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP and in accordance with the interim-period-reporting
requirements of Form 10-Q. Results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the entire year or for any other period. We
evaluated events and transactions that occurred after March 31, 2020 through the date the financial statements were issued and, in the opinion of
management, the accompanying statements reflect all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation. These adjustments are only of a normal, recurring
nature.

All December 31, 2019 balance sheet information in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements has been derived from our audited 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in annual financial statements
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the interim-period-reporting provisions of U.S. GAAP and the SEC.

We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report and the impact of the
adoption of new accounting standards on those policies in Note 2 below. We follow the same accounting policies for interim period reporting purposes.
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You should read the information in this report in conjunction with the Annual Report.

Discontinued Operations

In January 2019, our board of directors approved a plan to sell our South American businesses based on our strategic focus on North America. We
determined that these businesses, which previously constituted the Sempra South American Utilities segment, and certain activities associated with these
businesses, met the held-for-sale criteria. These businesses are presented as discontinued operations, which we discuss further in Note 5, as the planned
sales represent a strategic shift that will have a major effect on our operations and financial results. Our discussions in the Notes below relate only to our
continuing operations unless otherwise noted.

Regulated Operations

The California Utilities and Sempra Mexico’s natural gas distribution utility, Ecogas, prepare their financial statements in accordance with the provisions of
U.S. GAAP governing rate-regulated operations. We discuss the effects of regulation and revenue recognition at our utilities in Notes 1 and 3 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

Our Sempra Texas Utilities segment is comprised of our equity method investments in holding companies that own interests in regulated electric
transmission and distribution utilities in Texas and prepare their financial statements in accordance with the provisions of U.S. GAAP governing rate-
regulated operations.

Our Sempra Mexico segment includes the operating companies of our subsidiary, IEnova, as well as certain holding companies and risk management
activity. Certain business activities at IEnova are regulated by the Comisién Reguladora de Energia (Energy Regulatory Commission of Mexico) and meet
the regulatory accounting requirements of U.S. GAAP. Pipeline projects under construction at I[Enova that meet the regulatory accounting requirements of
U.S. GAAP record the impact of AFUDC related to equity. We discuss AFUDC below and in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
the Annual Report.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets to the
sum of such amounts reported on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. We provide information about the nature of restricted cash in
Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

RECONCILIATION OF CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Sempra Energy Consolidated:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,247 $ 108
Restricted cash, current 23 31
Restricted cash, noncurrent 3 3
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in discontinued operations 181 75
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows $ 2,454 $ 217

CREDIT LOSSES

We are exposed to credit losses from financial assets measured at amortized cost, including trade and other accounts receivable and amounts due from
unconsolidated affiliates. We are also exposed to credit losses from off-balance sheet arrangements through our guarantees of Cameron LNG JV’s debt.

We regularly monitor and evaluate credit losses and record allowances for expected credit losses, if necessary, for trade and other accounts receivable using
a combination of factors, including past-due status based on contractual terms, trends in write-offs, the age of the receivable, historical and industry trends,
counterparty creditworthiness, economic conditions and specific events, such as bankruptcies. We write off financial assets measured at amortized cost in
the period in which we deem they are not recoverable. We record recoveries of amounts previously written off when it is known that they will be recovered.

In connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, the California Utilities have implemented certain measures to assist customers, including suspending service
disconnections due to nonpayment, waiving late payment fees for business customers, and offering
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flexible payment plans for customers experiencing difficulty paying their electric or gas bills. On April 16, 2020, the CPUC approved a resolution
authorizing each of the California Utilities to establish a CPPMA to track and request recovery, which is not assured, of incremental costs associated with
complying with residential and small business customer relief measures implemented by the CPUC related to the COVID-19 pandemic. As of March 31,
2020, the California Utilities have evaluated the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the measures described above, on their respective
allowances for credit losses for customer receivables, with nominal impacts. The unique nature of the COVID-19 pandemic and the relatively short amount
of time in which the California Utilities had been impacted as of March 31, 2020 result in limited support for modifying our evaluation of historical
experience or forecasting future economic impacts that may or may not be experienced when calculating the allowances. Our businesses will continue to
monitor economic impacts and customer payment patterns when evaluating their allowances for credit losses in future reporting periods, which may
increase materially due to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or other factors.

We provide below allowances and changes in allowances for credit losses for trade and other accounts receivable, excluding allowances related to amounts
due from unconsolidated affiliates and off-balance sheet arrangements, which we discuss separately below the table.

TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE — ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT LOSSES

(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy

Consolidated® SDG&E® SoCalGas®
Allowances for credit losses at December 31, 2019 $ 29 $ 14 $ 15
Incremental allowance upon adoption of ASU 2016-13 1 — —
Provisions for expected credit losses 6 3 3
Write-offs 4) 3) 1)
Recoveries 1 1 —
Allowances for credit losses at March 31, 2020 $ 33 $ 15 $ 17

@ Balance at March 31, 2020 includes $9 million and $24 million in Accounts Receivable — Trade, Net and Accounts Receivable — Other, Net, respectively.
@ Balance at March 31, 2020 includes $4 million and $11 million in Accounts Receivable — Trade, Net and Accounts Receivable — Other, Net, respectively.
4  Balance at March 31, 2020 includes $4 million and $13 million in Accounts Receivable — Trade, Net and Accounts Receivable — Other, Net, respectively.

For amounts due from unconsolidated affiliates and off-balance sheet arrangements, on a quarterly basis, we evaluate credit losses and record allowances
for expected credit losses, if necessary, based on credit quality indicators such as external credit ratings, published default rate studies, the maturity date of
the instrument and past delinquencies. However, we do not record allowances for expected credit losses related to accrued interest receivable on loans due
from unconsolidated affiliates because we write off such amounts, if any, through a reversal of interest income in the period we determine such amounts are
uncollectible. In the absence of external credit ratings, we may utilize an internally developed credit rating based on our analysis of a counterparty’s
financial statements to determine our expected credit losses.

As we discuss below in “Transactions with Affiliates,” we have loans due from unconsolidated affiliates with varying tenors, interest rates and currencies.
We provide below the changes in allowances for credit losses for loans and other amounts due from unconsolidated affiliates.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES — ALLOWANCES FOR CREDIT LOSSES
(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy
Consolidated™®

Allowances for credit losses at December 31, 2019 $ =
Allowance established upon adoption of ASU 2016-13 6
Provisions for expected credit losses i
Allowances for credit losses at March 31, 2020 $ 7

@ Balance at March 31, 2020 includes negligible amounts and $7 million in Due from Unconsolidated Affiliates — Current and Due from Unconsolidated Affiliates —
Noncurrent, respectively.
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As we discuss in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report, Sempra LNG has provided guarantees for a maximum
aggregate amount of $4.0 billion associated with Cameron LNG JV’s debt obligations. We established a liability for credit losses of $6 million for this off-
balance sheet arrangement upon adoption of ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2020 and we subsequently reduced this liability by $1 million in the three months
ended March 31, 2020 through a reduction to credit loss expense, which is included in O&M on the Sempra Energy Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Operations. At March 31, 2020, expected credit losses of $4 million are included in Other Current Liabilities and $1 million are included in Deferred
Credits and Other on the Sempra Energy Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk of loss that would be incurred as a result of nonperformance by our counterparties on their contractual obligations. We have policies
governing the management of credit risk that are administered by the respective credit departments at each of our segments and overseen by their separate
risk management committees.

This oversight includes calculating current and potential credit risk on a regular basis and monitoring actual balances in comparison to approved limits. We
establish credit limits based on risk and return considerations under terms customarily available in the industry. We avoid concentration of counterparties
whenever possible, and we believe our credit policies significantly reduce overall credit risk. These policies include an evaluation of:

= prospective counterparties’ financial condition (including credit ratings)

= collateral requirements

= the use of standardized agreements that allow for the netting of positive and negative exposures associated with a single counterparty
= downgrade triggers

We believe that we have provided adequate reserves for counterparty nonperformance.

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, four customers each represented 10% or more of Sempra Mexico’s revenues (including intercompany
transactions with affiliates consolidated by Sempra Energy). Additionally, for the same period, certain of our unconsolidated equity method investees
(Oncor Holdings, Cameron LNG JV and IMG JV) had customers that each represented 10% or more of their respective revenues.

When our development projects become operational, we rely significantly on the ability of suppliers to perform under long-term agreements and on our
ability to enforce contract terms in the event of nonperformance. Also, the factors that we consider in evaluating a development project include negotiating
customer and supplier agreements and, therefore, we rely on these agreements for future performance. We also may condition our decision to go forward on
development projects on first obtaining these customer and supplier agreements.

INVENTORIES

The components of inventories are as follows:

INVENTORY BALANCES
(Dollars in millions)

Natural gas LNG Materials and supplies Total
March December March December March December March December
31, 2020 31, 2019 31, 2020 31, 2019 31, 2020 31, 2019 31, 2020 31, 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated $ 5 % 110 | $ 5 $ 9| $ 157 $ 158 | $ 217  $ 277
SDG&E 1 1 — — 92 93 93 94
SoCalGas 32 90 — — 47 46 79 136
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WILDFIRE FUND

On July 12, 2019, the Wildfire Legislation was signed into law to address certain issues related to catastrophic wildfires in the State of California and their
impact on electric IOUs. We discuss the Wildfire Legislation further in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

In a complaint filed in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California in July 2019, plaintiffs seek to invalidate AB 1054, which established the
Wildfire Fund, based on allegations that the legislation violates federal law. The California Attorney General has moved to dismiss the complaint.

Wildfire Fund Asset

In the third quarter of 2019, SDG&E recorded a Wildfire Fund asset for its commitment to make shareholder contributions totaling $451.5 million,
measured at present value as of July 25, 2019 (the date by which both Edison and SDG&E opted to contribute to the Wildfire Fund). SDG&E is amortizing
the Wildfire Fund asset to O&M on a straight-line basis over the estimated period of benefit, as adjusted for utilization by the IOUs. The estimated period
of benefit of the Wildfire Fund asset is 15 years as of March 31, 2020.

We will periodically reevaluate the estimated period of benefit of the Wildfire Fund asset based on actual experience and changes in assumptions. SDG&E
may recognize a reduction of its Wildfire Fund asset and record a charge against earnings in the period when there is a reduction of the available coverage
due to recoverable claims from the IOUs. The reduction to the Wildfire Fund asset may be proportionate to the Wildfire Fund’s consumption (i.e.,
recoveries for outstanding wildfire claims that are recoverable from the Wildfire Fund, net of anticipated or actual reimbursement to the Wildfire Fund by
the responsible IOU, would decrease the Wildfire Fund asset and remaining available coverage). In the three months ended March 31, 2020, there were no
such known claims from the IOUs requiring a reduction of the Wildfire Fund asset.

At March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the current portion of the Wildfire Fund asset of $29 million is included in Other Current Assets on Sempra
Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and in Prepaid Expenses on SDG&E’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the noncurrent
portion of $385 million and $392 million, respectively, is included in Wildfire Fund on Sempra Energy’s and SDG&E’s Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheets. In the three months ended March 31, 2020, SDG&E recognized $7 million of amortization of the Wildfire Fund asset.

Wildfire Fund Obligation

In the third quarter of 2019, SDG&E recorded a Wildfire Fund obligation for its commitment to make shareholder contributions totaling $451.5 million,
measured at present value as of July 25, 2019 (the date by which both Edison and SDG&E opted to contribute to the Wildfire Fund). SDG&E accretes the
present value of the Wildfire Fund obligation to O&M until the liability is settled. At both March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Wildfire Fund
obligation of $12.9 million is included in Other Current Liabilities and $86 million is included in Deferred Credits and Other on Sempra Energy’s and
SDG&E’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. In the three months ended March 31, 2020, SDG&E recognized negligible accretion of the Wildfire
Fund obligation.

CAPITALIZED FINANCING COSTS

Capitalized financing costs include capitalized interest costs and AFUDC related to both debt and equity financing of construction projects. We capitalize
interest costs incurred to finance capital projects and interest at equity method investments that have not commenced planned principal operations.

The table below summarizes capitalized interest and AFUDC.

CAPITALIZED FINANCING COSTS
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated $ 48 $ 47
SDG&E 27 17
SoCalGas 11 11
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VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

We consolidate a VIE if we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE. Our determination of whether we are the primary beneficiary is based on qualitative and
quantitative analyses, which assess:

= the purpose and design of the VIE;

= the nature of the VIE’s risks and the risks we absorb;

= the power to direct activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE; and
= the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could be significant to the VIE.

We will continue to evaluate our VIEs for any changes that may impact our determination of whether an entity is a VIE and if we are the primary
beneficiary.

SDG&E

SDG&E’s power procurement is subject to reliability requirements that may require SDG&E to enter into various PPAs that include variable interests.
SDG&E evaluates the respective entities to determine if variable interests exist and, based on the qualitative and quantitative analyses described above, if
SDG&E, and thereby Sempra Energy, is the primary beneficiary.

SDG&E has agreements under which it purchases power generated by facilities for which it supplies all of the natural gas to fuel the power plant (i.e.,
tolling agreements). SDG&E’s obligation to absorb natural gas costs may be a significant variable interest. In addition, SDG&E has the power to direct the
dispatch of electricity generated by these facilities. Based on our analysis, the ability to direct the dispatch of electricity may have the most significant
impact on the economic performance of the entity owning the generating facility because of the associated exposure to the cost of natural gas, which fuels
the plants, and the value of electricity produced. To the extent that SDG&E (1) is obligated to purchase and provide fuel to operate the facility, (2) has the
power to direct the dispatch, and (3) purchases all of the output from the facility for a substantial portion of the facility’s useful life, SDG&E may be the
primary beneficiary of the entity owning the generating facility. SDG&E determines if it is the primary beneficiary in these cases based on a qualitative
approach in which we consider the operational characteristics of the facility, including its expected power generation output relative to its capacity to
generate and the financial structure of the entity, among other factors. If we determine that SDG&E is the primary beneficiary, SDG&E and Sempra Energy
consolidate the entity that owns the facility as a VIE.

SDG&E determined that none of its contracts resulted in SDG&E being the primary beneficiary of a VIE at March 31, 2020. In addition to tolling
agreements, other variable interests involve various elements of fuel and power costs, and other components of cash flows expected to be paid to or
received by our counterparties. In most of these cases, the expectation of variability is not substantial, and SDG&E generally does not have the power to
direct activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the other VIEs. If our ongoing evaluation of these VIEs were to conclude that
SDG&E becomes the primary beneficiary and consolidation by SDG&E becomes necessary, the effects could be significant to the financial position and
liquidity of SDG&E and Sempra Energy.

Sempra Texas Utilities

Our 100% interest in Oncor Holdings is a VIE that owns an 80.25% interest in Oncor. Sempra Energy is not the primary beneficiary of the VIE because of
the structural and operational ring-fencing and governance measures in place that prevent us from having the power to direct the significant activities of
Oncor Holdings. As a result, we do not consolidate Oncor Holdings and instead account for our ownership interest as an equity method investment. See
Note 6 for additional information about our equity method investment in Oncor Holdings and restrictions on our ability to influence its activities. Our
maximum exposure to loss, which fluctuates over time, from our interest in Oncor Holdings does not exceed the carrying value of our investment, which
was $11,619 million at March 31, 2020 and $11,519 million at December 31, 2019.

Sempra Mexico

Sempra Mexico’s businesses also enter into arrangements that could include variable interests. We evaluate these arrangements and applicable entities
based on the qualitative and quantitative analyses described above. Certain of these entities are service or project companies that are VIEs because the total
equity at risk is not sufficient for the entities to finance their activities without additional subordinated financial support. As the primary beneficiary of
these companies, we consolidate them. The assets of these VIEs totaled approximately $131 million at March 31, 2020 and $126 million at December 31,
2019 and consisted primarily of PP&E and other long-term assets. Our maximum exposure to loss is equal to the carrying value of these assets.
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Sempra LNG

Cameron LNG JV is a VIE principally due to contractual provisions that transfer certain risks to customers. Sempra Energy is not the primary beneficiary
of the VIE because we do not have the power to direct the most significant activities of Cameron LNG JV, and therefore we account for our investment in
Cameron LNG JV under the equity method. The carrying value of our investment, including amounts recognized in AOCI related to interest-rate cash flow
hedges at Cameron LNG JV, was $1,184 million at March 31, 2020 and $1,256 million at December 31, 2019. Our maximum exposure to loss, which
fluctuates over time, includes the carrying value of our investment and guarantees that we discuss in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Annual Report.

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Settlement Accounting for Lump Sum Payments
In the three months ended March 31, 2020, Sempra Energy recorded settlement charges of $5 million in net periodic benefit cost for lump sum payments
from its nonqualified pension plan that were in excess of the plan’s service cost plus interest cost.

Net Periodic Benefit Cost
The following three tables provide the components of net periodic benefit cost.

NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST - SEMPRA ENERGY CONSOLIDATED
(Dollars in millions)

Pension benefits Other postretirement benefits
Three months ended March 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Service cost $ 33 % 27 % 5 $ 4
Interest cost 32 35 8 9
Expected return on assets (42) (36) (23) (18)
Amortization of:
Prior service cost (credit) 3 3 (2) —
Actuarial loss (gain) 9 14 (3) ()
Settlement charges 5 — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) 40 43 4) @)
Regulatory adjustments (28) (36) 4 7
Total expense recognized $ 12 $ 7 $ — 3 —
NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST - SDG&E
(Dollars in millions)
Pension benefits Other postretirement benefits

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019 2020 2019

Service cost $ 8 $ 8 $ 1 3 1
Interest cost 7 9 2 2
Expected return on assets (23) (11) ©) 3)
Amortization of:

Prior service cost 1 1 — 1

Actuarial loss (gain) 1 4 (1) (1)
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) 4 11 1) —
Regulatory adjustments ?3) (11) 1 —
Total expense recognized $ 1 $ — 3 —  $ =
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NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST - SOCALGAS
(Dollars in millions)

Pension benefits

Other postretirement benefits

Three months ended March 31,

2020

2019

2020

2019

Service cost $
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Amortization of:
Prior service cost (credit)
Actuarial loss (gain)

22 3
22
@7

16
23
24

$

3

(10)

@)

$

14)

@
@)

Net periodic benefit cost (credit)
Regulatory adjustments

£b
(25)

26
(25)

@)

@)

Total expense recognized $

1

$

Benefit Plan Contributions

The following table shows our year-to-date contributions to pension and other postretirement benefit plans and the amounts we expect to contribute in

2020.

BENEFIT PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS
(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy

Consolidated

SDG&E

SoCalGas

Contributions through March 31, 2020:
Pension plans
Other postretirement benefit plans
Total expected contributions in 2020:
Pension plans
Other postretirement benefit plans

RABBI TRUST

20

268

53

154

In support of its Supplemental Executive Retirement, Cash Balance Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plans, Sempra Energy maintains dedicated
assets, including a Rabbi Trust and investments in life insurance contracts, which totaled $413 million and $488 million at March 31, 2020 and

December 31, 2019, respectively.
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EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing earnings attributable to common shares (from both continuing and discontinued operations) by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS includes the potential dilution of common stock equivalent shares that could occur if

securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock.

EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER COMMON SHARE COMPUTATIONS

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts; shares in thousands)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Numerator for continuing operations:
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax 867 560
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests (143) (32)
Mandatory convertible preferred stock dividends (36) (36)
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common shares for basic EPS 688 492
Add back dividends for dilutive mandatory convertible preferred stock® 36 —
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to common shares for diluted EPS 724 492
Numerator for discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 80 (42)
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests (8) 9)
Earnings (losses) from discontinued operations attributable to common shares 72 (51)
Numerator for earnings:
Earnings attributable to common shares for basic EPS 760 441
Add back dividends for dilutive mandatory convertible preferred stock® 36 —
Earnings attributable to common shares for diluted EPS 796 441
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic EPS® 292,790 274,674
Dilutive effect of stock options and RSUs® 1,304 969
Dilutive effect of common shares sold forward — 1,585
Dilutive effect of mandatory convertible preferred stock 19,831 —
Weighted-average common shares outstanding for diluted EPS 313,925 277,228
Basic EPS:
Earnings from continuing operations 2.35 1.79
Earnings (losses) from discontinued operations 0.25 (0.19)
Earnings 2.60 1.60
Diluted EPS:
Earnings from continuing operations 2.30 1.78
Earnings (losses) from discontinued operations 0.23 (0.19)
Earnings 2.53 1.59

@) In the three months ended March 31, 2020, due to the dilutive effect of mandatory convertible preferred stock, the numerator used to calculate diluted EPS includes an

add-back of mandatory convertible preferred stock dividends declared in that quarter.

@ Includes 542 and 613 average fully vested RSUs held in our Deferred Compensation Plan for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These fully
vested RSUs are included in weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic EPS because there are no conditions under which the corresponding shares will not

be issued.

3 Due to market fluctuations of both Sempra Energy common stock and the comparative indices used to determine the vesting percentage of our total shareholder return
performance-based RSUs, which we discuss in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report, dilutive RSUs may vary widely from

period-to-period.
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The potentially dilutive impact from stock options and RSUs is calculated under the treasury stock method. Under this method, proceeds based on the
exercise price and unearned compensation are assumed to be used to repurchase shares on the open market at the average market price for the period,
reducing the number of potential new shares to be issued and sometimes causing an antidilutive effect. The computation of diluted EPS for the three
months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 excludes 254,257 and 316,385 potentially dilutive shares, respectively, because to include them would be
antidilutive for the period. However, these shares could potentially dilute basic EPS in the future.

The potentially dilutive impact from the forward sale of our common stock pursuant to forward sale agreements that we entered into in 2018 and fully
settled by the end of 2019 is reflected in our diluted EPS calculation using the treasury stock method until settlement. After settlement, those shares are
included in weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic EPS.

The potentially dilutive impact from mandatory convertible preferred stock is calculated under the if-converted method. The computation of diluted EPS
for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 excludes zero and 18,601,085 potentially dilutive shares, respectively, because to include them would
be antidilutive for the period. However, these shares could potentially dilute basic EPS in the future.

In January 2020, pursuant to our Sempra Energy share-based compensation plans, the Compensation Committee of Sempra Energy’s Board of Directors
granted 154,860 nonqualified stock options that vest over a three-year period, 258,470 performance-based RSUs and 100,972 service-based RSUs.

We discuss share-based compensation plans and related awards and the terms and conditions of Sempra Energy’s equity securities further in Notes 10, 13
and 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following tables present the changes in AOCI by component and amounts reclassified out of AOCI to net income, excluding amounts attributable to
NCL
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CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) BY COMPONENT®
(Dollars in millions)

Foreign Pension Total
currency and other accumulated other
translation Financial postretirement comprehensive
adjustments instruments benefits income (loss)

Three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019

Sempra Energy Consolidated(2):

Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ (607) $ (215) $ (117) $ (939)
OCI before reclassifications (138) (154) 16 (276)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 19 6 25
Net OCI (138) (135) 22 (251)
Balance as of March 31, 2020 $ (745) $ (350) $ 95 $ (1,190)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ (564) $ 82 $ (118) $ (764)
Cumulative-effect adjustment from change in accounting principle — (25) (17) (42)
OClI before reclassifications 32 (45) 1 (12)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 1) 2 1
Net OCI 32 (46) 3 (11)
Balance as of March 31, 2019 $ (532) $ (153) $ (132) $ (817)
SDG&E:

Balance as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020 $ (16) $ (16)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ (10) $ (10)
Cumulative-effect adjustment from change in accounting principle 2 2)
Balance as of March 31, 2019 $ 12) $ (12)
SoCalGas:

Balance as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020 $ 13) $ (10) $ (23)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 12) s 8 $ (20)
Cumulative-effect adjustment from change in accounting principle 2) 2) 4)
Balance as of March 31, 2019 $ 14) $ 20) $ (24)

(@) All amounts are net of income tax, if subject to tax, and exclude NCI.
@ Includes discontinued operations.
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RECLASSIFICATIONS OUT OF ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Dollars in millions)

Amounts reclassified
Details about accumulated other from accumulated other Affected line item on Condensed
comprehensive income (loss) components comprehensive income (loss) Consolidated Statements of Operations

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Financial instruments:
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments(l) $ 2 $ 1 Interest Expense
41 (3) Other (Expense) Income, Net
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments — 1  Equity Earnings
Foreign exchange instruments ) 1 Revenues: Energy-Related Businesses
2) —  Other (Expense) Income, Net
Total before income tax 39 —
(12) — Income Tax Benefit (Expense)
Net of income tax 27 —
(8) (1) Earnings Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
$ 19 $ (1)
Pension and other postretirement benefits(2):
Amortization of actuarial loss $ 2 $ 2 Other (Expense) Income, Net
Amortization of prior service cost 1 Other (Expense) Income, Net
Settlement charges 5 —  Other (Expense) Income, Net
Total before income tax 8 3
2) (1) Income Tax Benefit (Expense)
Net of income tax $ 6 $ 2
Total reclassifications for the period, net of tax $ 25 $ 1
SDG&E:
Financial instruments:
Interest rate instruments(1) $ — $ 1 Interest Expense
— (1) Earnings Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest
Total reclassifications for the period, net of tax $ — $ —

@ Amounts in 2019 include Otay Mesa VIE. All of SDG&E’s interest rate derivative activity relates to Otay Mesa VIE.
@ Amounts are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost (see “Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits” above).

For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, reclassifications out of AOCI to net income were negligible for SoCalGas.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Ownership interests that are held by owners other than Sempra Energy in subsidiaries or entities consolidated by us are accounted for and reported as NCI.

SoCalGas Preferred Stock

The preferred stock at SoCalGas is presented at Sempra Energy as a noncontrolling interest. Sempra Energy records charges against income related to NCI
for preferred stock dividends declared by SoCalGas. We provide additional information regarding preferred stock in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in the Annual Report.
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Other Noncontrolling Interests

Sempra Mexico

In the first quarter of 2020, [Enova purchased additional shares in ICM Ventures Holdings B.V. for $9 million, increasing its ownership from 53.7% to
82.5%. ICM Ventures Holdings B.V. owns certain permits and land where IEnova is building terminals for the receipt, storage and delivery of liquid fuels.

In the first quarter of 2019, IEnova repurchased 1,600,000 shares of its outstanding common stock held by NCI for approximately $6 million, resulting in
an increase in Sempra Energy’s ownership interest in IEnova from 66.5% to 66.6%.

Sempra LNG

On March 30, 2020, Sempra LNG purchased for $7 million the 24.6% minority interest in Liberty Gas Storage LLC, which owns 100% of LA Storage,
LLC, increasing Sempra LNG’s ownership in Liberty Gas Storage LLC to 100%. Prior to the purchase, the minority partner converted $22 million in notes
payable due from Sempra LNG to equity. As a result of the purchase, we recorded an increase in Sempra Energy’s shareholders’ equity of $2 million for
the difference between the carrying value and fair value related to the change in ownership.

In February 2019, Sempra LNG purchased for $20 million the 9.1% minority interest in Bay Gas immediately prior to the sale of 100% of Bay Gas.

Sempra LNG and [Enova are jointly developing a proposed natural gas liquefaction project at the site of I[Enova’s existing ECA LNG Regasification
terminal. Sempra LNG consolidates the ECA LNG JV proposed liquefaction project. Thus, Sempra Energy’s NCI in I[Enova’s 50% interest in the proposed
project is reported at Sempra LNG.

The following table provides information about noncontrolling ownership interests held by others (not including preferred shareholders) recorded in Other
Noncontrolling Interests in Total Equity on Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

OTHER NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Dollars in millions)

Percent ownership held by noncontrolling Equity (deficit) held by
interests noncontrolling interests
March 31, December 31, March 31, December 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Sempra Mexico:
IEnova 334 % 334 %$ 1,726  $ 1,608
IEnova subsidiaries® 10.0-17.5 10.0 - 46.3 6 15
Sempra LNG:
Liberty Gas Storage LLC — 24.6 — (13)
ECA LNG JV 16.7 16.7 14 12
Parent and other:
PXISE Energy Solutions, LLC 20.0 20.0 1 1
Discontinued Operations:
Chilquinta Energia subsidiaries® 19.7-43.4 19.7-43.4 21 23
Luz del Sur 16.4 16.4 205 205
Tecsur 9.8 9.8 5 5
Total Sempra Energy $ 1978 $ 1,856
(@) |Enova and Chilquinta Energia have subsidiaries with NCI held by others. Percentage range reflects the highest and lowest ownership percentages among these
subsidiaries.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES

We summarize amounts due from and to unconsolidated affiliates at Sempra Energy Consolidated, SDG&E and SoCalGas in the following table.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Total due from various unconsolidated affiliates — current, net of negligible allowance for credit losses at March 31,

20200@ $ 64 $ 32
Sempra Texas Utilities — TTHC, net of allowance for credit losses of $1 at March 31, 2020@® $ 6 $ —
Sempra Mexico — IMG JV — Note due March 15, 2022, net of allowance for credit losses of $6 at March 31, 2020@® 586 742

Total due from unconsolidated affiliates — noncurrent $ 502 % 742
Total due to various unconsolidated affiliates — current $ 8 $ (5)
Sempra Mexico®:

TAG Pipelines Norte, S. de. R.L. de C.V.:
Note due December 20, 20216 $ (40) $ (39)
5.5% Note due January 9, 20240 (65) —
TAG JV — 5.74% Note due December 17, 2029®) (158) (156)

Total due to unconsolidated affiliates — noncurrent $ (263) $ (195)
SDG&E:

Sempra Energy $ 45) $ (37)
SoCalGas (6) (10)
Various affiliates (8) (6)

Total due to unconsolidated affiliates — current $ 59 $ (53)
Income taxes due from Sempra Energy( $ 64 $ 130
SoCalGas:

SDG&E $ 6 $ 10
Various affiliates 1 1

Total due from unconsolidated affiliates — current $ 7 $ 11
Sempra Energy $ 49 $ (45)
Various affiliates — 2)

Total due to unconsolidated affiliates — current $ 49 $ (47)
Income taxes due from Sempra Energy( $ 104 $ 152

@

2
€
“)

®)
(©)
@)

Amount at March 31, 2020 includes $23 million of outstanding principal and a negligible amount of accrued interest receivable from a U.S. dollar-denominated loan from
IEnova to ESJ at a variable interest rate based on 1-month LIBOR plus 196 bps (3.54% at March 31, 2020) with a maturity date of June 30, 2020. Pursuant to the
agreement, if ESJ is unable to meet certain conditions for an expansion project by May 13, 2020, IEnova and ESJ have the option to convert the loan to a 10-year note.
Amounts include principal balances plus accumulated interest outstanding.

U.S. dollar-denominated loans at fixed interest rates of 6.25% and 6.45% with maturity dates of November 5, 2028 and November 5, 2030, respectively.

Mexican peso-denominated revolving line of credit for up to 14.2 billion Mexican pesos or approximately $604 million U.S. dollar-equivalent, at a variable interest rate
based on the 91-day Interbank Equilibrium Interest Rate plus 220 bps (8.79% at March 31, 2020), to finance construction of the natural gas marine pipeline. At March 31,
2020, $2 million of accrued interest receivable is included in Due From Unconsolidated Affiliates — Current.

U.S. dollar-denominated loan at a variable interest rate based on 6-month LIBOR plus 290 bps (4.08% at March 31, 2020).

U.S. dollar-denominated loan at a fixed interest rate.

SDG&E and SoCalGas are included in the consolidated income tax return of Sempra Energy and their respective income tax expense is computed as an amount equal to
that which would result from each company having always filed a separate return.
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The following table summarizes revenues and cost of sales from unconsolidated affiliates.

REVENUES AND COST OF SALES FROM UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020

2019

Revenues:
Sempra Energy Consolidated
SDG&E
SoCalGas

Cost of Sales:
Sempra Energy Consolidated
SDG&E
SoCalGas

Guarantees

12

18

11
17

14

17

14
20

Sempra Energy has provided guarantees related to the financing of the Cameron LNG JV project, as we discuss in Note 6 below and in Note 6 of the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME, NET

Other (Expense) Income, Net on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations consists of the following:

OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME, NET

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020

2019

Sempra Energy Consolidated:

Allowance for equity funds used during construction $ 31 % 21
Investment (losses) gains® (37) 26
(Losses) gains on interest rate and foreign exchange instruments, net (153) 13
Foreign currency transaction (losses) gains, net® (123) 7
Non-service component of net periodic benefit credit 26 24
Penalties related to billing practices Oll — (8)
Interest on regulatory balancing accounts, net 2 1)
Total $ (254) $ 82
SDG&E:
Allowance for equity funds used during construction $ 21 $ 12
Non-service component of net periodic benefit credit 9
Interest on regulatory balancing accounts, net —
Sundry, net — 1
Total $ 31 % 22
SoCalGas:
Allowance for equity funds used during construction $ 8 $ 8
Non-service component of net periodic benefit credit 25 18
Penalties related to billing practices Oll — (8)
Interest on regulatory balancing accounts, net — 1)
Sundry, net 3) Q)
Total $ 30 % 16

() Represents investment (losses) gains on dedicated assets in support of our executive retirement and deferred compensation plans. These amounts are partially offset by

corresponding changes in compensation expense related to the plans, recorded in O&M on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

@ Includes losses of $149 million and gains of $10 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, from translation to U.S. dollars of a Mexican
peso-denominated loan to IMG JV, which are offset by corresponding amounts included in Equity Earnings on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.



INCOME TAXES

We provide our calculations of ETRs in the following table.

INCOME TAX (BENEFIT) EXPENSE AND EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATES
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations $ (207) $ 42
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity earnings $ 397 $ 501
Equity (losses) earnings, before income tax® (43) 5
Pretax income $ 354 $ 506
Effective income tax rate (58)% 8%
SDG&E:
Income tax expense $ 58 $ 5
Income before income taxes $ 320 $ 182
Effective income tax rate 18 % 3%
SoCalGas:
Income tax expense $ 52 $ 19
Income before income taxes $ 355 $ 283
Effective income tax rate 15% 7%

@ We discuss how we recognize equity earnings in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas record income taxes for interim periods utilizing a forecasted ETR anticipated for the full year. Unusual and
infrequent items and items that cannot be reliably estimated are recorded in the interim period in which they occur, which can result in variability in the
ETR.

For SDG&E and SoCalGas, the CPUC requires flow-through rate-making treatment for the current income tax benefit or expense arising from certain
property-related and other temporary differences between the treatment for financial reporting and income tax, which will reverse over time. Under the
regulatory accounting treatment required for these flow-through temporary differences, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are not recorded to
deferred income tax expense, but rather to a regulatory asset or liability, which impacts the ETR. As a result, changes in the relative size of these items
compared to pretax income, from period to period, can cause variations in the ETR. The following items are subject to flow-through treatment:

= repairs expenditures related to a certain portion of utility plant fixed assets
= the equity portion of AFUDC, which is non-taxable

= a portion of the cost of removal of utility plant assets

= utility self-developed software expenditures

= depreciation on a certain portion of utility plant assets

= state income taxes

The AFUDC related to equity recorded for regulated construction projects at Sempra Mexico has similar flow-through treatment.

We record income tax (expense) benefit from the transactional effects of foreign currency and inflation. Such effects are partially mitigated by net gains
(losses) from foreign currency derivatives that are hedging Sempra Mexico parent’s exposure to movements in the Mexico peso from its controlling interest
in IEnova.

In the three months ended March 31, 2019, SDG&E and SoCalGas recorded income tax benefits of $31 million and $35 million, respectively, from the
release of a regulatory liability established in connection with 2017 tax reform for excess deferred income tax balances that the CPUC directed be allocated
to shareholders in a January 2019 decision.
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Discontinued Operations

In January 2019, our board of directors approved a plan to sell our South American businesses, as we discuss in Note 5. Prior to this decision, our

repatriation estimate excluded post-2017 earnings and other basis differences related to our South American businesses. Because of our decision to sell our

South American businesses, we no longer assert indefinite reinvestment of these basis differences. Accordingly, we recorded the following income tax

impacts from changes in outside basis differences in our discontinued operations in South America:

= $103 million income tax expense in 2019 related to outside basis differences existing as of the January 25, 2019 approval of our plan to sell our South
American businesses; and

= $7 million income tax benefit in 2020 compared to $13 million income tax expense in 2019 related to changes in outside basis differences from earnings
and foreign currency effects since January 25, 2019.

As of March 31, 2020, we have not changed our indefinite reinvestment assertion or repatriation plan.

NOTE 2. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

We describe below recent accounting pronouncements that have had or may have a significant effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows or disclosures.

ASU 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments”: ASU 2016-13, as amended by subsequently issued ASUs, changes how
entities measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments. The standard introduces an “expected credit loss” impairment model
that requires immediate recognition of estimated credit losses expected to occur over the remaining life of most financial assets measured at amortized cost,
including trade and other receivables, loan receivables and commitments and financial guarantees. ASU 2016-13 also requires use of an allowance to
record estimated credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities and expands disclosure requirements regarding an entity’s assumptions, models and
methods for estimating the credit losses. We adopted the standard on January 1, 2020 using a modified retrospective approach through a cumulative-effect
adjustment to retained earnings. The adoption primarily impacted the expected credit losses associated with accounts receivable balances, amounts due
from unconsolidated affiliates and off-balance sheet financial guarantees. There was an insignificant impact to SDG&E’s or SoCalGas’ balance sheets from
adoption. The following table shows the initial (decreases) increases on Sempra Energy’s balance sheet at January 1, 2020 from adoption of ASU 2016-13.

IMPACT FROM ADOPTION OF ASU 2016-13
(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy
Consolidated

Accounts receivable — trade, net $ (2)
Due from unconsolidated affiliates — noncurrent (6)
Deferred income tax assets 4
Other current liabilities

Deferred credits and other 2
Retained earnings @)
Other noncontrolling interests 2)

ASU 2017-04, “Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment”: ASU 2017-04 removes the second step of the goodwill impairment test, which requires a
hypothetical purchase price allocation. An entity will be required to apply a one-step quantitative test and record the amount of goodwill impairment as the
excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. We adopted ASU 2017-04 on January 1,
2020 and will apply the standard on a prospective basis to our goodwill impairment tests.

ASU 2019-12, “Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”: ASU 2019-12 simplifies certain areas of accounting for income taxes. In addition to other
changes, this standard amends ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” as follows:

= removes the exception to the incremental approach for intraperiod tax allocation when there is a loss from continuing operations and income or a gain
from other items, including discontinued operations or other comprehensive income;

= simplifies the recognition of deferred taxes related to basis differences as a result of ownership changes in investments;

43



= specifies an entity is not required to allocate the consolidated amount of current and deferred tax expense to a legal entity that is not subject to tax in its
separate financial statements; and

= requires an entity to reflect the effect of an enacted change in tax laws or rates in the annual ETR computation in the interim period that includes the
enactment date.

For public entities, ASU 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods therein, with early adoption
permitted. The transition method related to the amendments made by ASU 2019-12 varies based on the nature of the change. We will adopt the standard on
January 1, 2021 and do not expect it will have a material impact on our financial statements.

ASU 2020-04, “Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting”: ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and
exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contract modifications that replace LIBOR or another reference rate affected by reference rate reform and to
hedging relationships that reference LIBOR or another reference rate that is affected or expected to be affected by reference rate reform. ASU 2020-04 is
effective March 12, 2020 and can be applied through December 31, 2022, with certain exceptions for hedging relationships that continue to exist after this
date, and may be applied from January 1, 2020. For contract modifications, the standard allows entities to account for modifications as an event that does
not require reassessment or remeasurement (i.e., as a continuation of the existing contract). The standard also allows entities to amend their formal
designation and documentation of hedging relationships affected or expected to be affected by reference rate reform, without having to de-designate the
hedging relationship. Entities may elect the optional expedients and exceptions on an individual hedging relationship basis and independently from one
another. We elected the optional expedients for contract modifications and the hedging expedient to disregard the potential discontinuation of a reference
rate when assessing whether a hedged forecasted interest payment is probable. We are applying these expedients prospectively from January 1, 2020. We
are still evaluating the remaining optional expedients and exceptions for hedging relationships.

NOTE 3. REVENUES

We discuss revenue recognition for revenues from contracts with customers and from sources other than contracts with customers in Note 3 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

In connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, the California Utilities and the CPUC have implemented certain measures to assist customers, including
suspending service disconnections due to nonpayment, waiving late payment fees for business customers, and offering flexible payment plans for
customers experiencing difficulty paying their electric or gas bills. Additional measures could be mandated or voluntarily implemented in the future. Under
the regulatory compact applicable to the California Utilities, including decoupling of rates, recovery of uncollectible expenses, and other recovery
mechanisms potentially available (including the CPPMA, which we discuss in Note 4), the California Utilities have continued to recognize revenues under
ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” in the three months ended March 31, 2020.

The following table disaggregates our revenues from contracts with customers by major service line and market and provides a reconciliation to total
revenues by segment. The majority of our revenue is recognized over time.
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DISAGGREGATED REVENUES
(Dollars in millions)

Consolidating

Sempra Sempra Sempra adjustments and Sempra Energy
SDG&E SoCalGas Mexico Renewables LNG Parent and other Consolidated
Three months ended March 31, 2020

By major service line:
Utilities 1,259 1,544 $ 20 —  $ — 8 (19) 2,804
Energy-related businesses — — 198 — 12 ) 203
Revenues from contracts with customers 1,259 1544  $ 218 — $ 12 3 (26) 3,007

By market:
Gas 254 1,544 $ 147 — % 1 % 23) $ 1,933
Electric 1,005 — 71 — 1 3) 1,074
Revenues from contracts with customers 1,259 1544  $ 218 —  $ 12 $ (26) $ 3,007
Revenues from contracts with customers 1,259 1,544 $ 218 —  $ 12 $ 26) $ 3,007
Utilities regulatory revenues 10 (149) — — — — (139)
Other revenues — — 91 — 111 (41) 161
Total revenues 1,269 1,395 % 309 — 3 123 $ 67) $ 3,029
Three months ended March 31, 2019

By major service line:
Utilities 1,236 1,528 $ 27 — 3% — % (18) $ 2,773
Energy-related businesses — — 257 4 68 (59) 270
Revenues from contracts with customers 1,236 1528 % 284 4 % 68 $ 77 % 3,043

By market:

Gas 239 1528 $ 198 — 3% 67 $ (76) $ 1,956
Electric 997 — 86 4 1 (1) 1,087
Revenues from contracts with customers 1,236 1528 $ 284 4 $ 68 $ 77 $ 3,043
Revenues from contracts with customers 1,236 1,528 $ 284 4 3 68 $ (R 3,043
Utilities regulatory revenues (91) (167) — — — — (258)
Other revenues — — 99 3 73 (62) 113
Total revenues 1,145 1,361 % 383 7 % 141 $ (139) $ 2,898

Remaining Performance Obligations

For contracts greater than one year, at March 31, 2020, we expect to recognize revenue related to the fixed fee component of the consideration as shown
below. SoCalGas did not have any such remaining performance obligations at March 31, 2020.

REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS®

(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy
Consolidated

SDG&E

2020 (excluding first three months of 2020)

2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

Total revenues to be recognized

306
402
403
400
348
4,640

A D DM b~ W

71

6,499

90

@ Excludes intercompany transactions.
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Contract Balances from Revenues from Contracts with Customers

Activities within Sempra Energy’s and SDG&E’s contract liabilities are presented below. There were no contract liabilities at SDG&E in the three months

ended March 31, 2019 or SoCalGas in the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy

Consolidated SDG&E
Balance at January 1, 2020 $ (163) (91)
Revenue from performance obligations satisfied during reporting period 1 1
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ (162) (90)
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ (70)
Revenue from performance obligations satisfied during reporting period 1
Payments received in advance 2)
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ (71)

@ Includes $4 million and $4 million in Other Current Liabilities and $158 million and $86 million in Deferred Credits and Other on the Sempra Energy and SDG&E

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively.

Receivables from Revenues from Contracts with Customers

The table below shows receivable balances associated with revenues from contracts with customers on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

RECEIVABLES FROM REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

(Dollars in millions)

March 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

Sempra Energy Consolidated:

Accounts receivable — trade, net $ 1,142  $ 1,163
Accounts receivable — other, net 8 16
Due from unconsolidated affiliates — current® 4 5
Total $ 1,154 $ 1,184
SDG&E:
Accounts receivable — trade, net $ 411 % 398
Accounts receivable — other, net 7 5
Due from unconsolidated affiliates — current® 3 2
Total $ 421 % 405
SoCalGas:
Accounts receivable — trade, net $ 669 $ 710
Accounts receivable — other, net 1 11
Total $ 670 $ 721

@ Amount is presented net of amounts due to unconsolidated affiliates on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, when right of offset exists.
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NOTE 4. REGULATORY MATTERS

We discuss regulatory matters in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report, and provide updates to those discussions

and information about new regulatory matters below.

REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

We show the details of regulatory assets and liabilities in the following table.

REGULATORY ASSETS (LIABILITIES)
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019
SDG&E:
Fixed-price contracts and other derivatives $ 23 % 8
Deferred income taxes refundable in rates (68) (108)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plan obligations 105 103
Removal obligations (2,999) (2,056)
Environmental costs 45 45
Sunrise Powerlink fire mitigation 122 121
Regulatory balancing accounts®®
Commodity — electric 116 102
Gas transportation 9 22
Safety and reliability 75 77
Public purpose programs (138) (124)
2019 GRC retroactive impacts 98 111
Other balancing accounts 124 106
Other regulatory liabilities, net@® (126) (153)
Total SDG&E (1,614) (1,746)
SoCalGas:
Deferred income taxes refundable in rates (133) (203)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plan obligations 416 400
Employee benefit costs 44 44
Removal obligations (719) (728)
Environmental costs 38 40
Regulatory balancing accounts®®
Commaodity — gas, including transportation (202) (118)
Safety and reliability 315 295
Public purpose programs (269) (273)
2019 GRC retroactive impacts 351 400
Other balancing accounts (155) @)
Other regulatory liabilities, net@ (88) (101)
Total SoCalGas (402) (251)
Sempra Mexico:
Deferred income taxes recoverable in rates 83 83
Other regulatory assets 3 6
Total Sempra Energy Consolidated $ (1,930) $ (1,908)

@) At March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the noncurrent portion of regulatory balancing accounts — net undercollected for SDG&E was $123 million and $108 million,

respectively, and for SoCalGas was $375 million and $500 million, respectively.

@ Includes regulatory assets earning a return.



CALIFORNIA UTILITIES

COVID-19 Pandemic Protections Memorandum Account

The COVID-19 pandemic is causing a significant impact on the economy and people’s livelihoods in California. On March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin
Newsom proclaimed a State of Emergency in California as a result of the threat of COVID-19. In response, on March 17, 2020, the CPUC announced that,
retroactive to March 4, 2020, all energy companies under its jurisdiction, including the California Utilities, should take action to implement several
emergency customer protection measures to support California customers. On April 16, 2020, the CPUC approved a resolution establishing a disaster relief
plan for residential and small business customers affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The resolution also authorizes each of the California Utilities to
establish a CPPMA to track and request recovery of incremental costs associated with complying with the resolution, including, but not limited to, costs
associated with suspending disconnections (such as costs that arise from customers’ failure to pay). The customer relief measures are effective March 4,
2020 and shall continue for up to one year. SDG&E extended these accommodations to all of its customers and may continue to do so, while SoCalGas
provides these benefits to its core gas customers. The California Utilities expect to pursue recovery in rates of the costs associated with the consumer
protections that are offered in a future proceeding, subject to CPUC approval, which is not assured.

CPUC General Rate Case

The CPUC uses GRC proceedings to set rates designed to allow the California Utilities to recover their reasonable operating costs and to provide the
opportunity to realize their authorized rates of return on their investments.

2019 General Rate Case

As we discuss in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report, in September 2019, the CPUC issued a final decision in
the 2019 GRC. The 2019 GRC FD was effective retroactive to January 1, 2019. In the third quarter of 2019, SDG&E and SoCalGas recorded the
retroactive after-tax earnings impact of $36 million and $84 million, respectively, for the first quarter of 2019 and $30 million and $46 million, respectively,
for the second quarter of 2019.

The 2019 GRC FD approved SDG&E’s and SoCalGas’ test year revenues for 2019 and attrition year adjustments for 2020 and 2021. In January 2020, the
CPUC issued a final decision implementing a four-year GRC cycle for California IOUs. The California Utilities were directed to file a petition for
modification to revise their 2019 GRC to add two additional attrition years, resulting in a transitional five-year GRC period (2019-2023). The California
Utilities filed the petition in April 2020 and requested authorization of their post-test year ratemaking mechanism for two additional years. If adopted, the
estimated incremental increase in the revenue requirement for SDG&E and SoCalGas would be approximately $106 million and $155 million, respectively,
for 2022, and $108 million and $137 million, respectively, for 2023. These amounts include revenues for both O&M and capital cost attrition. The
California Utilities requested a decision by the end of 2020.

The 2019 GRC FD clarified that differences between incurred and forecasted income tax expense due to forecasting differences are not subject to tracking
in the income tax expense memorandum account beginning in 2019. SDG&E and SoCalGas recorded regulatory liabilities associated with the 2016
through 2018 tracked forecasting differences of $86 million and $89 million, respectively. In April 2020, the CPUC confirmed treatment of the two-way
income tax expense memorandum account for these 2016 through 2018 balances, at which time the California Utilities released these regulatory liability
balances to revenues.

CPUC Cost of Capital

In December 2019, the CPUC approved the cost of capital and rate structures (shown in the table below) for SDG&E and SoCalGas that are effective
January 1, 2020 and will remain in effect through December 31, 2022. SDG&E did not propose a 2020 cost of preferred equity in this proceeding. In
January 2020, SDG&E filed an advice letter to continue the cost of preferred equity for test year 2020 at 6.22%, which the CPUC approved in March 2020.

CPUC AUTHORIZED COST OF CAPITAL AND RATE STRUCTURE

SDG&E SoCalGas
Weighted Weighted
Authorized Return on return on Authorized Return on return on
weighting rate base rate base weighting rate base rate base
45.25 % 4.59 % 2.08 % Long-Term Debt 45.60 % 4.23 % 1.93 %
2.75 6.22 0.17 Preferred Equity 2.40 6.00 0.14
52.00 10.20 5.30 Common Equity 52.00 10.05 5.23
100.00 % 7.55 % 100.00 % 7.30 %
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The CCM was reauthorized in the 2020 cost of capital proceeding to continue through 2022. The CCM benchmark rate for the 2020 cost of capital is the
average monthly utility bond index, as published by Moody’s, for the 12-month period from October 2018 through September 2019. SDG&E’s CCM
benchmark rate, based on its filing pending approval with the CPUC, is 4.498%, based on Moody’s Baa- utility bond index. SoCalGas’ CCM benchmark
rate, based on its filing pending approval with the CPUC, is 4.029%, based on Moody’s A- utility bond index. The index applicable to each utility is based
on such utility’s credit rating.

The CCM benchmark rates for SDG&E and SoCalGas are the basis of comparison to determine if future measurement periods “trigger” the CCM. The 12
months ending September 2020 will be the first “CCM Period” to determine if there has been a trigger at SDG&E or SoCalGas. The trigger occurs if the
change in the applicable average Moody’s utility bond index relative to the CCM benchmark is larger than plus or minus 1.000%. Accordingly, if a change
of more than plus or minus 1.000% occurs, SDG&E'’s, SoCalGas’, or both utilities’ authorized ROE would be adjusted, upward or downward, by one half
of the difference between the CCM benchmark and the 12-month average determined during the CCM Period. In addition, the authorized recovery rate for
the utilities’ cost of debt and preferred equity would be adjusted to their respective actual weighted-average cost, with no change to the authorized capital
structure. In the event of a CCM trigger, the CCM benchmark is also re-established. These adjustments would become effective in authorized rates on
January 1 of the year following the CCM trigger.

SDG&E

FERC Formulaic Rate Filing

In October 2018, SDG&E submitted its TOS5 filing to the FERC to establish its transmission revenue requirement, including rate of return, for SDG&E’s
FERC-regulated electric transmission operations and assets. In December 2018, the FERC issued its order accepting and suspending SDG&E’s TO5 filing
for five months, during which the existing TO4 rates remained in effect, and established hearing and settlement procedures. The suspension period ended
on June 1, 2019, when the proposed TO5 rates took effect, subject to refund and the outcome of the rate filing. As a result, the TO4 ROE of 10.05% was
the basis of SDG&E’s FERC-related revenue recognition until March 2020, when the FERC approved the settlement terms that SDG&E and all settling
parties reached in October 2019.

The settlement agreement provides for a ROE of 10.60%, consisting of a base ROE of 10.10% plus an additional 50 bps for participation in the California
ISO. If the FERC issues an order ruling that California IOUs are no longer eligible for the additional California ISO ROE, SDG&E would refund the
additional 50 bps of ROE associated with the California ISO as of the refund effective date (June 1, 2019) in this proceeding. The TO5 term is effective
June 1, 2019 and shall remain in effect indefinitely, with parties having the annual right to terminate the agreement beginning in 2022.

In the first quarter of 2020, SDG&E recorded retroactive revenues of $12 million related to 2019, and additional FERC revenues of $17 million to conclude
a rate base matter, net of certain refunds to be paid to CPUC-jurisdictional customers.

NOTE 5. ACQUISITIONS, DIVESTITURES AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

We consolidate assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the purchase date and include earnings from acquisitions in consolidated earnings after the
purchase date.

ACQUISITION

Sempra Texas Utilities

TTHC

In February 2020, Sempra Texas Intermediate Holding Company LLC acquired an additional indirect 0.1975% interest in Oncor through its acquisition of a
1% interest in TTHC from Hunt Strategic Utility Investment, L.L.C., including notes receivable due from TTHC with an aggregate outstanding balance of
approximately $6 million, for a total purchase price of approximately $23 million in cash, bringing Sempra Energy’s indirect ownership in Oncor to
approximately 80.45%. TTHC indirectly owns 100% of TTI, which owns 19.75% of Oncor’s outstanding membership interests. At the acquisition date, we
determined the fair value of the notes receivable was $7 million based on a discounted cash flow model, and attributed $16 million to the investment in
TTHC. We account for our investment in TTHC as an equity method investment, which we discuss further in Note 6.
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DIVESTITURE

Sempra LNG

In February 2019, Sempra LNG completed the sale of its non-utility natural gas storage assets in the southeast U.S. (comprised of Mississippi Hub and Bay
Gas), which we classified as held for sale at December 31, 2018, to an affiliate of ArcLight Capital Partners and received cash proceeds of $322 million,
net of transaction costs. In January 2019, Sempra LNG completed the sale of other non-utility assets for $5 million.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In January 2019, our board of directors approved a plan to sell our South American businesses. We determined that these businesses, which previously
constituted the Sempra South American Utilities segment, and certain activities associated with those businesses, met the held-for-sale criteria. These
businesses are presented as discontinued operations, as the planned sales represent a strategic shift that will have a major effect on our operations and
financial results. We do not plan to have significant continuing involvement in or be able to exercise significant influence on the operating or financial
policies of these operations after they are sold. Accordingly, the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for these businesses have been
presented as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Discontinued operations that were previously in the Sempra South American Utilities segment include our 100% interest in Chilquinta Energia in Chile,
our 83.6% interest in Luz del Sur in Peru and our interests in two energy-services companies, Tecnored and Tecsur, which provide electric construction and
infrastructure services to Chilquinta Energia and Luz del Sur, respectively, as well as third parties.

On April 24, 2020, we completed the sale of our equity interests in our Peruvian businesses, including our 83.6% interest in Luz del Sur and its interest in
Tecsur, to an affiliate of China Yangtze Power International (Hongkong) Co., Limited for an aggregate base purchase price of $3.59 billion, subject to post-
closing adjustments.

On October 12, 2019, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with State Grid International Development Limited to sell our equity interests in our
Chilean businesses, including our 100% interest in Chilquinta Energia and Tecnored and our 50% interest in Eletrans, for an aggregate base purchase price
of $2.23 billion, subject to customary adjustments for working capital and changes in net indebtedness and other adjustments. Chilquinta Energia also
agreed to purchase the remaining 50% interest in Eletrans from Sociedad Austral de Electricidad S.A., contingent on the sale of our Chilean businesses to
State Grid International Development Limited. This acquisition by Chilquinta Energia, which we do not expect would have a significant economic impact
on the sale of our Chilean businesses (including the net proceeds we receive from the sale), would result in State Grid International Development Limited
acquiring 100% of Eletrans. The sale of our Chilean businesses is subject to various conditions to closing, including certain Chinese regulatory approvals,
but is not subject to Chilquinta Energia purchasing the remaining 50% interest in Eletrans. We expect the sale to close in the second quarter of 2020.

Summarized results from discontinued operations were as follows:

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Revenues $ 400 $ 421
Cost of sales (253) (265)
Operating expenses (46) (45)
Interest and other — 3)
Income before income taxes and equity earnings 101 108
Income tax expense (21) (151)
Equity earnings — 1
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 80 (42)
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests (8) 9)
Earnings (losses) from discontinued operations attributable to common shares $ 72 % (51)
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The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and related liabilities classified as held for sale in discontinued
operations.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE IN DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions)

March 31, December 31,
2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents $ 180 $ 74
Restricted cash® 1 1
Accounts receivable, net 316 303
Due from unconsolidated affiliates 2 2
Inventories 36 36
Other current assets 31 29

Current assets $ 566 $ 445
Due from unconsolidated affiliates $ 60 $ 54
Goodwill and other intangible assets 748 801
Property, plant and equipment, net 2,517 2,618
Other noncurrent assets 39 40

Noncurrent assets $ 3364 $ 3,513
Short-term debt $ 158 $ 52
Accounts payable 192 201
Current portion of long-term debt and finance leases 82 85
Other current liabilities 106 106

Current liabilities $ 538 $ 444
Long-term debt and finance leases $ 663 $ 702
Deferred income taxes 282 284
Other noncurrent liabilities 61 66

Noncurrent liabilities $ 1,006 $ 1,052

@) Primarily represents funds held in accordance with Peruvian tax law.

At March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, $693 million and $551 million, respectively, of cumulative foreign currency translation losses related to our
South American businesses are included in AOCI.

NOTE 6. INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

We generally account for investments under the equity method when we have significant influence over, but do not have control of, these entities. Equity
earnings and losses, both before and net of income tax, are combined and presented as Equity Earnings on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations. See Note 12 for information on equity earnings and losses, both before and net of income tax, by segment. See Note 1 for information on how
equity earnings and losses before income taxes are factored into the calculations of our pretax income or loss and ETR.

We provide additional information concerning our equity method investments in Notes 5 and 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the
Annual Report.

SEMPRA TEXAS UTILITIES

Oncor Holdings

We account for our 100% ownership interest in Oncor Holdings, which owns an 80.25% interest in Oncor, as an equity method investment. Due to the ring-
fencing measures, governance mechanisms, and commitments in effect, we do not have the power to direct the significant activities of Oncor Holdings and
Oncor. See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the
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Annual Report for additional information related to the restrictions on our ability to direct the significant activities of Oncor Holdings and Oncor.

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, Sempra Energy contributed $70 million to Oncor, and Oncor Holdings distributed to Sempra Energy $73
million in dividends.

In the three months ended March 31, 2019, Sempra Energy contributed $56 million to Oncor, and Oncor Holdings distributed to Sempra Energy $54
million in dividends and $3 million in tax sharing payments.

We provide summarized income statement information for Oncor Holdings in the following table.

SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION - ONCOR HOLDINGS

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Operating revenues $ 1,072  $ 1,016
Operating expense (801) (775)
Income from operations 271 241
Interest expense (101) (86)
Income tax expense (28) (23)
Net income 129 114
Noncontrolling interest held by TTI (26) (23)
Earnings attributable to Sempra Energy 103 91

TTHC

As we discuss in Note 5, in February 2020, Sempra Texas Intermediate Holding Company LLC, acquired a 1% interest in TTHC from Hunt Strategic
Utility Investment, L.L.C. for $23 million in cash, of which $16 million of the fair value was attributed to our investment in TTHC. TTHC indirectly owns
100% of TTI, which owns 19.75% of Oncor’s outstanding membership interests, resulting in Sempra Energy acquiring an additional indirect 0.1975%
interest in Oncor and bringing Sempra Energy’s indirect ownership in Oncor to approximately 80.45%.

SEMPRA MEXICO

IMGJV

IEnova has a 40% interest in IMG JV, a JV with a subsidiary of TC Energy Corporation, and accounts for its interest as an equity method investment. IMG
JV owns and operates the Sur de Texas-Tuxpan natural gas marine pipeline, which is fully contracted under a 35-year natural gas transportation service
contract with the CFE and commenced commercial operations in September 2019.

As we discuss in “Transactions with Affiliates” in Note 1, I[Enova has provided IMG JV with a Mexican peso-denominated revolving line of credit to
finance construction of the natural gas marine pipeline. Due to significant fluctuation of the Mexican peso and the impact of this fluctuation on the peso-
denominated loan, equity earnings from IEnova’s investment in IMG JV were higher in the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to the same
period in 2019, primarily due to $149 million of foreign currency gains in 2020 compared to $10 million of foreign currency losses in 2019, which are
offset by corresponding amounts included in Other (Expense) Income, Net on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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We provide summarized income statement information for IMG JV in the following table.

SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION - IMG JV

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Operating revenues $ 122 $ =
Operating expenses (33) —
Income from operations 89 —
Other income, net 364 41
Interest expense (43) (46)
Income tax benefit (expense) 10 4)
Net income (loss)/Earnings (losses) 420 (8)

SEMPRA LNG

In the three months ended March 31, 2019, Sempra LNG invested cash of $25 million in Cameron LNG JV. Prior to commencing commercial operations in
August 2019, Sempra LNG capitalized $13 million of interest in the three months ended March 31, 2019 related to its investment in Cameron LNG JV.

RBS SEMPRA COMMODITIES

As we discuss in Note 11, in March 2020, we recorded a charge of $100 million in Equity Earnings on Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Operations for losses from our investment in RBS Sempra Commodities. We recognized a corresponding liability of $25 million in Other
Current Liabilities and $75 million in Deferred Credits and Other for our share of estimated losses in excess of the carrying value of our equity method
investment.

GUARANTEES

At March 31, 2020, Sempra LNG has provided guarantees aggregating a maximum of $4.0 billion with an aggregate carrying value of $2 million
associated with Cameron LNG JV’s debt obligations. We discuss these guarantees in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the
Annual Report.
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NOTE 7. DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITIES

LINES OF CREDIT

Primary U.S. Committed Lines of Credit

At March 31, 2020, Sempra Energy Consolidated had an aggregate capacity of $6.7 billion in four primary U.S. committed lines of credit, which provide
liquidity and support commercial paper. The principal terms of these committed lines of credit, which expire in May 2024, are described below and in Note
7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

PRIMARY U.S. COMMITTED LINES OF CREDIT

(Dollars in millions)

March 31, 2020

Commercial
paper Lines of credit Available unused
Total facility outstanding® outstanding credit

Sempra Energy® $ 1,250 $ — % (1,250) $ =
Sempra Global® 3,185 (1,225) — 1,960
SDG&E® 1,500 — (200) 1,300
SoCalGas® 750 — — 750
Total $ 6,685 $ (1,225) $ (1,450) $ 4,010

() Because the commercial paper programs are supported by these lines, we reflect the amount of commercial paper outstanding as a reduction to the available unused

credit.

@ The facility also provides for issuance of $200 million of letters of credit on behalf of Sempra Energy with the amount of borrowings otherwise available under the facility
reduced by the amount of outstanding letters of credit. Subject to obtaining commitments from existing or new lenders and satisfaction of other specified conditions,
Sempra Energy has the right to increase the letter of credit commitment up to $500 million. No letters of credit were outstanding at March 31, 2020.

) Commercial paper outstanding is before reductions of unamortized discount of $1 million at Sempra Global.

() The facility also provides for issuance of $100 million of letters of credit on behalf of the borrowing utility with the amount of borrowings otherwise available under the facility
reduced by the amount of outstanding letters of credit. Subject to obtaining commitments from existing or new lenders and satisfaction of other specified conditions, the
borrowing utility has the right to increase the letter of credit commitment up to $250 million. No letters of credit were outstanding at March 31, 2020.

Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas each must maintain a ratio of indebtedness to total capitalization (as defined in each of the applicable credit
facilities) of no more than 65% at the end of each quarter. At March 31, 2020, each entity was in compliance with this ratio and all other financial
covenants under its respective credit facility.

At March 31, 2020, the $200 million outstanding under SDG&E’s line of credit was classified as long-term debt based on management’s intent and ability
to maintain this level of borrowing on a long-term basis either supported by this credit facility or by issuing long-term debt. This classification had no
impact on SDG&E'’s cash flows.
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Foreign Committed Lines of Credit

Our foreign operations in Mexico have additional general-purpose credit facilities aggregating $1.9 billion at March 31, 2020. The principal terms of these
credit facilities are described below.

FOREIGN COMMITTED LINES OF CREDIT
(U.S. dollar equivalent in millions)

March 31, 2020

Amounts Available unused

Expiration date of facility Total facility outstanding credit
February 2024® $ 1,500 $ (1,364) $ 136
April 2022? 100 (100) —
September 20211 280 (280) —
Total $ 1,880 $ (1,744) $ 136

@ Five-year revolving credit facility with a syndicate of 10 lenders.
@ Three-year revolving credit facility with Scotiabank Inverlat, S.A. Withdrawals may be made for up to one year from April 11, 2019 in either U.S. dollars or Mexican pesos.
®  Two-year revolving credit facility with The Bank of Nova Scotia. Withdrawals may be made for up to two years from September 23, 2019 in U.S. dollars.

Letters of Credit

Outside of our domestic and foreign committed credit facilities, we have bilateral unsecured standby letter of credit capacity with select lenders that is
uncommitted and supported by reimbursement agreements. At March 31, 2020, we had approximately $615 million in standby letters of credit outstanding
under these agreements.

TERM LOANS

In March 2020, Sempra Energy borrowed $1,524 million, net of $1 million of debt issuance costs, under a 364-day term loan, which has a maturity date of
March 16, 2021 with an option to extend the maturity date to September 16, 2021, subject to receiving the consent of the lenders. Borrowings bear interest
at benchmark rates plus 80 bps (1.72% at March 31, 2020). On April 1, 2020, Sempra Energy borrowed an additional $75 million under the term loan.

In March 2020, SDG&E borrowed $200 million under a 364-day term loan, which has a maturity date of March 18, 2021 with an option to extend the
maturity date to September 17, 2021, subject to receiving the consent of the lenders. Borrowings bear interest at benchmark rates plus 80 bps (1.73% at
March 31, 2020). SDG&E classified this term loan as long-term debt based on management’s intent and ability to maintain this level of borrowing on a
long-term basis by issuing long-term debt. This classification had no impact on SDG&E'’s cash flows.

The term loans provide Sempra Energy and SDG&E with additional liquidity outside of their respective committed lines of credit.

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE INTEREST RATES

The weighted-average interest rates on the total short-term debt at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 were as follows:

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE INTEREST RATES

December 31,

March 31, 2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated 2.41% 2.31%
SDG&E N/A 1.97
SoCalGas N/A 1.86
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LONG-TERM DEBT

SDG&E

In April 2020, SDG&E issued $400 million of 3.32% first mortgage bonds maturing in 2050 and received proceeds of $395 million (net of debt discount,
underwriting discounts and debt issuance costs of $5 million). SDG&E used $200 million of the proceeds from the offering to repay borrowings on its line
of credit and expects to use the remaining proceeds for working capital and other general corporate purposes, which may include the repayment of
indebtedness.

SoCalGas

In January 2020, SoCalGas issued $650 million of 2.55% first mortgage bonds maturing in 2030. We received proceeds of $643 million (net of debt
discount, underwriting discounts and debt issuance costs of $7 million). SoCalGas used the proceeds from the offering to repay outstanding commercial
paper and for other general corporate purposes.

Sempra Mexico

In November 2019, IEnova entered into a financing agreement with International Finance Corporation and North American Development Bank to finance
and/or refinance the construction of solar generation projects in Mexico. Under this agreement, in April 2020, IEnova borrowed $100 million from Japan
International Cooperation Agency, with loan proceeds of $98 million (net of debt issuance costs of $2 million). The loan matures in November 2034 and
bears interest based on 6-month LIBOR plus 150 bps. IEnova entered into a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap, resulting in a fixed rate of 2.38%.

Sempra LNG

As we discuss in “Shareholders’ Equity and Noncontrolling Interests — Other Noncontrolling Interests — Sempra LNG” in Note 1, notes payable totaling
$22 million due October 1, 2026 were converted to equity by the minority partner in Liberty Gas Storage LLC and are no longer outstanding.

NOTE 8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We use derivative instruments primarily to manage exposures arising in the normal course of business. Our principal exposures are commodity market risk,
benchmark interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate exposures. Our use of derivatives for these risks is integrated into the economic management of our
anticipated revenues, anticipated expenses, assets and liabilities. Derivatives may be effective in mitigating these risks (1) that could lead to declines in
anticipated revenues or increases in anticipated expenses, or (2) that our asset values may fall or our liabilities may increase. Accordingly, our derivative
activity summarized below generally represents an impact that is intended to offset associated revenues, expenses, assets or liabilities that are not included
in the tables below.

In certain cases, we apply the normal purchase or sale exception to derivative instruments and have other commodity contracts that are not derivatives.
These contracts are not recorded at fair value and are therefore excluded from the disclosures below.

In all other cases, we record derivatives at fair value on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. We have derivatives that are (1) cash flow hedges, (2)
fair value hedges, or (3) undesignated. Depending on the applicability of hedge accounting and, for the California Utilities and other operations subject to
regulatory accounting, the requirement to pass impacts through to customers, the impact of derivative instruments may be offset in OCI (cash flow hedges),
on the balance sheet (regulatory offsets), or recognized in earnings (fair value hedges). We classify cash flows from the principal settlements of cross-
currency swaps that hedge exposure related to Mexican peso-denominated debt as financing activities and settlements of other derivative instruments as
operating activities on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

HEDGE ACCOUNTING

We may designate a derivative as a cash flow hedging instrument if it effectively converts anticipated cash flows associated with revenues or expenses to a
fixed dollar amount. We may utilize cash flow hedge accounting for derivative commodity instruments, foreign currency instruments and interest rate
instruments. Designating cash flow hedges is dependent on the business context in which the instrument is being used, the effectiveness of the instrument
in offsetting the risk that the future cash flows of a given revenue or expense item may vary, and other criteria.
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ENERGY DERIVATIVES

Our market risk is primarily related to natural gas and electricity price volatility and the specific physical locations where we transact. We use energy
derivatives to manage these risks. The use of energy derivatives in our various businesses depends on the particular energy market, and the operating and
regulatory environments applicable to the business, as follows:

= The California Utilities use natural gas and electricity derivatives, for the benefit of customers, with the objective of managing price risk and basis risks,
and stabilizing and lowering natural gas and electricity costs. These derivatives include fixed price natural gas and electricity positions, options, and basis
risk instruments, which are either exchange-traded or over-the-counter financial instruments, or bilateral physical transactions. This activity is governed
by risk management and transacting activity plans that have been filed with and approved by the CPUC. Natural gas and electricity derivative activities
are recorded as commodity costs that are offset by regulatory account balances and are recovered in rates. Net commodity cost impacts on the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations are reflected in Cost of Electric Fuel and Purchased Power or in Cost of Natural Gas.

= SDG&E is allocated and may purchase CRRs, which serve to reduce the regional electricity price volatility risk that may result from local transmission
capacity constraints. Unrealized gains and losses do not impact earnings, as they are offset by regulatory account balances. Realized gains and losses
associated with CRRs, which are recoverable in rates, are recorded in Cost of Electric Fuel and Purchased Power on the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

= Sempra Mexico and Sempra LNG may use natural gas and electricity derivatives, as appropriate, to optimize the earnings of their assets which support
the following businesses: LNG, natural gas transportation and storage, and power generation. Gains and losses associated with undesignated derivatives
are recognized in Energy-Related Businesses Revenues or in Energy-Related Businesses Cost of Sales on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations. Certain of these derivatives may also be designated as cash flow hedges. Sempra Mexico may also use natural gas energy derivatives with
the objective of managing price risk and lowering natural gas prices at its distribution operations. These derivatives, which are recorded as commodity
costs that are offset by regulatory account balances and recovered in rates, are recognized in Cost of Natural Gas on the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

= From time to time, our various businesses, including the California Utilities, may use other energy derivatives to hedge exposures such as the price of
vehicle fuel and GHG allowances.

The following table summarizes net energy derivative volumes.

NET ENERGY DERIVATIVE VOLUMES
(Quantities in millions)

Commodity Unit of measure March 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Natural gas MMBtu 20 32
Electricity MWh 1 2
Congestion revenue rights MWh 45 48
SDG&E:
Natural gas MMBtu 29 37
Electricity MWh 2 2
Congestion revenue rights MWh 45 48
SoCalGas:
Natural gas MMBtu — 2

In addition to the amounts noted above, we use commodity derivatives to manage risks associated with the physical locations of contractual obligations and
assets, such as natural gas purchases and sales.

INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES

We are exposed to interest rates primarily as a result of our current and expected use of financing. The California Utilities, as well as Sempra Energy and its
other subsidiaries and JVs, periodically enter into interest rate derivative agreements intended to moderate our exposure to interest rates and to lower our
overall costs of borrowing. In addition, we may utilize interest rate swaps, typically designated as cash flow hedges, to lock in interest rates on outstanding
debt or in anticipation of future financings.

The following table presents the net notional amounts of our interest rate derivatives, excluding JVs.
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INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Notional debt Maturities Notional debt Maturities
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Cash flow hedges $ 1,531 2020-2034 $ 1,445 2020-2034

FOREIGN CURRENCY DERIVATIVES

We utilize cross-currency swaps to hedge exposure related to Mexican peso-denominated debt at our Mexican subsidiaries and JVs. These cash flow
hedges exchange our Mexican peso-denominated principal and interest payments into the U.S. dollar and swap Mexican variable interest rates for U.S.
fixed interest rates. From time to time, Sempra Mexico and its JVs may use other foreign currency derivatives to hedge exposures related to cash flows
associated with revenues from contracts denominated in Mexican pesos that are indexed to the U.S. dollar.

We are also exposed to exchange rate movements at our Mexican subsidiaries and JVs, which have U.S. dollar-denominated cash balances, receivables,
payables and debt (monetary assets and liabilities) that give rise to Mexican currency exchange rate movements for Mexican income tax purposes. They
also have deferred income tax assets and liabilities denominated in the Mexican peso, which must be translated to U.S. dollars for financial reporting
purposes. In addition, monetary assets and liabilities and certain nonmonetary assets and liabilities are adjusted for Mexican inflation for Mexican income
tax purposes. We utilize foreign currency derivatives as a means to manage the risk of exposure to significant fluctuations in our income tax expense and
equity earnings from these impacts; however, we generally do not hedge our deferred income tax assets and liabilities or for inflation.

We also utilize foreign currency derivatives to hedge exposure to fluctuations in the Peruvian sol and Chilean peso related to the sale of our operations in
Peru and Chile, respectively.

The following table presents the net notional amounts of our foreign currency derivatives, excluding JVs.

FOREIGN CURRENCY DERIVATIVES
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Notional amount Maturities Notional amount Maturities
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Cross-currency swaps $ 306 2020-2023 $ 306 2020-2023
Other foreign currency derivatives 1,939 2020-2021 1,796 2020-2021

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets reflect the offsetting of net derivative positions and cash collateral with the same counterparty when a legal
right of offset exists. The following tables provide the fair values of derivative instruments on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, including the
amount of cash collateral receivables that were not offset, as the cash collateral was in excess of liability positions.
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DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ON THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in millions)

March 31, 2020

Other current

Other long-term

Other current

Deferred credits

assets liabilities and other
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments 15 — 29) $ (210)
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign exchange instruments 23 — (82) —
Associated offsetting foreign exchange instruments (23) — 23 —

Commaodity contracts not subject to rate recovery 69 9 (69) (11)
Associated offsetting commodity contracts (65) 3) 65 3

Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 23 77 47) (50)
Associated offsetting commodity contracts 2 2) 2 2
Associated offsetting cash collateral — — 13 —

Net amounts presented on the balance sheet 40 81 (124) (266)

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
not subject to rate recovery 37 — — —

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
subject to rate recovery 19 — — —

Total® 96 81 $ (124) $ (266)

SDG&E:
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 20 77 % 43) $ (50)
Associated offsetting commodity contracts 2 ) 2 2
Associated offsetting cash collateral — — 13 —

Net amounts presented on the balance sheet 18 75 (28) (48)

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
subject to rate recovery 15 — — —

Total® 33 75 $ 28) $ (48)

SoCalGas:
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery — % @4 $ —

Net amounts presented on the balance sheet = 4) —

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
subject to rate recovery — — —

Total — 3 4 $ =

@ Included in Current Assets: Fixed-Price Contracts and Other Derivatives for SDG&E.
@ Normal purchase contracts previously measured at fair value are excluded.
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DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ON THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in millions)

December 31, 2019

Other current

Other long-term

Other current

Deferred credits

assets liabilities and other
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments $ — 3 8 @an s (140)
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign exchange instruments 41 — (20) —
Associated offsetting foreign exchange instruments (20) — 20 —

Commaodity contracts not subject to rate recovery 34 11 (41) (20)
Associated offsetting commodity contracts (32) 2) 32 2

Commaodity contracts subject to rate recovery 41 76 47) 47)
Associated offsetting commodity contracts (6) 3) 6 3
Associated offsetting cash collateral — — 14 —

Net amounts presented on the balance sheet 58 85 (53) (192)

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
not subject to rate recovery 43 — — —

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
subject to rate recovery 25 — — —

Total® $ 126 85 $ (53) $ (192)

SDG&E:
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery $ 30 7% 3% 41) $ 47)
Associated offsetting commodity contracts 4) (©)) 4 3
Associated offsetting cash collateral — — 14 —

Net amounts presented on the balance sheet 26 73 (23) (44)

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
subject to rate recovery 16 — — —

Total® $ 42 73 $ 23) $ (44)

SoCalGas:
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery $ 11 — % ®6) $ —
Associated offsetting commodity contracts 2 — 2 —

Net amounts presented on the balance sheet 9 — 4) —

Additional cash collateral for commodity contracts
subject to rate recovery 9 — — —

Total $ 18 — % 4 $ —

@ Included in Current Assets: Fixed-Price Contracts and Other Derivatives for SDG&E.

@ Normal purchase contracts previously measured at fair value are excluded.
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The table below includes the effects of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
in OCI and AOCI:

CASH FLOW HEDGE IMPACTS
(Dollars in millions)

Pretax (loss) gain Pretax (loss) gain reclassified
recognized in OCI from AOCI into earnings
Three months ended March 31, Three months ended March 31,
2020 2019 Location 2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Interest rate and foreign
exchange instruments® $ 92) $ (3) Interest Expense® $ 2 $ (1)
Other (Expense) Income, Net (41) 3
Interest rate and foreign
exchange instruments (172) (68) Equity Earnings — 1)
Revenues: Energy-
Foreign exchange instruments 21 ?3) Related Businesses 2 1)
Other (Expense) Income, Net 2 —
Total $ (243) % (74) $ B9 $ =
SDG&E:
Interest rate instruments® $ — 3 — Interest Expense® $ — % (1)

) Amounts include Otay Mesa VIE. All of SDG&E's interest rate derivative activity relates to Otay Mesa VIE. On August 14, 2019, Otay Mesa Energy Center LLC paid in full
its variable-rate loan and terminated its interest rate swaps.

For Sempra Energy Consolidated, we expect that net losses of $69 million, which are net of income tax benefit, that are currently recorded in AOCI related
to cash flow hedges will be reclassified into earnings during the next 12 months as the hedged items affect earnings. SoCalGas expects that $1 million of
losses, net of income tax benefit, that are currently recorded in AOCI related to cash flow hedges will be reclassified into earnings during the next 12
months as the hedged items affect earnings. Actual amounts ultimately reclassified into earnings depend on the interest rates in effect when derivative
contracts mature.

For all forecasted transactions, the maximum remaining term over which we are hedging exposure to the variability of cash flows at March 31, 2020 is
approximately 15 years for Sempra Energy Consolidated. The maximum remaining term for which we are hedging exposure to the variability of cash flows
at our equity method investees is 20 years.

The following table summarizes the effects of derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

UNDESIGNATED DERIVATIVE IMPACTS

(Dollars in millions)

Pretax (loss) gain on derivatives recognized in
earnings

Three months ended March 31,

Location 2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Foreign exchange instruments Other (Expense) Income, Net $ (114) $ 10
Commodity contracts not subject Revenues: Energy-Related
to rate recovery Businesses 51 —
Commodity contracts subject Cost of Electric Fuel
to rate recovery and Purchased Power 9) 2
Commaodity contracts subject
to rate recovery Cost of Natural Gas 3) 2
Total $ (75) $ 14
SDG&E:
Commodity contracts subject Cost of Electric Fuel
to rate recovery and Purchased Power $ 9 $ 2
SoCalGas:
Commodity contracts subject
to rate recovery Cost of Natural Gas $ ) % 2
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CONTINGENT FEATURES

For Sempra Energy Consolidated, SDG&E and SoCalGas, certain of our derivative instruments contain credit limits which vary depending on our credit
ratings. Generally, these provisions, if applicable, may reduce our credit limit if a specified credit rating agency reduces our ratings. In certain cases, if
our credit ratings were to fall below investment grade, the counterparty to these derivative liability instruments could request immediate payment or
demand immediate and ongoing full collateralization.

For Sempra Energy Consolidated, the total fair value of this group of derivative instruments in a net liability position at March 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019 was $5 million and $21 million, respectively. For SoCalGas, the total fair value of this group of derivative instruments in a net liability position at
both March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $4 million. At March 31, 2020, if the credit ratings of Sempra Energy or SoCalGas were reduced below
investment grade, $5 million and $4 million, respectively, of additional assets could be required to be posted as collateral for these derivative contracts.

For Sempra Energy Consolidated, SDG&E and SoCalGas, some of our derivative contracts contain a provision that would permit the counterparty, in
certain circumstances, to request adequate assurance of our performance under the contracts. Such additional assurance, if needed, is not material and is not
included in the amounts above.

NOTE 9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We discuss the valuation techniques and inputs we use to measure fair value and the definition of the three levels of the fair value hierarchy in Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASURES

The three tables below, by level within the fair value hierarchy, set forth our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a
recurring basis at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. We classify financial assets and liabilities in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and
may affect the valuation of fair valued assets and liabilities, and their placement within the fair value hierarchy. We have not changed the valuation
techniques or types of inputs we use to measure recurring fair value since December 31, 2019.

The fair value of commodity derivative assets and liabilities is presented in accordance with our netting policy, as we discuss in Note 8 under “Financial
Statement Presentation.”

The determination of fair values, shown in the tables below, incorporates various factors, including but not limited to, the credit standing of the
counterparties involved and the impact of credit enhancements (such as cash deposits, letters of credit and priority interests).

Our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis in the tables below include the following (other than a $5
million investment at December 31, 2019, measured at net asset value):

= Nuclear decommissioning trusts reflect the assets of SDG&E’s NDT, excluding cash balances. A third-party trustee values the trust assets using prices
from a pricing service based on a market approach. We validate these prices by comparison to prices from other independent data sources. Securities are
valued using quoted prices listed on nationally recognized securities exchanges or based on closing prices reported in the active market in which the
identical security is traded (Level 1). Other securities are valued based on yields that are currently available for comparable securities of issuers with
similar credit ratings (Level 2).

= For commodity contracts, interest rate derivatives and foreign exchange instruments, we primarily use a market or income approach with market
participant assumptions to value these derivatives. Market participant assumptions include those about risk, and the risk inherent in the inputs to the
valuation techniques. These inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable. We have exchange-traded derivatives that
are valued based on quoted prices in active markets for the identical instruments (Level 1). We also may have other commodity derivatives that are
valued using industry standard models that consider quoted forward prices for commodities, time value, current market and contractual prices for the
underlying instruments, volatility factors, and other relevant economic measures (Level 2). Level 3 recurring items relate to CRRs and long-term, fixed-
price electricity positions at SDG&E, as we discuss below in “Level 3 Information.”

= Rabbi Trust investments include marketable securities that we value using a market approach based on closing prices reported in the active market in
which the identical security is traded (Level 1). These investments in marketable securities were negligible at both March 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019.
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RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASURES - SEMPRA ENERGY CONSOLIDATED

(Dollars in millions)

Fair value at March 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Nuclear decommissioning trusts:
Equity securities 299 5 — 304
Debt securities:
Debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and other U.S.
government corporations and agencies 46 24 — 70
Municipal bonds — 330 — 330
Other securities — 269 — 269
Total debt securities 46 623 — 669
Total nuclear decommissioning trusts® 345 628 — 973
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments — 15 — 15
Commodity contracts not subject to rate recovery — 10 — 10
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 37 — — 37
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery — 4 92 96
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 14 — 5 19
Total 396 657 97 1,150
Liabilities:
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments — 298 — 298
Commodity contracts not subject to rate recovery — 12 — 12
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 13 4 76 93
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® (13) — — (13)
Total — 314 76 390
Fair value at December 31, 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Nuclear decommissioning trusts:
Equity securities 503 6 — 509
Debt securities:
Debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and other U.S.
government corporations and agencies 46 11 — 57
Municipal bonds — 282 — 282
Other securities — 226 — 226
Total debt securities 46 519 — 565
Total nuclear decommissioning trusts® 549 525 — 1,074
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments — 24 — 24
Commodity contracts not subject to rate recovery — 11 — 11
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 43 — — 43
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 5 8 95 108
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 11 6 25
Total 608 576 101 1,285
Liabilities:
Interest rate and foreign exchange instruments — 157 — 157
Commodity contracts not subject to rate recovery — 17 — 17
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 14 4 67 85
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® (14) — — (14)
Total — 178 67 245

@ Excludes cash and cash equivalents.

@ Includes the effect of the contractual ability to settle contracts under master netting agreements and with cash collateral, as well as cash collateral not offset.



RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASURES - SDG&E
(Dollars in millions)

Fair value at March 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Nuclear decommissioning trusts:
Equity securities 299 5 — 304
Debt securities:
Debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and other U.S.
government corporations and agencies 46 24 — 70
Municipal bonds — 330 — 330
Other securities — 269 — 269
Total debt securities 46 623 — 669
Total nuclear decommissioning trusts® 345 628 — 973
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery — 1 92 93
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 10 — 5 15
Total 355 629 97 1,081
Liabilities:
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 13 — 76 89
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® (13) — — (13)
Total — — 76 76
Fair value at December 31, 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Nuclear decommissioning trusts:
Equity securities 503 6 — 509
Debt securities:
Debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and other U.S.
government corporations and agencies 46 11 — 57
Municipal bonds — 282 — 282
Other securities — 226 — 226
Total debt securities 46 519 — 565
Total nuclear decommissioning trusts® 549 525 — 1,074
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 1 3 95 99
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 10 — 6 16
Total 560 528 101 1,189
Liabilities:
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery 14 — 67 81
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® (14) — — (14)
Total — — 67 67

@ Excludes cash and cash equivalents.

@ Includes the effect of the contractual ability to settle contracts under master netting agreements and with cash collateral, as well as cash collateral not offset.



RECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASURES - SOCALGAS
(Dollars in millions)

Fair value at March 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery $ — 3 3 3 —  $
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 4 — —
Total $ 4 3 3 3 —  $ 7
Liabilities:
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery $ — 3 4 $ — % 4
Total $ — 3 4 3% —  $ 4
Fair value at December 31, 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery $ 4 $ 5 8 —  $ 9
Effect of netting and allocation of collateral® 1 8 — 9
Total $ 5 % 13 % —  $ 18
Liabilities:
Commodity contracts subject to rate recovery $ — 3 4 $ — % 4
Total $ — 3 4 % —  $ 4

@ Includes the effect of the contractual ability to settle contracts under master netting agreements and with cash collateral, as well as cash collateral not offset.

Level 3 Information

The table below sets forth reconciliations of changes in the fair value of CRRs and long-term, fixed-price electricity positions classified as Level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy for Sempra Energy Consolidated and SDG&E.

LEVEL 3 RECONCILIATIONS®
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Balance at January 1 $ 28 % 179
Realized and unrealized (losses) gains (5) 5
Settlements (©) 2)
Balance at March 31 $ 16 $ 182
Change in unrealized gains (losses) relating to instruments still held at March 31 $ ®) $ 13

@ Excludes the effect of the contractual ability to settle contracts under master netting agreements.

Inputs used to determine the fair value of CRRs and fixed-price electricity positions are reviewed and compared with market conditions to determine
reasonableness. SDG&E expects all costs related to these instruments to be recoverable through customer rates. As such, there is no impact to earnings
from changes in the fair value of these instruments.

CRRs are recorded at fair value based almost entirely on the most current auction prices published by the California ISO, an objective source. Annual
auction prices are published once a year, typically in the middle of November, and are the basis for valuing CRRs settling in the following year. For the
CRRs settling from January 1 to December 31, the auction price inputs, at a given location, were in the following ranges for the years indicated below:

CONGESTION REVENUE RIGHTS AUCTION PRICE INPUTS

Median price per

Settlement year Price per MWh MWh
2020 $ (3.77) to $ 6.03 $ (1.58)
2019 (8.57) to 35.21 (2.94)
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The impact associated with discounting is negligible. Because these auction prices are a less observable input, these instruments are classified as Level 3.
The fair value of these instruments is derived from auction price differences between two locations. Positive values between two locations represent
expected future reductions in congestion costs, whereas negative values between two locations represent expected future charges. Valuation of our CRRs is
sensitive to a change in auction price. If auction prices at one location increase (decrease) relative to another location, this could result in a higher (lower)
fair value measurement. We summarize CRR volumes in Note 8.

Long-term, fixed-price electricity positions that are valued using significant unobservable data are classified as Level 3 because the contract terms relate to
a delivery location or tenor for which observable market rate information is not available. The fair value of the net electricity positions classified as Level 3
is derived from a discounted cash flow model using market electricity forward price inputs. The range and weighted-average price of these inputs at March
31 were as follows:

LONG-TERM, FIXED-PRICE ELECTRICITY POSITIONS PRICE INPUTS

Weighted-average

Settlement year Price per MWh price per MWh
2020 $ 16.51 to $ 52.45 $ 35.41
2019 23.25 to 81.75 42.49

A significant increase (decrease) in market electricity forward prices would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value. We summarize long-term,
fixed-price electricity position volumes in Note 8.

Realized gains and losses associated with CRRs and long-term electricity positions, which are recoverable in rates, are recorded in Cost of Electric Fuel
and Purchased Power on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Because unrealized gains and losses are recorded as regulatory assets and
liabilities, they do not affect earnings.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of certain of our financial instruments (cash, accounts and notes receivable, short-term amounts due to/from unconsolidated affiliates,
dividends and accounts payable, short-term debt and customer deposits) approximate their carrying amounts because of the short-term nature of these
instruments. Investments in life insurance contracts that we hold in support of our Supplemental Executive Retirement, Cash Balance Restoration and
Deferred Compensation Plans are carried at cash surrender values, which represent the amount of cash that could be realized under the contracts. The
following table provides the carrying amounts and fair values of certain other financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value on the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, 2020

Carrying Fair value

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Long-term amounts due from unconsolidated affiliates® $ 599 % — % 627 $ 6 $ 633
Long-term amounts due to unconsolidated affiliates 263 — 238 — 238
Total long-term debt® 21,204 — 22,049 — 22,049
SDG&E:
Total long-term debt® $ 5523 $ — 3 6,281 $ — % 6,281
SoCalGas:
Total long-term debt® $ 4,459 $ — % 4,894 $ — % 4,894

December 31, 2019

Carrying Fair value

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Long-term amounts due from unconsolidated affiliates $ 742 $ — 759 % — 759
Long-term amounts due to unconsolidated affiliates 195 — 184 — 184
Total long-term debt® 21,247 — 22,638 26 22,664
SDG&E:
Total long-term debt® $ 5140 $ — 3 5662 $ — 3 5,662
SoCalGas:
Total long-term debt® $ 3,809 $ — 3 4,189 $ — 3 4,189

@ Before allowances for credit losses of $7 million at March 31, 2020.
@ Before reductions of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs of $228 million and $225 million at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and
excluding finance lease obligations of $1,301 million and $1,289 million at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

& Before reductions of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs of $47 million and $48 million at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and excluding
finance lease obligations of $1,268 million and $1,270 million at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

@ Before reductions of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs of $41 million and $34 million at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and excluding
finance lease obligations of $33 million and $19 million at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

We provide the fair values for the securities held in the NDT related to SONGS in Note 10.

NOTE 10. SAN ONOFRE NUCLEAR GENERATING STATION

We provide below updates to ongoing matters related to SONGS, a nuclear generating facility near San Clemente, California that ceased operations in June
2013, and in which SDG&E has a 20% ownership interest. We discuss SONGS further in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the
Annual Report.

NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING AND FUNDING
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As aresult of Edison’s decision to permanently retire SONGS Units 2 and 3, Edison began the decommissioning phase of the plant. We expect the majority
of the decommissioning work to take 10 years after receipt of the required permits. The coastal development permit was issued in October 2019. The
Samuel Lawrence Foundation filed a writ petition under the California Coastal Act in LA Superior Court in December 2019 seeking to invalidate the
permit and to obtain injunctive relief to stop decommissioning work. Major decommissioning work began in 2020. Decommissioning of Unit 1, removed
from service in 1992, is largely complete. The remaining work for Unit 1 will be completed once Units 2 and 3 are dismantled and the spent fuel is
removed from the site. The spent fuel is currently being stored on-site, until the DOE identifies a spent fuel storage facility and puts in place a program for
the fuel’s disposal, as we discuss below. SDG&E is responsible for approximately 20% of the total contract price.

In accordance with state and federal requirements and regulations, SDG&E has assets held in the NDT to fund its share of decommissioning costs for
SONGS Units 1, 2 and 3. The amounts collected in rates for SONGS’ decommissioning are invested in the NDT, which is comprised of externally
managed trust funds. Amounts held by the NDT are invested in accordance with CPUC regulations. SDG&E classifies debt and equity securities held in the
NDT as available-for-sale. The NDT assets are presented on the Sempra Energy and SDG&E Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value with the
offsetting credits recorded in noncurrent Regulatory Liabilities.

Except for the use of funds for the planning of decommissioning activities or NDT administrative costs, CPUC approval is required for SDG&E to access
the NDT assets to fund SONGS decommissioning costs for Units 2 and 3. In March 2020, SDG&E received authorization from the CPUC to access NDT
funds of up to $109 million for forecasted 2020 costs.

In December 2016, the IRS and the U.S. Department of the Treasury issued proposed regulations that clarify the definition of “nuclear decommissioning
costs,” which are costs that may be paid for or reimbursed from a qualified trust fund. The proposed regulations state that costs related to the construction
and maintenance of independent spent fuel management installations are included in the definition of “nuclear decommissioning costs.” The proposed
regulations will be effective prospectively once they are finalized. SDG&E is awaiting the adoption of, or additional refinement to, the proposed
regulations before determining whether the proposed regulations will allow SDG&E to access the NDT funds for reimbursement or payment of the spent
fuel management costs incurred in 2017 and subsequent years. Further clarification of the proposed regulations could enable SDG&E to access the NDT to
recover spent fuel management costs before Edison reaches final settlement with the DOE regarding the DOE’s reimbursement of these costs. Historically,
the DOE’s reimbursements of spent fuel storage costs have not resulted in timely or complete recovery of these costs. We discuss the DOE’s responsibility
for spent nuclear fuel below. The IRS held public hearings on the proposed regulations in October 2017. It is unclear when clarification of the proposed
regulations might be provided or when the proposed regulations will be finalized.
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The following table shows the fair values and gross unrealized gains and losses for the securities held in the NDT. We provide additional fair value
disclosures for the NDT in Note 9.

NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING TRUSTS
(Dollars in millions)

Gross Gross Estimated
unrealized unrealized fair
Cost gains losses value

At March 31, 2020:
Debt securities:

Debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and other U.S. government

corporations and agencies® $ 68 $ 2 3 — 3 70

Municipal bonds® 320 12 (2) 330

Other securities® 276 4 (12) 269
Total debt securities 664 18 (13) 669
Equity securities 141 185 (22) 304
Cash and cash equivalents 14 — — 14

Total $ 819 % 203 $ (35 $ 987
At December 31, 2019:
Debt securities:

Debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and other U.S. government

corporations and agencies $ 57 % — 3 — % 57

Municipal bonds 270 12 — 282

Other securities 218 9 Q) 226
Total debt securities 545 21 Q) 565
Equity securities 176 339 (6) 509
Cash and cash equivalents 8 — — 8

Total $ 729 % 360 $ 7 % 1,082

@) Maturity dates are 2021-2050.
@) Maturity dates are 2020-2056.
®  Maturity dates are 2020-2072.
The following table shows the proceeds from sales of securities in the NDT and gross realized gains and losses on those sales.

SALES OF SECURITIES IN THE NDT

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Proceeds from sales $ 552 % 225
Gross realized gains 92 5
Gross realized losses (5) 2)

Net unrealized gains and losses, as well as realized gains and losses that are reinvested in the NDT, are included in noncurrent Regulatory Liabilities on
Sempra Energy’s and SDG&E’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. We determine the cost of securities in the trusts on the basis of specific
identification.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION AND SPENT NUCLEAR FUEL

The present value of SDG&E’s ARO related to decommissioning costs for the SONGS units was $608 million at March 31, 2020. That amount includes
the cost to decommission Units 2 and 3, and the remaining cost to complete the decommissioning of Unit 1, which is substantially complete. The ARO for
all three units is based on a cost study prepared in 2017 that is pending CPUC approval. The ARO for Units 2 and 3 reflects the acceleration of the start of
decommissioning of these units as a result of the early closure of the plant. SDG&E'’s share of total decommissioning costs in 2020 dollars is approximately
$860 million.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY NUCLEAR FUEL DISPOSAL
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Spent nuclear fuel from SONGS is currently stored on-site in an ISFSI licensed by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission or temporarily in spent fuel pools.
In October 2015, the California Coastal Commission approved Edison’s application to expand the ISFSI. The ISFSI expansion began construction in 2016
and the transfer of the spent nuclear fuel from Units 2 and 3 to the ISFSI began in 2018. The ISFSI will operate until 2049, when it is assumed that the
DOE will have taken custody of all the SONGS spent fuel. The ISFSI would then be decommissioned, and the site restored to its original environmental
state. Until then, SONGS owners are responsible for interim storage of spent nuclear fuel at SONGS.

The Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982 made the DOE responsible for accepting, transporting, and disposing of spent nuclear fuel. However, it is uncertain
when the DOE will begin accepting spent nuclear fuel from SONGS. This delay will lead to increased costs for spent fuel storage. In November 2019,
Edison filed a claim for spent fuel management costs in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims for the time period from January 2017 through July 2018. It is
unclear when Edison will pursue litigation claims for spent fuel management costs incurred on or after August 1, 2018. SDG&E will continue to support
Edison in its pursuit of claims on behalf of the SONGS co-owners against the DOE for its failure to timely accept the spent nuclear fuel.

NUCLEAR INSURANCE

SDG&E and the other owners of SONGS have insurance to cover claims from nuclear liability incidents arising at SONGS. Currently, this insurance
provides $450 million in coverage limits, the maximum amount available, including coverage for acts of terrorism. In addition, the Price-Anderson Act
provides an additional $110 million of coverage. If a nuclear liability loss occurs at SONGS and exceeds the $450 million insurance limit, this additional
coverage would be available to provide a total of $560 million in coverage limits per incident.

As a result of updated coverage assessments, the SONGS owners have nuclear property damage insurance of $130 million, which exceeds the minimum
federal requirements of $50 million. This insurance coverage is provided through NEIL. The NEIL policies have specific exclusions and limitations that
can result in reduced or eliminated coverage. Insured members as a group are subject to retrospective premium assessments to cover losses sustained by
NEIL under all issued policies. SDG&E. could be assessed up to $3.5 million of retrospective premiums based on overall member claims.

The nuclear property insurance program includes an industry aggregate loss limit for non-certified acts of terrorism (as defined by the Terrorism Risk
Insurance Act) of $3.24 billion. This is the maximum amount that will be paid to insured members who suffer losses or damages from these non-certified
terrorist acts.

NOTE 11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We accrue losses for a legal proceeding when it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. However,
the uncertainties inherent in legal proceedings make it difficult to reasonably estimate the costs and effects of resolving these matters. Accordingly, actual
costs incurred may differ materially from amounts accrued, may exceed applicable insurance coverage and could materially adversely affect our business,
cash flows, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. Unless otherwise indicated, we are unable to estimate reasonably possible losses in
excess of any amounts accrued.

At March 31, 2020, loss contingency accruals for legal matters, including associated legal fees, that are probable and estimable were $442 million for
Sempra Energy Consolidated, including $297 million for SoCalGas. Amounts for Sempra Energy Consolidated and SoCalGas include $286 million for
matters related to the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility gas leak, which we discuss below.

SoCalGas

Aliso Canyon Natural Gas Storage Facility Gas Leak

From October 23, 2015 through February 11, 2016, SoCalGas experienced a natural gas leak from one of the injection-and-withdrawal wells, SS25, at its
Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility in Los Angeles County. As described below in “Civil and Criminal Litigation” and “Regulatory Proceedings,”
numerous lawsuits, investigations and regulatory proceedings have been
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initiated in response to the Leak, resulting in significant costs, which together with other Leak-related costs are discussed below in “Cost Estimates,
Accounting Impact and Insurance.”

Civil and Criminal Litigation. As of April 29, 2020, 393 lawsuits, including approximately 36,000 plaintiffs, are pending against SoCalGas related to the
Leak, some of which have also named Sempra Energy. All these cases, other than a matter brought by the Los Angeles County District Attorney and the
federal securities class action discussed below, are coordinated before a single court in the LA Superior Court for pretrial management.

In November 2017, in the coordinated proceeding, individuals and business entities filed a Third Amended Consolidated Master Case Complaint for
Individual Actions, through which their separate lawsuits will be managed for pretrial purposes. The consolidated complaint asserts causes of action for
negligence, negligence per se, private and public nuisance (continuing and permanent), trespass, inverse condemnation, strict liability, negligent and
intentional infliction of emotional distress, fraudulent concealment, loss of consortium, wrongful death and violations of Proposition 65 against SoCalGas,
with certain causes of action also naming Sempra Energy. The consolidated complaint seeks compensatory and punitive damages for personal injuries, lost
wages and/or lost profits, property damage and diminution in property value, injunctive relief, costs of future medical monitoring, civil penalties (including
penalties associated with Proposition 65 claims alleging violation of requirements for warning about certain chemical exposures), and attorneys’ fees.
SoCalGas is engaged in settlement discussions in connection with these actions and has recorded a related accrual of $277 million, inclusive of estimated
legal costs, in Reserve for Aliso Canyon Costs on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The initial trial previously
scheduled for June 2020 for a small number of randomly selected individual plaintiffs has been postponed, with a new trial date to be determined by the
court.

In January 2017, two consolidated class action complaints were filed against SoCalGas and Sempra Energy, one on behalf of a putative class of persons and
businesses who own or lease real property within a five-mile radius of the well (the Property Class Action), and a second on behalf of a putative class of all
persons and entities conducting business within five miles of the facility (the Business Class Action). The Property Class Action asserts claims for strict
liability for ultra-hazardous activities, negligence, negligence per se, violation of the California Unfair Competition Law, trespass, permanent and
continuing public and private nuisance, and inverse condemnation. The Business Class Action asserts a claim for violation of the California Unfair
Competition Law. Both complaints seek compensatory, statutory and punitive damages, injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees.

Three property developers filed complaints in July and October of 2018 against SoCalGas and Sempra Energy alleging causes of action for strict liability,
negligence per se, negligence, continuing nuisance, permanent nuisance and violation of the California Unfair Competition Law, as well as claims for
negligence against certain directors of SoCalGas. The complaints seek compensatory, statutory and punitive damages, injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees.

In October 2018 and January 2019, complaints were filed on behalf of 51 firefighters stationed near the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility who
allege they were injured by exposure to chemicals released during the Leak. The complaints against SoCalGas and Sempra Energy assert causes of actions
for negligence, negligence per se, private and public nuisance (continuing and permanent), trespass, inverse condemnation, strict liability, negligent and
intentional infliction of emotional distress, fraudulent concealment and loss of consortium. The complaints seek compensatory and punitive damages for
personal injuries, lost wages and/or lost profits, property damage and diminution in property value, and attorney’s fees.

Four shareholder derivative actions are also pending alleging breach of fiduciary duties against certain officers and certain directors of Sempra Energy
and/or SoCalGas, all of which were joined in an Amended Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint filed in February 2020. A fifth shareholder
derivative action filed in March 2017 was dismissed in November 2019 on the grounds that the plaintiff failed to adequately plead his claims, but the court
gave leave for him to amend the complaint to cure the defects.

In addition, a federal securities class action alleging violation of the federal securities laws was filed against Sempra Energy and certain of its officers in
July 2017 in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California. In March 2018, the court dismissed the action with prejudice. The plaintiffs
have appealed the dismissal.

In February 2019, the LA Superior Court approved a settlement between SoCalGas and the Los Angeles City Attorney’s Office, the County of Los
Angeles, the California Office of the Attorney General and CARB of three actions filed by these entities under which SoCalGas made payments and agreed
to provide funding for environmental projects totaling $120 million, including $21 million in civil penalties, as well as other safety-related commitments.

In September 2016, SoCalGas settled a misdemeanor criminal complaint filed in February 2016 by the Los Angeles County District Attorney’s Office
against SoCalGas, pleading no contest to a charge that it failed to provide timely notice of the Leak pursuant to California Health and Safety Code section
25510(a), Los Angeles County Code section 12.56.030, and Title 19 California Code of Regulations section 2703(a). In November 2016, the LA Superior
Court approved the settlement and entered judgment on the notice charge. Under the settlement, SoCalGas paid a $75,000 fine, $233,500 in penalties, and
$246,673 to
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reimburse costs incurred by Los Angeles County Fire Department’s Health and Hazardous Materials Division, as well as completed operational
commitments estimated to cost approximately $6 million. Certain individuals who objected to the settlement petitioned the Court of Appeal to vacate the
judgment, contending they should be granted restitution. In July 2019, the Court of Appeal denied the petition in part, but remanded the matter to the trial
court to give the petitioners an opportunity to prove damages stemming from only the three-day delay in reporting the Leak. Following the hearing, the trial
court denied restitution. The alleged victims have asked the trial court to reconsider its order.

Regulatory Proceedings. In January 2016, CalGEM and the CPUC directed an independent analysis of the technical root cause of the Leak to be
conducted by Blade. In May 2019, Blade released its report, which concluded that the Leak was caused by a failure of the production casing of the well due
to corrosion and that attempts to stop the Leak were not effectively conducted, but did not identify any instances of non-compliance by SoCalGas. Blade
concluded that SoCalGas’ compliance activities conducted prior to the Leak did not find indications of a casing integrity issue. Blade opined, however, that
there were measures, none of which were required by gas storage regulations at the time, that could have been taken to aid in the early identification of
corrosion and that, in Blade’s opinion, would have prevented or mitigated the Leak. The report also identified well safety practices and regulations that
have since been adopted by CalGEM and implemented by SoCalGas, which address most of the root cause of the Leak identified during Blade’s
investigation.

In June 2019, the CPUC opened an OII to consider penalties against SoCalGas for the Leak, which it later bifurcated into two phases. The first phase will
consider whether SoCalGas violated California Public Utilities Code Section 451 or other laws, CPUC orders or decisions, rules or requirements, whether
SoCalGas engaged in unreasonable and/or imprudent practices with respect to its operation and maintenance of the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage
facility or its related record-keeping practices, whether SoCalGas cooperated sufficiently with the Safety Enforcement Division (SED) and Blade during the
pre-formal investigation, and whether any of the mitigation proposed by Blade should be implemented to the extent not already done. In November 2019,
SED, based largely on the Blade report, alleged a total of 330 violations, asserting that SoCalGas violated California Public Utilities Code Section 451 and
failed to cooperate in the investigation and to keep proper records. Hearings in the first phase of the OII have been postponed until further notice. The
second phase will consider whether SoCalGas should be sanctioned for the Leak and what penalties, if any, should be imposed for any violations proven in
the first phase, as well as determine the amounts of various costs incurred by SoCalGas and other parties in connection with the Leak and the ratemaking
treatment or other disposition of such costs. In a January 2016 emergency proclamation, the Governor ordered the CPUC to ensure that SoCalGas covers
costs related to the Leak and its response, while protecting ratepayers. In addition, CalGEM is investigating the Leak.

In February 2017, the CPUC opened a proceeding pursuant to SB 380 to determine the feasibility of minimizing or eliminating the use of the Aliso Canyon
natural gas storage facility while still maintaining energy and electric reliability for the region, but excluding issues with respect to air quality, public
health, causation, culpability or cost responsibility regarding the Leak. The first phase of the proceeding established a framework for the hydraulic,
production cost and economic modeling assumptions for the potential reduction in usage or elimination of the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility.
Phase 2 of the proceeding, which will evaluate the impacts of reducing or eliminating the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility using the established
framework and models, began in the first quarter of 2019. The CPUC has indicated that it expects to issue its report for Phase 2 in 2020. In December
2019, the CPUC added a third phase of the proceeding to consider alternative means for meeting or avoiding the demand for the facility’s services if it were
eliminated in either 2027 or 2045.

If the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility were to be permanently closed, or if future cash flows from its operation were otherwise insufficient to
recover its carrying value, it could result in an impairment of the facility and significantly higher than expected operating costs and/or additional capital
expenditures, and natural gas reliability and electric generation could be jeopardized. At March 31, 2020, the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility had
a net book value of $771 million. Any significant impairment of this asset, or higher operating costs and additional capital expenditures incurred by
SoCalGas that may not be recoverable in customer rates, could have a material adverse effect on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

Cost Estimates, Accounting Impact and Insurance. SoCalGas has incurred significant costs for temporary relocation of community residents; to control
the well and stop the Leak; to mitigate the natural gas released; to purchase natural gas to replace what was lost through the Leak; to defend against and, in
certain cases, settle, civil and criminal litigation arising from the Leak; to pay the costs of the government-ordered response to the Leak, including the costs
for Blade to conduct the root cause analysis described above; to respond to various government and agency investigations regarding the Leak; and to
comply with increased regulation imposed as a result of the Leak. At March 31, 2020, SoCalGas estimates the costs related to the Leak are $1,408 million
(the cost estimate), which includes the $1,277 million of costs recovered or probable of recovery from insurance. This cost estimate may increase
significantly as more information becomes available. A substantial portion of the cost estimate has been
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paid, and $284 million is accrued as Reserve for Aliso Canyon Costs and $6 million is accrued in Deferred Credits and Other as of March 31, 2020 on
SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Except for the amounts paid or estimated to settle certain actions, as described in “Civil and Criminal Litigation” above, the cost estimate does not include
all litigation or regulatory costs to the extent it is not possible to predict at this time the outcome of these actions or reasonably estimate the costs to defend
or resolve the actions or the amount of damages, restitution, or civil, administrative or criminal fines, sanctions, penalties or other costs or remedies that
may be imposed or incurred. The cost estimate also does not include certain other costs incurred by Sempra Energy associated with defending against
shareholder derivative lawsuits and other potential costs that we currently do not anticipate incurring or that we cannot reasonably estimate. These costs not
included in the cost estimate could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations.

We have received insurance payments for many of the costs included in the cost estimate, including temporary relocation and associated processing costs,
control-of-well expenses, costs of the government-ordered response to the Leak, certain legal costs and lost gas. We intend to pursue the full extent of our
insurance coverage for the costs we have incurred. Other than directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, after taking into consideration the additional
accrual related to litigation matters described above, we have effectively exhausted all of our insurance in this matter, except as to certain defense costs we
may incur in the future, including those related to the shareholder derivative lawsuits described above. We continue to pursue other sources of insurance
coverage for costs related to this matter, but we may not be successful in obtaining additional insurance recovery for any of these costs. If we are not able to
secure additional insurance recovery for all or a substantial portion of these costs, if any costs we have recorded as an insurance receivable are not
collected, if there are delays in receiving insurance recoveries, or if the insurance recoveries are subject to income taxes while the associated costs are not
tax deductible, such amounts, which could be significant, could have a material adverse effect on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations.

As of March 31, 2020, we recorded the expected recovery of the cost estimate related to the Leak of $511 million as Insurance Receivable for Aliso
Canyon Costs on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. This amount is exclusive of insurance retentions and $766
million of insurance proceeds we received through March 31, 2020. If we were to conclude that this receivable or a portion of it is no longer probable of
recovery from insurers, some or all of this receivable would be charged against earnings, which could have a material adverse effect on SoCalGas’ and
Sempra Energy’s cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

Sempra Mexico

Energia Costa Azul

IEnova has been engaged in a long-running land dispute relating to property adjacent to its ECA LNG Regasification facility near Ensenada, Mexico. A
claimant to the adjacent property filed complaints in the federal Agrarian Court challenging the refusal of SEDATU in 2006 to issue a title to him for the
disputed property. In November 2013, the federal Agrarian Court ordered that SEDATU issue the requested title and cause it to be registered. Both
SEDATU and IEnova challenged the ruling, due to lack of notification of the underlying process. In May 2019, a federal court in Mexico reversed the
ruling and ordered a retrial. IEnova expects additional proceedings regarding the claims.

Several administrative challenges are pending in Mexico before the Mexican environmental protection agency and the Federal Tax and Administrative
Courts seeking revocation of the environmental impact authorization issued to the ECA LNG Regasification facility in 2003. These cases generally allege
that the conditions and mitigation measures in the environmental impact authorization are inadequate and challenge findings that the activities of the
terminal are consistent with regional development guidelines.

Additionally, in August 2018, a claimant filed a challenge in the federal district court in Ensenada, Baja California in relation to the environmental and
social impact permits issued to ECA LNG JV for the potential liquefaction-export project in September 2017 and December 2017, respectively, to allow
natural gas liquefaction activities at the ECA LNG Regasification facility. The court issued a provisional injunction in September 2018 and maintained that
provisional injunction at an April 2019 hearing. In December 2018, the relevant Mexican regulators approved modifications to the environmental permit
that facilitate the development of the proposed natural gas liquefaction facility by ECA LNG JV in two phases. In May 2019, the court canceled the
provisional injunction. The claimant appealed the court’s decision but was not successful. The claimant’s underlying challenge to the permits remain
pending.

Cases involving two parcels of real property have been filed against the ECA LNG Regasification facility. In one case, filed in the federal Agrarian Court
in 2006, the plaintiffs seek to annul the recorded property title for a parcel on which the ECA LNG Regasification facility is situated and to obtain
possession of a different parcel that allegedly sits in the same place. Another civil

73



complaint filed in the state court was served in April 2012 seeking to invalidate the contract by which the ECA LNG Regasification facility purchased
another of the parcels, on the grounds the purchase price was unfair; the plaintiff filed a second complaint in 2013 in the federal Agrarian Court seeking an
order that SEDATU issue title to her. In January 2016, the federal Agrarian Court ruled against the plaintiff. The plaintiff appealed the ruling and a partial
retrial was ordered. We are awaiting a new decision from the Agrarian Court. In May 2018, the state court dismissed the civil complaint, and the plaintiff
appealed but was not successful; however, the plaintiff can file a final federal appeal. IEnova expects further proceedings on these two matters.

An unfavorable final decision on these property disputes or permit challenges could materially and adversely affect our existing natural gas gasification
operations and our planned natural gas liquefaction projects currently in development at the ECA LNG Regasification facility and potential ECA LNG JV
liquefaction-export project.

Guaymas-El Oro Segment of the Sonora Pipeline

IEnova’s Sonora natural gas pipeline consists of two segments, the Sasabe-Puerto Libertad-Guaymas segment, and the Guaymas-El Oro segment. Each
segment has its own service agreement with the CFE. In 2015, the Yaqui tribe, with the exception of some members living in the Bicum community,
granted its consent and a right-of-way easement agreement for the construction of the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora natural gas pipeline that
crosses its territory. Representatives of the BAcum community filed a legal challenge in Mexican federal court demanding the right to withhold consent for
the project, the stoppage of work in the Yaqui territory and damages. In 2016, the judge granted a suspension order that prohibited the construction of such
segment through the BAcum community territory. Because the pipeline does not pass through the BAcum community, IEnova did not believe the 2016
suspension order prohibited construction in the remainder of the Yaqui territory. Construction of the Guaymas-El Oro segment was completed, and
commercial operations began in May 2017.

Following the start of commercial operations of the Guaymas-El Oro segment, I[Enova reported damage to the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora
pipeline in the Yaqui territory that has made that section inoperable since August 23, 2017 and, as a result, IEnova declared a force majeure event. In 2017,
an appellate court ruled that the scope of the 2016 suspension order encompassed the wider Yaqui territory, which has prevented IEnova from making
repairs to put the pipeline back in service. In July 2019, a federal district court ruled in favor of IEnova and held that the Yaqui tribe was properly consulted
and that consent from the Yaqui tribe was properly received. Representatives of the BAcum community appealed this decision, causing the suspension order
preventing IEnova from repairing the damage to the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora pipeline in the Yaqui territory to remain in place until the
appeals process is exhausted.

IEnova exercised its rights under the contract, which included seeking force majeure payments for the two-year period such force majeure payments were
required to be made, which ended on August 22, 2019.

In July 2019, the CFE filed a request for arbitration generally to nullify certain contract terms that provide for fixed capacity payments in instances of force
majeure and made a demand for substantial damages in connection with the force majeure event. In September 2019, the arbitration process ended when
IEnova and the CFE reached an agreement to restart natural gas transportation service on the earlier of completion of repair of the damaged pipeline or
January 15, 2020, and to modify the tariff structure and extend the term of the contract by 10 years. In January 2020, IEnova and the CFE agreed to extend
the January 15, 2020 new service start date to May 15, 2020. Under the revised agreement, the CFE will resume making payments only when the damaged
section of the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora pipeline is repaired. If the pipeline is not repaired by May 15, 2020 and the parties do not agree on a
new service start date, IEnova retains the right to terminate the contract and seek to recover its reasonable and documented costs and lost profits. The
parties are currently discussing a new service start date in the event the pipeline is not repaired by May 15, 2020, but there can be no assurance that the
parties will have agreed on a new service start date if the pipeline is not repaired by that date.

If IEnova is unable to make such repairs and resume operations in the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora pipeline within this time frame or if IEnova
terminates the contract and is unable to obtain recovery, there may be a material adverse impact on Sempra Energy’s results of operations and cash flows
and our ability to recover the carrying value of our investment. The Sasabe-Puerto Libertad-Guaymas segment of the Sonora pipeline remains in full
operation and is not impacted by these developments.

Other Litigation

Sempra Energy holds an equity method investment in RBS Sempra Commodities, a limited liability partnership in the process of being liquidated. RBS,
now NatWest Markets plc, our partner in the JV, paid an assessment of £86 million (approximately $138 million in U.S. dollars) in October 2014 to HMRC
for denied VAT refund claims filed in connection with the purchase of carbon credit allowances by RBS SEE, a subsidiary of RBS Sempra Commodities.
RBS SEE has since been sold to J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. and later to Mercuria Energy Group, Ltd. HMRC asserted that RBS was not entitled to reduce its
VAT liability by VAT paid on certain carbon credit purchases during 2009 because RBS knew or should have known that certain vendors in the trading
chain
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did not remit their own VAT to HMRC. After paying the assessment, RBS filed a Notice of Appeal of the assessment with the First-Tier Tribunal. Trial on
the matter, which could include the assessment of a penalty of up to 100% of the claimed amount, has been scheduled between November 2, 2020 and
December 11, 2020.

In 2015, liquidators filed a claim in the High Court of Justice against RBS and Mercuria Energy Europe Trading Limited (the Defendants) on behalf of 10
companies (the Liquidating Companies) that engaged in carbon credit trading via chains that included a company that traded directly with RBS SEE. The
claim alleges that the Defendants’ participation in the purchase and sale of carbon credits resulted in the Liquidating Companies’ carbon credit trading
transactions creating a VAT liability they were unable to pay, and that the Defendants are liable to provide for equitable compensation due to dishonest
assistance and for compensation under the U.K. Insolvency Act of 1986. Trial on the matter was held in June and July of 2018. On March 10, 2020, the
High Court of Justice rendered its judgment mostly in favor of the Liquidating Companies and awarded damages of approximately £45 million
(approximately $56 million in U.S. dollars at March 31, 2020), plus costs and interest, which will be determined after further proceedings.

Although the final outcome of both the High Court of Justice case and First-Tier Tribunal case remains uncertain, we recorded $100 million in equity losses
from our investment in RBS Sempra Commodities in Equity Earnings on the Sempra Energy Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations in the three
months ended March 31, 2020, which represents an estimate of our obligations to settle pending tax matters and related legal costs.

Certain EFH subsidiaries that we acquired as part of the merger of EFH with an indirect subsidiary of Sempra Energy are defendants in personal injury
lawsuits brought in state courts throughout the U.S. As of April 29, 2020, 275 such lawsuits are pending with 182 such lawsuits having been served. These
cases allege illness or death as a result of exposure to asbestos in power plants designed and/or built by companies whose assets were purchased by
predecessor entities to the EFH subsidiaries, and generally assert claims for product defects, negligence, strict liability and wrongful death. They seek
compensatory and punitive damages. Additionally, in connection with the EFH bankruptcy proceeding, approximately 28,000 proofs of claim were filed on
behalf of persons who allege exposure to asbestos under similar circumstances and assert the right to file such lawsuits in the future. We anticipate
additional lawsuits will be filed. None of these claims or lawsuits were discharged in the EFH bankruptcy proceeding. The costs to defend or resolve these
lawsuits and the amount of damages that may be imposed or incurred could have a material adverse effect on Sempra Energy’s cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are also defendants in ordinary routine litigation incidental to our businesses, including personal injury, employment litigation, product liability,
property damage and other claims. Juries have demonstrated an increasing willingness to grant large awards, including punitive damages, in these types of
cases.

LEASES
We discuss leases further in Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

A lease exists when a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. We determine if
an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract.

Some of our lease agreements contain nonlease components, which represent activities that transfer a separate good or service to the lessee. As the lessee
for both operating and finance leases, we have elected to combine lease and nonlease components as a single lease component for real estate, fleet vehicles,
power generating facilities, and pipelines, whereby fixed or in-substance fixed payments allocable to the nonlease component are accounted for as part of
the related lease liability and ROU asset. As the lessor, we have elected to combine lease and nonlease components as a single lease component for real
estate and power generating facilities if the timing and pattern of transfer of the lease and nonlease components are the same and the lease component
would be classified as an operating lease if accounted for separately.

Lessee Accounting
We have operating and finance leases for real and personal property (including office space, land, fleet vehicles, machinery and equipment, warehouses and
other operational facilities) and PPAs with renewable energy and peaker plant facilities.
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We provide supplemental noncash information for operating and finance leases below.

SUPPLEMENTAL NONCASH INFORMATION
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31, 2020
Sempra Energy

Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas
Increase in operating lease obligations for right-of-use assets $ 19 $ — 3 =
Increase in finance lease obligations for investment in PP&E 20 4 16

Three months ended March 31, 2019

Sempra Energy
Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas

Increase in operating lease obligations for right-of-use assets $ 552 % 142  $ 117
Increase in finance lease obligations for investment in PP&E 7 4 3

Leases that Have Not Yet Commenced

SDG&E and SoCalGas have lease agreements for future acquisitions of fleet vehicles with an aggregate maximum lease limit of $167 million. SDG&E and
SoCalGas have utilized $62 million and $80 million, respectively, of these maximum lease limits as of March 31, 2020.

Lessor Accounting
Sempra Mexico is a lessor for certain of its natural gas and ethane pipelines, compressor stations and LPG storage facilities.

Generally, we recognize operating lease income on a straight-line basis over the lease term and evaluate the underlying asset for impairment. Certain of our
leases contain rate adjustments or are based on foreign currency exchange rates that may result in lease payments received that vary from one period to the
next.

We provide information below for leases for which we are the lessor.

LESSOR INFORMATION ON THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS — SEMPRA ENERGY
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Fixed lease payments $ 50 $ 50
Variable lease payments — 4
Total revenues from operating leases® $ 50 $ 54
Depreciation expense $ 10 $ 9

@ Included in Revenues: Energy-Related Businesses on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

OTHER CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

We discuss below significant changes in the first three months of 2020 to contractual commitments discussed in Notes 1 and 16 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

Natural Gas Contracts

Sempra LNG’s natural gas storage and transportation commitments have increased by $136 million since December 31, 2019, primarily from entering into
new storage and transportation contracts in the first three months of 2020. We expect future payments to decrease by $24 million in 2020, and increase by
$23 million in 2021, $21 million in 2022, $19 million in 2023, $19 million in 2024 and $78 million thereafter compared to December 31, 2019.

LNG Purchase Agreement

Sempra LNG has a sale and purchase agreement for the supply of LNG to the ECA LNG Regasification facility. The commitment amount is calculated
using a predetermined formula based on estimated forward prices of the index applicable from 2020 to 2029. Although this agreement specifies a number
of cargoes to be delivered, under its terms, the customer may divert certain cargoes,
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which would reduce amounts paid under the agreement by Sempra LNG. At March 31, 2020, we expect the commitment amount to decrease by $135
million in 2020, $26 million in 2021, $35 million in 2022, $36 million in 2023, $43 million in 2024 and $174 million thereafter (through contract
termination in 2029) compared to December 31, 2019, reflecting changes in estimated forward prices since December 31, 2019 and actual transactions for
the first three months of 2020. These LNG commitment amounts are based on the assumption that all LNG cargoes, less those already confirmed to be
diverted, under the agreement are delivered. Actual LNG purchases in the current and prior years have been significantly lower than the maximum amount
provided under the agreement due to the customer electing to divert cargoes as allowed by the agreement.

NOTE 12. SEGMENT INFORMATION

We have five separately managed reportable segments, as follows:

= SDG&E provides electric service to San Diego and southern Orange counties and natural gas service to San Diego County.

= SoCalGas is a natural gas distribution utility, serving customers throughout most of Southern California and part of central California.

= Sempra Texas Utilities holds our investment in Oncor Holdings, which owns an 80.25% interest in Oncor, a regulated electric transmission and
distribution utility serving customers in the north-central, eastern, and western and panhandle regions of Texas; our indirect, 50% interest in Sharyland
Holdings, which owns Sharyland Utilities, a regulated electric transmission and distribution utility serving customers near the Texas-Mexico border; and
our indirect, 1% interest in TTHC, which owns an indirect 19.75% interest in Oncor. As we discuss in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Annual Report, we acquired our investment in Oncor Holdings in March 2018, Sharyland Holdings in May 2019, and TTHC in
February 2020.

= Sempra Mexico develops, owns and operates, or holds interests in, natural gas, electric, LNG, LPG, ethane and liquid fuels infrastructure, and has
marketing operations for the purchase of LNG and the purchase and sale of natural gas in Mexico.

= Sempra LNG develops projects for the export of LNG, holds an interest in a facility for the export of LNG, owns and operates natural gas pipelines, and
buys, sells and transports natural gas through its marketing operations, all within the U.S. and Mexico. In February 2019, we completed the sale of our
natural gas storage assets at Mississippi Hub and Bay Gas.

In April 2019, Sempra Renewables completed the sale of its remaining wind assets and investments. Upon completion of this sale, remaining nominal
business activities at Sempra Renewables were subsumed into Parent and other and the Sempra Renewables segment ceased to exist. The tables below
include amounts from Sempra Renewables up until cessation of the segment.

As we discuss in Note 5, the financial information related to our businesses that constituted the Sempra South American Utilities segment has been
classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The information in the tables below excludes amounts from discontinued operations unless
otherwise noted.

We evaluate each segment’s performance based on its contribution to Sempra Energy’s reported earnings and cash flows. The California Utilities operate in
essentially separate service territories, under separate regulatory frameworks and rate structures set by the CPUC and the FERC. We describe the
accounting policies of all of our segments in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

The cost of common services shared by the business segments is assigned directly or allocated based on various cost factors, depending on the nature of the
service provided. Interest income and expense is recorded on intercompany loans. The loan balances and related interest are eliminated in consolidation.

The following tables show selected information by segment from our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Amounts labeled as “All other” in the following tables consist primarily of activities of parent organizations and include certain nominal
amounts from our South American businesses that did not qualify for treatment as discontinued operations.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
REVENUES
SDG&E 1,269 $ 1,145
SoCalGas 1,395 1,361
Sempra Mexico 309 383
Sempra Renewables — 7
Sempra LNG 123 141
All other 1 —
Adjustments and eliminations 1) —
Intersegment revenues® (67) (139)
Total 3029 % 2,898
INTEREST EXPENSE
SDG&E 101 % 103
SoCalGas 40 34
Sempra Mexico 32 30
Sempra Renewables — 3
Sempra LNG 16 4
All other 109 109
Intercompany eliminations (18) (23)
Total 280 $ 260
INTEREST INCOME
SDG&E $ 1
SoCalGas —
Sempra Mexico 18 19
Sempra Renewables — 10
Sempra LNG 22 14
All other — 1
Intercompany eliminations (15) (24)
Total 27 $ 21
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
SDG&E 201 % 186
SoCalGas 159 147
Sempra Mexico a7 44
Sempra LNG 2 2
All other 3 4
Total 412 $ 383
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)
SDG&E 58 $ 5
SoCalGas 52 19
Sempra Mexico (307) 72
Sempra Renewables — (10)
Sempra LNG 23 4
All other (33) (48)
Total (207) $ 42
EQUITY EARNINGS (LOSSES)
Equity earnings (losses), before income tax:
Sempra Renewables — 3
Sempra LNG 57
All other (200) —
43) 5
Equity earnings, net of income tax:
Sempra Texas Utilities 106 94
Sempra Mexico 200 2

306 96




Total $ 263 % 101
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020
EARNINGS (LOSSES) ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON SHARES
SDG&E $ 262 % 176
SoCalGas 303 264
Sempra Texas Utilities 105 94
Sempra Mexico 191 57
Sempra Renewables — 13
Sempra LNG 75 5
Discontinued operations 72 (51)
All other (248) (117)
Total $ 760 $ 441
EXPENDITURES FOR PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
SDG&E $ 402 % 356
SoCalGas 388 324
Sempra Mexico 170 85
Sempra LNG 47 18
All other 3 —
Total $ 1,010 $ 783
March 31,
2020 December 31, 2019
ASSETS
SDG&E $ 20,784 % 20,560
SoCalGas 17,610 17,077
Sempra Texas Utilities 11,741 11,619
Sempra Mexico 10,627 9,938
Sempra LNG 3,919 3,901
Discontinued operations 3,930 3,958
All other 1,826 749
Intersegment receivables (2,144) (2,137)
Total $ 68,293 $ 65,665
EQUITY METHOD AND OTHER INVESTMENTS
Sempra Texas Utilities $ 11,735  $ 11,619
Sempra Mexico 914 741
Sempra LNG 1,184 1,256
All other 1 6
Total $ 13,834 $ 13,622

@ Revenues for reportable segments include intersegment revenues of $1 million, $18 million, $29 million and $19 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and $1
million, $17 million, $28 million and $93 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 for SDG&E, SoCalGas, Sempra Mexico and Sempra LNG, respectively.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto and “Item 1A. Risk

Factors” contained in this report, and the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto, “Item 7. MD&A” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors”

contained in the Annual Report.

OVERVIEW

Sempra Energy is a California-based energy-services holding company whose businesses invest in, develop and operate energy infrastructure, and provide
electric and gas services to customers in North America. As we discuss in Note 12 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, our

businesses consist of five separately managed reportable segments.
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In January 2019, our board of directors approved a plan to sell our South American businesses, which were previously included in our Sempra South
American Utilities segment. Our South American businesses and certain activities associated with those businesses have been presented as discontinued
operations for all periods presented. Nominal activities that are not classified as discontinued operations have been subsumed into Parent and other. Our
discussions below exclude discontinued operations, unless otherwise noted.

We provide additional information about discontinued operations in Note 5 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and about our
reportable segments in Note 12 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this report and in “Item 1. Business” in the Annual Report.

This report includes information for the following separate registrants:
= Sempra Energy and its consolidated entities

= SDG&E and its consolidated VIE (until deconsolidation of Otay Mesa VIE in August 2019)
= SoCalGas

2

References to “we,” “us,” “our” and “Sempra Energy Consolidated” are to Sempra Energy and its consolidated entities, collectively, unless otherwise
indicated by the context. We refer to SDG&E and SoCalGas collectively as the California Utilities, which do not include our Texas utilities or the utility in
our Sempra Mexico segment. It also does not include utilities within our South American businesses that have been presented as discontinued operations.
All references in this MD&A to our reportable segments are not intended to refer to any legal entity with the same or similar name.

Throughout this report, we refer to the following as Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements when discussed together or collectively:
= the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes of Sempra Energy and its subsidiaries and VIEs;

= the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes of SDG&E and its VIE (until deconsolidation of Otay Mesa VIE in August 2019);
and

= the Condensed Financial Statements and related Notes of SoCalGas.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

We discuss the following in Results of Operations:

= Overall results of operations of Sempra Energy

= Segment results

= Significant changes in revenues, costs and earnings

= Impact of foreign currency and inflation rates on our results of operations

OVERALL RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF SEMPRA ENERGY

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, we reported earnings of $760 million and diluted EPS of $2.53 compared to earnings of $441 million and
diluted EPS of $1.59 for the same period in 2019. The change in diluted EPS in the three months ended March 31, 2020 included a decrease of $(0.34) due
to an increase in weighted-average common shares outstanding. Our results and diluted EPS were impacted by variances discussed in “Segment Results”
below.

SEGMENT RESULTS

This section presents earnings (losses) by Sempra Energy segment, as well as Parent and other, in the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, and
the related discussion of the changes in segment earnings (losses) between these periods. Throughout the MD&A, our reference to earnings represents
earnings attributable to common shares. Variance amounts presented are the after-tax earnings impact (based on applicable statutory tax rates), unless
otherwise noted, and before NCI, where applicable.
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SEMPRA ENERGY EARNINGS (LOSSES) BY SEGMENT

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019

SDG&E $ 262 $ 176
SoCalGas 303 264
Sempra Texas Utilities 105 94
Sempra Mexico 191 57
Sempra Renewables — 13
Sempra LNG 75 5
Parent and other(® (248) 117)
Discontinued operations 72 (51)

Earnings attributable to common shares $ 760 $ 441

@) Includes intercompany eliminations recorded in consolidation and certain corporate costs.

Due to the delay in the issuance of the CPUC’s final decision in the California Utilities’ 2019 GRC, the California Utilities recorded revenues in the first
quarter of 2019 based on levels authorized for 2018 under the 2016 GRC. The 2019 GRC FD, which was issued by the CPUC in September 2019, was
effective retroactively to January 1, 2019. The California Utilities’ CPUC-authorized base revenues for the first quarter of 2020 are based on the revenues
authorized for the 2019 test year plus the amount authorized for attrition for 2020. Had the 2019 GRC FD been in effect in the first quarter of 2019,
SDG&E’s and SoCalGas’ earnings for the first quarter of 2019 would have been higher by $36 million and $84 million, respectively. These amounts were
recorded in earnings in the third quarter of 2019. We provide additional information on the 2019 GRC FD in Note 4 of the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements in this report and in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

SDG&E
The increase in earnings of $86 million (49%) in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was primarily due to:

= $65 million higher CPUC base operating margin, net of operating expenses, including $36 million lower CPUC base operating margin in 2019 due to the
delay in the issuance of the 2019 GRC FD;

= $38 million higher electric transmission margin, including the following impacts from the March 2020 FERC-approved TO5 settlement proceeding:
> $18 million to conclude a rate base matter, and

> $9 million favorable impact from the retroactive application of the final TO5 settlement for 2019. The settlement proceeding increased SDG&E’s
authorized ROE from 10.05% to 10.60%, effective June 1, 2019; and

= $9 million higher AFUDC equity; offset by

= $31 million income tax benefit in 2019 from the release of a regulatory liability established in connection with 2017 tax reform for excess deferred
income tax balances that the CPUC directed to be allocated to shareholders in a January 2019 decision; and

= $6 million amortization of Wildfire Fund asset.

SoCalGas
The increase in earnings of $39 million (15%) in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was primarily due to:

= $109 million higher CPUC base operating margin, net of operating expenses, including $84 million lower CPUC base operating margin in 2019 due to
the delay in the issuance of the 2019 GRC FD;

= $21 million higher income tax benefits from flow-through items; and
= $8 million penalties in 2019 related to the SoCalGas billing practices OII; offset by
= $72 million from impacts associated with Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility litigation; and

= $35 million income tax benefit in 2019 from the impact of the January 2019 CPUC decision allocating certain excess deferred income tax balances to
shareholders.

Sempra Texas Utilities

The increase in earnings of $11 million (12%) in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was primarily due to higher equity earnings from Oncor Holdings
in 2020, driven mainly by the impact of Oncor’s acquisition of InfraREIT, Inc. in May 2019 and higher revenues due to rate updates to reflect increases in
invested transmission capital, partially offset by higher operating costs and lower consumption due to weather.
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Sempra Mexico

The increase in earnings of $134 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was primarily due to:

= $253 million favorable impact from foreign currency and inflation effects net of foreign currency derivatives effects, comprised of:
o in 2020, $326 million favorable foreign currency and inflation effects, offset by a $91 million loss from foreign currency derivatives, and
o in 2019, $25 million unfavorable foreign currency and inflation effects, offset by a $7 million gain from foreign currency derivatives; and

= $8 million primarily due to the start of commercial operations of the Sur de Texas-Tuxpan marine pipeline at IMG JV in the third quarter of 2019; offset
by

= $144 million earnings attributable to NCI at IEnova in 2020 compared to $28 million earnings in 2019; and

= $9 million lower earnings at the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora pipeline primarily from force majeure payments that ended in August 2019.

Sempra Renewables

As we discuss in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report, Sempra Renewables sold its remaining wind assets and
investments in April 2019, upon which date the segment ceased to exist.

Sempra LNG
The increase in earnings of $70 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was primarily due to:

= $43 million higher equity earnings from Cameron LNG JV primarily due to Train 1 and Train 2 commencing commercial operations under their tolling
agreements in August 2019 and February 2020, respectively; and

= $42 million higher earnings from Sempra LNG’s marketing operations primarily driven by changes in natural gas prices; offset by
= $5 million higher liquefaction project development costs.

Parent and Other
The increase in losses of $131 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was primarily due to:

= $100 million equity losses from our investment in RBS Sempra Commodities to settle pending tax matters and related legal costs, which we discuss in
Note 11 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements; and

= $19 million net investment losses in 2020 compared to $15 million net investment gains in 2019 on dedicated assets in support of our employee
nonqualified benefit plan and deferred compensation obligations.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations that were previously in our Sempra South American Utilities segment include our 100% interest in Chilquinta Energia in Chile,
our 83.6% interest in Luz del Sur in Peru and our interests in two energy-services companies, Tecnored and Tecsur, which provide electric construction and
infrastructure services to Chilquinta Energia and Luz del Sur, respectively, as well as third parties. Discontinued operations also include activities, mainly
income taxes related to the South American businesses, that were previously included in the holding company of the South American businesses at Parent
and other.

Earnings of $72 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to losses of $51 million for the same period in 2019 was primarily due to the
following income tax impacts resulting from changes in outside basis differences in our South American businesses:

= $103 million income tax expense in 2019 related to outside basis differences existing as of the January 25, 2019 approval of our plan to sell our South
American businesses; and

= $7 million income tax benefit in 2020 compared to $13 million income tax expense in 2019 related to changes in outside basis differences from earnings
and foreign currency effects since January 25, 2019.
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN REVENUES, COSTS AND EARNINGS

This section contains a discussion of the differences between periods in the specific line items of the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for
Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas.

Utilities Revenues

Our utilities revenues include natural gas revenues at our California Utilities and Sempra Mexico’s Ecogas and electric revenues at SDG&E. Intercompany
revenues included in the separate revenues of each utility are eliminated in the Sempra Energy Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

SoCalGas and SDG&E currently operate under a regulatory framework that permits:

= The cost of natural gas purchased for core customers (primarily residential and small commercial and industrial customers) to be passed through to
customers in rates substantially as incurred. However, SoCalGas’ GCIM provides SoCalGas the opportunity to share in the savings and/or costs from
buying natural gas for its core customers at prices below or above monthly market-based benchmarks. This mechanism permits full recovery of costs
incurred when average purchase costs are within a price range around the benchmark price. Any higher costs incurred or savings realized outside this
range are shared between the core customers and SoCalGas. We provide further discussion in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
and in “Item 1. Business — Ratemaking Mechanisms” in the Annual Report.

= SDG&E to recover the actual cost incurred to generate or procure electricity based on annual estimates of the cost of electricity supplied to customers.
The differences in cost between estimates and actual are recovered or refunded in subsequent periods through rates.

= The California Utilities to recover certain expenses for programs authorized by the CPUC, or “refundable programs.”

Because changes in SoCalGas’ and SDG&E’s cost of natural gas and/or electricity are recovered in rates, changes in these costs are offset in the changes in
revenues, and therefore do not impact earnings. In addition to the changes in cost or market prices, natural gas or electric revenues recorded during a period
are impacted by customer billing cycles causing a difference between customer billings and recorded or authorized costs. These differences are required to
be balanced over time, resulting in over- and undercollected regulatory balancing accounts. We discuss balancing accounts and their effects further in Note
4 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this report and in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the
Annual Report.

The California Utilities’ revenues are decoupled from, or not tied to, actual sales volumes. SoCalGas recognizes annual authorized revenue for core natural
gas customers using seasonal factors established in the Triennial Cost Allocation Proceeding. Accordingly, a significant portion of SoCalGas’ annual
earnings are recognized in the first and fourth quarters of each year. SDG&E’s authorized revenue recognition is also impacted by seasonal factors,
resulting in higher earnings in the third quarter when electric loads are typically higher than in the other three quarters of the year. We discuss this
decoupling mechanism and its effects further in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.
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The table below summarizes revenues and cost of sales for our consolidated utilities.

UTILITIES REVENUES AND COST OF SALES

(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Natural gas revenues:
SoCalGas $ 1,395 % 1,361
SDG&E 219 205
Sempra Mexico 20 27
Eliminations and adjustments a7) a7)
Total 1,617 1,576
Electric revenues:
SDG&E 1,050 940
Eliminations and adjustments 2) Q)
Total 1,048 939
Total utilities revenues $ 2,665 $ 2,515
Cost of natural gas:
SoCalGas $ 278 % 455
SDG&E 60 79
Sempra Mexico 3 5
Eliminations and adjustments () (8)
Total $ 337 $ 531
Cost of electric fuel and purchased power:
SDG&E $ 231 % 258
Eliminations and adjustments 2) 2)
Total $ 229 $ 256

Natural Gas Revenues and Cost of Natural Gas

The table below summarizes the average cost of natural gas sold by the California Utilities and included in Cost of Natural Gas. The average cost of natural
gas sold at each utility is impacted by market prices, as well as transportation, tariff and other charges.

CALIFORNIA UTILITIES AVERAGE COST OF NATURAL GAS

(Dollars per thousand cubic feet)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
SoCalGas $ 254 $ 3.85
SDG&E 3.75 4.60

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, Sempra Energy’s natural gas revenues increased by $41 million (3%) remaining at $1.6 billion primarily due to:
= $34 million increase at SoCalGas, which included:

o $181 million higher CPUC-authorized revenues, including $116 million lower revenues in 2019 due to the delay in the issuance of the 2019 GRC FD,
and

> $36 million higher recovery of costs associated with CPUC-authorized refundable programs, which revenues are offset in O&M, offset by
> $177 million decrease in cost of natural gas sold, which we discuss below; and
= $14 million increase at SDG&E, which included:

> $29 million higher CPUC-authorized revenues, including $23 million lower revenues in 2019 due to the delay in the issuance of the 2019 GRC FD,

offset by
o $19 million decrease in the cost of natural gas sold, which we discuss below.
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In the three months ended March 31, 2020, our cost of natural gas decreased by $194 million (37%) to $337 million primarily due to:

= $177 million decrease at SoCalGas due to $143 million from lower average natural gas prices and $34 million from lower volumes driven by weather;
and

= $19 million decrease at SDG&E due to lower average natural gas prices and lower volumes driven by weather.

Electric Revenues and Cost of Electric Fuel and Purchased Power

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, our electric revenues, substantially all of which are at SDG&E, increased by $109 million (12%) to $1.0 billion,

including:

= $67 million increase in transmission operations, including the following impacts related to the March 2020 FERC-approved TO5 settlement proceeding:
> $26 million to settle a rate base matter, and
o $12 million favorable impact from the retroactive application of the final TO5 settlement for 2019; and

= $55 million higher recovery of costs associated with CPUC-authorized refundable programs, which revenues are offset in O&M; offset by

= $27 million lower cost of electric fuel and purchased power, which we discuss below.

Our utility cost of electric fuel and purchased power, substantially all of which is at SDG&E, decreased by $27 million (11%) to $229 million in the three

months ended March 31, 2020, primarily due to a decrease in residential demand primarily from an increase in rooftop solar adoption.

Energy-Related Businesses: Revenues and Cost of Sales
The table below shows revenues and cost of sales for our energy-related businesses.

ENERGY-RELATED BUSINESSES: REVENUES AND COST OF SALES
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
REVENUES
Sempra Mexico $ 289 $ 356
Sempra Renewables — 7
Sempra LNG 123 141
Parent and other® (48) (121)
Total revenues $ 364 $ 383
COST OF SALES®
Sempra Mexico $ 69 $ 121
Sempra LNG 39 103
Parent and other® (49) (116)
Total cost of sales $ 59 $ 108

@ Includes eliminations of intercompany activity.
@ Excludes depreciation and amortization, which are presented separately on the Sempra Energy Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, revenues from our energy-related businesses decreased by $19 million (5%) to $364 million primarily due to:
= $67 million decrease at Sempra Mexico primarily due to:

o $49 million from the marketing business primarily from lower natural gas prices and volumes,

> $26 million lower revenues at TdM primarily due to lower natural gas prices and volumes, and

o $10 million lower revenues primarily from force majeure payments that ended in August 2019 with respect to the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the
Sonora pipeline, offset by

o $14 million increase primarily due to higher volumes at the Ventika wind power generation facilities and from renewable assets placed in service in
2019; and

= $18 million decrease at Sempra LNG primarily due to:
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> $55 million lower natural gas sales to Sempra Mexico due to lower natural gas prices and volumes and from fewer LNG cargoes sold, offset by
o $44 million increase from natural gas marketing operations primarily due to changes in natural gas prices; offset by
= $73 million increase primarily from lower intercompany eliminations associated with sales between Sempra LNG and Sempra Mexico.

In the three months ended March 31, 2020, the cost of sales for our energy-related businesses decreased by $49 million (45%) to $59 million primarily due
to:
= $64 million decrease at Sempra LNG mainly from natural gas marketing activities primarily from lower natural gas purchases; and

= $52 million decrease at Sempra Mexico mainly associated with lower revenues from the marketing business and TdM as a result of lower natural gas
prices and volumes; offset by

= $67 million increase primarily from lower intercompany eliminations associated with sales between Sempra LNG and Sempra Mexico.

Operation and Maintenance
Our O&M increased by $119 million (14%) to $951 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 primarily due to:
= $133 million increase at SoCalGas primarily due to:
> $100 million from impacts associated with Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility litigation, and
> $36 million higher expenses associated with CPUC-authorized refundable programs for which costs incurred are recovered in revenue; and
= $24 million increase at SDG&E primarily due to:
o $57 million higher expenses associated with CPUC-authorized refundable programs, offset by

> $31 million lower non-refundable operating costs, including liability insurance premium costs for 2019 that were not balanced due to the delay in the
2019 GRC FD; offset by

= $36 million decrease at Parent and other primarily from lower deferred compensation expense.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

As part of our central risk management function, we enter into foreign currency derivatives to hedge Sempra Mexico parent’s exposure to movements in the
Mexican peso from its controlling interest in IEnova. The gains/losses associated with these derivatives are included in Other (Expense) Income, Net, as
described below, and partially mitigate the transactional effects of foreign currency and inflation included in Income Tax Benefit (Expense) for Sempra
Mexico’s consolidated entities and in Equity Earnings for Sempra Mexico’s equity method investments. We also utilize foreign currency derivatives to
hedge exposure to fluctuations in the Peruvian sol and Chilean peso related to the sale of our operations in Peru and Chile, respectively. We discuss policies
governing our risk management in “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in the Annual Report.

Other expense, net, in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was $254 million compared to other income, net, of $82 million in the same period in 2019.
The change was primarily due to:

= $276 million net losses in 2020 from interest rate and foreign exchange instruments and foreign currency transactions compared to net gains of $20
million for the same period in 2019 primarily due to:

o $149 million foreign currency losses in 2020 compared to $10 million foreign currency gains in 2019 on a Mexican peso-denominated loan to IMG JV,
which is offset in Equity Earnings, and

o $125 million losses in 2020 compared to $10 million gains in 2019 on foreign currency derivatives as a result of fluctuation of the Mexican peso, offset
by

o $11 million net gains in 2020 of foreign currency derivatives used to hedge exposure to fluctuations in the Peruvian sol and Chilean peso related to the
sale of our operations in Peru and Chile; and

= $37 million investment losses in 2020 compared to $26 million investment gains in 2019 on dedicated assets in support of our executive retirement and
deferred compensation plans; offset by

= $8 million in penalties in 2019 related to the SoCalGas billing practices OII.
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Income Taxes

The table below shows the income tax expense and ETRs for Sempra Energy Consolidated, SDG&E and SoCalGas.

INCOME TAX (BENEFIT) EXPENSE AND EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATES
(Dollars in millions)

Three months ended March 31,

2020 2019
Sempra Energy Consolidated:
Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations $ (207) $ 42
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and equity earnings $ 397 $ 501
Equity (losses) earnings, before income tax® (43) 5
Pretax income $ 354 $ 506
Effective income tax rate (58)% 8%
SDG&E:
Income tax expense $ 58 $ 5
Income before income taxes $ 320 $ 182
Effective income tax rate 18 % 3%
SoCalGas:
Income tax expense $ 52 $ 19
Income before income taxes $ 355 $ 283
Effective income tax rate 15 % 7%

@ We discuss how we recognize equity earnings in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

Sempra Energy Consolidated
Income tax benefit in the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to an income tax expense in the same period in 2019 was due to a lower ETR and
lower pretax income. The change in ETR was primarily due to:

= $308 million income tax benefit in 2020 compared to $23 million income tax expense in 2019 from foreign currency and inflation effects primarily as a
result of fluctuation of the Mexican peso; and

= $19 million income tax benefit in 2020 compared to $8 million income tax expense in 2019 related to share-based compensation; offset by

= $66 million total income tax benefits in 2019 from the release of regulatory liabilities at SDG&E and SoCalGas established in connection with 2017 tax
reform for excess deferred income tax balances that the CPUC directed be allocated to shareholders in a January 2019 decision; and

= $10 million income tax benefit in 2019 from a reduction in a valuation allowance against certain NOL carryforwards as a result of our decision to sell our
South American businesses.

We discuss the impact of foreign currency exchange rates and inflation on income taxes below in “Impact of Foreign Currency and Inflation Rates on
Results of Operations.” See Note 1 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this report and Notes 1 and 8 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for further details about our accounting for income taxes and items subject to flow-through
treatment.

SDG&E

The increase in SDG&E’s income tax expense in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was due to a higher ETR and higher pretax income. The change
in ETR was primarily due to $31 million income tax benefit in 2019 from the release of a regulatory liability established in connection with 2017 tax
reform for excess deferred income tax balances that the CPUC directed be allocated to shareholders in a January 2019 decision.

SoCalGas

The increase in SoCalGas’ income tax expense in the three months ended March 31, 2020 was due to a higher ETR and higher pretax income. The change
in ETR was primarily due to $35 million income tax benefit in 2019 from the release of a regulatory liability established in connection with 2017 tax
reform for excess deferred income tax balances that the CPUC directed be allocated to shareholders in a January 2019 decision.
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Equity Earnings
In the three months ended March 31, 2020, equity earnings increased by $162 million to $263 million primarily due to:

= $171 million higher equity earnings at IMG JV, primarily due to foreign currency effects, including $149 million foreign currency gains in 2020
compared to $10 million foreign currency losses in 2019 on IMG JV’s Mexican peso-denominated loans from its JV owners, which is fully offset in
Other (Expense) Income, Net, and the start of commercial operations of the Sur de Texas-Tuxpan marine pipeline;

= $55 million higher equity earnings at Cameron LNG JV primarily due to Train 1 and Train 2 commencing commercial operations under their tolling
agreements in August 2019 and February 2020, respectively; and

= $21 million higher equity earnings at TAG JV primarily due to higher income tax benefits in 2020; offset by

= $100 million equity losses at RBS Sempra Commodities in 2020, which represents an estimate of our obligations to settle pending tax matters and related
legal costs at our equity method investment.

Earnings Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Earnings attributable to NCI increased by $110 million to $151 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 primarily due to an increase in earnings
attributable to NCI at Sempra Mexico primarily from foreign currency effects as a result of fluctuation of the Mexico peso.

IMPACT OF FOREIGN CURRENCY AND INFLATION RATES ON RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Because operations in South America and our natural gas distribution utility in Mexico use their local currency as their functional currency, revenues and
expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates for the period for consolidation in Sempra Energy Consolidated’s results of operations.
We discuss further the impact of foreign currency and inflation rates on results of operations, including impacts on income taxes and related hedging
activity, in “Item 7. MD&A — Impact of Foreign Currency and Inflation Rates on Results of Operations” in the Annual Report.

Foreign Currency Translation

Any difference in average exchange rates used for the translation of income statement activity from year to year can cause a variance in Sempra Energy
Consolidated’s comparative results of operations. Changes in foreign currency translation rates between periods resulted in $4 million lower earnings
within discontinued operations in the first three months of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019.

Transactional Impacts

Income statement activities at our foreign operations and their JVs are also impacted by transactional gains and losses, a summary of which is shown in the
table below:

TRANSACTIONAL (LOSSES) GAINS FROM FOREIGN CURRENCY AND INFLATION
(Dollars in millions)

Transactional (losses) gains included

Total reported amounts in reported amounts
Three months ended March 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Other (expense) income, net $ (254) $ 82 $ (276) $ 20
Income tax benefit (expense) 207 (42) 308 (23)
Equity earnings 263 101 181 (12)
Income from continuing operations, net of income tax 867 560 242 (18)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 80 (42) 16 =
Earnings attributable to common shares 760 441 150 (10)

88



CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

OVERVIEW

The COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak to be a pandemic. President Donald Trump officially declared a
national emergency on March 13, 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic is causing a significant impact on the economy and people’s livelihoods, including
substantial volatility and erosion of value in financial markets and a historic surge in unemployment claims while individuals adhere to shelter-in-place
mandates and practice social distancing, and has resulted in sweeping action by governments and other authorities to help address these effects. The
following describes some of these government actions and their current and anticipated impact on our businesses:

= On March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom proclaimed a State of Emergency in California as a result of the threat of COVID-19, and on March 19,
2020, the Governor imposed a California-wide shelter-in-place directive via an Executive Order that will remain in place indefinitely. The Governor’s
Executive Order requires all individuals living in California to stay home or at their place of residence except as needed to maintain the continuity of 16
critical infrastructure sectors. Our businesses that invest in, develop and operate energy infrastructure and provide electric and gas services to customers
in California have been identified as critical infrastructure under the Executive Order.

= On March 13, 2020, the California Utilities announced that they were voluntarily instituting a suspension of all customer disconnections for nonpayment
of customer bills until further notice.

= On March 17, 2020, the CPUC announced that, retroactive to March 4, 2020, all energy companies under its jurisdiction, including the California
Utilities, should take action to implement several emergency customer protection measures to support California customers. The measures apply to all
residential and small business customers affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and include suspending service disconnections due to nonpayment,
waiving late payment fees, and offering flexible payment plans for all customers experiencing difficulty paying their electric or gas bills. Similarly, on
March 26, 2020, the PUCT issued orders that require retail electric providers to offer a deferred payment plan to customers, upon request, and authorized
customer assistance programs for certain residential customers of electric service. The continuation of these circumstances could result in a material
reduction in payments received from our customers and a material increase in uncollectible accounts that we may not be able to recover in rates, which
could have a material adverse effect on the cash flows, financial condition and results of operations for Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas.

= On March 30, 2020, the Mexican government announced a national state of sanitary emergency, suspending all non-essential activities and urging people
in Mexico to stay at home until April 30, 2020, which was subsequently extended to May 30, 2020 and may be extended further. Essential business
activities that may continue to operate during the health emergency include the conservation, maintenance and repair of critical infrastructure that ensures
the production and distribution of electric and gas services.

On April 16, 2020, the CPUC approved a resolution authorizing each of the California Utilities to establish a CPPMA to track and request recovery of
incremental costs associated with complying with measures implemented by the CPUC related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Although we are tracking
these costs, which will include incremental amounts associated with customer nonpayments, CPUC approval is required to collect all or any portion of
the balance of the CPPMA, which is not assured. Similarly, the PUCT has provided for the use of a regulatory asset accounting mechanism and a
subsequent process through which regulated utility companies may seek future recovery of expenses resulting from the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic, as well as the creation of a COVID-19 Electricity Relief Program fund through which transmission and distribution utilities and retail electric
providers may seek to recover a reasonable portion of the cost of providing uninterrupted services to customers facing financial hardship due to the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. There can be no assurance, however, that our Texas utilities will be able to recover any of the costs they incur from
their response to the COVID-19 pandemic through these programs or otherwise.

= On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was enacted and signed into law in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic. The CARES Act contains significant business tax provisions, including a delay of payment of employer payroll taxes and an acceleration
of refunds of corporate alternative minimum tax (AMT) credits. Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas expect to benefit from deferring payment of the
employer’s share of payroll taxes through the end of 2020, with half of such taxes to be paid by the end of 2021 and the other half to be paid by the end
of 2022. Sempra Energy has filed a refund claim for its corporate AMT credits and expects to receive approximately $56 million in 2020 rather than in
installments through 2021.
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In addition, we and other companies, including our partners, are taking steps to try to protect the health and well-being of our employees and other
stakeholders. As our businesses continue to operate, our priority is the safety of our employees, customers, partners and the communities we serve. For
example, we have activated our business continuity plans and continue to work closely with local, state and federal authorities to provide essential services
with minimum interruption to customers and in accordance with applicable shelter-in-place orders. We have implemented precautionary measures across
our businesses, including requiring employees to work remotely when possible, restricting non-essential business travel, increasing facility sanitization and
communicating proper health and safety protocols to employees. Additionally, SDG&E announced that it is postponing all noncritical planned outages,
while continuing with those related to public safety, emergencies and wildfire mitigation, to try to protect employees and maintain service to customers as
seamlessly as possible. We also have engaged an infectious disease expert to advise us during this public health crisis. Through the end of the first quarter
of 2020, these actions have not required significant outlays of capital and have not had a material impact on our results of operations, but these or other
measures that we may implement in the future could have a substantial effect on our liquidity, cash flows, financial position and results of operations if
circumstances related to the COVID-19 pandemic worsen or continue for an extended period of time.

The COVID-19 pandemic and its widespread effects may also impact our capital plans, liquidity and asset values. For example:

= Our capital projects and planned expenditures could experience delays due to the COVID-19 pandemic, either because we decide to postpone certain
activities in an effort to preserve cash or other resources or for other reasons related to the pandemic that are beyond our control, including supply chain
and contractor performance delays or delays in the issuance of required permits. Any such delay could have a material effect on our capital plans and
results of operations. We discuss the potential for these delays in further detail with respect to each of our segments below.

= The decline and volatility in the financial markets has had a significant impact on certain of the markets that we typically access for working capital and
other liquidity requirements. See the discussion in “Liquidity” below for more information.

= We have significant investments in several trusts to provide for future payments of pensions and other postretirement benefits and nuclear
decommissioning. Although all of our trust funds’ investments are diversified and managed in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the
value of the investments in these trusts declined significantly in the second half of the first quarter of 2020 due to a decline in the equity markets and
volatility in the fixed income market triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic. These markets continue to be volatile. The decrease in asset values has not
affected the funds’ ability to make their required payments; however, this could change if conditions worsen or continue for an extended period.
Moreover, if asset values do not recover, our funding requirements for pension and other postretirement benefit plans in 2021 may increase. Other factors
may also impact funding requirements for pension and other postretirement benefit plans, including changes to discount rates, assumed rates of return,
mortality tables and regulations. Funding requirements for SDG&E’s NDT could be impacted by the value of the assets as well as the timing and amount
of SONGS decommissioning costs. At the California Utilities, funding requirements are generally recoverable in rates. We discuss our employee benefit
plans and SDG&E’s NDT, including our investment allocation strategies for assets in these trusts, in Notes 9 and 15, respectively, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

We perform recovery testing of our recorded asset values when market conditions indicate that such values may not be recoverable. Given the current
economic environment, including the significant decline in the price of our common stock, market volatility and potential reduction in customer
collections, we considered whether these events or changes in circumstances triggered the need for an interim impairment analysis for our long-lived
assets, intangible assets and goodwill. We determined that, given the existing headroom in our prior quantitative tests and assessment of the impact of
these conditions on our businesses, there was no triggering event as of March 31, 2020. However, as the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic continue to
evolve, we will continue to assess the need to perform an interim impairment test. To the extent the recorded (carrying) value is in excess of the fair
value, we would record a noncash impairment charge. A significant impairment charge related to our long-lived assets, intangible assets or goodwill
would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which it is recorded.

For a further discussion of risks and uncertainties related to the COVID-19 pandemic, see below in “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Liquidity

We expect to meet our cash requirements through cash flows from operations, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, proceeds from recent and planned
asset sales, borrowings under our credit facilities, distributions from our equity method investments, issuances of debt, project financing and partnering in
JVs. We believe that these cash flow sources, combined with available funds, will be adequate to fund our current operations, including to:

= finance capital expenditures

= meet liquidity requirements

= fund dividends

= fund new business or asset acquisitions or start-ups
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= fund capital contribution requirements
= repay maturing long-term debt
= fund expenditures related to the natural gas leak at SoCalGas’ Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility

Sempra Energy and the California Utilities currently have reasonable access to the long-term debt markets and are not currently constrained in any
significant way in their ability to borrow money at reasonable rates from commercial banks, under existing revolving credit facilities or through public
offerings registered with the SEC. There have been, however, substantial disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic in the commercial paper markets
during the second half of the first quarter of 2020, which have historically been a primary source of working capital for Sempra Energy and the California
Utilities. In addition, the capital markets in general and the availability of financing from commercial banks also have shown periods of significant distress
in the second half of the first quarter of 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and our ability to access the capital markets or obtain credit from
commercial banks outside of our committed revolving credit facilities could become materially constrained, especially if these conditions worsen or
continue for an extended period. In addition, our financing activities and actions by credit rating agencies, as well as many other factors, could negatively
affect the availability and cost of both short-term and long-term financing. Also, cash flows from operations may be impacted by the timing of
commencement and completion, and potentially cost overruns, of large projects. If cash flows from operations were to be significantly reduced or we were
unable to borrow under acceptable terms, we would likely first reduce or postpone discretionary capital expenditures (not related to safety) and investments
in new businesses. We monitor our ability to finance the needs of our operating, investing and financing activities in a manner consistent with our intention
to maintain our investment-grade credit ratings and capital structure.

Available Funds

Our committed lines of credit provide liquidity and support commercial paper. As we discuss in Note 7 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements, Sempra Energy, Sempra Global, SDG&E and SoCalGas each have five-year credit agreements expiring in 2024. The table below shows the
amount of available funds at March 31, 2020, including available unused credit on these primary U.S. credit facilities. In addition, IEnova has $1.9 billion
in lines of credit, with approximately $136 million available unused credit at March 31, 2020.

AVAILABLE FUNDS AT MARCH 31, 2020
(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy
Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents® $ 2,247  $ 203 $ 389
Available unused credit®®) 4,010 1,300 750

@ Amounts at Sempra Energy Consolidated include $542 million held in non-U.S. jurisdictions. We discuss repatriation in Note 1 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements.

@ Available unused credit is the total available on Sempra Energy’s, Sempra Global’s, SDG&E’s and SoCalGas’ credit facilities that we discuss in Note 7 of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

©®  Because the commercial paper programs are supported by these lines, we reflect the amount of commercial paper outstanding as a reduction to the available unused
credit.

Short-Term Borrowings

We use short-term debt primarily to meet liquidity requirements, fund shareholder dividends, and temporarily finance capital expenditures, acquisitions or
start-ups. Our California Utilities use short-term debt primarily to meet working capital needs. Commercial paper, revolving lines of credit and term loans
were our primary sources of short-term debt funding in the first quarter of 2020. In an effort to protect our liquidity in light of the COVID-19 pandemic,
Sempra Energy, Sempra Global, SDG&E, SoCalGas and IEnova each drew amounts under their respective credit facilities in the first quarter of 2020, a
substantial portion of which were repaid through terms loans obtained in the first quarter of 2020 by Sempra Energy and SDG&E. As we discuss in Note 7
of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, Sempra Energy and SDG&E obtained 364-day term loans with aggregate principal amounts
outstanding at March 31, 2020, of $1,525 million and $200 million, respectively. At March 31, 2020, SDG&E classified a total of $400 million of its then
outstanding revolving line of credit and term loan as long-term debt based on management’s intent and ability to maintain this level of borrowing on a long-
term basis. In April 2020, SDG&E completed a $400 million public offering of first mortgage bonds maturing in 2050 and repaid the amounts borrowed
under its revolving line of credit. On April 1, 2020, Sempra Energy borrowed an additional $75 million under its term loan.
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Credit Ratings
We provide additional information about the credit ratings of Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Item 2. MD&A —
Capital Resources and Liquidity” in the Annual Report.

The credit ratings of Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas remained at investment grade levels in the first three months of 2020.

CREDIT RATINGS AT MARCH 31, 2020

Sempra Energy SDG&E SoCalGas
Moody’s Baal with a negative outlook Baal with a positive outlook Al with a negative outlook
S&P BBB+ with a negative outlook BBB+ with a stable outlook A with a negative outlook
Fitch BBB+ with a stable outlook BBB+ with a stable outlook A with a stable outlook

Our credit ratings may affect the rates at which borrowings bear interest and the commitment fees on available unused credit. A downgrade of Sempra
Energy’s or any of its subsidiaries’ credit ratings or rating outlooks may result in a requirement for collateral to be posted in the case of certain financing
arrangements and may materially and adversely affect the market prices of their equity and debt securities, the rates at which borrowings are made and
commercial paper is issued, and the various fees on their outstanding credit facilities. This could make it more costly for Sempra Energy, SDG&E,
SoCalGas and Sempra Energy’s other subsidiaries to issue debt securities, to borrow under credit facilities and to raise certain other types of financing.

Sempra Energy has agreed that, if the credit rating of Oncor’s senior secured debt by any of the three major rating agencies falls below BBB (or the
equivalent), Oncor will suspend dividends and other distributions (except for contractual tax payments), unless otherwise allowed by the PUCT. Oncor’s
senior secured debt was rated A2, A+ and A at Moody’s, S&P and Fitch, respectively, at March 31, 2020.

On April 15, 2020, Moody’s placed Sempra Energy on review for downgrade.

Loans to/from Affiliates
At March 31, 2020, Sempra Energy had $615 million in loans to unconsolidated affiliates and $263 million in loans from unconsolidated affiliates.

California Utilities

SDG&E’s and SoCalGas’ operations have historically provided relatively stable earnings and liquidity. Their future performance will depend primarily on
the ratemaking and regulatory process, environmental regulations, economic conditions, actions by the California legislature and the changing energy
marketplace, as well as the other matters described in this report.

SDG&E and SoCalGas expect that the available unused credit from their credit facilities described above, cash flows from operations, and debt issuances
will continue to be adequate to fund their respective current operations and planned capital expenditures. The California Utilities are continuing to monitor
the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on cash flows and results of operations. Some of our customers will likely experience diminished ability to pay
their electric or gas bills, leading to slower payments and higher levels of nonpayment than has been the case historically. These impacts could be
significant and could require modifications to our financing plans. The California Utilities manage their capital structure and pay dividends when
appropriate and as approved by their respective boards of directors.

As we discuss in Note 4 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this report and in Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Annual Report, changes in balancing accounts for significant costs at SDG&E and SoCalGas, particularly a change between over- and
undercollected status, including commodity and transportation balancing accounts, may have a significant impact on cash flows. These changes generally
represent the difference between when costs are incurred and when they are ultimately recovered in rates through billings to customers.
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SDG&E

Wildfire Fund

In 2019, SDG&E recorded a Wildfire Fund asset for committed shareholder contributions to the Wildfire Fund. We describe the Wildfire Legislation and
related accounting treatment in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

SDG&E is exposed to the risk that the participating California electric IOUs may incur third-party wildfire claims for which they will seek recovery from
the Wildfire Fund. In such a situation, SDG&E may recognize a reduction of its Wildfire Fund asset and record a charge against earnings in the period
when there is a reduction of the available coverage due to recoverable claims from the IOUs. As a result, if any California electric IOU’s equipment is
determined to be a cause of a fire, it could have a material adverse effect on SDG&E’s and Sempra Energy’s financial condition and results of operations up
to the carrying value of our Wildfire Fund asset. In addition, the Wildfire Fund could be completely exhausted due to fires in the other California electric
IOUs’ service territories, by fires in SDG&E’s service territory or by a combination thereof. In the event that the Wildfire Fund is materially diminished,
exhausted or terminated, SDG&E will lose the protection afforded by the Wildfire Fund, and as a consequence, a fire in SDG&E’s service territory could
cause a material adverse effect on SDG&E’s and Sempra Energy’s cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

SoCalGas

SoCalGas’ performance will also depend on the resolution of legal, regulatory and other matters concerning the Leak at the Aliso Canyon natural gas
storage facility, which we discuss further in Note 11 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this report, and in “Item 1A. Risk
Factors” in the Annual Report.

Aliso Canyon Natural Gas Storage Facility Gas Leak

From October 23, 2015, through February 11, 2016, SoCalGas experienced a natural gas leak from one of the injection-and-withdrawal wells, SS25, at its
Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility located in Los Angeles County. In February 2016, CalGEM confirmed that the well was permanently sealed.

Cost Estimates, Accounting Impact and Insurance. At March 31, 2020, SoCalGas estimates the costs related to the Leak are $1,408 million (the cost
estimate). This cost estimate may increase significantly as more information becomes available. A substantial portion of the cost estimate has been paid,
and $284 million is accrued as Reserve for Aliso Canyon Costs and $6 million is accrued in Deferred Credits and Other as of March 31, 2020 on
SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Except for the amounts paid or estimated to settle certain actions, the cost estimate does not include all litigation or regulatory costs to the extent it is not
possible to predict at this time the outcome of these actions or reasonably estimate the costs to defend or resolve the actions or the amount of damages,
restitution, or civil, administrative or criminal fines, sanctions, penalties or other costs or remedies that may be imposed or incurred. The cost estimate also
does not include certain other costs incurred by Sempra Energy associated with defending against shareholder derivative lawsuits and other potential costs
that we currently do not anticipate incurring or that we cannot reasonably estimate. These costs not included in the cost estimate could be significant and
could have a material adverse effect on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

We have received insurance payments for many of the costs included in the cost estimate, including temporary relocation and associated processing costs,
control-of-well expenses, costs of the government-ordered response to the Leak, certain legal costs and lost gas. We intend to pursue the full extent of our
insurance coverage for the costs we have incurred. Other than directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, after taking into consideration the additional
accrual related to litigation matters described in Note 11 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, we have effectively exhausted all of
our insurance in this matter, except as to certain defense costs we may incur in the future, including those related to the shareholder derivative lawsuits. We
continue to pursue other sources of insurance coverage for costs related to this matter, but we may not be successful in obtaining additional insurance
recovery for any of these costs. If we are not able to secure additional insurance recovery for all or a substantial portion of these costs, if any costs we have
recorded as an insurance receivable are not collected, if there are delays in receiving insurance recoveries, or if the insurance recoveries are subject to
income taxes while the associated costs are not tax deductible, such amounts, which could be significant, could have a material adverse effect on
SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.
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As of March 31, 2020, we recorded the expected recovery of the cost estimate related to the Leak of $511 million as Insurance Receivable for Aliso
Canyon Costs on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. This amount is exclusive of insurance retentions and $766
million of insurance proceeds we received through March 31, 2020. If we were to conclude that this receivable or a portion of it is no longer probable of
recovery from insurers, some or all of this receivable would be charged against earnings, which could have a material adverse effect on SoCalGas’ and
Sempra Energy’s cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.

Natural Gas Storage Operations and Reliability. Natural gas withdrawn from storage is important for service reliability during peak demand periods,
including peak electric generation needs in the summer and heating needs in the winter. The Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility is the largest
SoCalGas storage facility and an important element of SoCalGas’ delivery system. As a result of the Leak, SoCalGas suspended injection of natural gas
into the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility beginning in October 2015 and, following a comprehensive safety review and authorization by CalGEM
and the CPUC’s Executive Director, resumed limited injection operations in July 2017.

During the suspension period, SoCalGas advised the California ISO, California Energy Commission, CPUC and Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety
Administration of its concerns that the inability to inject natural gas into the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility posed a risk to energy reliability in
Southern California. The CPUC has issued a series of directives to SoCalGas specifying the range of working gas to be maintained in the Aliso Canyon
natural gas storage facility as well as protocols for the withdrawal of gas, to help ensure safe and reliable natural gas service, while helping to maintain
stable energy prices in Southern California. Limited withdrawals of natural gas from the facility were made in 2018, 2019 and 2020 to augment natural gas
supplies during critical demand periods.

In February 2017, the CPUC opened a proceeding pursuant to SB 380 to determine the feasibility of minimizing or eliminating the use of the Aliso Canyon
natural gas storage facility. If the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility were to be permanently closed, or if future cash flows from its operation were
otherwise insufficient to recover its carrying value, it could result in an impairment of the facility and significantly higher than expected operating costs
and/or additional capital expenditures, and natural gas reliability and electric generation could be jeopardized. At March 31, 2020, the Aliso Canyon natural
gas storage facility had a net book value of $771 million. Any significant impairment of this asset, or higher operating costs and additional capital
expenditures incurred by SoCalGas that may not be recoverable in customer rates, could have a material adverse effect on SoCalGas’ and Sempra Energy’s
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Sempra Texas Utilities

Oncor’s business is capital intensive, and it relies on external financing as a significant source of liquidity for its capital requirements. In the past, Oncor
has financed a substantial portion of its cash needs from operations and with proceeds from indebtedness. In the event that Oncor fails to meet its capital
requirements, we may be required to make additional capital contributions to Oncor, or if Oncor is unable to access sufficient capital to finance its ongoing
needs, we may elect to make additional capital contributions to Oncor which could be substantial and which would reduce the cash available to us for other
purposes, could increase our indebtedness and could ultimately materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In
that regard, our commitments to the PUCT prohibit us from making loans to Oncor. As a result, if Oncor requires additional financing and cannot obtain it
from other sources, we may elect to make a capital contribution to Oncor.

Oncor’s ability to pay dividends may be limited by factors such as its credit ratings, regulatory capital requirements, debt-to-equity ratio approved by the
PUCT and other restrictions. In addition, Oncor will not pay dividends if a majority of Oncor’s independent directors or any minority member director
determines it is in the best interests of Oncor to retain such amounts to meet expected future requirements.
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Sempra Mexico

Sempra Mexico is currently building or developing terminals for the receipt, storage, and delivery of liquid fuels in the new port of Veracruz and vicinity of
Mexico City, Puebla, Topolobampo, Manzanillo, and Ensenada. Sempra Mexico is also developing new solar facilities in Judrez, Chihuahua, and Benjamin
Hill, Sonora, through which it will supply renewable energy to several private companies. We expect the projects to commence commercial operations on
various dates in 2020 and 2021, but these expected commencement dates could be delayed by worsening or extended disruptions of project construction or
development caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors” below. We expect to fund these capital expenditures and investments,
operations and dividends at IEnova with available funds, including credit facilities, and funds internally generated by the Sempra Mexico businesses, as
well as funds from project financing, sales of securities, interim funding from the parent or affiliates, and partnering in JVs. Sempra Mexico is continuing
to monitor the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on cash flows and results of operations.

As we discuss in Note 11 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, IEnova received force majeure payments for the Guaymas-El Oro
segment of the Sonora pipeline from August 2017 to August 2019. Under an agreement between IEnova and the CFE, the CFE will resume making
payments only when the damaged section of the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora pipeline is repaired. If the pipeline is not repaired by May 15,
2020 and the parties do not agree on a new service start date, I[Enova retains the right to terminate the contract and seek to recover its reasonable and
documented costs and lost profits. The parties are currently discussing a new service start date in the event the pipeline is not repaired by May 15, 2020, but
there can be no assurance that the parties will have agreed on a new service start date if the pipeline is not repaired by that date. If IEnova is unable to make
such repairs (which have not commenced) and resume operations in the Guaymas-El Oro segment of the Sonora pipeline or if IEnova terminates the
contract and is unable to obtain recovery, there may be a material adverse impact on Sempra Energy’s results of operations and cash flows and our ability to
recover the carrying value of our investment.

The ability to successfully complete major construction projects is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. For a discussion of these risks and
uncertainties, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report.

Sempra LNG

Sempra LNG develops and builds natural gas liquefaction facilities and is pursuing the development of five strategically located LNG projects in North
America with a long-term goal of enabling the delivery of natural gas to the largest world markets. We expect Sempra LNG to require funding for the
development and expansion of its portfolio of projects, which may be financed through a combination of operating cash flows, funding from the parent,
project financing and participating in JVs, including ECA LNG JV with IEnova.

North American natural gas prices, when in decline, negatively affect profitability at Sempra LNG. Also, a reduction in projected global demand for LNG
could result in increased competition among those developing projects in an environment of declining LNG demand, such as the Sempra Energy-sponsored
LNG export initiatives. Our LNG projects currently under development could be delayed by the worldwide economic slowdown as a result of the COVID-
19 pandemic, by the current uncertainty in the global oil and gas markets as a result of the unprecedented decline in oil prices or by a combination of these
factors. For a discussion of these risks and other risks involving changing commodity prices, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report and in
“Item 1A. Risk Factors” below.

Cameron LNG JV Three-Train Liquefaction Project (Phase 1)

Sempra LNG, through its interest in Cameron LNG JV, is constructing a three-train natural gas liquefaction export facility with an expected export
capability of 12 Mtpa of LNG. Construction on the three-train liquefaction project began in the second half of 2014 under an EPC contract with a JV
between CB&I, LLC (as assignee of CB&I Shaw Constructors, Inc.), a wholly owned subsidiary of McDermott International, Inc., and Chiyoda
International Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of Chiyoda Corporation. The majority of the construction is project-financed at the JV, with most or
all of the remainder of the capital requirements provided by the project partners, including Sempra Energy, through equity contributions under the project
equity agreements. We expect that our remaining equity requirements to complete the project will be met by a combination of our share of cash generated
from the first two liquefaction trains that have commenced operations and, if required, additional cash contributions. Sempra Energy signed guarantees for
50.2% of Cameron LNG JV’s financing obligations for a maximum amount of up to $4.0 billion. The guarantees will terminate upon satisfaction of certain
conditions, including all three trains achieving financial completion by September 30, 2021 (with up to an additional 365-day extension beyond such date
permitted in cases of force majeure). However, if Cameron LNG JV fails to satisfy the financial completion criteria, a demand could be made under the
guarantee for Sempra Energy’s 50.2% share of Cameron LNG JV’s obligations under the financing arrangements then due and payable, which could have a
material adverse impact on Sempra Energy’s liquidity.
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Cameron LNG JV achieved commercial operations of Train 1 and Train 2 under its tolling agreements in August 2019 and February 2020, respectively. We
expect Train 3 will commence commercial operations in the third quarter of 2020. However, the expected commencement of Train 3’s commercial
operations could be delayed by worsening or extended disruptions of project construction and commissioning caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Large-scale construction projects such as the design, development and construction of the Cameron LNG JV liquefaction facility involve numerous risks
and uncertainties, including among others, the potential for unforeseen engineering challenges, severe weather events, global pandemics, substantial
construction delays and increased costs. In addition, once completed, the facility may be subject to design flaws, equipment failures and other operational
issues, which could cause the facility to suspend operations or operate at a reduced capacity.

Cameron LNG JV has a lump-sum, turnkey EPC contract, and if the contractor becomes unwilling or unable to perform according to the terms and
timetable of the EPC contract, the project could face substantial construction delays and potentially significantly increased costs. In January 2020,
McDermott International, Inc. filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. bankruptcy code. McDermott International, Inc. has stated that
it expects all of its projects, including the three-train liquefaction project at Cameron LNG JV, to continue on an uninterrupted basis. However, we cannot
be certain the Cameron LNG JV project will not be interrupted. If the contractor defaults under the EPC contract due to the bankruptcy of McDermott
International, Inc. or for any other reason, such default could result in Cameron LNG JV’s engagement of a substitute contractor. The inability to complete
the project in a timely manner or within our current expectations, cost overruns, and the other risks described above could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, credit ratings and/or prospects.

For a discussion of our investment in Cameron LNG JV, JV financing, Sempra Energy guarantees, the risks discussed above and other risks relating to the
development of the Cameron LNG JV liquefaction project that could adversely affect our future performance, see Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements and “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report.
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Proposed Cameron Liquefaction Expansion (Phase 2)

Cameron LNG JV has received the major permits and FTA and non-FTA approvals necessary to expand the current configuration of the Cameron LNG JV
liquefaction project beyond Phase 1. The permits obtained for Phase 2 include up to two additional liquefaction trains and up to two additional full
containment LNG storage tanks (one of which was permitted with the original three-train project).

Expansion of the Cameron LNG liquefaction facility beyond the first three trains is subject to certain restrictions and conditions under the JV project
financing agreements, including among others, timing restrictions on expansion of the project unless appropriate prior consent is obtained from the project
lenders. Under the Cameron LNG JV equity agreements, the expansion of the project requires the unanimous consent of all the partners, including with
respect to the equity investment obligation of each partner. Discussions among all the Cameron LNG JV partners have been taking place regarding how an
expansion may be structured and we expect that discussions will continue. There can be no assurance that the Cameron LNG JV members will
unanimously agree on an expansion structure, which, if not accomplished in a timely manner, could materially and adversely impact the development of the
expansion project. In light of this, we are unable to predict whether or when Cameron LNG JV might be able to move forward on expansion of the
Cameron LNG liquefaction facility beyond the first three trains.

In November 2018, Sempra Energy and TOTAL S.A. entered into an MOU that provides a framework for cooperation for the development of the potential
Cameron LNG JV expansion project and the potential ECA LNG JV liquefaction-export project that we describe below in “ECA LNG JV Liquefaction
Export Project.” The MOU contemplates TOTAL S.A. potentially contracting for up to approximately 9 Mtpa of LNG offtake across these two
development projects and provides TOTAL S.A. the option to acquire an equity interest in the proposed ECA LNG JV project. In addition, in October
2019, Sempra Energy and Mitsui & Co., Ltd. entered into an MOU that provides a framework for potential offtake by Mitsui & Co., Ltd. from the potential
Cameron LNG JV expansion project and the second phase of the potential ECA LNG JV project, as well as Mitsui & Co., Ltd.’s potential acquisition of an
equity interest in the second phase of the potential ECA LNG JV project. In May 2020, Sempra Energy and Mitsubishi Corporation entered into an MOU
that provides a framework for development of and potential offtake by Mitsubishi Corporation from the potential Cameron LNG JV expansion project. The
ultimate participation of and offtake by TOTAL S.A., Mitsui & Co., Ltd. and Mitsubishi Corporation remains subject to negotiation and finalization of
definitive agreements, among other factors, and TOTAL S.A., Mitsui & Co., Ltd. and Mitsubishi Corporation have no commitment to participate in and
offtake from the projects.

The development of the potential Cameron LNG expansion project is subject to numerous other risks and uncertainties, including securing binding
customer commitments; obtaining a number of permits and regulatory approvals; securing financing; negotiating and completing suitable commercial
agreements, including a definitive EPC contract, equity acquisition and governance agreements; reaching a final investment decision; and other factors
associated with this potential investment. For a discussion of these risks, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report.
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ECA LNG JV Liquefaction Export Project

Through a JV agreement, Sempra LNG and IEnova are developing a proposed natural gas liquefaction project at IEnova’s existing ECA LNG
Regasification facility. The proposed liquefaction facility project, which is planned for development in two phases (a mid-scale project referred to as ECA
LNG JV Phase 1 and a large-scale project referred to as ECA LNG JV Phase 2), is being developed to provide buyers with direct access to west coast LNG
supplies. The ECA LNG Regasification facility currently has profitable long-term regasification contracts for 100% of the regasification facility’s capacity
through 2028, making the decisions on whether and how to pursue the ECA LNG JV Phase 2 liquefaction project dependent in part on whether the
investment in a large-scale liquefaction facility would, over the long term, be more beneficial financially than continuing to supply regasification services
under our existing contracts. We do not believe that the development of ECA LNG JV Phase 1 will disrupt operations at the ECA LNG Regasification
facility.

In March 2019, ECA LNG JV received two authorizations from the DOE to export U.S.-produced natural gas to Mexico and to re-export LNG to non-FTA
countries from its ECA LNG JV Phase 1 project, a one-train natural gas liquefaction export facility with a nameplate capacity of 3.25 Mtpa and initial
offtake capacity of approximately 2.5 Mtpa, and its ECA LNG JV Phase 2 project, each of which is in development.

On February 27, 2020, we entered into an EPC contract with TechnipFMC for the engineering, procurement and construction of ECA LNG JV Phase 1. We
have no obligation to move forward on the EPC contract, and we may release TechnipFMC to perform portions of the work pursuant to limited notices to
proceed. We plan to fully release TechnipFMC to perform all of the work to construct ECA LNG JV Phase 1 only after we reach a final investment
decision with respect to the project and after certain other conditions are met. The total price of the EPC contract for ECA LNG JV Phase 1 is estimated at
approximately $1.5 billion. We estimate that capital expenditures for ECA LNG JV Phase 1 will approximate $1.9 billion, including capitalized interest and
project contingency. The actual cost of the EPC contract and the actual amount of these capital expenditures may differ, perhaps substantially, from our
estimates.

In November 2018, Sempra LNG and IEnova signed Heads of Agreements with affiliates of TOTAL S.A., Mitsui & Co., Ltd. and Tokyo Gas Co., Ltd. for
ECA LNG JV Phase 1 in respect of LNG sales of approximately 2.5 Mtpa in the aggregate. In April 2020, ECA LNG JV executed definitive 20-year LNG
sale and purchase agreements with Mitsui & Co., Ltd. and an affiliate of TOTAL S.A. for approximately 0.8 Mtpa of LNG and 1.7 Mtpa of LNG,
respectively. Each agreement remains subject to certain customary conditions of effectiveness, including our final investment decision for the project.

We continue to work towards reaching a final investment decision for ECA LNG JV Phase 1 in the second quarter of 2020. However, this project is
contingent on the receipt of an export permit from the Mexican government. The closure of non-essential activities in Mexico in response to the COVID-19
pandemic has added to the uncertainty of the timing of the receipt of this permit and could delay our final investment decision beyond the second quarter of
2020.

The development of both the ECA LNG JV Phase 1 and ECA LNG JV Phase 2 projects is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including obtaining
binding customer commitments for Phase 2; the receipt of a number of permits and regulatory approvals; obtaining financing; negotiating and completing
suitable commercial agreements, including a definitive EPC contract for Phase 2, equity acquisition and governance agreements, LNG sales agreements
and gas supply and transportation agreements; reaching a final investment decision; and other factors associated with this potential investment. In addition,
as we discuss in Note 11 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, an unfavorable decision on certain property disputes and permit
challenges could materially and adversely affect the development of these projects. For a discussion of these risks, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the
Annual Report.
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Port Arthur LNG Liquefaction Project

Sempra LNG is developing a proposed natural gas liquefaction project on a greenfield site that it owns in the vicinity of Port Arthur, Texas, located along
the Sabine-Neches waterway. Sempra LNG received authorizations from the DOE in August 2015 and May 2019 that collectively permit the LNG to be
produced from the proposed Port Arthur LNG project to be exported to all current and future FTA and non-FTA countries.

In April 2019, the FERC approved the siting, construction and operation of the proposed Port Arthur LNG liquefaction facility, along with certain natural
gas pipelines, including the Louisiana Connector Pipeline, that could be used to supply feed gas to the liquefaction facility, assuming the project is
completed.

On February 28, 2020, we entered into an EPC contract with Bechtel for the proposed Port Arthur LNG liquefaction project. The EPC contract
contemplates the construction of two liquefaction trains with a nameplate capacity of approximately 13.5 Mtpa, two LNG storage tanks, a marine berth and
associated loading facilities and related infrastructure necessary to provide liquefaction services. We have no obligation to move forward on the EPC
contract, and we may release Bechtel to perform portions of the work pursuant to limited notices to proceed. We plan to fully release Bechtel to perform all
of the work to construct the Port Arthur LNG liquefaction project only after we reach a final investment decision with respect to the project and after
certain other conditions are met, including obtaining project financing. If we issue the full notice to proceed by July 15, 2020, the price under the fixed-
price EPC contract is estimated to be approximately $8.9 billion. This does not include costs associated with changes to the project’s scope or the
occurrence of certain events that would entitle Bechtel to relief under the contract, including customary events for similar agreements of this type such as
force majeure events, certain changes in law, the discovery of certain differing site conditions, and certain delays to the work that we may cause. If we issue
the full notice to proceed after July 15, 2020, the price will be subject to price escalations. If the full notice to proceed is not issued by October 15, 2020,
then the EPC contract, including the price, will be subject to renegotiation. Any changes to the EPC contract will require the agreement of both parties,
which cannot be assured.

In December 2018, Polish Oil & Gas Company (PGNiG) and Port Arthur LNG entered into a definitive 20-year agreement for the sale and purchase of 2
Mtpa of LNG per year from the Port Arthur LNG liquefaction project. Under the agreement, LNG purchases by PGNiG from Port Arthur LNG will be
made on a free-on-board basis, with PGNiG responsible for shipping the LNG from the Port Arthur facility to the final destination. Port Arthur LNG will
manage the gas pipeline transportation, liquefaction processing and cargo loading. The agreement is subject to certain conditions precedent, including Port
Arthur LNG making a positive final investment decision within certain agreed timelines. The failure of these conditions precedent to be satisfied or waived
within the agreed timelines could result in the termination of the agreement.

In May 2019, Aramco Services Company and Sempra LNG signed a Heads of Agreement for the negotiation and finalization of a definitive 20-year LNG
sale and purchase agreement for 5 Mtpa of LNG offtake. The Heads of Agreement also includes the negotiation and finalization of a 25% equity
investment in the project. In January 2020, Aramco Services Company and Sempra LNG signed an Interim Project Participation Agreement, which sets
forth certain mechanisms for the parties to work towards receipt of corporate approvals to enter into and proceed with the transaction, execution of the
transaction agreements and the fulfillment or waiver of the conditions precedent contemplated by these agreements, making a final investment decision and
other pre-final investment decision activities. The Heads of Agreement and Interim Project Participation Agreement do not obligate the parties to ultimately
execute any agreements or participate in the project.

In February 2020, Sempra LNG filed a FERC application for the siting, construction and operation of a second phase at the proposed Port Arthur LNG
facility, including the potential addition of two liquefaction trains.

In November 2019, Port Arthur LNG commenced the relocation and upgrade of approximately three miles of highway where the Port Arthur LNG
liquefaction project would be located.

We continue to work on completing all necessary milestones so that we are prepared to make a final investment decision for the proposed Port Arthur LNG
liquefaction project when appropriate. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy and the current uncertainty in the financial and
energy markets has delayed the expected timing of our final investment decision from 2020 to 2021.

Development of the Port Arthur LNG liquefaction project is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including obtaining additional customer
commitments; completing the required commercial agreements, such as equity acquisitions and governance agreements, LNG sales agreements and gas
supply and transportation agreements; completing construction contracts; securing all necessary permits and approvals; obtaining financing and incentives;
reaching a final investment decision; and other factors associated with the potential investment. For a discussion of these risks, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors”
in the Annual Report.
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Discontinued Operations

As we discuss in Note 5 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in January 2019, our board of directors approved a plan to sell our
South American businesses. On April 24, 2020, we completed the sale of our equity interests in our Peruvian businesses for an aggregate base purchase
price of $3.59 billion, subject to post-closing adjustments. In October 2019, we entered into an agreement to sell our equity interests in our Chilean
businesses for an aggregate base purchase price of $2.23 billion, subject to customary adjustments for working capital and changes in net indebtedness and
other adjustments. We expect the sale to close in the second quarter of 2020, subject to satisfaction of conditions to closing.

Our utilities in South America have historically provided relatively stable earnings and liquidity. We intend to use the proceeds from the sales to focus on
capital investment in North America to support additional growth opportunities and strengthen our balance sheet by reducing debt. We expect the cash
provided by earnings from our capital investment will exceed the absence of cash flows from these discontinued operations. However, there can be no
assurance that we will derive these anticipated benefits. Further, there can be no assurance that we will be able to redeploy the capital that we obtain from
such sales, if completed, in a way that would result in cash flows or earnings exceeding those historically generated by these businesses.

SOURCES AND USES OF CASH

The following tables include only significant changes in cash flow activities for each of our registrants.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy

Three months ended March 31, Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas

2020 $ 1,318 $ 498 $ 757

2019 951 443 376
Change $ 367 $ 55 $ 381

Net increase in Reserve for Aliso Canyon Costs primarily due to $276 higher accruals and $98

lower payments $ 375 $ 375
Higher net income, adjusted for noncash items included in earnings 169 $ 109 121
Change in long-term GHG obligations 49 42
Higher distributions of earnings from Oncor Holdings 19
Net increase in Insurance Receivable for Aliso Canyon Costs primarily due to $176 higher accruals

offset by $19 insurance proceeds received (156) (156)
Deferred revenue due to the TCJA at the California Utilities in 2019 (43) (20) (23)
Change in intercompany activities with discontinued operations (31)

Change in net undercollected regulatory balancing accounts (including long-term amounts in

regulatory assets) (46) a7
Other 10 12 (25)
Change in net cash flows from discontinued operations (25)

$ 367 $ 5 $ 381
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Dollars in millions)

Sempra Energy

Three months ended March 31, Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas
2020 $ (1,281) $ (402) $ (388)
2019 (610) (356) (324)
Change $ (571) $ (46) $ (64)
Net proceeds from the February 2019 sale of Sempra LNG's non-utility natural gas storage assets $ (322)
Increase in capital expenditures 227) $ 46) $ (64)
Other 27)
Change in net cash flows from discontinued operations 5
$ (571) $ (46) $ (64)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Dollars in millions)
Sempra Energy
Three months ended March 31, Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas
2020 $ 2,114 % 97 % 10
2019 (381) (75) (67)
Change $ 2495 $ 172 $ 77
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt, net $ 1,630 $ 27) $ (564)
Higher issuances of long-term debt 1,048 400 649
Higher issuances of commercial paper and other short-term debt with maturities greater than 90
days 267
Higher payments on long-term debt and finance leases (503)
Higher payments for commercial paper and other short-term debt with maturities greater than 90
days (93)
Higher common dividends paid (200)
Other (20) (€h) (8
Change in net cash flows from discontinued operations mainly due to a net increase in short-term
debt 156
$ 2,495 % 172 $ 77
Capital Expenditures and Investments and Acquisitions
EXPENDITURES FOR PP&E AND INVESTMENTS AND ACQUISITIONS
(Dollars in millions)
Three months ended March 31,
2020 2019
SDG&E $ 402 356
SoCalGas 388 324
Sempra Texas Utilities 86 56
Sempra Mexico 170 85
Sempra LNG 47 56
Parent and other 3 —
Total $ 1,096 877
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The amounts and timing of capital expenditures and certain investments are generally subject to approvals by various regulatory and other governmental
and environmental bodies, including the CPUC, the FERC and the PUCT. Excluding discontinued operations, in 2020, we expect to make capital
expenditures and investments of approximately $5.7 billion, a decrease from the $5.9 billion summarized in “Item 7. MD&A — Capital Resources and
Liquidity” in the Annual Report. The decrease is primarily attributable to Phase 1 of the ECA LNG JV liquefaction export project at Sempra LNG.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

We view certain accounting policies as critical because their application is the most relevant, judgmental, and/or material to our financial position and
results of operations, and/or because they require the use of material judgments and estimates. We discuss these accounting policies in “Item 7. MD&A” in
the Annual Report.

We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report. We follow the same
accounting policies for interim reporting purposes.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

We discuss the relevant pronouncements that have recently been issued or become effective and have had or may have an impact on our financial
statements and/or disclosures in Note 2 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We provide disclosure regarding derivative activity in Note 8 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. We discuss our market risk
and risk policies in detail in “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in the Annual Report.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

In the first quarter of 2020, there were no significant changes in our exposure to commodity price risk.
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INTEREST RATE RISK

The table below shows the nominal amount of our debt:

NOMINAL AMOUNT OF DEBT®
(Dollars in millions)

March 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Sempra Energy Sempra Energy
Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas

Short-term:

California Utilities $ —  $ — 3 — | $ 710 $ 80 $ 630

Other 5,744 — — 2,798 — —
Long-term:

California Utilities fixed-rate $ 9582 $ 5123 $ 4459 | $ 8949 $ 5140 $ 3,809

California Utilities variable-rate 400 400 — — — —

Other fixed-rate 10,485 — — 11,561 — —

Other variable-rate 746 — — 746 — —

() After the effects of interest rate swaps. Before the effects of acquisition-related fair value adjustments and reductions for unamortized discount and debt issuance costs,
and excluding finance lease obligations.

An interest rate risk sensitivity analysis measures interest rate risk by calculating the estimated changes in earnings that would result from a hypothetical
change in market interest rates. Earnings are affected by changes in interest rates on short-term debt and variable long-term debt. If weighted-average
interest rates on short-term debt outstanding at March 31, 2020 increased or decreased by 10%, the change in earnings over the next 12-month period ended
March 31, 2021 would be approximately $14 million. If interest rates increased or decreased by 10% on all variable-rate long-term debt at March 31, 2020,
after considering the effects of interest rate swaps, the change in earnings over the next 12-month period ended March 31, 2021 would be approximately $2
million.

FOREIGN CURRENCY AND INFLATION RATE RISK

We discuss our foreign currency and inflation exposure in “Item 2. MD&A — Impact of Foreign Currency and Inflation Rates on Results of Operations” in
this report and in “Item 7. MD&A — Impact of Foreign Currency and Inflation Rates on Results of Operations” in the Annual Report. At March 31, 2020,
there were no significant changes to our exposure to foreign currency rate risk since December 31, 2019.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in their
respective reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and is accumulated
and communicated to the management of each company, including each respective principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating these controls and procedures, the management of each company recognizes
that any system of controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives; therefore, the management of each company applies judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive officers and principal financial officers of Sempra Energy, SDG&E and
SoCalGas, each such company’s management evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures as of
March 31, 2020, the end of the period covered by this report. Based on these evaluations, the principal executive officers and principal financial officers of
Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas concluded that their respective company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable
assurance level as of such date.
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INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There have been no changes in Sempra Energy’s, SDG&E’s or SoCalGas’ internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the companies’ internal control over financial reporting.

PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not party to, and our property is not the subject of, any material pending legal proceedings (other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to our
businesses) except for the matters (1) described in Notes 10 and 11 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this report and in Notes
15 and 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report, or (2) referred to in “Item 7. MD&A” in the Annual Report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

When evaluating our company and its subsidiaries, you should consider carefully the risk factors and all other information contained in this report,
including the factors discussed above in “Item 2. MD&A” and in this section, and in the other documents we file with the SEC, including the factors
disclosed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report. Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes from the risk factors as
previously disclosed in the Annual Report. Any of the risk factors and other information discussed in this report or any of the risk factors disclosed in
“Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report, as well as additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be
immaterial, could materially and adversely affect our businesses, cash flows, results of operations, financial condition, prospects and/or the trading prices
of our securities or those of our subsidiaries.

Risks Related to All Sempra Energy Businesses

Our business faces risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic is currently materially impacting countries, communities, supply chains and markets around the world. The U.S. economy is
experiencing a significant slowdown and claims for unemployment are increasing to historic levels. To date, the COVID-19 pandemic has not had a
material impact on our results of operations. However, we are conducting business with substantial modifications to employee travel, employee work
locations, and virtualization or cancellation of certain business activities, among other modifications. If these or other similar measures were to increase or
continue for an extended period, we could experience employee absenteeism, decreased efficiency and productivity by our workforce and other similar
impacts that could jeopardize our ability to sustain operations and satisfy compliance requirements. We also have observed other companies, including our
current and prospective counterparties, customers and partners, as well as many governments, including our regulators and other governing bodies that
affect our businesses, taking precautionary, preemptive and responsive actions to address the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and they may take further
actions that alter their normal operations. These actions by third parties could impact our operations, results, liquidity and ability to pursue capital projects
and strategic initiatives. For example, the CPUC has requested that all energy companies under its jurisdiction take action to implement several emergency
customer protection measures to support California customers. The measures apply to all residential and small business customers affected by the COVID-
19 pandemic and include suspending service disconnections due to nonpayment, waiving late payment fees, and offering flexible payment plans for all
customers experiencing difficulty paying their electric or gas bills. These actions could result in a material reduction in payments received from our
customers and a material increase in uncollectible accounts that we may not be able to recover in rates, which could have a material adverse effect on the
cash flows, financial condition and results of operations for Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas.

In addition, the economic slowdown caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, together with the increase of the supply of oil in world markets, has caused a
material and unprecedented decline in oil prices and the demand for energy. These conditions, as well as potential disruptions of construction and
development activity if our project counterparties implement or are required to implement stay-at-home or limited workforce measures in response to the
pandemic, could result in increased competition among LNG project developers and substantial delays of some of our LNG and other projects currently
under development. With respect to Phase 1 of the Cameron LNG JV liquefaction project currently under construction, although the project is considered a
critical infrastructure project and is 99.5% complete, the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic could cause unanticipated delays in completing the project.

Further, the COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected conditions in the capital markets and may adversely affect our cost of and access to capital,
including from the capital markets generally, from commercial paper markets and from commercial banks. Although Sempra Energy, SDG&E and
SoCalGas are not currently constrained in any significant way in their ability to borrow money at reasonable rates, these circumstances could change if
conditions worsen or continue for an extended period, which could have a material negative effect on our results of operations and on our strategic
initiatives and prospects. To date, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a slowdown of our capital spending, which could worsen if conditions
deteriorate or fail to improve in the near term and which could have a material adverse effect on Sempra Energy’s, SDG&E’s and SoCalGas’ results of
operations and prospects.

We will continue to actively monitor the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and may take further actions that alter our business operations as may be
required by federal, state or local authorities, or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners and suppliers. However,
we cannot at this time predict the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will further impact our liquidity, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The exhibits listed below relate to each registrant as indicated. Unless otherwise indicated, the exhibits that are incorporated by reference herein were filed
under File Number 1-14201 (Sempra Energy), File Number 1-40 (Pacific Lighting Corporation), File Number 1-03779 (San Diego Gas & Electric

Company) and/or File Number 1-01402 (Southern California Gas Company).
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed or
Exhibit Furnished Exhibit or
Number Exhibit Description Herewith Form Appendix  Filing Date
EXHIBIT 3 -- ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS
Sempra Energy
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Sempra Energy effective May 23, 2008. 10-K 3.1 02/27/20
3.2 Bylaws of Sempra Energy (as amended through April 14, 2020). 8-K 3.1 04/14/20
33 Certificate of Determination of the 6% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, of Sempra Energy 8-K 3.1 01/09/18
(including the form of certificate representing the 6% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A), filed
the Secretary of State of the State of California and effective January 5, 2018.
34 Certificate of Determination of the 6.75% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B, of Sempra Energy 8-K 3.1 07/13/18
(including the form of certificate representing the 6.75% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B)
filed with the Secretary of State of the State of California and effective July 11, 2018.
San Diego Gas & Electric Company
35 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of San Diego Gas & Electric Company effective August 15, 10-K 34 02/26/15
2014.
3.6 Bylaws of San Diego Gas & Electric Company, (as amended through October 26, 2016). 10-Q 3.1 11/02/16
Southern California Gas Company
3.7 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Southern California Gas Company effective October 7, 1996. 10-K 3.01 03/28/97
3.8 Bylaws of Southern California Gas Company (as amended through January 30, 2017). 8-K 3.1 01/31/17
EXHIBIT 10 -- MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Sempra Energy
10.1* Engineering, Procurement and Construction Contract, dated as of February 28, 2020, between Port Arthur X
LNG, LLC, PALNG Common Facilities Company, LLC (but only for the limited purpose set forth therein), and
Bechtel Oil, Gas and Chemicals, Inc.
Management Contract or Compensatory Plan, Contract or Arrangement
Sempra Energy/San Diego Gas & Electric/Southern California Gas Company
10.2 Severance Agreement and Mutual Release, dated March 30, 2020, between Sempra Energy and George X
Bilicic.
10.3 Form of Sempra Energy 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2020 Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement. 10-K 10.5 02/27/20
10.4 Form of Sempra Energy 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2020 Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award - 10-K 10.6 02/27/20
Three Year Ratable Vest.
10.5 Form of Sempra Energy 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2020 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit 10-K 10.7 02/27/20
Award - EPS Growth Performance Measure.
10.6 Form of Sempra Energy 2019 I.ong-Term Incentive Plan 2020 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit 10-K 10.8 02/27/20
Award - Relative to Shareholder Return Performance Measure - S&P 500 Index.
10.7 Form of Sempra Energy 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2020 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit 10-K 10.9 02/27/20

Award - Relative Total Shareholder Return Performance Measure - S&P 500 Utilities Index.

* Portions of the exhibit have been omitted in accordance with applicable SEC rules.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000103220820000006/sempra-123119xex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1032208/000103220820000014/exhibit31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1032208/000119312518006486/d517690dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1032208/000119312518217274/d478757dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000008652115000011/ex3_4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000008652116000145/sempra-93016xex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/92108/0000912057-97-010558.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/92108/000008652117000002/exhibit31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000103220820000006/sempra-123119xex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000103220820000006/sempra-123119xex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000103220820000006/sempra-123119xex107.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000103220820000006/sempra-123119xex108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/86521/000103220820000006/sempra-123119xex109.htm

Filed or

Exhibit Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Herewith
EXHIBIT 31 -- SECTION 302 CERTIFICATIONS
Sempra Energy
31.1 Certification of Sempra Energy’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. X
31.2 Certification of Sempra Energy’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. X
San Diego Gas & Electric Company
31.3 Certification of San Diego Gas & Electric Company’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. X
314 Certification of San Diego Gas & Electric Company’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. X
Southern California Gas Company
31.5 Certification of Southern California Gas Company’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. X
31.6 Certification of Southern California Gas Company’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. X
EXHIBIT 32 -- SECTION 906 CERTIFICATIONS
Sempra Energy
32.1 Certification of Sempra Energy’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350. X
32.2 Certification of Sempra Energy’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350. X
San Diego Gas & Electric Company
323 Certification of San Diego Gas & Electric Company’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350. X
324 Certification of San Diego Gas & Electric Company’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350. X
Southern California Gas Company
325 Certification of Southern California Gas Company’s Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350. X
32.6 Certification of Southern California Gas Company’s Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350. X
EXHIBIT 101 -- INTERACTIVE DATA FILE
101.INS XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data file because its XBRL tags are embedded within
the Inline XBRL document. X
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. X
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. X
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. X
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. X
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. X

EXHIBIT 104 -- COVER PAGE INTERACTIVE DATA FILE

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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SIGNATURES

Sempra Energy:

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 4, 2020

San Diego Gas & Electric Company:

SEMPRA ENERGY,
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Peter R. Wall

Peter R. Wall
Senior Vice President, Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer (Duly Authorized Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 4, 2020

Southern California Gas Company:

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY,
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Bruce A. Folkmann

Bruce A. Folkmann
Senior Vice President, Controller, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Accounting Officer (Duly Authorized Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 4, 2020
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SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY,
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Mia L. DeMontigny

Mia L. DeMontigny
Vice President, Controller, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Accounting Officer (Duly Authorized Officer)



Exhibit 10.1

EXxecution Copy
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN OMITTED BECAUSE IT BOTH (I) IS NOT MATERIAL
AND (II) WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO SEMPRA ENERGY IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.
INFORMATION THAT HAS BEEN OMITTED ON THAT BASIS IS DENOTED IN THIS DOCUMENT AS “[***].”
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN OMITTED BECAUSE ITS DISCLOSURE WOULD

CONSTITUTE AN UNWARRANTED INVASION OF PERSONAL PRIVACY. INFORMATION THAT HAS BEEN
OMITTED ON THAT BASIS IS DENOTED IN THIS DOCUMENT AS [###].

ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

NUMBER 4188P000092
BETWEEN
PORT ARTHUR LNG, LLC,

PALNG COMMON FACILITIES COMPANY, L1LC
(FOR THE PURPOSES DESCRIBED HEREIN)

AND
BECHTEL OIL, GAS AND CHEMICALS, INC.
RELATING TO THE
PORT ARTHUR LIQUEFACTION PROJECT
Dated as of

February 28, 2020



ARTICLE 1 INTRODUCTION, DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4

Agreement Structure

Definitions
Acronyms, Terms and Symbols

Interpretation

ARTICLE 2 CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

29

2.10
211
2.12
2.13
2.14
2.15
2.16
2.17
2.18
2.19
2.20
2.21
2.22
2.23
2.24
2.25
2.26
2.27
2.28
2.29
2.30

Work

Independent Contractor

Performance Standards and Compliance with Applicable Laws
Contractor’s Acknowledgments

Appointment of Authorized Representatives; Periodic Meetings; Owner Access

Employees and Key Personnel

Construction Equipment

Liens

Contractor Permits; Owner Permits

Use of the Site

Roads; Shipping and Storage; Laydown Areas; Importing Equipment
Fuel, Utilities and Consumable Items

Spare Parts; Special Tools

Materials at the Site

Personnel Training

Environmental Compliance; Hazardous Materials and Explosives
HSSE Plans and Policies; Site Rules; Security

Emergencies

Quality Assurance/Quality Control Plan

Correction of Work in Progress

Reports

Books, Records and Audits
Inspections and Testing
Design and Engineering Work
Survey Control Points

Operation Prior to Substantial Completion
Coordination with Others Performing Work
Compliance with Lender Requirements
Geotechnical Field Testing Program

ARTICLE 3 OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9

Payment of the Contract Price

Owner Supply of Electricity during Pre-Commissioning, Commissioning, Start-up and Testing

Owner-Furnished Information
Appointment of Authorized Representative
Access to the Site

Personnel Provided by Owner

Owner Permits
Feed Gas; Fuel Gas
Owner Provision of LNG Tankers; LNG Tanker Loading; Cool-Down Cargos
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3.10 Disposition and Title to Products

3.11 Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials and Archeological Finds
3.12 LNG Storage

3.13 Tipping Fees

3.14 Rights-of-Way

3.15 No Other Responsibilities

3.16 Owner’s Failure to Perform
ARTICLE 4 COMMENCEMENT OF WORK; PROJECT SCHEDULE
4.1 Commencement of Work
4.2 Project Schedule
4.3 Liquidated Damages
4.4 Critical Path Method Schedule; Acceleration and Schedule Recovery
ARTICLE 5 PROJECT PERFORMANCE
5.1 Guaranteed Performance Levels
5.2 Liquidated Damages
ARTICLE 6 COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT
6.1 Contract Price
6.2 Payments
6.3 Invoices and Supporting Documentation
6.4 Disputed Payments and No Waiver
6.5 Owner Right to Withhold and Set Off Payment
6.6 Final Payments
6.7 Late Payments
6.8 Overpayments
6.9 Currency Conversions
6.10 Effect of Payment
6.11 Certain Conditions Precedent to Payment
6.12 Fixed Price Nature of Contract
ARTICLE 7 TAXES
7.1 Responsibility for Taxes
7.2 Withholding of Taxes
7.3 Foreign-Trade Zone
7.4 Exemptions
7.5 Texas Sales and Use Tax Matters
7.6 Fixed Asset Price Allocation Schedule

ARTICLE 8 CHANGE ORDERS

8.1 Changes to the Work

8.2 Change Orders Requested by Owner

8.3 Change Orders Requested by Contractor

8.4 Change Order Remedies

8.5 Change Request Logs; Contractor-Requested Change Order Procedures

8.6 Unilateral Change Orders

8.7 Subsequent Invoices

8.8 NO OBLIGATION OR PAYMENT WITHOUT EXECUTED CHANGE ORDER
8.9 Executed Change Order Form Final

8.10 No Suspension
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8.11
8.12

Supplier Rates
SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY

ARTICLE 9 TESTING AND COMPLETION

9.1
9.2
9.3
9.4
9.5
9.6
9.7
9.8
9.9
9.10
9.11
9.12

Pre-Commissioning Plan; Completion Database

Mechanical Completion

Commissioning Activities

Ready for Start-Up

Notices of Initial Production Dates and Feed Gas Requirements
LNG Production From and After Start-Up

Performance Testing

Substantial Completion

Punch List

Achievement of Guaranteed Performance Levels
Final Acceptance

Final Completion

ARTICLE 10 WARRANTIES AND CORRECTION OF WORK

10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6

Contractor’s Warranties

Supplier Warranties

Warranty Repair Procedures

Structural Works Defects

Root Cause

EXCLUSIVE WARRANTY; EXCLUSIVE REMEDY

ARTICLFE 11 TITLE TRANSFER; CUSTODY; RISK OF LOSS

11.1
11.2
11.3

Transfer of Title
Care, Custody and Control
Risk of Loss

ARTICLE 12 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTATION AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

121
12.2
12.3
12.4
12.5
12.6

Ownership of Work Product by Owner
Delivery and Use of Work Product
Contractor Intellectual Property
Owner Intellectual Property

Limited License to Contractor

Technology

ARTICLE 13 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

13.1
13.2

Representations and Warranties of Contractor
Representations and Warranties of Owner and Common Facilities Owner

ARTICLE 14 CONFIDENTIALITY

141
14.2
14.3
14.4
14.5
14.6

Contractor’s Obligations
Owner’s Obligations
Exceptions

Remedies

Legal Demand for Information
Term

ARTICLE 15 INDEMNIFICATION

15.1
15.2

Contractor Indemnity and Release
Owner Indemnity and Release
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15.3
15.4
15.5
15.6

Intellectual Property Infringement

Notice of Claims
Defense of Third Party Claims
Enforceability

ARTICLE 16 INSURANCE

16.1
16.2
16.3
16.4
16.5
16.6
16.7
16.8
16.9
16.10
16.11
16.12
16.13
16.14
16.15
16.16
16.17
16.18
16.19
16.20
16.21
16.22
16.23
16.24
16.25

Contractor Insurance Requirements
Costs

Rating and Form

Waiver and Subrogation

Loss Payees

Determination of Insurance Coverages
Additional Insured Coverage
Deductibles

Certificate of Insurance

Dividends and Refunds

No Waiver

No Limitation

Owner’s Property Insurance

Territorial Limits

Failure of Contractor to Maintain Policies
Unavailability of Insurance
Contractor’s Insurance is Primary
Severability

Copy of Policy

Reports

Control of Loss

Loss Survey

Miscellaneous Policy Provisions
Lender Requirements

No Limitation of Requirements

ARTICLE 17 FINANCIAL SECURITY

17.1
17.2
17.3

Contractor Guarantee
Contractor Letter of Credit
Further Assurances

ARTICLE 18 FORCE MAJEURE AND EXCUSABLE DELAY

18.1
18.2
18.3
18.4

Effect of Force Majeure or Excusable Event

Notice of Occurrence and Contractor Notice Regarding Impact
Suspension and Evacuation Due to Named Windstorms

Labor Impacts

ARTICLE 19 TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION

19.1
19.2
19.3
19.4
19.5
19.6

Owner’s Termination for Convenience
Owner Suspension for Convenience

Default by Contractor

Default by Owner
Cure Rights of L.enders
Contractor General Obligations Upon Suspension

iv



19.7 Contractor General Obligations Upon Termination
19.8 Termination for Delay in FNTP Date
19.9 WAIVER OF CERTAIN RIGHTS
ARTICLE 20 DISPUTE RESOLUTION
20.1 Notice of Dispute
20.2 Informal Dispute Resolution
20.3 Mediation
20.4 Arbitration and Arbitration Procedures
20.5 Entry of Judgment
20.6 Fees and Expenses
20.7 Joinder;_Consolidation
20.8 Confidentiality
20.9 Continuation of Work During Dispute
ARTICLE 21 LIMITATION ON LIABILITY
211 CONTRACTOR OVERALL LIMIT OF LIABILITY
21.2 LIMITATION ON CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE AND OTHER DAMAGES
21.3 APPLICABILITY OF LIABILITY LIMITATIONS
21.4 EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES
ARTICLE 22 NOTICES
22.1 Address Information
22.2 Deliveries of Notices; Revised Notice Information
22.3 Routine/Technical Correspondence
ARTICLE 23 MISCELLANEOUS
23.1 Entire Agreement
23.2 Amendments
23.3 Waiver
23.4 Effect of Review, Acceptance and Inspection
23.5 Governing Law
23.6 Severability
23.7 Assignment and Assumption of Obligations
23.8 Further Assurances
23.9 No Third Party Beneficiaries
23.10 Excluded Interests
23.11 No Advertising
23.12 Survivability
23.13 Ethical Business Considerations
23.14 Counterpart Execution
23.15 Expenses
23.16 Relationship of Parties
23.17 Drafting
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APPENDICES

Appendix A Scope of Work
Attachment A-1  Contractor Design Deliverables
Attachment A-2  Port Arthur Liquefaction Project Environmental Plan
Attachment A-3 Master Document Index
Attachment A-4  Plan View of Limits of Pipeline and Highway 87 Removal
Appendix B Basis of Design
Appendix C Separated Contract Price
Attachment C-1 Form of Sales and Use Tax List
Attachment C-2  Foreign Currency Conversion
Appendix D Payment Schedule
Attachment D-1 Milestone Payment Schedule
Attachment D-2  Estimated Progress Payment Schedule

Appendix E-1 Key Date Schedule

Appendix E-2 CPM Schedule and Detailed Resource Plan
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ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

This ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT is entered into as of February 28,
2020 (the “Effective Date”), between PORT ARTHUR LNG, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Owner”), PALNG
COMMON FACILITIES COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Common Facilities Owner”), but only for
the limited purposes set forth herein, and BECHTEL OIL, GAS AND CHEMICALS, INC., a Delaware corporation
(“Contractor”). Contractor, Owner and Common Facilities Owner are each referred to herein from time to time as a “Party” and
together as the “Parties”.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Owner and the Common Facilities Owner desire to develop and construct a large-scale natural gas
treatment, gas processing and liquefaction facility, including two (2) LNG Trains, two (2) LNG Tanks, with an option for a third
LNG Tank, two (2) marine Berths and associated loading facilities, NGL extraction, storage and delivery facilities, cryogenic
pipelines and infrastructure, utilities and facilities necessary to provide liquefaction services (the “LNG Facility”).

WHEREAS, Owner, Common Facilities Owner and Contractor have previously entered into the Engineering and Design
Services Agreement dated as of August 6, 2018 (together with any Work Authorizations issued thereunder, the “EDSA”),
whereby Contractor has provided and will provide the engineering and other services described therein, and pursuant to which
Contractor has, among other things, developed the Contract Price and the Baseline CPM Schedule.

WHEREAS, Owner, Common Facilities Owner and Contractor have previously entered into the Site Works Services
Agreement dated as of December 20, 2019 (together with any Work Authorizations issued thereunder, the “SWSA”), whereby
Contractor has provided and will provide certain Site preparation and other on-Site services described therein, and pursuant to
which Contractor has, among other things, developed the Contract Price and the Baseline CPM Schedule.

WHEREAS, Owner and Common Facilities Owner desire to engage Contractor to, and Contractor, itself and through its
Suppliers, desires to, provide the engineering, procurement, construction, pre-commissioning, commissioning, start-up, testing
and operating services for the LNG Facility, subject to terms and conditions set forth herein. as described herein on a fixed,
separated price basis.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the agreements herein contained and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Owner, Common Facilities Owner and Contractor
hereby agree as follows:



Article 1

INTRODUCTION, DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Agreement Structure. This Agreement consists of the Terms and Conditions (Articles 1 through 23) and the
Appendices attached hereto (Appendix A through Appendix TT) and the Attachments thereto, each of which is incorporated
herein by this reference.

1.2 Definitions. The following capitalized terms have the respective meanings set forth below, unless the context
requires otherwise:“313 Agreement” means the Agreement for Limitation on Appraised Value of Property for School District
Maintenance and Operations Taxes, dated as of October 24, 2016 (as modified, supplemented, or amended from time to time,
the), by and among Sabine Pass Independent School District, Owner and the Common Facilities Owner (as successor in interest
to Port Arthur LNG Holdings, LLC), together with the related approval of the 313 Agreement by the Texas Comptroller of Public
Accounts, dated October 13, 2016, and the related Certificate for a Limitation on Appraised Value issued by the Texas
Comptroller of Public Accounts to Owner and the Common Facilities Owner (as successor in interest to Port Arthur LNG
Holdings, LL.C) on May 16, 2016 under the provisions of Texas Tax Code Chapter 313.

“AAA” means the American Arbitration Association.

“AAA Rules” means the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules and Mediation Procedures (Including Procedures for
Large, Complex Construction Disputes) of the AAA.

“Abandonment” means prior to Substantial Completion, Contractor has at any time stopped, suspended, or refused to
perform all or substantially all of the remaining Work under this Agreement (including a significant reduction in Contractor
Personnel performing Work to such a degree that objectively evidences the intent not to complete the Work) if such stoppage,
suspension or refusal continues for five (5) consecutive Days or longer and, after notice from Company, Contractor fails to
confirm, within five (5) Days of such notice, its intent to resume performance of the Work within a period of time reasonably
acceptable to Owner, and Contractor fails to resume such performance within such agreed time; provided that Abandonment shall
not include stoppage, suspension or refusal to perform the Work for which Contractor has the express right to do so under the
Agreement.

“Acceleration Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4.4.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person which directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is
under common control with such Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the
terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or otherwise.
Without limiting the foregoing, ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the equity interests of each class holding voting
rights shall be deemed



to be control of a Person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent, the members of Parent and their respective Affiliates shall be
considered Affiliates of Owner and Common Facilities Owner for purposes of this Agreement.

“Agreement” means this Engineering, Procurement and Construction Contract, and all Appendices and Attachments
hereto and thereto, as amended from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Applicable Codes and Standards” means those codes and standards that are applicable to the Liquefaction Project, the
LNG Facility or the Work, under Applicable Laws and as set forth in Appendix A, Appendix B or the Deliverables.

“Applicable L.aws” means (a) all laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, Applicable Codes and Standards
required under Applicable Laws, and executive orders or proclamations by the U.S. President that are enforceable by
Governmental Authorities against the Parties; (b) rules of common law, and judgments, decisions, interpretations, orders,
directives; (c) all Permits and requirements or conditions contained in any Permit, including any condition on or with respect to
the issuance, maintenance, renewal or transfer of any Permit; (d) all Import Laws; and (e) any injunctions, writs, decrees,
stipulations, or awards of any applicable Governmental Authority or duly authorized official, court or arbitrator thereof, in each
case, now existing or, without limiting what may constitute a Change In Law, which may be enacted or issued after the Effective
Date, and that are applicable to the Parties, the Liquefaction Project, the LNG Facility, the Site, any other location where the
Work is performed, or this Agreement or the performance or enforcement hereof.

“Archeological Finds” means discoveries of subsurface fossils, antiquities, biofacts, cultural artifacts, cultural
landscapes, or other archaeological materials or similar items, required to be reported to any Governmental Authority or
protected under Applicable Laws, and which are not disclosed by Owner (including the location thereof) or otherwise known to
Contractor prior to [***].

“As-Built Drawings” means redlined Drawings as prepared in the field that show all current “as-built” conditions, as
required under Attachment A-1 to Appendix A and Appendix U.

“Audit Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.23.2(a).

“Baseline CPM Schedule” means the Level III detailed resource work-hour loaded critical path method schedule that
incorporates all of the Key Date Items and reflects the Milestones, as attached hereto as Appendix E-2.

“Basis of Design” means the basis of design and parameters of the Liquefaction Project and the Work as set forth in
Appendix B.

“Books and Records” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.23.1.



“Berth” means each berth at the LNG Facility for the berthing and Loading of LNG Tankers.

“Bridging LNTP” means the Limited Notice to Proceed authorizing Contractor to proceed with performance of the scope
of the Work as set forth in Attachment NN-1 to Appendix NN.

“Bridging LNTP Date” means the date on which Owner issues the Bridging LNTP.

“British Thermal Unit” and “Btu” means a unit of thermal energy equal to the amount of heat required to raise one (1)
pound of pure water one (1) degree Fahrenheit at Standard Conditions for LNG, or Standard Conditions for Natural Gas, as the
case may be.

“Business Day” means each calendar day, Monday through Friday, excluding U.S. federal banking holidays.
“CAD” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.25.7.

“Capital Spare Parts” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14.3.

“Cargo” means a quantity of LNG expressed in MMBtu to be Loaded onto an LNG Tanker at the LNG Facility.
“Central Time” means U.S. Central Standard Time, as may be adjusted for daylight savings.

“Change in Law” means the enactment, adoption, promulgation or imposition of any new Applicable Laws with different
terms, or the repeal, amendment, or change to, including the binding interpretation, enforcement or application by any
Governmental Authority of, any Applicable Laws that occurs after the date that is [***], which, for purposes of this Agreement
with respect to Taxes, shall include only newly enacted or increases or decreases in Taxes for which Contractor is responsible for
under this Agreement and that are not otherwise excluded below. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Law shall not
include any such enactment, adoption, promulgation, imposition or repeal, amendment, or change in binding interpretation,
enforcement or application: (a) in accordance with a proposed regulatory change that was published prior to the date that is sixty
(60) Days prior to [***] but not yet made effective; (b) that (i) increases or decreases any Taxes, or establishes, imposes or
assesses any new Taxes, on corporate income or profits/losses, or on Construction Equipment; [***]; (iv) any increase or
decrease in, or the establishment, imposition or assessment of new, Texas Sales and Use Taxes, Customs Duties or property Taxes
for which Contractor is not entitled to reimbursement, in each case either because (A) with respect to property Taxes only, title
has not passed to Owner pursuant to Section 11.1.1; or (B) as described in Sections 2.12.4, 7.1, 7.3.2, 7.4 or 7.5.2, including
Taxes on (1) the real property of Owner; and (2) Equipment and materials to be incorporated into, affixed to, or installed into the
LNG Facility; (c) with respect to any purported change in enforcement or application by a Governmental Authority which is
within the discretionary authority of such Governmental Authority where such change in enforcement or




application is triggered by or is in reaction to the fault, act or omission of a member of the Contractor Group; or (d) to the extent
such enactment, adoption, promulgation, imposition or repeal, amendment, or change in binding interpretation, enforcement or
application results wholly or partially from the act or omission of the Party or Affiliates of the Party claiming the Change in Law,
or the affected Party’s or its Affiliates’ noncompliance with any Applicable Laws (other than such non-compliance resulting from
a separate Excusable Event or event of Force Majeure).

“Change Order” means a written order authorizing a change in the Work, or an adjustment to the Contract Price, the
Milestones, the Payment Schedule, the Key Date Schedule, including the Guaranteed Substantial Completion Dates, or the
Guaranteed Performance Levels, as applicable, as a result of the occurrence of one of the events described in Section 8.2.1 or
8.3.1, as agreed in a document substantially in the form of either Appendix F-1, if required to be signed by both of the Parties, or
Appendix F-2, if signed solely by Owner in accordance with Section 8.6.

“CIMTAS” means Cimtas Boru Imalatlari ve Ticaret Limited Sirke.

“Claim” or “Claims” means any and all claims or actions, threatened or filed, that directly or indirectly relate to the
matters in question, including all Losses, whether incurred by settlement or otherwise, and whether such claims or actions are
threatened or filed prior to or after the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, subject to any applicable statutes of
limitation.

“Claim Submission Deadline” means with respect to the occurrence of any Claim Submission Event, the date that is
[***] Days after Contractor first became aware, or should have become aware, of the occurrence of the applicable Claim
Submission Event; provided, that in the case of the occurrence of any such event, if Contractor submits a preliminary Claim to
Owner within such [***] Day period, together with an explanation for why Contractor requires additional time to prepare a final
Claim submission, the Claim Submission Deadline shall be extended for the period of time that Contractor reasonably
demonstrates is necessary to prepare the final Claim submission, but in any event to no more than [***] Days after Contractor
first became aware, or should have become aware, of the occurrence of the Claim Submission Event; provided, however, that
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing:

(a) [***]; and
“Claim Submission Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3.1.

“CO Cost Threshold” means [***].

“Commission” and “FERC” means the U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or any successor agency having
jurisdiction over the LNG Facility and the provision of services by Owner from such LNG Facility.



“Common Facilities” means those portions of the Work that are used or are constructed to be used by more than one (1)
LNG Train, including the Equipment and facilities described in Appendix SS.

“Common Facilities Owner” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Comparable Facilities” means domestic or international LNG facilities of a size, type and design comparable to the
LNG Facility.

“Competitors” means any of the following, including their Affiliates, [***]; provided, however, that notwithstanding that
a Person is included in the foregoing list, Competitors shall not include (a) any such Person or its Affiliates that the Parties have
agreed will act as Owner’s Engineer, subject to such Persons entering into a confidentiality agreement with Owner with
substantially similar terms to those stated in Section 14.2; (b) any Person who has an equity interest in the Liquefaction Project;
and (c) any individual who serves on the governing body of Owner or any of its Affiliates.

“Completions Database” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.3.

“Confidential Information” means either or both of Contractor Confidential Information and Owner Confidential
Information, as the context requires.

“Construction Equipment” means the equipment, machinery, structures, scaffolding, materials, tools, supplies,
consumables, systems and temporary buildings, in each case owned, rented or leased by Contractor or its Subcontractors for use
in accomplishing the Work, but not intended for incorporation into the LNG Facility.

“Contract Price” means the fixed, separated price for all Stages of the Work as indicated in Appendix C, including any
Work performed under a Limited Notice to Proceed, in each case as adjusted from time to time under the provisions of this
Agreement.

“Contractor” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Contractor Confidential Information” means: (a) data and information disclosed by Contractor or another member of
the Contractor Group in the course of performing the Work and that has clearly been identified in writing by the Disclosing Party
as being confidential; provided, however, that in no event shall Contractor Confidential Information include any of the Work
Product (other than Non-Technical Documents) even if marked as confidential; (b) the Non-Technical Documents; or
(c) financial information of Contractor or any other member of the Contractor Group, whether or not marked and identified in
writing as confidential.

“Contractor Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 19.3.1.

“Contractor Group” means Contractor, its Affiliates, its Suppliers, and its and their respective directors, officers,
employees (including agency personnel), consultants, agents and Invitees, but does not include any Owner Group member.



“Contractor Guarantee” means a guarantee executed by the Contractor Guarantor in favor of Owner and the Common
Facilities Owner in the form attached hereto as Appendix Y.

“Contractor Guarantor” means Bechtel Global Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Contractor Guarantor Letter of Credit” has the meaning set forth in Section 17.3.

“Contractor Guarantor Minimum Net Worth” has the meaning set forth in Section 17.3.

“Contractor HSSE Program” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.18.2.

“Contractor Indemnified Parties” means Contractor and its Affiliates and each of their respective officers, directors,
shareholders, employees, agents and advisers.

“Contractor Intellectual Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.3.

“Contractor Key Dates” means the Key Date Items that are obligations of Contractor hereunder and are identified as
“Contractor Key Dates” on Appendix E-1.

“Contractor Lien” means any Lien on the Work, the Site, the LNG Facility, the Liquefaction Project or other property of
Owner or the Common Facilities Owner or any part thereof or interest therein, created by any member of Contractor Group or
otherwise arising as a consequence of Contractor’s performance of the Work.

“Contractor-Furnished Items” means all the Equipment, including spare parts, furnished by or on behalf of Contractor
and its Suppliers to perform the Work and intended to be incorporated into the LNG Facility.

“Contractor Mitigation Plan” means the mitigation plan implemented by Contractor as described in Appendix VV.

“Contractor Permits” means each and every Permit other than the Owner Permits that is required by any Applicable
Laws or that is otherwise necessary for the performance of the Work, including all Permits listed as Contractor Permits on
Appendix J-2 and all:

(a) Permits required to be maintained in Contractor’s or a Supplier’s name;
(b) building Permits required for the construction of the LNG Facility;
(c) labor or health standard Permits and approvals reasonably related to construction of the LNG Facility;

(d) business Permits reasonably related to the conduct of the operations of Contractor and all Subcontractors in
the State of Texas and any other location where such Permits may be required;



(e) Permits, approvals, consents or agreements from or with any Person necessary (including all contractors’
licenses, engineering licenses and related documents) (i) for the performance by Contractor of the Work or its warranty
obligations hereunder; (ii) for the transportation or importation of Equipment; or (iii) for the transportation or importation of
Construction Equipment;

(f) Permits for the temporary Work, disposal Permits necessary to perform Contractor’s Scope of Work, road use
Permits necessary to perform Contractor’s Scope of Work, Permits related to the use, storage and disposal of Hazardous Materials
brought onto the Site by or on behalf of any member of Contractor Group, and Permits issued pursuant to any building,
mechanical, electrical, plumbing or similar Applicable Codes and Standards; and

(g) Permits, visas, approvals and certifications necessary for Contractor’s employees to legally perform the Work
in the State of Texas (including documentation of citizenship or legal residency in the U.S.).

“Contractor Representative” means that Person or Persons designated by Contractor as the Senior Project Manager on
Appendix H or in accordance with Section 2.6.1.

“Corrective Work” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.3.1.

“CPM Schedule” means the most recent Level III critical path method schedule provided by Contractor that meets the
requirements of Section 4.4.1 and Appendix S.

“Credit Rating” means for any Person the senior unsecured long term Dollar debt rating of such Person (without any
form of credit enhancement), as determined by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s.

“Creditworthy Bank” means a commercial bank having at the applicable time: (a) combined total assets of at least [***];
and (b) a Credit Rating of: (i) A- or better from Standard & Poor’s; or (ii) A3 or better from Moody’s; or (iii) if such bank has a
Credit Rating at such time from both Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, A- or better from Standard & Poor’s and A3 or better from
Moody’s.

“Critical Path Item(s)” means the items identified as critical path items on the CPM Schedule.

“Customs Duties” means U.S. import Taxes, customs duties, antidumping duties, countervailing duties, quotas, tariff-rate
quotas, quantitative restrictions and other tariffs, duties, or restrictions imposed under any statutory authority, including
Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962 (as amended), Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 (as amended), Section 201
of the Trade Act of 1974 (as amended), and any additional or different tariffs or quotas on certain imported products and
materials imposed by executive orders or proclamations by the U.S. President that constitute Applicable Laws.

“Daily Quantity” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5.3(d).



“Day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours commencing at midnight Central Time on any calendar day.
“Defect” means any failure of the Work to comply with the standards set out in Section 10.1.1.

“Defective” means that the applicable Work contains a Defect.

“Delay LD Cap” means an amount equal to [***] for Stage I, and an amount equal to [***] for Stage II.

“Delay Liquidated Damages” means any or all of the: (a) Stage I Delay Liquidated Damages; or (b) Stage II Delay
Liquidated Damages.

“Deliverable” means any documentation or written information required to be delivered to Owner pursuant to this
Agreement, including the Drawings and Specifications and design Deliverables as described in Attachment A-1 to Appendix A,
the Plans, and the reports, manuals, schedules and related information, logs, data books, calculations, models, simulations,
manufacturers’ drawings and data as described herein.

“Direct Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.29.1.

“Disclosing Party” means the Party that has disclosed Confidential Information hereunder in accordance with Article 14,
or on whose behalf Confidential Information has been disclosed, and to whom confidentiality obligations are owed with respect
to such Confidential Information pursuant to Article 14.

“Dispute” has the meaning set forth in Article 20.

“Dispute Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 20.1.

“Disputing Parties” has the meaning set forth in Article 20.

“DOE” means the U.S. Department of Energy (or a successor regulatory agency).
“Dollars” and “$” means the lawful currency of the U.S.

“Drawings” means the graphic and pictorial documents (in written or electronic format) showing the design, location and
dimensions of the Work, generally including plans, elevations, sections, details, lists, data sheets and diagrams, which are
prepared as a part of and during the performance of the Work.

“EDSA” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“EDSA/SWSA Funding” means funding to (a) maintain staffing in the home office and at the Site through [***]
consistent with the staffing level as of [***], or consistent with the staffing level as of [***] if after such date; and (b) maintain
the delivery dates of the [***]




assuming the FNTP Date occurs on or before [***], or [***], as applicable under Attachment NN-1 or NN-2 to Appendix NN.

“Effective Date” means the date identified in the opening Preamble of this Agreement and upon which this Agreement
shall become effective and the Parties shall be bound.

“Emissions Guarantee” means the guarantee with respect to emissions as described in Section 3.1 of Appendix G.
“Entergy” means Entergy Texas, Inc. and its successors or assigns.

“Environmental Plan” shall mean the Port Arthur Liquefaction Project Environmental Plan as set forth in Attachment A-
2 to Appendix A, to the extent applicable to the Work, and the policies and procedures described therein with respect to
discoveries of Archeological Finds or Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials.

“Equipment” means any and all materials, supplies, equipment and facilities, of whatever nature, including each LNG
Tank, intended to become a permanent part of the LNG Facility.

“Event of Default” means either a Contractor Event of Default or an Owner Event of Default.

“Exchange Rate” means the last published rate expressed in terms of foreign currency units per one (1) Dollar as quoted
by Bloomberg FX Fixings, as applicable, for the last Business Day immediately preceding the Day on which the conversion is
deemed to be made.

“Extended Bid Validity Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.4(b).

“Excepted Risk” means (i) war (whether declared or undeclared), civil war, act of terrorism, blockade, insurrection; or
(ii) ionizing radiation, or contamination by radioactivity from nuclear fuel, or from any nuclear waste from the combustion of
nuclear fuel properties of any explosive nuclear assembly or nuclear component thereof; or (iii) Named Windstorms which result
in loss or damage in excess of the sublimits with respect to Named Windstorms under the Contractor’s All Risk property
insurance policy(ies) obtained by Contractor pursuant to and in accordance with Article 16 and Appendix MM, and then only to
the extent of such excess.

“Excusable Event” means the occurrence of: (a) an Owner-Caused Delay; (b) a Change In Law; or (c) an Unforeseen
Excused Site Condition; provided, that Excusable Event shall not include any event of Force Majeure.

“Extended Warranty Items” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2.2.

“Feed Gas” means Natural Gas that is provided to be used for processing to produce LNG, not including Fuel Gas.
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“Feed Gas Specifications” means the pressure, temperature and quality specifications for Feed Gas set forth in Table 6 of
Appendix B, and the Process Basis of Design (PAL-T-PRO-BOD-00-GEN-0002) as referenced in Appendix B.

“FEIS” means the final environmental impact statement for the Liquefaction Project.

“FERC Order” means Order No. 167 FERC 61,052 issued by the FERC on April 18, 2019 with respect to the FERC
Construction and Operating Authorization issued under Section 3 of the Natural Gas Act, as set forth in Appendix J-1.

“Final Acceptance” means, with respect to a Stage, that the following conditions have been satisfied for the applicable
Stage:

(a) Substantial Completion of such Stage shall have occurred;

(b) such Stage shall have satisfied the Noise Guarantee, or if the Performance Tests for such Stage failed to
demonstrate that such Stage satisfied the Noise Guarantee, FERC shall have agreed that Contractor has demonstrated to FERC’s
satisfaction through the Noise Model or other information that such Stage satisfies the Noise Guarantee;

(c) Contractor shall have completed all Punch List Items with respect to such Stage in accordance with this
Agreement, unless Owner has notified Contractor in accordance with Section 9.9.4 that Owner has elected to complete the Punch
List Items with respect to such Stage;

(d) Contractor shall have satisfied each of the Guaranteed Performance Levels, except to the extent that a
Guaranteed Performance Levels Correction Period and a GPL Correction Plan is in effect in accordance with Section 9.10.2;
provided that with respect to any Guaranteed Performance Levels for which a Guaranteed Performance Levels Correction Period
and GPL Correction Plan is in effect, such Stage shall meet the Emissions Guarantees and the Minimum Performance Standards
for such Guaranteed Performance Levels based on the last Performance Test conducted with respect to such Guaranteed
Performance Levels;

(e) Contractor shall have fully complied with its obligations under Section 2.11.10 following Substantial
Completion of a Stage, including the removal of all of Contractor’s and Suppliers’ personnel, supplies, equipment, Hazardous
Materials for which Contractor is responsible under Section 2.17.2 or 2.17.3, waste materials, rubbish and temporary facilities
from the areas of the Site related to that Stage, except for such personnel and Construction Equipment needed to fulfill
Contractor’s obligations during the Warranty Period, as agreed to by Owner;

(f) all warranty Work identified prior to the date of Final Acceptance shall have been completed, or the Parties
shall have agreed on a plan for completion of such warranty Work in accordance with Article 10;
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(g) to the extent that the Warranty Period, as extended, has expired, Contractor shall have assigned to Owner all
Supplier warranties required to be assigned to Owner as of such date pursuant to Section 10.2.1;

(h) all Record As-Built Drawings for such Stage shall have been completed and issued by Contractor, and
delivered to Owner;

(i) with respect to such Stage, Owner shall have received: (i) all Deliverables required by Appendix A; and
(ii) all test data and other technical information and Deliverables required under this Agreement;

(j) with respect to such Stage, Owner shall have received final O&M Manuals and instruction books as are
necessary to operate the LNG Facility with respect to such Stage in a safe, efficient and effective manner, including as specified
in Appendix U;

(k) Owner shall have received from Contractor each Contractor Permit, if any, that is required for continuous use
and operation of such Stage (all such Permits to be in Owner’s name or to have been assigned to Owner, in accordance with
Applicable Laws) and, to the extent any Contractor Permit is required to be “closed out” or a similar process is required by the
applicable Governmental Authority, Contractor shall have complied with all such requirements for such Contractor Permits;

(1) no Contractor Event of Default shall exist; and

(m) all of Contractor’s representations and warranties contained in Sections 13.1.6, 13.1.7, 13.1.10 and 23.13
shall be true and correct, or shall be cured to be true and correct, and Contractor shall have performed its obligations under its
covenants and agreements in Section 23.13.

“Final Acceptance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Appendix CC.

“Final Acceptance Date” means, with respect to a Stage, the date on which Final Acceptance of such Stage occurs: (a) as
set forth on a Final Acceptance Certificate that has been countersigned by Owner; (b) as determined in accordance with
Article 20; or (c) as otherwise agreed by the Parties.

“Final Completion” means that the following conditions have been satisfied:
(a) Final Acceptance of each of Stage I and Stage II shall have occurred;

(b) if a Guaranteed Performance Levels Correction Period was in effect for a Stage, such Guaranteed
Performance Levels Correction Period shall have expired as to such Stage, and, based on the results of the last Performance Tests
conducted with respect to such Stage, such Stage shall have either (i)(A) met the Emissions Guarantees and all of the Guaranteed
Performance Levels applicable to such Stage pursuant to Appendix G; or (B) met the Emissions Guarantees and satisfied at least
the Minimum Performance Standard with respect to
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all Guaranteed Performance Levels for which Contractor has not achieved the Guaranteed Performance Levels; and
(ii) Contractor shall have paid all applicable Performance Liquidated Damages in accordance with Section 9.10.6;

(c) all warranty Work identified prior to the date of Final Completion shall have been completed, or the Parties
shall have agreed on a plan for completion of such warranty Work in accordance with Article 10;

(d) to the extent that the Warranty Period, as extended, has expired, Contractor shall have delivered to Owner for
its acceptance a copy of the assignment of all Supplier warranties required to be assigned to Owner, assigned by Contractor, as of
such date pursuant to Section 10.2.1;

(e) Owner shall have received from Contractor the final statement with respect to Texas Sales and Use Taxes in
accordance with Section 7.5.3;

(f) Owner shall have received a statement from Contractor summarizing and reconciling all invoices submitted
prior to the date of this Final Completion Certificate, payments and Change Orders;

(g) Contractor shall have fully complied with its obligations under Section 2.11.10, including the removal of all
of Contractor’s and Suppliers’ personnel, supplies, equipment, Hazardous Materials for which Contractor is responsible under
Section 2.17.2 or 2.17.3, waste materials, rubbish and temporary facilities from the Site, except for such personnel and
Construction Equipment needed to fulfill Contractor’s obligations during the Warranty Period, as agreed to by Owner;

(h) Owner shall have received from Contractor and each Major Supplier a Final Lien and Claim Waiver, or a
Final Unconditional Lien and Claim Waiver, as applicable, covering all of the Work in accordance with Section 6.3.5 or 6.6;

(i) an affidavit of completion of the Work that complies with the requirements of Texas Prop. Code
Section 53.106 and is otherwise in form and substance acceptable to Owner shall have been filed in the records of Jefferson
County of the State of Texas no later than ten (10) Days after the Final Acceptance Date of the last Stage to achieve Final
Acceptance, and Contractor shall have provided Owner with a copy of such recorded affidavit;

(j) no Contractor Event of Default shall exist; and

(k) all of Contractor’s representations and warranties contained in Sections 13.1.6, 13.1.7, 13.1.10 and 23.13
shall be true and correct, or shall have been cured to be true and correct, and Contractor shall have performed its obligations
under its covenants and agreements in Section 23.13.

“Final Completion Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Appendix DD.
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“Final Completion Date” means the date on which Final Completion occurs: (a) as set forth on a Final Completion
Certificate that has been countersigned by Owner; (b) as determined in accordance with Article 20; or (c) as otherwise agreed by
the Parties.

“Final Invoice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6.

“Final Lien and Claim Waiver” means the waiver and release provided to Owner by Contractor or a Major Supplier in
accordance with the requirements of Section 6.6, which shall be in the form of Appendix GG-1 for Contractor and in the form of
Appendix GG-2 for such Major Supplier, or, if another form is required under Applicable Law for a final lien and claim waiver to
accomplish the waivers and releases contemplated by Appendix GG-1 or Appendix GG-2, as applicable, in the form required
under Applicable Law.

“Final L.oading Window” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6.3.

“Final Unconditional Lien and Claim Waiver” means the unconditional waiver and release provided to Owner by
Contractor or a Major Supplier in accordance with the requirements of Section 6.6, which shall be in the form of Appendix HH-1
for Contractor and in the form of Appendix HH-2 for such Major Supplier, or, if another form is required under Applicable Law
for a final unconditional lien and claim waiver to accomplish the waivers and releases contemplated by Appendix HH-1 or
Appendix HH-2, as applicable, in the form required under Applicable Law.

“First Source Referral Agreement” means the First Source Referral Agreement dated June 12, 2019 between Owner
and the City of Port Arthur.

“First-Tier Supply Contract” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.3(b).
“Fixed Asset Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6.

“FNTP Date” means the date, subject to Section 6.2.6, on which the Full Notice to Proceed as issued by Owner becomes
effective in accordance with its terms, which effective date shall be set forth in the Full Notice to Proceed when issued by Owner
and which date shall in any event shall not be any sooner than five (5) Business Days after the date on which Owner issues the
Full Notice to Proceed.

“Force Majeure” means any event that meets all of the following criteria: (a) the event and its effects are not within the
reasonable control, directly or indirectly, of the Party affected, and, in the case of Contractor, is beyond the reasonable control of
the Contractor Group (it being understood that if an event is within the reasonable control of an affected Person, the direct
consequences thereof shall also deemed to be within such Person’s reasonable control); (b) the event and its effects are
unavoidable or could not be prevented, overcome or removed by the commercially reasonable efforts and due diligence of the
Party claiming the Force Majeure event (and, in the case of Contractor, the Suppliers), including the expenditure of reasonable
sums of money or the pursuit of alternative means of performance; and (c) the event and its effects do not
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result from such Party’s negligence or fault (or, in the case of Contractor, the negligence or fault of the Suppliers);
provided that and subject to the event meeting all of the criteria described above, Force Majeure events include:
(i) Unusually Severe Weather, earthquake, landslide, or other acts of God,;

(ii) fire, explosion, accident, destruction of facilities, plant or Equipment, structural collapse or
chemical contamination, in each case in the case of Contractor or any Supplier not being due to:

(A) Defects in the LNG Facility or any Equipment;
(B) the failure to construct the LNG Facility in accordance with this Agreement; or

(C) damage to or destruction of the LNG Facility due to the actions or omissions of Contractor or
any Supplier;

(iii) act of war (whether declared or undeclared), invasion, armed conflict, revolution, sabotage,
terrorism or threat thereof, piracy on the high seas, perils of the sea which could not be reasonably foreseen and guarded against,
in each case, as probable incidents of the intended voyage, riot, civil war, blockade, embargo, expropriation or confiscation by a
Governmental Authority (other than as a result of any violation of Applicable Law), insurrection, acts of public enemies, civil
disturbances, epidemics or pandemics;

(iv) national or regional strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances that are not solely
directed at Contractor or a Supplier(s), or both; and

(v) delays by a Governmental Authority in issuing a Permit, but only to the extent such delay was
not due to the acts or omissions of Contractor or its Suppliers;

provided, however, that the Parties expressly agree that the following shall not constitute Force Majeure:

(1) the non-availability or lack of funds or failure to pay money when due;

(2) economic hardship, including Contractor’s ability to sell its services at a higher or more advantageous
price than the Contract Price;

(3) the cost, shortage or unavailability of labor;
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(4) the mere shortage of Equipment (including delays of Vendors in supplying same) and commodities or
materials or normal wear and tear or flaws in materials or breakdowns in equipment, unless caused by circumstances that are
themselves Force Majeure events;

(5) strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances other than those described in subclause (iv) above;

(6) all weather conditions and events caused by or resulting from any weather conditions, including due
to acts of God, other than Unusually Severe Weather;

(7) the condition of the Site or any Site Conditions encountered by Contractor or a Supplier, but without
limiting the rights of Contractor hereunder with respect to Unforeseen Excused Site Conditions and excluding physical conditions
of the Site created as a result of a Force Majeure Event;

(8) general economic or industry conditions that increase the cost of the Work or otherwise impact the
performance of the Work;

(9) the mere declaration of an emergency or disaster by any Governmental Authority; provided that the
underlying circumstance or event that led to such declaration may itself constitute a Force Majeure event if the event satisfies the
definition of a Force Majeure event;

(10) late delivery of Equipment, unless caused by circumstances that are themselves Force Majeure
events;

(11) failure of any of Contractor’s Suppliers to perform, unless caused by circumstances that are
themselves Force Majeure events; and

(12) any matter reviewed and deemed accepted by Contractor pursuant to Section 2.4, but without
limiting the rights of Contractor hereunder with respect to Unforeseen Excused Site Conditions.

“Foreign Currency Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.9.

“Foreign-Trade Zone” or “FTZ” means a foreign-trade zone under the Foreign-Trade Zones Act of 1934 (19 U.S.C.
81a-81u), as amended to date.

“Fuel Gas” means Natural Gas to be used in connection with the performance of the Work that is intended to be
consumed by Equipment.

“Full Cargo” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6.1.

“Full Notice to Proceed” means a notice to be delivered by Owner to Contractor that Contractor may commence the
performance of all of the Work, in the form provided in Appendix JJ.

16



“Fully Functional” means native electronic files prepared using the software as described in Appendix U that has not
been corrupted, is virus-free and malware-free, and is not password protected.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.

“General Services Subcontracts” means (a) Subcontracts under which the relevant Subcontractor: (i) does not supply
Equipment or other Contractor-Furnished Items; (ii) does not provide services or perform any part of the Work that is a necessary
precursor (including Subcontracts for grading or welding services) to successfully install the Equipment or other Contractor-
Furnished Items; and (iii) is not an Affiliate of Contractor; and (b) such Subcontract: (i) is fully assignable to Owner without the
consent of the Subcontractor that is a party to such Subcontract in the event Contractor is terminated pursuant to this Agreement
for any reason; and (ii) the value of such Subcontract, in the aggregate based on all Supply Contracts with each such
Subcontractor and its Affiliates, is less than [***].

“Geotechnical Reports” means the geotechnical data described in Table 3 of Appendix B.

“Good Engineering and Construction Practices” or “GECP” means the generally accepted practices, methods, skills,
care, techniques and standards employed in the LNG industry, that are commonly used by a skilled and experienced Person
exercising that degree of professional skill, diligence and judgment that would ordinarily be expected to be used in prudent
engineering, procurement and construction to safely design, construct, pre-commission, commission, start-up and test
Comparable Facilities, in accordance with Applicable Laws and Applicable Codes and Standards, as such practices and methods
are appropriate in the circumstances for the LNG Facility and the Liquefaction Project.

“Governmental Authority” means: (a) any governmental body, or any subdivision, agency, court, commission (including
the Commission) or authority thereof, of any nation or state, region or local jurisdiction, or any quasi-governmental body
exercising any regulatory or taxing authority thereunder, including with respect to the United States, the United States Coast
Guard, U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Transportation Safety
Administration, including PHMSA, U.S. Customs and Border Protection and the U.S. Department of Homeland Security; and
(b) the Sabine Neches Navigation District.

“Government Official” means an official of a Governmental Authority, a candidate for political office, an official of a
political party, a political party and an employee of a public international organization.

“GPL Correction Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.10.2.

“Guaranteed Performance Levels” means for each Stage the guaranteed performance levels for the LNG Production
Rate, the Fuel Consumption Rate, Specific Power Consumption, Electric Power Consumption Rate and the Ship Loading Rate,
each as described in Appendix G.
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“Guaranteed Performance Levels Correction Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.10.2.
“Guaranteed Stage I Substantial Completion Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2.1(a).

“Guaranteed Stage II Substantial Completion Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2.1(b).

“Guaranteed Substantial Completion Date” means, as the context provides, either the Guaranteed Stage I Substantial
Completion Date, or the Guaranteed Stage II Substantial Completion Date, and “Guaranteed Substantial Completion Dates”
means the Guaranteed Stage I Substantial Completion Date and the Guaranteed Stage II Substantial Completion Date,
collectively.

“Hazardous Materials” means any substance that under Applicable Laws is considered to be hazardous or toxic or is or
may be required to be remediated, including: (a) any petroleum or petroleum products, radioactive materials, asbestos in any
form that is or could become friable, transformers or other equipment that contain dielectric fluid containing polychlorinated
biphenyls and processes and certain cooling systems that use chlorofluorocarbons; (b) any chemicals, materials or substances
which are now or hereafter become defined as or included in the definition of “hazardous substances,” “hazardous wastes,”
“hazardous materials,” “extremely hazardous wastes,” “restricted hazardous wastes,” “toxic substances,” “toxic pollutants,” or
any words of similar import pursuant to Applicable Laws; or (c) any other chemical, material, substance or waste, exposure to
which is now or hereafter prohibited, limited or regulated by any Governmental Authority, or which may be the subject of
liability for damages, costs or remediation.

3 <« » <« <

“HAZOP” means hazardous operations.
“HUB/DBE Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.10.
“Impact Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2.2.

“Import Law” means all U.S. import laws, regulations, tariffs, duties and restrictions, that impose additional or different
Customs Duties from those Customs Duties in effect [***], and all other such measures adopted by Governmental Authorities
with jurisdiction over such matters.

“Indemnitee” means an Owner Indemnified Party or a Contractor Indemnified Party, as the case may be.

“Indemnitor” means a Party required to provide indemnification to an Indemnitee under this Agreement.

“Independent Engineer” means any technical consultant, environmental consultant or engineering firm appointed to
represent the Lenders.
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“Infrastructure Relocation” means the relocation of the portion of Texas State Highway 87 which is presently located
on part of the Site.

“Initial Production Date” means, for each LNG Train, the first Day that LNG is produced by such LNG Train and
delivered to an LNG storage tank during the commissioning and start-up of such LNG Train under this Agreement.

“Initial Tanker” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6.5.

and Contractor will support as part of the Work in accordance with the requirements of Appendix II.

“Intellectual Property” means patents, trademarks, service marks, copyrights, applications for any of the preceding, any
foreign counterparts to and divisionals, provisionals, reversions, continuations, continuations-in-part, reissues, reexaminations,
renewals and extensions of any of the foregoing, trade secrets and other forms of comparable property rights protected by any
Applicable Laws.

“Interim Lien and Claim Waiver” means the waiver and release provided to Owner by Contractor or a Major Supplier
in accordance with the requirements of Section 6.3.5, which shall be in the form of Appendix EE-1 for Contractor and in the form
of Appendix EE-2 for such Major Supplier, or, if another form is required under Applicable Law for an interim lien and claim

required under Applicable Law.

“Interim Unconditional Lien and Claim Waiver” means the unconditional waiver and release provided to Owner by
Contractor or a Major Supplier in accordance with the requirements of Section 6.3.5, which shall be in the form of Appendix FF-
1 for Contractor and in the form of Appendix FF-2 for such Major Supplier, or, if another form is required under Applicable Law
for an interim unconditional lien and claim waiver to accomplish the waivers and releases contemplated by Appendix FF-1 or
Appendix FF-2, as applicable, in the form required under Applicable Law.

“Invitee” means a third party invited to the Site by a Party in connection with the Work. Owner’s Invitees shall not
include any Contractor Group members and the Other Contractors. Contractor’s Invitees shall not include any Owner Group
members.

“Inveice” means Contractor’s request for a payment pursuant to Section 6.3.1 and pursuant to Section 6.6 for final
payment, which invoice shall be in the form of Appendix V-1 for Milestone Payments and Progress Payments, and Appendix V-2
for final payment.

“ISO” means the International Organization for Standardization and the standards developed by such organization, as
applicable.
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“Key Date Item(s)” means a discrete portion of the Work to be completed by the applicable date set forth in the Key Date
Schedule.

“Key Date Schedule” means the listing of dates attached as Appendix E-1, including the Guaranteed Substantial
Completion Dates, describing the dates of completion of each Key Date Item and for completion of the Work by Contractor, as
amended from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

“Key Personnel” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6.1.

“KPIs” means the key performance indicators associated with compliance with Contractor’s obligations under the Local
Engagement Program and Section 2.7.10, as developed by the Parties in accordance with Appendix WW.

“Late Payment Rate” means, with respect to any payment due hereunder, the lesser of: (a) the sum of (i) the rate of
interest published as the “prime rate” for Dollars in The Wall Street Journal, on the payment due date, and then on the first
Business Day of each Month thereafter in which such Late Payment Rate applies until the applicable payment is made, plus
(ii) two hundred (200) basis points; and (b) the maximum rate of interest allowed by Applicable Laws.

“Lenders” means the lenders, export credit agencies, multilateral institutions, bond investors, noteholders, underwriters,
hedge providers and other entities or institutions who provide or commit to provide any portion of any financing to develop and
construct the LNG Facility or any portion or Stage thereof, and any Lenders’ Agent acting on behalf of such lenders, export
credit agencies, multilateral institutions, bond investors, noteholders, underwriters, hedge providers and other entities or
institutions.

“Lenders’ Agent” means any representative, collateral agent, trustee, agent or other designee acting on behalf of any
Lender in connection with any financing of the LNG Facility or any portion or Stage thereof.

“Letter of Credit” has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2.

“License” means the Liquefaction Technology License and a sublicense of BASF SE technology.
“Licensor” means each of the Liquefaction Technology Licensor and BASF SE.

“Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge, adverse claim, proprietary right, collateral assignment, security interest,
title retention, preferential right or trust arrangement or any other security agreement or arrangement having the effect of security,
including worker’s, mechanic’s, vendor’s, materialmen’s, laborers’, subcontractors’ and vendors’ liens.

“Limited Notice to Proceed” or “LNTP” means a notice issued by Owner and signed by Contractor authorizing
Contractor to commence performing the Work as described in the notice, in the form as set forth in Appendix NN.
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“Liquefaction Project” means the development, construction and completion of the LNG Facility.

“Liquefaction Technology License” means the license agreement contained within the purchase agreement between
Contractor and the Liquefaction Technology Licensor with respect to the process technology utilized in the LNG Trains.

“Liquefaction Technology Licensor” means Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.

“Liquefied Natural Gas” and “LNG” means Natural Gas in a liquid state at a temperature that is at or below its point of
boiling and at or near atmospheric pressure.

“LNG Production Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6.1.

“LNG Specifications” means those Specifications for LNG set forth in Appendix B.

“LNG Tank” means each of the LNG storage tanks that will be procured and installed as part of the Work.

“LNG Tanker” means any ocean-going vessel used by Owner, a customer of the LNG Facility or their respective
designees for the transportation of LNG.

“LNG Facility” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
“LNG Train” means a Natural Gas pre-treatment and LNG liquefaction unit.

“Load” or other derivatives means the receipt, loading or transport of a quantity of LNG from the LNG Facility, utilizing
LNG Tankers.

“Loading Window” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.6.1.

“Local Engagement Program” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.10.

“Local Labor” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.10.
“Local Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.10.

“Losses” means, without limiting the application of Article 21, any and all liabilities (including liabilities arising out of
the application of the doctrine of strict liability), obligations, losses, damages, penalties, claims, actions, suits, judgments, costs,
expenses and disbursements, whether any of the foregoing be founded or unfounded (including legal fees and expenses, costs of
investigation, and experts’ fees and court costs), and whether arising in equity, at common law, or by statute, or under the law of
contracts, torts or property, of whatsoever kind and nature, including claims for property damage, personal injury (including
emotional distress) and economic loss, and whether or not involving damage to the Equipment, the LNG Facility or the Site.
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“Major Purchase Order” means any Purchase Order entered into with any Person that is either: (a) a Purchase Order
having an aggregate value in excess of [***]; or (b) one (1) of multiple Purchase Orders with one (1) Vendor that have an
aggregate value in excess of [***].

“Major Subcontract” means any Subcontract with any Person that is either: (a) a Subcontract having an aggregate value

in excess of [***]; or (b) one (1) of multiple Subcontracts with one (1) Subcontractor that have an aggregate value in excess of
[***]_

“Major Subcontractor” means any Subcontractor with whom Contractor or another Subcontractor enters, or intends to
enter, into a Major Subcontract.

“Major Supplier” means any Major Subcontractor or Major Vendor.
“Major Vendor” means any Vendor with whom Contractor enters, or intends to enter, into a Major Purchase Order.
“Material Adverse Change” has the meaning set forth in Section 17.3.

“Maximum Liability Cap” means an amount equal to [***], which amount shall be increased by [***] of the amount of
the related adjustment to the Contract Price in connection with the exercise of any Scope Options.

“Maximum LNTP Payment Amount” means the maximum amount that Owner may be obligated to pay to Contractor
for the performance of Work pursuant to a Limited Notice to Proceed, as set forth in the Limited Notice to Proceed, and which, if
this Agreement is terminated prior to the FNTP Date, shall include the cancellation costs as set forth in the Limited Notice to
Proceed.

“Mechanical Completion” or “Mechanically Complete” means with respect to a System that:

(a) the construction Work with respect to such System shall have been completed except for Punch List Items
that are permitted to be completed subsequently in accordance with Section 9.9.1, such System shall have been pre-
commissioned in accordance with the pre-commissioning plan as agreed pursuant to Section 9.1.1, and such System shall have
been turned over from Contractor's construction group to Contractor's commissioning and start-up group;

(b) all Punch List A Items with respect to such System shall have been completed,;

(c) installation of all Equipment that is part of such System, including piping and instruments, shall have
been completed such that commissioning and start-up operations will not be adversely affected, and (i) insurance requirements;
and (ii) requirements of
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Applicable Laws and in accordance with GECP, in each case with respect to commissioning and start-up of such System, shall
have been satisfied;

(d) all mechanical seals, permanent packing and accessories with respect to such System shall have been
installed as required, except as restricted by commissioning activities;

(e) all temporary supports, bracing or other foreign objects that were installed in Equipment that is part of such
System to prevent damage during shipment, storage or erection shall have been removed;

(f) the System shall have been (i) cleared and available for commissioning and start-up activities; and
(ii) chemically cleaned and flushed where required;

(g) all temporary filters, strainers, blinds and screens shall have been removed and Equipment that is part of such
System shall have been restored, except in each case where such items are necessary for commissioning and start-up activities;

(h) all inner packing materials (such as sand, gravel, balls and saddles) shall have been properly installed with
respect to such System as specified by the relevant Supplier’s recommendations;

(i) all mixed bed containing chemicals, resins, desiccants, catalysts or other operating materials with respect to
such System shall have been properly installed as specified by the relevant Supplier’s recommendations;

(j) all Equipment and subsystems that are part of such System shall have been hydro or pneumatically tested,
lubricated and all preservation requirements shall have been performed, maintained and recorded, and continuity and loop checks
for all instrumentation and controls, including hazard controls and security components, shall have been completed, to verify that
they have been correctly installed;

(k) construction completion turnover packages for such System shall have been prepared with sign-offs from
Contractor's construction group and Contractor's commissioning and start-up group and shall contemporaneously have been made
available to Owner; and

(I) commissioning procedures for such System shall have been finalized in accordance with Section 9.3.4(a) and
are ready for use by Contractor.

“Mechanical Completion Certificate” means a certificate in the form of Appendix Z.

“Mechanical Completion Date” means, with respect to a Stage, the date on which the last System has achieved
Mechanical Completion in accordance with Section 9.2.2.

“Milestone” means a discrete portion of the Work identified as a Milestone on the Payment Schedule.
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“Milestone Payment” means the portion of the Contract Price allocated to achievement of each Milestone on the
Payment Schedule.

“Minimum Performance Standards” means for each Stage the performance levels for the LNG Production Rate, Fuel
Consumption Rate, Specific Power Consumption, Electric Power Consumption Rate and the Ship Looading Rate set out in
Appendix G.

“MMBtu” means one million (1,000,000) Btu.

“Month” means the period beginning on the first calendar day of a calendar month and ending immediately prior to the
beginning of the first calendar day of the next succeeding calendar month.

“Month IL.ook-Ahead Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Appendix S.

“Monthly Status Reports” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.22.1(d).

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investor Services, Inc. or any successor rating agency thereof.,

“Named Windstorms” means an atmospheric disturbance marked by high winds, with or without precipitation, including
such events as hurricanes, typhoons, monsoons, cyclones, rainstorms, tempests, hailstorms, tornados, or any combination of the
foregoing events, which in each case is identified by name by any meteorological Governmental Authority, such as the U.S.
National Weather Service, National Hurricane Center or the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, including any
resulting flood, tidal, wave action or water damage.

“Natural Gas” means any hydrocarbon or mixture of hydrocarbons consisting primarily of methane and other paraffinic
hydrocarbons and non-combustible gases in a gaseous state.

“Natural Gas Transfer Point” means any point of interconnection between any Natural Gas pipeline and the LNG
Facility.

“NGL.” means liquid and liquefied heavy hydrocarbons, consisting primarily of pentane and heavier hydrocarbons,
separated from the Feed Gas and delivered as a separate product from the LNG produced by the LNG Trains.

“Noise Guarantee” means the guarantee with respect to noise levels as described in Section 3.2 of Appendix G.

“Noise Model” means the model and methodology developed by Contractor, to demonstrate that the noise contributed
from Stage I or the LNG Facility, as applicable, does not exceed the Noise Guarantee, as part of Contractor’s noise test
procedures in accordance with Appendix G.
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“Non-Bridging LNTP” means the Limited Notice to Proceed authorizing Contractor to proceed with performance of the
scope of the Work as set forth in Attachment NN-2 to Appendix NN.

“Non-Bridging LNTP Date” means the date on which Owner issues the Non-Bridging LNTP.

“Non-Technical Documents” means (a) the Project Execution Plan; (b) the Information Management Plan as set forth in
Appendix IT (including the Attachments thereto); (c) any estimating or pricing methodologies or estimating or pricing
information of Contractor or its Subcontractors relating to the Work, including the Contract Price; (d) inspection and test plans
(ITPs); and (e) native files of the Baseline CPM Schedule and CPM Schedule; provided that native files shall not mean PDF
format copies of the Baseline CPM Schedule or CPM Schedule.

“Non-Verified Information” means the information as described in Appendix N.

“O&M Manuals” means the operation and maintenance and procedures manuals to be developed by Contractor or an
Affiliate thereof in respect of each Stage as set forth in Appendix U.

“Operating Personnel” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16.1.

[***]'

“Other Contractors” means all other Persons (including contractors and subcontractors) with whom Owner or any
Owner Group member, or any of Owner Group’s Other Contractors, enters into a contract or agreement for the acquisition of
goods, services, utilities or technology, (but not including Contractor Group members or Owner) that perform any physical work
or activities at the Site.

“Owner” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“Owner Change Order Review Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5.4.

“Owner Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1.

“Owner Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 19.4.1.

“Owner Group” means Owner, the Common Facilities Owner, Parent and the immediate shareholders or members of
Parent, the Affiliates of each of the preceding Persons, the Owner’s Engineer, the Lenders, the Independent Engineer, and the
Other Contractors and its and their respective directors, officers, managers, employees (including any individuals other than
Competitors engaged by Owner as part of its staff augmentation plans, subject to such Persons entering into a confidentiality
agreement with Owner), consultants, agents and Invitees, but in no event shall Owner Group include any Contractor Group
member.
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“Owner HSSE Program” means those health, safety, security and environmental plans and procedures of Owner as
described in Appendix QQ, as those plans and procedures may be updated from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

“Owner Indemnified Parties” means Owner, the Common Facilities Owner, Parent and the immediate shareholders or
members of Parent, the Affiliates of each of the preceding Persons, Owner’s Engineer, the Lenders and the Independent Engineer,
and such Persons’ respective directors, officers, managers, employees (including agency personnel), consultants, agents and
Invitees.

“Owner Intellectual Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.4.

“Owner Permits” means each and every Permit listed a on Appendix J-1, together with such other Permits as Owner
shall obtain in accordance with Section 2.10.2.

“Owner Representative” means the individual appointed by Owner under Section 3.4 or any substitute appointed in
accordance with Section 3.4.

“Owner-Caused Delay” means the occurrence of any of the following, other than as a result of or due to the acts or
omissions of Contractor or any other member of the Contractor Group: (a) Owner’s failure to perform any of the obligations of
Owner set forth in the Key Date Schedule by the date specified therein; provided, however, that if Contractor’s notice delivered
to Owner pursuant to Section 9.5.3 does not require delivery of Feed Gas (including for use as Fuel Gas) until after the date by
which Owner is scheduled to deliver the first Feed Gas under the Key Date Schedule, the date set forth in the Key Date Schedule
shall automatically be adjusted to the latest date on which Contractor requests the first delivery of such Feed Gas; (b) Owner’s
request under Section 2.24.5(b) for Contractor to uncover Work that has been properly covered, if the covered Work is found to
be in accordance with the terms of this Agreement upon inspection; (c) Owner’s failure to witness inspections and tests that have
been expressly designated as hold points where Contractor may not proceed with the inspection or test unless Owner is present;
provided that Contractor has provided notice to Owner of such inspections and tests in accordance with Section 2.24; (d) Owner’s
refusal to submit an application pursuant to Section 2.10.2(c) within thirty (30) days after Contractor’s submission to Owner of
documentation or information or Owner’s unreasonable rejection of, such submission for a modification or amendment to an
Owner Permit prepared by Contractor in accordance with Section 2.10.2; provided that such submission for modification or
amendment (i) is complete, includes all supporting documentation required by the applicable Governmental Authority and
otherwise complies with the requirements of Applicable Laws; and (ii) amends or modifies only those aspects of the Owner
Permit as Owner had previously agreed; (e) Owner’s failure to allow Contractor to perform Work on a Stage which has achieved
Substantial Completion in accordance with a schedule and plan for performance of such Work that has been accepted by Owner
pursuant to Section 2.11.2; (f) Owner’s failure to respond to a Mechanical Completion Certificate for a Stage, a Ready for Start-
Up Certificate for a Stage, or a Substantial Completion Certificate for a Stage, within the period provided in Section 9.2.2, 9.4.2
or 9.8, respectively; (g) Owner’s suspension of the Work under Section 19.2 or Section 4.1.1; (h) any change to or errors or
inaccuracies in any Non-Verified Information; (i) subject to Contractor having
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identified its off-Site laydown area within Jefferson County, Texas prior to the Bridging LNTP Date, Owner’s failure to designate
Contractor’s off-Site laydown area within Jefferson County, Texas as part of the FTZ or the FTZ, once activated, does not include
Contractor’s selected laydown yard(s) in Jefferson County, Texas; (j) subject to Contractor’s compliance with the requirements of
Section 2.28, delays to the performance of the Work caused by Other Contractors performing work on the Site; provided that
Contractor has promptly notified Owner of such delay in accordance with Section 2.28, Owner has had a reasonable opportunity
to attempt to resolve the situation with the Other Contractor, and the Other Contractor continues to interfere with Contractor’s
performance of the Work; (k) the circumstances set forth in Sections 2.8.5, 2.17.5, 2.18.4 and 2.18.7; (1) Contractor’s correction
of Work in connection with Section 2.21.1 at Owner’s request that is subsequently determined not to have been Defective; and

“Owner-Furnished Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3.1.

“Owner’s Engineer” means Wood Group, Moffatt and Nichols, Burns and McDonnell, WorleyParsons Limited (or its
Affiliate), Faithful and Gould, and KBR, Inc. (or its Affiliate); provided that KBR, Inc. (or its Affiliate) shall only be an Owner’s
Engineer with respect to information management matters (including with respect to the matters discussed in Appendices U and
II (including any Attachments thereto)), and other technical consultation, but not including construction support, and shall not
have access to the Non-Technical Documents other than Contractor’s information management plan.

“Parent” means Port Arthur Liquefaction Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the direct owner of
100% of the equity interests in Owner.

“Party” and “Parties” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Payment Schedule” means the schedule that sets out the payments to be made to Contractor upon the completion of
various Milestones and progress of the Work, as set forth in Appendix D.

“Performance Conditions” means the “average gas” and “average ambient temperature” conditions as set forth in
Appendix B.

“Performance Liquidated Damages” has the meaning set forth in Appendix G.

“Performance LD Cap” means for Stage I, an amount equal to [***], and for Stage II, an amount equal to [***], in each
case as adjusted in connection with any Change Orders that adjust the Guaranteed Performance Levels, as applicable.

“Performance Test” means each test (including any repetition thereof) to be performed by Contractor to demonstrate the
ability of a Stage to satisfy the Emissions Guarantee, the Noise Guarantee and the Guaranteed Performance Levels as set forth in
Sections 3 and 5 of Appendix G.
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“Performance Test Procedures” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.7.1.

“Permits” means all permits, authorizations, variances, approvals, registrations, certificates of legal status, certificates of
occupancy, orders or other approvals or licenses granted or issued by any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the
LNG Facility or matters covered by this Agreement, including the Contractor Permits and the Owner Permits and any conditions
thereof or thereto. “Permits” shall also include (a) the Permit application; (b) supporting and technical information replied upon
by the relevant Governmental Authority to issue a Permit; (c) the environmental impact statement regarding the LNG Facility and
the Liquefaction Project; and (d) other records and reports reviewed by the relevant Governmental Authority, in each case to the
extent that a Permit or order granting or issuing such Permit includes a condition requiring compliance with such application,
information, statement or records or reports.

“Person” means any individual, firm, corporation, trust, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture,
other business enterprise or any Governmental Authority.

“PHMSA” means the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration.
“Pipeline” means any Natural Gas pipeline that interconnects with any Natural Gas Transfer Point.

“Plans” means the Project Execution Plan, the Contractor HSSE Program, the Quality Assurance Plan, the plans for
performance of the Work as described in Attachment W-1 to Appendix W, and any other plan required pursuant to this
Agreement with respect to the execution of the Work and Contractor’s performance of its obligations hereunder.

“Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials” means any Hazardous Materials present on the Site, including those portions of the
Sabine Neches Waterway where Work is performed, prior to Contractor’s entry thereupon.

“Pre-FNTP Claim Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2.5(b).
“Pre-FNTP Claim Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2.5(b).

“Pre-FNTP Claims” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2.5(b).

“Project Execution Plan” means the plan and each component plan thereof prepared by Contractor and set forth in
Appendix W for the execution of the Work and Contractor’s
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performance of its obligations under this Agreement throughout the performance of the Work, as amended from time to time in
accordance with Section 2.4.6.

“Project Schedule” means the Key Date Schedule and the CPM Schedule.
“psia” means a unit of pressure equal to pounds per square inch absolute.
“Punch List” means a list of all Punch List Items.

“Punch List A Items” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.9.1(a).

“Punch List B Items” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.9.1(b).

“Punch List C Items” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.9.1(c).
“Punch List D Items” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.9.1(d).

“Punch List Items” means those items or components of the Work identified in accordance with Section 9.9, which are
Punch List A Items, Punch List B Items, Punch List C Items and Punch List D Items, as applicable.

“Purchase Order” means any contract entered into by Contractor or a Supplier with a Vendor for the supply of
Contractor-Furnished Items.

“Qualifying Job” means a permanent full-time job maintained by Contractor or a Major Subcontractor that: (a) requires
at least 1,600 hours of work a year; (b) is not transferred from one area in Texas to another area in Texas; (c) is not created to
replace a previous employee; (d) is covered by a group health benefit plan for which the Contractor or Major Subcontractor offers
to pay at least eighty percent (80%) of the premiums or other charges assessed for employee-only coverage under the plan,
regardless of whether an employee may voluntarily waive the coverage; and (e) pays at least one hundred ten percent (110%) of
the average weekly wage for manufacturing jobs in Jefferson County, Texas.

“Quality Assurance Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.20.1.

“Ready for Start-Up of a Stage” or “RESU of a Stage” means, with respect to all of the Systems of an applicable Stage,
that the following conditions have been satisfied for such Stage:

(a) the Mechanical Completion Date for such Stage shall have occurred;

(b) Contractor and Owner have agreed on the Punch List Items that may be completed following Ready for Start-
Up of such Stage in accordance with Section 9.9.1;

(c) all pre-commissioning and commissioning activities for the Systems within such Stage, as set forth in the
commissioning and start-up plan as finalized pursuant to
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Section 9.3.4, shall have been successfully completed, and the control system for such Stage shall have been tested and shall be
operational in accordance with the commissioning and start-up plan as finalized pursuant to Section 9.3.4;

(d) all applicable safety and fire protection requirements shall have been met, and all applicable safety and fire
protection systems with respect to such Stage shall have been installed and shall be operable pursuant to all Applicable Laws and
in accordance with GECP;

(e) all field test and inspection records applicable to the Systems within such Stage, including electrical and
instrumentation test and inspection records, and those relating to relay settings and instrument calibration, shall have been made
available to Owner as and when prepared;

(f) all mechanical and electrical safety devices with respect to the Stage shall have been field tested, adjusted and
sealed where necessary;

(g) all Equipment that is part of the Systems within such Stage shall have been cleaned, leak checked, lubricated
and functional tests for all instrumentation and controls, including hazard controls, security components, and cause and effects
tests, shall have been completed, to verify that they have been correctly installed;

(h) all Systems within such Stage into which hydrocarbons are to be introduced shall have been purged;

(i) painting shall have been sufficiently completed with respect to such Stage to support LNG production without
interference and all portions of such Stage that will be inaccessible during operation shall have been painted,;

(j) insulation of the Systems within such Stage shall have been sufficiently completed so that (i) start-up
operations will not be adversely affected; and (ii) the Stage is in compliance with all insurance requirements, Applicable Laws
and GECP;

(k) no temporary lighting shall remain standing in areas where operators must work to start-up and operate the
Stage, except as agreed to by Contractor’s and Owner’s operations teams, taking into consideration safe operation of the plant,
GECP and compliance with Applicable Laws; scaffolding shall have been removed except for such scaffolding that is specifically
required for safe operation;

(1) a pre start-up and safety review with respect to the Systems or groups of Systems within such Stage shall have
been performed in accordance with the requirements set forth in Appendix Q;

(m) Performance Test protocols, including with respect to commissioning demonstration tests, emissions tests
and other Performance Tests shall have been prepared by Contractor and accepted by Owner in accordance with Section 9.7.1;
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(n) the Operating Personnel shall have completed the training program as required to be completed prior to
Ready for Start-Up pursuant to Appendix P, and records verifying the completion of the training program and related testing of
such Operating Personnel in accordance with Section 2.16.2 shall have been delivered to Owner;

(o) Owner shall have received the O&M Manuals for the Systems within such Stage required to be delivered at
or prior to Ready for Start-Up pursuant to Appendix U;

(p) all procedures, plans and reviews that are required pursuant to this Agreement for the introduction of
hydrocarbons and start-up of the Systems within such Stage shall have been finalized or conducted, as applicable, in accordance
with this Agreement, and all Permits that are required for the introduction of hydrocarbons and start-up of the Systems within
such Stage in accordance with Applicable Laws have been obtained,;

(q) all turnover packages and all Vendors’ and other manufacturers’ instructions and drawings relating to
Equipment that is included in the Stage, including Equipment preservation and records, shall have been transmitted to Owner as
per the agreed format and numbers in accordance with Appendix U; and

(r) all requirements of Applicable Laws that must be completed or satisfied prior to the introduction of
hydrocarbons and the start-up of the Systems within such Stage shall have been fulfilled, including the installation of security
fencing in accordance with Appendix QQ.

“Ready for Start-Up Certificate” means a certificate in the form of Appendix AA.

“Ready for Start-Up Date” means, with respect to a Stage, the date on which Ready for Start-Up of such Stage occurs:
(a) as set forth on a Ready for Start-Up Certificate that has been countersigned by Owner; (b) as determined in accordance with
Article 20; or (c) as otherwise agreed by the Parties.

“Receiving Party” means any Party that receives Confidential Information hereunder in accordance with Article 14 and
is subject to an obligation to hold such Confidential Information confidential pursuant to Article 14.

“Record As-Built Drawings” means, with respect to a Stage, final, record As-Built Drawings the Stage, as required
under Attachment A-1 to Appendix A and Appendix U.

“Recovery Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4.2.
“Region” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.10.
“Release” means the release, “threatened release” (as contemplated by the Comprehensive Environmental Response,

Compensation, and Liabilities Act - CERCLA) discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, leaking or placing of any solid or
Hazardous Material into the environment so that such solid or Hazardous Material or any constituent thereof
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may enter the environment, or be emitted into the air or discharged into any waters, including ground waters under Applicable
Laws.

“Request for Arbitration” has the meaning set forth in Section 20.4.1.

“Required Plan Provisions” means the provisions in each Plan that have been identified therein as those provisions that
Contractor shall not change, adjust, alter, modify or amend without Owner’s prior written approval.

“Sabine Neches Waterway” means that deep water navigable waterway, located in southeast Texas and Calcasieu Parish,
Louisiana and including parts of the Neches River, Sabine River, Sabine Lake, and Taylor Bayou, administered by the Sabine
Neches Navigation District.

“Scope of Work” means the description of the Work to be performed as set forth in Appendix A, and as modified from
time to time by Change Orders or executed amendments to this Agreement.

“Scope Option” shall mean each option for additional Work as described in Appendix C, and as more particularly
described in the related attachments to Appendix C as specified therein.

“Site” means those areas where the LNG Facility will be located and where Contractor may perform Work, including for
use as laydown areas, as shown in greater detail in Appendix L, as it shall be updated pursuant to Section 2.11.7.

“Site Conditions” means the physical and other conditions at the Site and the surrounding area as a whole, including the
Sabine Neches Waterway, and including conditions relating to the environment, transportation, access, waste disposal, handling
and storage of materials, the availability and quality of electric power, the availability and quality of water, the availability and
quality of roads, the availability and quality of labor personnel and local work and labor rules, climatic conditions and seasons,
topography, air and water quality conditions, raw water conditions, ground surface conditions, surface soil conditions, sound
attenuation, subsurface geology, nature and quantity of surface and subsurface materials that are encountered (including, without
limiting Contractor’s rights with respect to Unforeseen Excused Site Conditions, Hazardous Materials, and the subsurface
conditions of the Sabine Neches Waterway and the nature and quantity of subsurface materials that may be encountered during
the performance of the Work, including during dredging and construction of the marine berths and material offloading facility
that are part of the Work or in connection with any temporary docks that Contractor otherwise utilizes during performance of the
Work), the geological and subsurface conditions of the Site, all other local and other conditions which may be material to
Contractor’s performance of its obligations under this Agreement, and the location of underground utilities, equipment and
facilities.

“Specifications” means those documents consisting of the written requirements and philosophies for Equipment,
standards and workmanship for the Work and performance of related services as referenced in Appendix B or to be developed by
Contractor as part of the Work in accordance with Attachment A-1 to Appendix A.
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“Stage” means any or both of Stage I or Stage II, as the context requires.

“Stage I” means the first phase of the Work to be designed, procured and constructed and to achieve Substantial
Completion under this Agreement (or, before it achieves Substantial Completion, the first such phase of the Work scheduled to
achieve Substantial Completion according to the Project Schedule), and includes a Natural Gas liquefaction unit, a comparably-
sized Natural Gas pretreatment unit and the Common Facilities, all as further set forth in this Agreement.

“Stage I Delay Liquidated Damages” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.1(a).

“Stage II” means the second phase of the Work to be designed, procured and constructed and to achieve Substantial
Completion under this Agreement (or, before it achieves Substantial Completion, the second such phase of Work scheduled to
achieve Substantial Completion according to the Project Schedule), and includes a Natural Gas liquefaction unit and a
comparably-sized Natural Gas pretreatment unit, all as further set forth in this Agreement.

“Stage II Delay Liquidated Damages” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.1(b).
“Standard & Poor’s” means Standard & Poor’s Corporation or any successor rating agency thereof.

“Standard Conditions for LNG” means a pressure base of fourteen point six nine six (14.696) psia at a base temperature
of sixty degrees Fahrenheit (60°F) under ideal gas conditions.

“Standard Conditions for Natural Gas” means a pressure base of fourteen point seven three (14.73) psia at a base
temperature of sixty degrees Fahrenheit (60°F) under real gas conditions.

“Structural Works Defect” means, for the purpose of the extended Warranty Period as described in Section 10.4, any
Defect in the engineering, procurement or construction of the LNG Facility, or components thereof, relating to the structural
capacity, integrity or suitability of any load-bearing Equipment, buildings, structures, roads, jetties, Berths, or other foundations
or underlying civil work for any portion of the LNG Facility that are part of the Work which: (a) materially and adversely affects
the structural integrity of all or a part of any load bearing structures; or (b) results in the partial or total collapse of any portion of
the LNG Facility.

“Subcontract” means any subcontract (including any Purchase Order) of any tier entered into between Contractor and a
Subcontractor, or a Subcontractor and a Subcontractor.

“Subcontractor” means any Person (including any Licensor) engaged by Contractor, or any of Contractor’s Suppliers of
any tier, to perform any of the Work or to whom Contractor otherwise delegates performance of any of the Work, but excluding
Vendors.

“Substantial Completion” means, with respect to a Stage, that the following conditions have been satisfied with respect
to the applicable Stage:
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(a) Mechanical Completion and Ready for Start-Up of all of the Systems within such Stage shall have occurred
and the requirements of Sections 9.9.2(a), 9.9.2(b) and 9.9.2(e) shall have been satisfied,;

(b) all of the Work for such Stage shall have been completed without Defects, except for Punch List D Items
included on the Punch List as accepted by Owner in accordance with Section 9.9.1, and with respect to the Noise Guarantee,
Contractor’s obligations under Section 9.10.3;

(c) each Performance Test of such Stage shall have been Successfully Run during the last attempt of that
Performance Test commenced by Contractor, including any Performance Tests required under Section 9.7.4(b), and all temporary
filters, fine mesh strainers, piping systems, blinds and screens and other items temporarily installed to facilitate commissioning or
start-up of such Stage shall have been removed and such Stage shall have been returned to full operation;

(d) Contractor shall have Successfully Run the Performance Test to demonstrate that such Stage satisfies the
Noise Guarantee, and such Stage shall satisfy the Noise Guarantee or, if the Performance Test fails to demonstrate that such Stage
satisfies the Noise Guarantee, Contractor, using Contractor’s Noise Model, shall demonstrate to Owner that such Stage satisfies
the Noise Guarantee;

(e) such Stage shall satisfy the Emissions Guarantees and either: (i) such Stage shall satisfy all of the Guaranteed
Performance Levels applicable to such Stage in accordance with Appendix G; or (ii) (A) such Stage shall satisfy at least the
Minimum Performance Standard with respect to all Guaranteed Performance Levels for which such Stage has not achieved the
Guaranteed Performance Levels; and (B) Contractor shall have posted a Letter of Credit in an amount, or increased the existing
Letter of Credit by an amount, covering all applicable Performance Liquidated Damages in accordance with Section 9.10.1;

(f) with respect to Stage II only, Contractor shall have demonstrated by appropriate surveys or other means
reasonably acceptable to Owner, that the berm height, and the depth of the underwater material offloading facilities and Berth and
jetty, as applicable, meets the requirements of the Basis of Design;

(g) Contractor shall have paid all Delay Liquidated Damages that have accrued in accordance with this
Agreement;

(h) special tools and other items to be provided by Contractor under this Agreement that are necessary for the
operation of such Stage shall have been turned over to Owner;

(i) acomplete set of As-Built Drawings for such Stage in the form and format and as otherwise required pursuant
to Attachment A-1 to Appendix A and Appendix U shall have been turned-over to Owner, except for modifications to those As-
Built Drawings required to reflect Punch List D Items to be completed after Substantial Completion;
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(j) the final Fixed Asset Schedule completed with respect to such Stage shall have been delivered to Owner in
accordance with Section 7.6;

(k) the Operating Personnel have completed all aspects of the training program as described in Appendix P, and
records verifying the completion of the training program and testing of such Operating Personnel in accordance with
Section 2.16.2 shall have been delivered to Owner;

(1) afirst fill of all applicable consumables for the Equipment that is part of such Stage shall have been provided,
together with refills of applicable consumables for such Equipment as necessary to meet requirements of the applicable Suppliers
of the Equipment;

(m) Contractor shall have obtained the release of all Liens relating to the LNG Facility that have been recorded
as of such date in accordance with Section 2.9, and Interim Lien and Claim Waivers, Interim Unconditional Lien and Claim
Waivers, Final Lien and Claim Waivers and Final Unconditional Lien and Claim Waivers, as applicable, shall have been
delivered by Contractor and all Major Suppliers in accordance with Section 6.3.5;

(n) Owner shall have received the operating spare parts as required under Section 2.14.2 and the Capital Spare
Parts as required under Section 2.14.3;

(o) Owner shall have received the O&M Manuals, as redlined, prepared by Contractor or a Vendor, as applicable,
as required to be delivered to Owner on or before Substantial Completion of such Stage pursuant to Appendix U;

(p) Owner shall have received from Contractor each Contractor Permit, if any, that is required to be obtained by
Contractor that is necessary for Owner to operate the LNG Facility with respect to such Stage in accordance with all Applicable
Laws, and such Permits shall be in Owner’s name or shall have been assigned to Owner, in accordance with Applicable Laws;
and

(q) Contractor shall have delivered a copy of the assignment of the Liquefaction Technology License and the
License with BASF, SE with respect to such Stage, signed by the respective Licensor and Contractor, to Owner (and Owner’s
designees), Owner (and its designees) shall hold such Licenses in their respective names, and the Licenses shall be in full force
and effect.

“Substantial Completion Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Appendix BB.

“Substantial Completion Date” means, with respect to a Stage, the date on which Substantial Completion of such Stage
occurs: (a) as set forth on a Substantial Completion Certificate that has been countersigned by Owner; (b) as determined in
accordance with Article 20; (c) the date on which Owner declares Substantial Completion has occurred in accordance with
Section 11.2.3; or (d) as otherwise agreed by the Parties; provided, however, that, subject to Contractor’s rights under Article 20,
for purposes of Sections 10.1.3 and 11.3, the
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Substantial Completion Date of a Stage shall be deemed to have occurred on the date on which Owner countersigns the
Substantial Completion Certificate for such Stage, notwithstanding the date of Substantial Completion set forth in such
certificate.

“Successfully Run” means:

(a) that the Performance Test was completed in accordance with the conditions and requirements for the proper
performance of such Performance Test set forth in Appendix G, the Performance Test Procedures, and the other provisions of this
Agreement applicable to such Performance Test; and

(b) the requirements of Section 9.9.2(d) have been satisfied.
“Supplier” means any Subcontractor or Vendor.
“Supply Contract” means any Subcontract or Purchase Order.
“Suspension Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 19.4.2(a).
“SWSA” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“System” means a part of the LNG Facility that is encompassed in specific boundaries as defined on P&IDs or other
Drawings to distinguish it from the LNG Facility as a whole, as determined in accordance with Section 9.1.2.

“Target Substantial Completion Date” means with respect to each Stage, the date on which Contractor is scheduled to

achieve Substantial Completion of such Stage, as shown on the CPM Schedule as the “Target Substantial Completion Date.”

“Taxes” means:

(a) income tax, gross receipts tax, profits tax, employment tax, unemployment tax, withholding tax, social
security tax, contractor tax, sales tax, property tax, consumption tax, value added tax, use tax, excise tax, turnover tax, capital tax,
occupational tax, works tax, import tax, export tax, license tax, personnel tax, services tax and any and all other taxes (including
taxes measured by wages earned by employees of Contractor or any Supplier); and

(b) import and export taxes other than Customs Duties, Customs Duties, port charges or taxes on barge deliveries
(or similar maritime transport deliveries via water vessel), fees and contributions payable to any Governmental Authority on any
item or service that is part of the Work or the LNG Facility,

in each of case (a) or (b) whether such tax, duty, fee or contribution is normally included in the price of such item
or service or is normally stated separately, together with any and all penalties, interest and additions thereto.
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“Tax Abatements” mean, collectively, the following (as each may be extended or amended from time to time): (a) that
certain Abatement Agreement for Property Located in the Reinvestment Zone entered into among Jefferson County, Owner and
the Common Facilities Owner pursuant to Section 312.401 of the Texas Tax Code, dated March 25, 2019; (b) that certain
Abatement Agreement for Property Located in the Reinvestment Zone entered into among Sabine Pass Port Authority, Owner
and the Common Facilities Owner pursuant to Section 312.401 of the Texas Tax Code, dated April 3, 2019; (c) that certain
Abatement Agreement for Property Located in the Reinvestment Zone entered into among Sabine Neches Navigation District,
Owner and the Common Facilities Owner pursuant to Section 312.401 of the Texas Tax Code, dated August 13, 2019; (d) that
certain Industrial District Agreement entered among the City of Port Arthur, Owner and the Common Facilities Owner dated
June 4, 2019; (e) the First Source Referral Agreement; and (f) the 313 Agreement.

“Technical Licensor Information” means the data and information provided by a Licensor with respect to the
Technology provided by such Licensee.

“Technology” means the technology covered by each License, respectively.
“Termination Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 19.4.2(b).

“Texas Sales and Use Taxes” means all sales and use taxes imposed by the State of Texas, its counties or political
subdivisions.

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 15.5.1.

“Third Party Proprietary Work Product” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.3.

“Three Week I.0ok-Ahead Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Appendix S.

“Train 1 First Production Window” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5.1(a).

“Train 1 Second Production Window” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5.1(b).

“Train 1 Third Production Window” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5.1(c).

“Tribunal” has the meaning set forth in Section 20.4.2.
“TWIC Card” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.18.6(c).

“Unforeseen Excused Site Condition” means an Archaeological Find or Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials discovered
on the Site after the Effective Date, or subsurface man-made objects not identified in the Owner-Furnished Information or the
Geotechnical Reports.

“Unusually Severe Weather” means: (a) tornadoes (as identified in the Storm Events Database maintained by the
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration’s National
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Centers for Environmental Information); (b) Named Windstorms or catastrophic flooding that shut down access to the Site or
directly impact the Site or other locations, if any, where fabrication Work is being performed; or (c) any other weather event for
which local officials call for mandatory public evacuations at the Site.

“U.S.” means the United States of America.

“Vendors” means the suppliers of any tier of Contractor-Furnished Items, as applicable, pursuant to a Purchase Order,
that do not perform a significant component of any of the Work that they are performing at the Site.

“Warranty Manager” means the Person who has been designated by Contractor in a written notice to Owner to serve as
Contractor’s Warranty Manager for the purposes of Section 10.3.3.

“Warranty Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1.3.

“Warranty Work” means the Work performed during any Warranty Period pursuant to Article 10.

“Week” means a seven (7) Day period beginning on a Sunday and ending at the end of the immediately following
Saturday.

“Weekly Status Reports” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.22.1(c).

“Work” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.1.
“Work Product” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.1.1.

1.3 Acronyms, Terms and Symbols. Certain acronyms, terms and symbols used in this Agreement are defined in
Appendix K.

1.4 Interpretation.

1.4.1 Precedence. The provisions of this Agreement, including the Appendices, shall be construed as consistent
rather than conflicting to the extent possible. In the event of an irresolvable conflict between the main body of this Agreement or
any Appendix and a provision contained within the main body of this Agreement or another Appendix, the following order of
precedence shall govern (multiple items in a priority shall have equal order of precedence):

(a) the main body of this Agreement;

(b) Appendices C (and all Attachments thereto), D (and all Attachments thereto), E-1, E-2, KK and NN
(and all Attachments thereto);

(c) Appendix G;
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(d) Appendix B;
(e) Appendix A (and all Attachments thereto);
(f) Appendices J-1, J-2, J-3, MM and TT;

(g) Appendices I (and all Attachments thereto), O, S (and all Attachments thereto), U (and all
Attachments thereto), VV and WW,;

(i) Appendices H, II, JJ, LL and QQ;
() Appendices P, Q, R, RR; and
(k) Appendix K.

1.4.2 Precedence of Technical Documents. The order of precedence governing the Deliverables and other
technical documentation shall be:

(a) Permits

(b) Project Specifications

(c) Project Data Sheets and Drawings
(d) Purchase Orders

In the event of a conflict between any part of the Agreement and any Technical Document, or among any of the Technical
Documents, Contractor shall notify Owner of such conflict using a written request for information and the Parties shall meet to
resolve the conflict. If any ambiguities, discrepancies or inconsistencies are identified among any of the Appendices, the
Technical Documents or any of the attachments thereto, that cannot be resolved pursuant to the order of precedence set forth in
this Section 1.4, then the more specific obligation that is consistent with the order of precedence set forth in this Section 1.4 shall
control.

1.4.3 Headings and Subheadings. All headings and subheadings are for reference only and shall not be used to
construe any provision of this Agreement.

1.4.4 Undefined Terms. If a term is used in this Agreement but it is not defined herein, such term should be
ascribed: (a) its meaning as used in the international LNG industry, if there is a generally accepted usage in that industry; and
(b) otherwise, it’s generally accepted English language meaning.
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1.4.5 References to Lenders, Lenders’ Agent and Independent Engineer. This Agreement shall be construed so as
to allow the Lenders, the Lenders’ Agent and any Independent Engineer access to all aspects of the Work and Confidential
Information (not including Contractor’s financial information, pricing information or proprietary cost data; provided that the
foregoing shall not limit the rights of such Persons to access the Contract Price or any pricing information contained in any
Change Order Request or Change Order) that Owner has the right to witness, inspect, observe, access or review hereunder.
Subject to Section 23.9 and the rights of the Lenders, the Lenders’ Agent and the Independent Engineer pursuant to the Direct
Agreement and any similar agreement to be entered into by Contractor directly with Lenders or Lenders’ Agent, and Owner in
accordance with Section 2.29, the provisions in this Agreement that permit the Lenders, the Lenders’ Agent and the Independent
Engineer access to the Site and any other location where the Work is performed, and, among other things, to witness tests, attend
meetings, receive reports and be present during testing and inspections of the Work wherever such inspections or tests take place,
shall not be deemed or construed to impose an obligation on Contractor to delay any Work, including any inspections or tests, or
to grant any of the Lenders, the Lenders’ Agent or the Independent Engineer the right to make any decision with respect to the
Work on behalf of Owner. Contractor acknowledges that the Lenders may appoint more than one Independent Engineer and that
references to “Independent Engineer” throughout this Agreement are understood to mean more than one.

1.4.6 Other Principles of Interpretation. Unless the context requires otherwise: (a) the gender (or lack of gender)
of all words used in this Agreement includes the masculine, feminine, and neuter; (b) words used or defined in the singular
include the plural and vice versa; (c) references to the Preamble, any Recitals, Articles and Sections refer to the Preamble,
Recitals, Articles and Sections of this Agreement, as same may be amended from time to time pursuant to an amendment entered
into in accordance with the terms hereof; (d) references to Applicable Laws or any Applicable Codes and Standards refer to such
Applicable Laws or Applicable Codes and Standards as may be amended from time to time and, with respect to Applicable Laws,
all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and references to particular provisions of Applicable Laws or Applicable Codes
and Standards include any corresponding provisions of any succeeding Applicable Laws or Applicable Codes and Standards;

(e) references to any other agreement are to that agreement as amended or supplemented from time to time; (f) references to
“include”, “includes” and “including” means include, includes or including without limitation to the matters described; (g) terms
defined in this Agreement are used throughout this Agreement and in any Appendices hereto as so defined; (h) “shall” and “will”
have equal force and effect; (i) the reservation of a right by a Party herein in any correspondence or other communication
between the Parties shall not constitute a denial of any Claim made or position taken by the other Party; (j) unless expressly
provided to the contrary, references in this Agreement containing terms such as “hereof”, “herein”, “hereto”, “hereby”,
“hereinafter”, and other terms of like import are not limited in applicability to the specific provision within which such references
are set forth but instead refer to this Agreement taken as a whole; and (k) except to the extent expressly stated otherwise in this
Agreement, Owner’s right to review, inspect and comment on the Work shall not require Contractor to delay the Work beyond the
period allowed for review, inspection and comment.
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ARTICLE 2

CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
2.1 Work.

2.1.1 General. Contractor shall, in consideration of the Contract Price payable in accordance with this
Agreement, provide or perform the Work, or cause the Work to be provided or performed, in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement. The “Work” means all of the work, duties, responsibilities, jobs, services, engineering, design, procurement services
and other activities previously performed or provided by or on behalf of Contractor under the EDSA or the SWSA, and all
obligations, work, duties, responsibilities, jobs, services, goods, Equipment, Deliverables, engineering, and activities to be
performed or provided by, or on behalf of, Contractor under this Agreement, without regard to whether the Work is performed
under a Limited Notice to Proceed or after issuance of the Full Notice to Proceed, as follows:

(a) the further development and completion of the engineering and design of the LNG Facility, including
the preparation of all Drawings and Specifications in accordance with the engineering and design as reflected in the Scope of
Work and Basis of Design, as approved by Owner pursuant to the EDSA,;

(b) the complete fabrication and construction of the LNG Facility, all erection and installation of
Equipment, and all commissioning, start-up (including calibration, inspection, and start-up operation) and testing included in or
required for the LNG Facility;

(c) the interconnection of the LNG Facility with applicable Pipelines and permanent utilities, including
interconnections with any new or upgraded facilities to be constructed by Entergy;

(d) all construction activities and services necessary to fully construct the LNG Facility, including
construction utilities and necessary preparation of the Site (and any other location where any part of the Work is performed),
including soil stabilization of the Site, Site preparation, including design and construction of suitable drainage systems during
construction, construction of a pioneer construction dock and a permanent materials offloading facilities dock (which Contractor
may use during construction), construction of a heavy haul road, excavation and grading and proper disposal of all excavated
materials and furnishing of fill materials if and as required in connection with performance of the Work;

(e) procurement and supply of all supplies, materials, goods, consumables, tools, temporary facilities,
including offices and warehouses, vehicles, equipment and machinery, for incorporation into the LNG Facility, or necessary to
conduct the Work but which do not form a permanent part of the LNG Facility;

(f) supply of all work forces, including all skilled and unskilled labor, supervisory, quality assurance and
support service personnel required to perform the Work, other than the Operating Personnel to be furnished pursuant to
Section 3.6 for use in Contractor’s pre-

41



commissioning, commissioning, testing and start-up efforts, and the training of Operating Personnel;

(g) all activities and services necessary to permit the receipt at the tie-in points as described in the EPC
Interface Management Plan as set forth in Appendix W, including the Drawings referenced therein, with respect to Fuel Gas,
Feed Gas and utilities for the Work;

(h) procurement, rental or lease of any lay-down areas, easements, access rights or other real estate
necessary or desirable for Contractor to perform its obligations hereunder that Contractor determines it requires in addition to the
Site; and

(i) all activities, services and items specifically described in, or reasonably inferable from, Appendix A,
Appendix B or elsewhere in this Agreement;

in each case in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement, including the Project Schedule and the
Project Execution Plan, and whether or not such activities, services or items are specifically identified in Appendix A or the other
portions of this Agreement, such that the LNG Facility is fully functional and capable of being operated in accordance with
Applicable Laws, GECP and the terms of this Agreement, but in any case excluding the items and activities that Owner is
expressly required to provide under Article 3.

2.1.2 Simultaneous Operation Requirement. Without limiting the foregoing, Contractor shall perform the Work
such that the LNG Facility and the Equipment satisfy the applicable provisions of the Scope of Work and Basis of Design,
including designing, procuring and constructing the Common Facilities such that all LNG Trains installed in the LNG Facility
may be operated simultaneously and independently at the design conditions set forth in this Agreement.

2.2 Independent Contractor. In the performance of this Agreement, Contractor is an independent contractor and none of
Contractor, Suppliers or their employees or Invitees are agents, employees or Invitees of Owner. The entire performance,
operation, management and direction of the Work and, except to the extent this Agreement expressly provides otherwise
(including pursuant to Sections 2.6 and 2.7), all staffing, Supplier selection, means, methods, techniques, sequencing and
procedures for coordinating all portions of the Work shall be under the exclusive control, command and direction of Contractor;
nonetheless, Contractor shall comply with all provisions, terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the Specifications
and Plans, and the fact that Contractor is an independent contractor shall not relieve it from its responsibility to fully, completely
and safely perform and deliver the Work and cause the Suppliers and its and their respective personnel to safely perform and
deliver the Work in compliance with this Agreement. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the payment of labor employed or
hired by Contractor, whether on contract or other status, including all social benefits, compensation, termination payments, and
all benefits of whatever description required by Contractor’s employment policies or practices.
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2.3 Performance Standards and Compliance with Applicable L.aws. Contractor shall perform the Work in accordance
with: (a) all Applicable Laws; (b) the terms of this Agreement; (c) the plans and policies established pursuant to Sections 2.18
and 2.20; and (d) GECP (except to the extent such Good Engineering and Construction Practices are in conflict with any of
clauses (a), (b) or (c), in which case such clause (a), (b) or (c) shall prevail).

2.4 Contractor’s Acknowledgments.

2.4.1 Site. Prior to the Effective Date, Contractor has inspected the Site and reviewed the Geotechnical Reports,
and acknowledges and agrees that it:

(a) has assessed all Site Conditions at and around the Site that will affect Contractor’s conduct of the
Work thereupon, including natural and man-made conditions;

(b) has satisfied itself that the Site is sufficient for Contractor to engineer, procure, construct, pre-
commission, commission, start-up, test and operate the LNG Facility for the Contract Price, in accordance with GECP and the
requirements of this Agreement, including Applicable Laws, the Emissions Guarantee, the Noise Guarantee and the Guaranteed
Performance Levels (subject to Section 9.10), and so as to achieve Substantial Completion of each Stage by the applicable
Guaranteed Substantial Completion Date, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, that:

(i) the size, shape, location and condition of the Site are adequate for Contractor’s performance of
the Work;

(i) the Site includes additional space that is adequate for Contractor’s temporary office, including
temporary offices of Owner (in accordance with Section 2.5.3(c)), warehouse, craft change rooms and shop buildings, storage of
Equipment, employee parking and other Work lay-down and staging purposes;

(iii) there is sufficient access to the Site to transport personnel and all necessary Equipment and
Construction Equipment; and

(iv) sufficient labor force (both in quantity and quality) and professional services will be available
for Contractor’s performance of the Work in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.

(c) is solely responsible for design and construction of suitable drainage systems during performance of
the Work on the Site to avoid flooding at the Site which could interrupt the construction activities and cause damage to the
Equipment, including piping and other material, stored or installed at the Site, and including proper Site preparation construction
planning to minimize water entrapment, ponding, and flooding in some areas which could interrupt the construction activities, or
damage stored Equipment.

Accordingly, with the exception of Unforeseen Excused Site Conditions or events of Force Majeure that
impact the Site (or the area around the Site), and subject to
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Contractor’s rights to a Change Order pursuant to Sections 8.3.1(r) and 8.3.1(s), Contractor hereby agrees that it shall have no
right to claim or seek an increase in the Contract Price or an adjustment to the Key Date Schedule with respect to physical
conditions at or around the Site, including the Site Conditions, and hereby waives and releases Owner from and against such
claims. Contractor affirms that it has the skills and experience necessary to review and assess the Site, the Site Conditions and the
Site in light of the different aspects of the Work. OWNER MAKES NO GUARANTY OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR
IMPLIED, AS TO THE SITE. CONTRACTOR EXPRESSLY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE
INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THE BASIS OF DESIGN WITH RESPECT TO THE SITE IS PROVIDED FOR PURPOSES
OF THE DESIGN AND ENGINEERING OF THE LIQUEFACTION PROJECT, AND IN NO WAY CONSTITUTES A
REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY OR GUARANTY AS TO CONDITIONS THAT CONTRACTOR MAY ENCOUNTER
DURING THE PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK. THIS SECTION 2.4.1 SHALL NOT LIMIT CONTRACTOR’S RIGHTS
TO MAKE CLAIMS FOR RELIEF UNDER SECTION 8.3 AND ARTICLE 18 IN CONNECTION WITH UNFORESEEN
EXCUSED SITE CONDITIONS, OR IN THE CASE OF THE OCCURENCE OF AN EVENT OR CIRCUMSTANCE GIVING
RISE TO A CHANGE ORDER UNDER SECTIONS 8.3.1(r) AND 8.3.1(s), OTHER EXCUSABLE EVENTS OR EVENTS OF
FORCE MAJEURE THAT OCCUR DURING THE PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK.

2.4.2 Owner-Furnished Information. CONTRACTOR ACKNOWLEDGES, AND SHALL CAUSE ITS
SUPPLIERS TO AGREE, THAT: (a) WITHOUT LIMITING WHAT CONSTITUTES AN OWNER-CAUSED DELAY,
OWNER MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, TO CONTRACTOR OR SUCH SUPPLIER OR ANY
OTHER PERSON, AS TO THE ACCURACY, SUFFICIENCY OR CONTENT OF THE OWNER-FURNISHED
INFORMATION OR THE OPINIONS THEREIN CONTAINED OR EXPRESSED, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE; AND (b) NEITHER
CONTRACTOR, THE SUPPLIERS NOR ANY OTHER PERSON MAY RELY ON THE OWNER-FURNISHED
INFORMATION, AND THAT NONE OF SUCH PERSONS SHALL HAVE A CLAIM AGAINST OWNER WITH RESPECT
TO THE OWNER-FURNISHED INFORMATION, EXCEPT FOR SUCH INFORMATION THAT HAS BEEN
SPECIFICALLY DESIGNATED AS NON-VERIFIED INFORMATION IN APPENDIX N. NOTWITHSTANDING
ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY HEREIN, CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED TO VERIFY OR BE DEEMED
TO HAVE VERIFIED ANY OF THE NON-VERIFIED INFORMATION.

2.4.3 Scope of Work and Basis of Design. Contractor has drafted and prepared the Scope of Work and Basis of
Design with care and hereby acknowledges and agrees that, the attached Scope of Work and the Basis of Design in Appendix A
and Appendix B and all documents referenced therein and attachments thereto, are accurate, adequate and complete for
Contractor to conduct the Work for the Contract Price, by the Guaranteed Substantial Completion Date for each Stage set forth in
the Baseline CPM Schedule, and in accordance with GECP and all requirements of this Agreement, including Applicable Laws,
and subject to Section 9.10, the Emission Guarantee, the Noise Guarantee, and the Guaranteed Performance
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Levels. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Contractor has not verified and shall not verify the Non-Verified
Information.

2.4.4 Incorporation of the EDSA and SWSA Work. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that upon Owner’s
issuance of the Full Notice to Proceed hereunder, or if issued the issuance of the Bridging LNTP, all of the work, duties,
responsibilities, jobs, services, engineering, design, procurement services and other activities previously performed or provided
by or on behalf of Contractor under the EDSA or the SWSA shall be part of the Work for all purposes of this Agreement, and that
therefore Contractor is fully responsible under this Agreement for all such work, duties, responsibilities, jobs, services and other
activities performed under the EDSA or the SWSA as if it had been performed under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, until earlier of the date of issuance of the Bridging LNTP or the FNTP Date, any work, duties, responsibilities, jobs,
services, engineering, design, procurement services and other activities performed or provided by or on behalf of Contractor
under the EDSA or the SWSA shall be governed by the terms of the EDSA or the SWSA, as applicable.

2.4.5 Applicable L.aws and GECP. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that, subject to Contractor’s rights in
connection with a Change in Law, it can conduct the Work for the Contract Price, in accordance with the Project Execution Plan
and by the Guaranteed Substantial Completion Date for each Stage, and in accordance with GECP and all requirements of this
Agreement, including Applicable Laws, the Emissions Guarantee, the Noise Guarantee and the Guaranteed Performance Levels
(subject to Section 9.10). Without limiting Contractor’s rights under Section 8.3, Contractor shall perform the Work using GECP
and in accordance with Applicable Laws, whether or not such Applicable Laws or GECP came into effect before or after the
Effective Date or during the performance of the Work.

2.4.6 Plans; Required Plan Provisions. Contractor shall perform the Work in accordance with the Project
Execution Plan and the other Plans as described herein. Contractor may update the Project Execution Plan and the other Plans
from time to time to reflect updates or modifications or amendments or other changes that Contractor determines are desirable or
necessary in connection with the Work; provided, however, that (a) Contractor shall furnish such updates, modifications,
amendments or other changes to Owner clearly showing the revisions made to such Plan; and (b) Contractor shall not implement
any update, modification, amendment or other change to the Required Plan Provisions of any Plan without Owner’s prior written
approval, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Within fifteen (15) Business Days after Owner receives any proposed
updates, modifications, amendments or other changes to any Required Plan Provisions, Owner shall accept or reject and provide
any comments to such updates, modifications, amendments or other changes to the Required Plan Provisions. Contractor shall
promptly respond to Owner’s comments to any proposed updated, modified, amended or otherwise changed Required Plan
Provisions, and resubmit such updates, modifications, amendments or other changes to Owner for acceptance. If Owner provides
comments to any other provisions of the updated, modified, amended or changed Plan that are not Required Plan Provisions,
Contractor shall consider such comments in good faith. Owner’s review of and any comments provided to the Plans and the
Required Plan Provisions pursuant to
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this Section 2.4.6 shall not in any way relieve Contractor of its responsibility regarding the execution of the Work and the
performance of Contractor’s obligations hereunder.

2.5.1 Contractor Representative. Contractor hereby appoints Bhupesh Thakkar to be the Contractor
Representative. At all times hereunder, the Contractor Representative shall simultaneously serve as Contractor’s Senior Project
Manager. The Contractor Representative shall have full authority to act on Contractor’s behalf under this Agreement; provided,
that Contractor Representative shall not be entitled to amend this Agreement without further written authorization from
Contractor. Contractor may from time to time by notice to Owner remove any person from his appointment as Contractor
Representative and appoint another person in his or her place with effect from a date to be specified in the notice in accordance
with Section 2.6.1. Contractor shall ensure that there is an individual appointed to act as Contractor Representative in accordance
with Section 2.5.1 at all times until it has fully performed its warranty obligations as described in Article 10.

2.5.2 Periodic Meetings. Contractor shall hold periodic progress and schedule monitoring meetings as described
in Appendix S and as Owner may reasonably request, including meetings in connection with Disputes, Change Order requests or
claims made by Suppliers. The Contractor Representative or the individual designated by the Contractor Representative to attend
the meeting, the Contractor planning and scheduling representative, and as appropriate or necessary, other Contractor employees
and Suppliers, shall attend such meetings. At Owner’s election, the meetings may be attended by the Owner Representative or the
individual designated by the Owner Representative to attend the meeting, the Owner planning and scheduling representative,
representatives of Owner’s Engineer, and any equity participant in Owner or Common Facilities Owner. The meetings may also
be attended by any authorized representative or agent of the Lenders, the Independent Engineer and, subject to Contractor’s
consent, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed, any other Invitees of Owner (including, where invited by Owner, its
customers).

2.5.3 Owner Access. The respective employees, consultants and representatives of Owner, including Owner’s
Engineer, equity investors in Owner or the Common Facilities Owner, the Other Contractors (subject to Section 2.28), the
Independent Engineer and any Lender shall (a) at all times have a right of access to the Site; and (b) have a right of access during
normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice to Contractor, to any Supplier location off of the Site where Work is
being conducted, including locations where Equipment is being manufactured or such materials are being prepared for
incorporation into the LNG Facility, so that representatives of such Persons, as applicable, may inspect production and observe
tests, subject to such Persons complying with the applicable policies and procedures of Contractor (or the applicable Supplier)
with respect to safety and security while at such location. Other Persons, including Competitors, invited by Owner shall be
provided the access as described in this Section 2.5.3, subject to compliance with such policies and procedures, and upon
reasonable advance notice to Contractor.
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(a) Contractor shall provide the accommodations in accordance with Section 2.5.3(b). Contractor shall
also cause its Major Suppliers to provide reasonable accommodations as are necessary for Owner’s representatives to exercise
Owner’s rights and responsibilities under this Agreement, and to the Independent Engineer and any Lenders, including
reasonable temporary work spaces. With respect to Suppliers that are not Major Suppliers, Contractor shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause such Suppliers to make work space available for one (1) to two (2) individuals upon Owner’s
reasonable request. If a Supplier requests payment of additional costs to provide such temporary accommodations, Contractor
shall notify Owner. If Owner nevertheless requires Contractor to obtain such temporary accommodations for Owner, the
additional costs, if any, charged by the Suppliers with respect to such accommodations shall be an Owner cost.

(b) From and after the issuance of a Limited Notice to Proceed, or the Full Notice to Proceed, as
applicable, until the completion of engineering activities for Stage II, Contractor shall provide in Contractor’s office at 3000 Post
Oak Blvd., Houston, Texas, up to eleven (11) furnished offices and fifty eight (58) furnished cubicles, parking spaces, access to
kitchen/break area and rest rooms, one (1) dedicated conference room with projection capabilities to accommodate up to twenty
(20) people, access to at least one (1) other conference room that will accommodate up to eight (8) people, telephones for each
office, cubicle and conference room and secure paper disposal. Contractor will also provide up to nine (9) furnished offices and
one (1) furnished cubicle for twelve (12) Months after completion of engineering activities for Stage II. Upon Owner’s request,
Contractor shall provide additional furnished offices and furnished cubicles at a rate of [***] per Month and [***] per Month,
respectively. The office space and facilities shall be available for use by Owner’s and personnel of Owner’s Engineer’s and
Lender’s representatives, as designated by Owner. Contractor shall provide equivalent office space and support for up to five (5)
of Owner’s and Owner’s Engineer’s personnel at such other offices or locations of Contractor and its Affiliates described in the
Project Execution Plan where the Work will be performed when such personnel are present at those locations. All costs for
furnishing such office space and supplies and otherwise complying with the requirements of this Section 2.5.3(b) are included in
the Contract Price.

(c) From and after the Bridging LNTP Date, Contractor shall, or shall cause its Suppliers that establish
temporary furnished offices at the Site to, allow Owner to utilize up to three (3) furnished work spaces in such Suppliers’
temporary facilities. From and after the FNTP Date, Contractor shall provide temporary furnished office facilities at the Site to
accommodate up to ninety five (95) of Owner’s personnel. Such temporary facilities will include a main temporary office facility
sized to accommodate up to sixty (60) individuals, including offices for twenty five (25) individuals, four (4) bull pen offices
(each sized to accommodate six (6) individuals), two (2) cubicles for Owner’s document management and control and storage,
access to kitchen/break area (with dining space for twenty (20) individuals) and rest rooms, and two (2) conference rooms to
accommodate up to forty (40) people. The temporary furnished office facilities shall also include three (3) standard double-wide
trailers, consisting of two (2) offices, one conference room on each end of the trailer and open cubicle space in between the
conference rooms. Contractor shall install electrical distribution lines and T-1 internet line to each temporary office. These
temporary facilities shall be available for use by Owner’s and
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personnel of Owner’s Engineer’s and Lender’s representatives, as designated by Owner. Once Owner’s administration building is
completed and Owner’s personnel have moved out of the temporary office facilities, Contractor shall no longer have any
obligation to maintain such temporary office facilities but shall provide Owner with sufficient space at the Site so that Owner
may install its own temporary office facilities at that location. Contractor will provide all necessary utilities for such temporary
office facilities, regardless of whether Contractor or Owner is furnishing the temporary office facilities. Contractor shall also
provide two (2) twenty foot (20”) Conex storage units for Owner’s use near the main Owner’s temporary offices, and shall
provide parking spaces for Owner vehicles, including twenty five (25) parking spaces located at the main Owner temporary office
building that are signed as being reserved for Owner, and additional parking in the parking lot for such temporary office facilities
area. The obligation to maintain such temporary office facilities or the space for Owner to locate its own temporary office
facilities at the Site, as applicable, as contemplated in this Section 2.5.3 shall continue until Substantial Completion of Stage II.

(d) Contractor shall maintain at the Site and at Contractor’s office at 3000 Post Oak Blvd., Houston,
Texas 77056, a complete and current collection of all issued for construction (IFC) drawings and related technical documentation
prepared in connection with the Work, which shall be available for inspection by Owner, the Independent Engineer and the
Lenders.

(e) Owner’s inspection or failure to inspect any aspect of the performance of the Work shall not be
deemed to constitute acceptance or approval of the Work or excuse or limit any of Contractor’s obligations under this Agreement,
including those under Article 10.

2.6 Employees and Key Personnel.

on the Liquefaction Project and identifies the key personnel from Contractor’s organization who will be assigned to the Work
(“Key Personnel”). Key Personnel shall be devoted to the Liquefaction Project for all of the time which is necessary to perform
the Work and in any event during the periods of time specified in Appendix H, with the performance of the Work being a first
priority of such Key Personnel. Contractor shall not remove any of the Key Personnel and if Contractor does so without obtaining
Owner’s prior written approval and none of the circumstances for resignations, death, illness or disability set forth in the
penultimate sentence of this Section 2.6.1 apply, Contractor shall: (a) pay Owner an amount equal to [***]. Except with respect
to replacement of the Senior Project Manager, Owner shall have the right to consent to the individual that will replace the
removed Key Personnel, which acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld. All requests for the substitution of Key Personnel
shall include an explanation and reason for the request and the resumes of professional education and experience, which shall
include a minimum of two (2) candidates of suitable qualifications and experience for any Key Personnel position other than the
Senior Project Manager. Should Owner accept the replacement Key Personnel, Contractor shall, to the extent reasonably possible,
allow for an overlap of at least two (2) Weeks during
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which both the Key Personnel to be replaced and the new Key Personnel shall work together. If any Key Personnel resigns or is
no longer available to perform the Work due to illness, death or disability, or is terminated and no longer employed or engaged in
any capacity by Contractor or its Affiliates, Contractor shall nominate replacements for such Key Personnel within five (5)
Business Days. For the avoidance of doubt, acceptance of new Key Personnel shall not constitute approval for removal of such
Key Personnel, and the requirements of this Section 2.6.1 shall apply with respect to individuals identified as Key Personnel
under all circumstances, including removal or reassignment of individuals under the circumstances as described in Section 2.6.2.
WITHOUT OTHERWISE LIMITING OWNER’S RIGHTS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO
CONTRACTOR’S PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK, PAYMENTS MADE BY CONTRACTOR PURSUANT TO THIS
SECTION 2.6.1 SHALL BE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY OF OWNER AND COMMON FACILITIES OWNER
FOR CONTRACTOR’S REMOVAL OF KEY PERSONNEL IN VIOLATION OF THIS SECTION 2.6.1.

2.6.2 All Personnel. Contractor’s personnel assigned to perform any of the Work shall be skilled and qualified to
perform the work assigned to such Person, and Contractor shall require that its Suppliers assign the Work to personnel that are
skilled and qualified to perform the work assigned to such Person. Contractor agrees to promptly remove or reassign (or to
require any Subcontractor to remove or reassign) from its services in connection with the Work any Person performing Work who
does not meet the foregoing requirements. In addition, Owner may request that Contractor remove from the Work or the Site any
personnel of Contractor or any of its Suppliers (including Key Personnel) who, in the reasonable opinion of Owner are unsafe or
incompetent in the performance of his or her duties. In such event, Contractor shall, and shall cause its Suppliers to, immediately
upon receipt of such a request, remove such personnel from Owner’s property and from performance of the Work or the Site.
Such personnel shall not thereafter be allowed on Owner’s property, the Site or to perform any of the Work, without the prior
written acceptance of Owner. CONTRACTOR HEREBY RELEASES THE OWNER INDEMNIFIED PARTIES FROM AND
AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, CAUSES OF ACTION, DAMAGES, LOSSES, COST AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING
ALL ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND LITIGATION EXPENSES) AND LIABILITIES, OF WHATSOEVER KIND OR NATURE,
WHICH MAY DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISE OR RESULT FROM CONTRACTOR OR ANY SUPPLIER
TERMINATING THE EMPLOYMENT OF OR REMOVING FROM THE WORK ANY SUCH PERSON FOLLOWING A
REQUEST BY OWNER TO HAVE SUCH PERSON REMOVED FROM THE WORK. Contractor shall promptly replace such
discharged Person with a suitably qualified and experienced Person, at Contractor’s expense.

2.6.3 Mandatory Briefings. In addition to such meetings as Contractor determines are necessary, Contractor shall,
in formal briefings designed by Contractor for such purpose, instruct Contractor personnel, all Subcontractors and their respective
personnel that are performing Work at the Site, on the terms and requirements of the Environmental Plan (including the role and
authority of environmental inspectors as may be appointed by Owner pursuant to the Environmental Plan), safety and
environmental protection policies and procedures for Work at
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the Site, and the terms and requirements of the Permits and Applicable Laws, and all Contractor personnel shall comply with
such policies and procedures, Permits and Applicable Laws.

2.6.4 Videos and Photographs. Contractor and Owner will regularly utilize drones or other means to take aerial
photographs or videos of the Site during the performance of the Work. The Parties may also from time to time take other
photographs or videos of the Work, the Site using other means. All use of drones and photography shall be in compliance with
Applicable Law. To the maximum extent possible under Applicable Law, Contractor shall require each of its employees, and shall
require its Subcontractors to require each of their respective employees, to acknowledge and agree that to the extent such
employee is present at the Site and is included in any video or photograph taken by Owner or Contractor or their representatives
or Invitees of the activities at the Site, such employee grants and releases to Contractor and Owner the right to record or
photograph such employee while at the Site and to use and reproduce such recordings or photographs as Owner and Contractor
(to the extent permitted under this Agreement) may determine is appropriate in connection with the Work and the Liquefaction
Project, including posting such videos and photographs on the internet or other electronic media. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in the foregoing, any photographs posted by Contractor on the internet or other electronic media shall not be identifiable
as related to the Liquefaction Project unless permitted to do so in writing by Owner.

2.7 Supply Contracts and Suppliers.

2.7.1 Suppliers. Owner acknowledges and agrees that Contractor intends to have portions of the Work
accomplished by Suppliers pursuant to written Supply Contracts between Contractor and such Suppliers, and that such Suppliers
may have certain portions of the Work performed by other Suppliers. The provisions of any Supply Contract shall not relieve
Contractor of any obligations to perform the Work or of its responsibility for each Supplier. Contractor shall be fully responsible
to Owner for the acts and omissions of all Suppliers and of Persons directly or indirectly used by any of them in the performance
of the Work to the same extent that Contractor is responsible to Owner under this Agreement for its own acts or omissions. NO
SUPPLIER IS INTENDED TO BE OR SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY OF THIS
AGREEMENT.

(a) All Suppliers shall be reputable, qualified firms with an established safety record and a record of
successful performance in their respective trades performing identical or substantially similar work. To the extent necessary to
perform the Work, Owner agrees that Contractor may allow the Suppliers to access the Site pursuant to the access rights granted
to Contractor under this Agreement.

(b) Contractor shall and shall cause all of its Suppliers to comply with the International Labour
Organization’s conventions regarding forced labor and child labor, including the International Labour Organization Minimum
Age Convention and Forced Labour Convention (and any Applicable Laws promulgated under either of these conventions).
Forced, bonded (including debt bondage) or indentured labor, involuntary prison labor, slavery or trafficking of individuals shall
not be used by Contractor or any of its Suppliers that perform any part of the Work. Child labor as defined by the International
Labour Organization shall not be
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used by Contractor or any Supplier. Compensation paid to Contractor’s and its Supplier’s personnel shall comply with all
Applicable Laws regarding employment and labor, including those relating to minimum wages, overtime hours and legally
mandated benefits. Contractor and each of the Suppliers shall maintain a safe and healthy work environment at any location
where the Work is performed, in accordance with the International Labour Organization Guidelines on Occupational Safety and
Health and all Applicable Laws regarding the safety of the work environment, and shall operate their facilities where the Work is
performed in compliance with all local Applicable Laws regarding the environment, health and safety. Without limiting the
foregoing, Contractor shall, and shall cause all of its Suppliers that perform any part of the Work in the United States to, comply
with all Applicable Laws of the United States with regards to labor and employment when employing labor in connection with
the Work. If there is a conflict between any Applicable Laws or any of the other standards or guidelines described in this
Section 2.7.1(b), Contractor and the Suppliers shall be required to meet the highest of the performance standards that are in
conflict.

(c) Contractor shall, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to require each Supplier (including
CIMTAS, but excluding other Affiliates of Contractor and Suppliers that are only party to General Services Subcontracts with
respect to the Work), to permit Contractor to monitor compliance by such Suppliers with the requirements of Section 2.7.1(b),
and to allow Contractor to conduct unannounced audits to verify compliance with the requirements of Section 2.7.1(b) of each
such Supplier that performs any part of the Work. Contractor shall perform audits to verify compliance with the requirements of
Section 2.7.1(b) of such Suppliers at Owner’s reasonable request. With respect to Suppliers performing any part of the Work on
the Site, Owner shall also have the right to request Contractor to conduct unannounced audits of such Suppliers to verify
compliance with the requirements of Section 2.7.1(b), and Owner and the Lenders’ representatives (including the Independent
Engineer) may participate in such audit with Contractor. Such monitoring and audit activities may include inspection of facilities,
gathering information from such Person’s personnel, and reviewing relevant documentation and records.

2.7.2  Award of Supply Contracts for Portions of the Work; Copies of Major Supply Contracts.

(a) Without the prior written consent of Owner:

(i) Neither Contractor nor any of its Affiliates shall enter into Supply Contracts with respect to the
portions of the Work identified on Appendix I with any Supplier other than the accepted Suppliers for such Work as identified
therein;

(ii) Contractor shall not allow its specified Suppliers for the Scope of Work as described on
Attachment I-1 to Appendix I to procure any Equipment listed on Attachment I-1 to Appendix I from any Supplier except from
the accepted Suppliers of such Equipment as identified thereon;

(iii) Neither Contractor nor any of its Affiliates shall, and Contractor shall not allow any Supplier
that procures any of the Equipment packages identified
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on Attachment I-2 to Appendix I to, procure any of the Equipment packages listed on Attachment I-2 to Appendix I, or any of the
components of such Equipment packages as identified on Attachment I-2 to Appendix I, from any Supplier except the accepted
Suppliers of such Equipment as identified in Appendix I; or

(iv) Neither Contractor nor any of its Affiliates shall allow Suppliers to enter into or issue Supply
Contracts with or to lower tier Suppliers to a First-Tier Supply Contract that is a Major Supply Contract if the value of the Supply
Contracts with such lower tier Suppliers (in the aggregate based on all Supply Contracts with each such lower tier Supplier and
its Affiliates) is equal to or exceeds twenty five percent (25%) of the value of such First-Tier Supply Contract; provided, that the
prior written consent of Owner shall not be required with respect to a Supply Contract with a lower tier Supplier that is identified
as an accepted Supplier on Appendix I for the portion of the Work to be performed pursuant to that lower tier Supply Contract.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the prior written consent of Owner shall not be required with
respect to General Services Subcontracts. In determining the value of a First-Tier Supply Contract and any lower tier Supply
Contracts for the purposes of this Section 2.7.2, the value of any raw materials or consumables procured under any such Supply
Contracts shall be included in the calculation of the value of such Supply Contracts, and the value of any Supply Contracts that
are solely for the supply of raw materials or consumables shall be included when calculating the aggregate value of multiple
Supply Contracts with a Supplier and its Affiliates.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Contractor shall, provide Owner with drafts of:
(i) the Licenses; and (ii) Supply Contracts with Baker Hughes, while Contractor is negotiating the terms and conditions of such
Supply Contracts and Licenses with the respective Supplier or Licensor (provided that the actual price and payment terms, and
other commercial terms related to liquidated damages provisions, performance security and limits of liability may be redacted
from such copies except to the extent such terms are or will be applicable to Owner following assignment of such Supply
Contract or License at Substantial Completion). Without limiting the foregoing, Contractor shall not redact any License fees that
are or may be owed following Substantial Completion or any payment terms related thereto. With respect to the Licenses and
Supply Contracts referenced in this Section 2.7.2(b), Contractor shall provide Owner with a full and complete Fully Functional
PDF copy of the proposed final Supply Contract or License, including all attachments, specifications and performance
guarantees, redacted only as permitted in this Section 2.7.2(b), of each such Supply Contract or License no less than ten (10)
Business Days before Contractor expects to award, issue or sign such Supply Contract or License. Owner shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to respond to Contractor as soon as practically possible and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after
receiving such copy. Contractor shall not issue, award or sign the Licenses and Supply Contracts referenced in this
Section 2.7.2(b) with any such Vendor during such ten (10) Business Day period without Owner’s prior written consent. Once
signed, Contractor shall not amend the Licenses to adversely affect or limit the Technology License provided thereunder without
Owner’s prior written consent.
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(c) When issuing any requests for quotations or similar documents to potential Suppliers for the
procurement of Contractor-Furnished Items or any Equipment that include any seismic requirements, and when issuing any
Supply Contracts for the procurement for such items, Contractor shall include only those seismic requirements referenced in the
Design Criteria for Structures and Foundations (Document No. PAL-PJT-CIV-DEC-00-X-0002) and Basic Engineering Design
Data (Document No. PAL-PJT-PRO-BOD-00-GEN-0002), and shall not include any other conflicting seismic requirements in
any such requests for quotation or Supply Contracts.

2.7.3 Terms of Certain Supply Contracts.

(a) Except for (i) Supply Contracts between Contractor and [***], and (ii) with respect to any other
Supply Contracts with a value of less than [***] (as calculated based on the aggregate value of all Supply Contracts to which a
Supplier or any of its Affiliates is a party), Contractor shall, and shall cause its Affiliates that enter into First-Tier Supply
Contracts to, include the following ((i) through (x) below) in all such First-Tier Supply Contracts, and shall cause its other
Suppliers to include the following ((i) through (x) below) in each Supply Contract entered into in connection with the Work by
such Supplier; provided that Contractor shall only be required to use commercially reasonable efforts to include the provisions as
stated in subclauses (i), (ii), (iii), (viii) and (ix) of this Section 2.7.3(a):

(i) provisions to preserve and protect the rights of Owner under this Agreement and to the Work to
be performed to the extent applicable to such Supply Contract;

(ii) require the Supplier to agree, and to cause its Suppliers of all tiers to agree, to provisions
consistent with Section 2.23 and Section 2.24, and require such Supplier to agree, and to cause its Suppliers of all tiers to agree,
that Owner may audit, inspect and copy documents and interview personnel, in the presence of Contractor’s representatives, to
the same extent as Owner may do so as to Contractor under Section 2.23.2;

(iii) require such Supplier to comply with requirements consistent with Section 2.7.10 and
Section 2.29;

(iv) require such Supplier to provide lien subordinations and lien releases in accordance with
Sections 2.9.1, 6.3.5 and 6.6;

(v) require such Supplier to cooperate with the FTZ requirements in accordance with Section 7.3;

(vi) require such Supplier to agree to suspension and termination rights consistent with
Sections 19.1, 19.2 and 19.3;

(vii) require such Supplier to agree to terms consistent with Section 23.13, and to terms consistent
with Section 11.1 and Article 12 to the extent applicable to such Supply Contract;
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(viii) provide that Owner or any Lender (or its designee) may, by written notice to the other
parties thereto but without their consent, take-over such Supply Contract in the event of a termination of this Agreement in
accordance with Article 19, and, following any such termination and prior to any such take-over, shall be entitled at their option
to step-in and cure a default of Contractor under such Supply Contract;

(ix) include provisions in form and substance similar to those set forth in Section 20.4 (except
Section 20.4.5), and require such Supplier to agree to arbitration and consolidation of disputes in accordance with Section 20.7;
and

(x) in the case of BASF SE: (A) Owner may by written notice and without consent, take
assignment of such License in the event of the termination of this Agreement; and (B) such License shall not terminate
notwithstanding any breach or termination of the applicable Master License Agreement between Contractor or its Affiliate and
BASF SE, whether such breach occurs before or after assignment of such License to Owner.

In determining the value of any Supply Contract for the purposes of this Section 2.7.3, the value of any raw materials or
consumables procured under such Supply Contract shall be included in the calculation of the value of such Supply Contract, and
the value of any Supply Contract with the same Supplier that is solely for the supply of raw materials or consumables, shall be
included when calculating the aggregate value of multiple Supply Contracts with a Supplier and its Affiliates.

(b) Contractor shall cause all Supply Contracts (i) between (A) Contractor and any Supplier; or (B) any
Affiliate of Contractor and any Supplier (each, a “First-Tier Supply Contract”), to include warranties consistent with the
warranties provided by Contractor hereunder (to the extent appropriate for the scope of supply) that shall be assignable to Owner
in accordance with Section 10.2.1; and (ii) with respect to the Extended Warranty Items, to provide a Warranty Period that meets
the requirements of Section 10.2.2.

2.7.4 Supply Contracts with Affiliates. With respect to any and all Work performed by an Affiliate of Contractor,
Contractor hereby agrees that Contractor shall be fully responsible for such Affiliate and the performance of such Work by such
Affiliate as if the Affiliate were the Contractor hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2.7.2, 2.7.3, 2.7.5
or 2.7.6, Supply Contracts between Contractor and Affiliates of Contractor that are wholly (one hundred percent (100%)) directly
or indirectly owned by Contractor, the Contractor Guarantor, or any Person that directly or indirectly owns the equity interests of
the Contractor Guarantor, need not comply with the requirements of Section 2.7.2(a)(iv), 2.7.3, 2.7.5 or 2.7.6 and which shall not
be assignable to Owner upon termination of this Agreement; provided, that with respect to Work identified on Appendix I, the
Supply Contract with such Affiliate is for performance of Work for which such Affiliate is identified as an acceptable Supplier on
Appendix I; provided, further, that the foregoing shall not limit the application of Sections 2.7.2, 2.7.3, 2.7.5 and 2.7.6 to
CIMTAS or to Supply Contracts between Affiliates of Contractor (including CIMTAS) and other Suppliers. Accordingly, if
during the performance of the Work, an Affiliate of Contractor that is performing the Work changes its circumstances such that it
is no longer wholly (one hundred percent (100%)) directly or
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indirectly owned by Contractor, the Contractor Guarantor or any Person that directly or indirectly owns the equity interests of the
Contractor Guarantor, Contractor shall enter into a Supply Contract with such non-Affiliate that complies with the requirements
of Sections 2.7.2, 2.7.3 and 2.7.5, which shall be assignable to Owner upon termination of this Agreement, and shall comply with
the requirements of Section 2.7.6 with respect to such Supply Contract.

2.7.5 Terms of All Supply Contracts. All Work performed by any Supplier is to be performed in accordance with
the requirements of this Agreement pertaining to conduct of the applicable Work. Subcontracted Work shall be accomplished
pursuant to a written agreement between Contractor and the relevant Supplier, or between a Supplier and another Supplier.
Contractor shall not, and shall not permit any of the Suppliers to, include pay-if-paid or pay-when-paid type provisions in any
Supply Contract. Each Supply Contract shall, so far as reasonably practicable and as applicable to the scope of the Work to be
performed under such Supply Contract, be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement, and shall, in addition to the
requirements of Section 2.7.3 and where applicable to the scope of the Work to be performed under such Supply Contract,
contain provisions that:

(a) require the Subcontractor to comply with the terms consistent with Section 2.3 and Section 2.17;

(b) require such Subcontractor to comply with the requirements consistent with Section 2.28;
(c) require such Subcontractor to agree to the provisions consistent with Section 2.8.3;

(d) require such Subcontractor to either enroll in the Contractor-provided insurance program or provide
and maintain adequate insurance in accordance with the requirements of Article 16;

(e) require such Subcontractor to comply with the policies and rules set forth in or produced pursuant to
Section 2.18 and Section 2.20; and

(f) obligate such Subcontractor specifically to consent to terms consistent with this Section 2.7.5 and
Section 2.7.6.

read-only, but otherwise Fully Functional files, PDF copies of each Supply Contract for Equipment intended to be incorporated
into the LNG Facility with a value greater than [***]; provided that Contractor may redact the actual price and payment terms,
and other commercial terms related to liquidated damages provisions, performance security and limits of liability, before making
such copies available to Owner. In addition, in accordance with Appendix U, Contractor shall provide to Owner downloadable
(by Owner in its offices), read-only, but otherwise in Fully Functional files, PDF copies of the technical requirements sections
(including specifications, descriptions and tag numbers/stock code) of all other Supply Contracts for the provision of Contractor-
Furnished Items.

55



2.7.7 Relationship with Suppliers. Nothing contained herein shall create any contractual relationship between
any Supplier and Owner. Owner shall have no obligation to pay, or to cause the payment of, any monies to any Supplier or any
other Person acting through, under or on behalf of Contractor.

2.7.8 Misconduct by Suppliers. If Owner notifies Contractor that a Supplier is failing to comply in any material
respect with Applicable Laws, GECP, or the policies and procedures produced pursuant to Section 2.18 or Section 2.20, or that a
Supplier otherwise persists in any conduct which is prejudicial to safety, health or the protection of the environment, Contractor
shall consult with Owner in good faith regarding the actions that Contractor will take to cause such Supplier to comply with such
policies or procedures or cease such conduct. Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit Contractor’s responsibility under this
Agreement as a result of the acts or omissions of Suppliers.

2.7.9 Ethical Business Dealings. Contractor shall not, and shall provide that its Suppliers and agents or
employees of any of them shall not: (a) pay any commissions or fees, or grant any rebates, to any employee, officer or consultant
of Owner or its Affiliates, or to immediate family members of any of them; (b) favor employees, officers or consultants of Owner
or its Affiliates or their immediate family members with gifts or entertainment of any significant cost or value; or (c) without
Owner’s prior written acceptance, enter into any business arrangements with employees, officers or consultants of Owner or its
Affiliates, or their immediate family members.

2.7.10 Use of Local Suppliers and Labor. Contractor understands the importance of utilizing Suppliers, located in
Jefferson County, Texas, the City of Port Arthur, Texas and otherwise from the local region comprised of Orange, Hardin, Jasper,
Newton, Liberty, Tyler and Chambers Counties, as well as the Bolivar Peninsula area of Galveston County, Texas, (the
“Region”), including any such Suppliers that are Minority or Women Owned Businesses, Historically Under Utilized Businesses
or Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (“HUB/DBE Suppliers”) as described in the Tax Abatements (collectively, “Local
Suppliers”), and employing qualified craft labor and other qualified personnel from County, City, and otherwise from the Region
(“Local Labor”). Contractor has read the Tax Abatements, and agrees to comply with the provisions of the Tax Abatements to
the extent applicable to Contractor with respect to the use of Local Suppliers and Local Labor. Owner will provide Contractor
with any extensions or amendments to the Tax Abatements that Owner enters into from time to time. Contractor shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to utilize Local Suppliers, and employ Local Labor in the performance of the Work at the Site
(or related thereto), and shall require its Major Subcontractors that perform Work at the Site to use commercially reasonable
efforts to do the same. In using commercially reasonable efforts, Contractor shall not be required to award a Subcontract to a
Local Supplier if, in Contractor’s reasonable judgment, such Local Supplier’s bid is significantly more expensive than other bids
received or if awarding a Subcontract to a Local Supplier would result in significant added expense, substantial inconvenience or
sacrifice of operating efficiency. In each case where a Local Supplier has bid for, but was not awarded a Subcontract for any of
the foregoing reasons and such Subcontract is in excess of [***], then Contractor shall list such Subcontract in its Monthly Status
Report, indicating the date of the
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latest update, but such list shall only be updated on a quarterly basis, in accordance with Attachment S-2 to Appendix S, together
with the applicable reason for not awarding the Subcontract to the Local Supplier. In connection therewith, Contractor shall
prepare and implement a program (the “Local Engagement Program”) to encourage the utilization of Local Suppliers and Local
Labor, including by: (a) setting goals for identifying opportunities for involvement of Local Suppliers and Local Labor;

(b) developing and implementing an outreach process with businesses and trade organizations based in the Region, to identify
and attract possible business interest of Local Suppliers; (c) working with Owner to provide job listing information to the City of
Port Arthur in accordance with the First Source Referral Agreement; (d) a pre-qualification process to enable Contractor to assess
the suitability, qualifications and financial capability of Persons resident within the Region to become a Local Supplier or provide
Local Labor; (e) a bidding process inclusive of qualified Local Suppliers on subcontract bid lists early in the procurement
process; (f) a monitoring process to provide statistical reporting as and in the format reasonably requested by Owner on
opportunities and utilization; and (g) identifying opportunities to collaborate on apprenticeship or other training programs with
local educational institutions within the Region. Contractor shall provide the Local Engagement Plan to Owner for review and
acceptance (not to be unreasonably withheld) as soon as practicable after the Bridging LNTP Date or the FNTP Date, whichever
is earlier, and in any event by the earlier of (i) thirty (30) Days after such date. The Local Engagement Program will include KPIs
with associated liability of up to [***] in the aggregate as determined and calculated in accordance with Appendix WW.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Owner’s sole and exclusive remedy, and Contractor’s sole and
exclusive liability, for Contractor’s failure to comply with the Tax Abatements, this Section 2.7.10, the Local Engagement
Program or the KPIs shall be the payment of liquidated damages as set forth in Appendix WW and Owner’s withholding rights
under Section 6.2.2(b), and Contractor shall not be liable for any Tax Abatement benefit that either Owner or Common Facilities
Owner did not obtain from the applicable Governmental Authorities or any Tax Abatements fines or assessments.

2.8 Construction Equipment.

2.8.1 Responsibility for Construction Equipment. Contractor shall furnish all Construction Equipment necessary
and appropriate for the completion of the Work in compliance with this Agreement. Contractor shall only bring Construction
Equipment onto the Site that is in good operating condition, with all safety gear in good working order, and shall maintain such
Construction Equipment in good and safe working order, and repair and replace such Construction Equipment, as necessary to
keep such Construction Equipment in good and safe working order, in accordance with Applicable Laws, manufacturers’
recommendations and GECP. Contractor shall and shall cause its Subcontractors to maintain inspection reports and maintenance
logs at the Site for all Construction Equipment, in each case for which it is customary under GECP or recommended or required
by the manufacturer of such Construction Equipment for Contractor to obtain such inspection reports and maintain such logs, and
all such reports and logs shall be available for Owner’s review at any time. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Agreement, Contractor shall be responsible for damage to or destruction or loss of, from any cause whatsoever, all such
Construction Equipment.
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2.8.2 Use of Affiliate Construction Equipment Upon Termination. If Owner terminates this Agreement pursuant
to Article 19, all Construction Equipment that is (i) owned by Contractor or any Affiliate of Contractor that is wholly (one
hundred percent (100%)) directly or indirectly owned by Contractor, the Contractor Guarantor, or any Person that directly or
indirectly owns the equity interests of the Contractor Guarantor; or (ii) after such termination, remains under contract with,
Contractor or by any Affiliate of Contractor and is not assigned to Owner in accordance with Section 2.8.3 or 19.7, and is then
located (or at the time of any Contractor Event of Default was located) at the Site, in each case, shall be removed from the Site by
Contractor.

2.8.3 Terms in .ease Agreements for Construction Equipment. Contractor shall require all lease agreements for
Construction Equipment (other than lease agreements with its Affiliates) to permit assignment of any such lease agreement to
Owner pursuant to the requirements of this Section 2.8.3 if Owner terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 19.3. Any such
lease agreement shall provide for the following:

(a) Within seven (7) Days after the date on which a termination of this Agreement by Owner pursuant to
Section 19.3 has become effective, Owner may:

(i) notify the Supplier of any such Construction Equipment that such lease is assigned to Owner
pursuant to this Section; and

(ii) undertake to pay all lease or hire charges in respect thereof from such date on the same terms
in all respects as the same was leased to Contractor or its Subcontractor except that Owner shall be entitled to permit the use
thereof by any other contractor employed by Owner for the purpose of completing the Work.

(b) Upon receipt of Owner’s notice and agreement described in Section 2.8.3(a), the owner of such

(i) If Owner enters into any agreement for the lease of any Construction Equipment pursuant to
Section 2.8.3, all sums properly paid by Owner under the provisions of any such agreement and all expenses properly incurred by
Owner (including stamp duties) in entering into such an agreement shall be deemed to be part of the cost of completing the Work
in the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 19.3.

(ii) Contractor, upon request made by Owner at any time in relation to any item of Construction
Equipment (other than lease agreements with its Affiliates), shall promptly provide Owner with the name and address of the
owner thereof and certify that the agreement for the hire of such Construction Equipment contains a provision in accordance with
the requirements of Section 2.8.3.

2.8.4 Failure to Remove Construction Equipment. If any item of Construction Equipment that Owner does not
rent or lease under this Agreement, including Construction
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Equipment described in Section 2.8.2, remains at the Site after the termination of this Agreement, or after Final Completion, then
Owner may:

(a) return any such items that are the property of Contractor or its Affiliates to such Person at
Contractor’s expense;

(b) return any such items that are not the property of Contractor or its Affiliates to the Supplier thereof at
Contractor’s expense;

(c) move such Construction Equipment to a location which does not interfere with the performance of the
Work by others;

and all charges and expenses of and in connection with the return or movement (including the reasonable storage
costs) of such Construction Equipment shall be a debt due from Contractor to Owner and Contractor shall reimburse Owner for
such charges and expenses within thirty (30) Days after receipt of Owner’s request for reimbursement.

2.8.5 Certain Owner Rights with Respect to Equipment Safety. Should Owner at any time observe any
Construction Equipment that is unsafe or being operated in an unsafe manner, or in a manner that may, if continued, become
unsafe, then Owner shall have the right (but not the obligation) to require Contractor to stop operating such Construction
Equipment until such time as the Construction Equipment has been rendered safe to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner;
provided, however, that at no time shall Contractor be entitled to an adjustment of the Contract Price or Key Date Schedule based
on such work stoppage. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, if Contractor disagrees with any order to stop
operation of Construction Equipment that it receives from Owner, and Contractor notifies Owner of such disagreement, Owner
and Contractor shall each promptly escalate such disagreement to a higher supervisory level, up to the level of the Contractor
Representative and Owner Representative, as applicable. If after such escalation, Owner continues to enforce the stop order and it
is later determined that the Construction Equipment was safe to operate and such stop order delayed the performance of the Work
by more than four (4) hours, such stop order shall constitute an Owner-Caused Delay for the purposes of this Agreement.

2.9 Liens.

2.9.1 Contractor Liens. Contractor hereby, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, subordinates any
mechanics’ and materialmen’s or other Liens that may be brought by Contractor against any or all of the Work, the Site, the LNG
Facility or any other property of Owner or the Common Facilities Owner to any Liens granted in favor of any Lender or its
representative, whether such Lien in favor of such Person is created, attached or perfected prior to or after any such Contractor
Liens, and shall require its Suppliers to similarly subordinate their Lien rights. Contractor agrees to comply with reasonable
requests of Owner for supporting documentation required by any Lender or Lender representative, including any necessary Lien
subordination agreements, affidavits or other documents that may be required to demonstrate that Owner’s property, the Common
Facilities Owner’s property, the LNG Facility
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and the Site are free from Liens arising out of the furnishing of Work under this Agreement (including any Subcontract).

2.9.2 Supplier Liens. Contractor shall be solely responsible for payment of all its obligations and the payment by
its Suppliers of their obligations. Contractor shall keep Owner’s property, the Common Facilities Owner’s property, the LNG
Facility and the Site free of Liens filed by its Affiliates, and, subject to Owner having paid undisputed amounts due hereunder to
Contractor as of such date, Contractor shall keep Owner’s property, the Common Facilities Owner’s property, the LNG Facility
and the Site free of Liens filed by its other Suppliers. If a Lien is filed against Owner’s property, the Common Facilities Owner’s
property, the LNG Facility or the Site by an Affiliate of Contractor or another Supplier, Contractor will (in the case of Suppliers
other than an Affiliate of Contractor, subject to Owner having paid undisputed amounts due hereunder to Contractor as of such
date), promptly commence appropriate action to remove such Lien, and shall thereafter diligently pursue the release of such Lien
in accordance with this Section 2.9.

2.9.3 Release or Discharge of Lien. Subject to Owner having paid undisputed amounts due hereunder to
Contractor as of such date, if any Contractor Lien that is filed against the Owner’s property, the Common Facilities Owner’s
property, the LNG Facility or the Site as a result of the Work is not removed within fifteen (15) Business Days after it is filed,
Contractor shall (a) furnish a bond in accordance with Tex. Property Code Ann. Chapter 53, Subchapter H (§53.171, et. seq.) to
obtain the release of such Lien; and (b) defend any action (i) based on any theory that Contractor or any of its Suppliers or any of
Contractor’s Affiliates failed to properly pay its applicable employees as agreed or otherwise in accordance with Applicable Law;
or (ii) which may result in the assertion of a Contractor Lien or other similar remedy in connection with the performance of the
Work. Owner may audit Contractor’s relevant Books and Records if a Contractor Lien or other similar remedy is asserted and
Contractor does not as soon as practicable secure the release of the same, whether by posting a bond or otherwise. If Contractor
fails to remove or discharge any Lien within the required fifteen (15) Business Day period, then Owner may, in its sole and
absolute discretion and in addition to any other rights that it has under this Agreement, remove or discharge such Contractor Lien
using whatever means Owner, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems appropriate, including posting of a bond or payment of
settlement amounts that Owner in its sole and absolute discretion deems appropriate. Subject to Owner having paid undisputed
amounts due hereunder to Contractor as of such date, Contractor shall reimburse Owner, or Owner may withhold sufficient
amounts to reimburse Owner, for all Claims and expenses (including court costs, attorneys’ fees and other litigation costs), and
including contractual liability to any Person for any of the above, on account of or which may be incurred by any member of the
Owner Group in connection with the removal or discharge of such Contractor Lien.

2.9.4 Affidavit of Completion. No later than thirty (30) Days prior to the scheduled Substantial Completion Date
of Stage II, Contractor shall prepare and submit to Owner for review and acceptance, an affidavit of completion of the Work that
complies with the requirements of Texas Prop. Code §53.106 and is otherwise in form and substance acceptable to Owner.
Contractor shall respond to any comments that Owner may provide within ten (10) Days
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after Contractor receives such comments. Once Owner accepts the proposed affidavit, Owner shall sign such affidavit and
Contractor shall file such affidavit of completion in the records of Jefferson County of the State of Texas no later than ten (10)
Days after the Final Acceptance Date of the last Stage to achieve Final Acceptance, and shall on the same date as the affidavit is
filed (but subject to Owner having provided Contractor with a list of Persons that have sent a notice of Lien liability to Owner or
requested a copy of the affidavit of completion), send a copy of the affidavit to any Supplier that is or Person on the list provided
by Owner and provide Owner with a copy of such recorded affidavit no later than five (5) Days after such filing.

2.10 Contractor Permits; Owner Permits.

2.10.1 Contractor Permits. Contractor shall obtain and maintain all Contractor Permits, including those identified
or described in Appendix J-2, on or before the date that they are required for performance of the Work in accordance with the
Project Schedule.

2.10.2 Owner Permits.

(a) Without limiting Contractor’s rights under Section 8.3.1, Contractor shall cooperate with and shall
provide reasonable assistance to Owner in obtaining and maintaining any Owner Permits, including preparing and developing
supporting drawings, models, documentation and other information requested by the FERC, PHMSA or other Governmental
Authorities (such as in connection with the FERC-approved Implementation Plan) pursuant to or in connection with any Owner
Permit, consistent with, or reasonably inferable from, Contractor’s Permitting Plan. Contractor shall collect and provide data and
other information reasonably available to Contractor required for any applications for the Owner Permits and any amendments or
modifications to such Permits that Owner determines has become necessary during the performance of the Work or are requested
by the FERC, PHMSA or other Governmental Authorities.

(b) With respect to any clarifications to the Owner Permits, including any applicable amendments,
modifications or variances to the Owner Permits, as described on Appendix J-3, Owner shall obtain such amendment,
modification or variance as Owner determines is necessary or appropriate.

(c) Where any amendments or modifications to an Owner Permit is required due to a Contractor-initiated
change or modification to the engineering and design of the LNG Facility after [***], Contractor shall promptly notify Owner in
writing at the time that such change to the engineering or design is proposed. To the extent that Owner agrees to such change and
agrees to obtain the necessary amendment or modification of the relevant Owner Permits in connection with such change,
Contractor shall prepare the necessary engineering and other technical documentation for such amendments or modifications, and
submit the same to Owner for review and comment. Once Owner has no further comments to the proposed documentation,
Owner shall submit an application to amend or modify the relevant Owner Permit to the applicable Governmental Authority. Any
delays in issuance of such Permits shall not constitute an Owner-Caused Delay except to the extent expressly provided in clause
(d) of the definition of Owner Caused Delay, or otherwise serve as the basis for a Change Order (but without limiting
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Contractor’s rights with respect to a Change in Law). Contractor may request that Owner request expedited reviews of
modifications or amendments to Owner Permits. To the extent that Contractor makes such a request and other Owner Permit
applications, or amendments or modifications of Owner Permits, are delayed as a result of the applicable Governmental
Authority expediting its review as requested, any delays related to issuance of such delayed Owner Permit or amendment or
modification shall not constitute an Owner-Caused Delay or serve as the basis of a Change Order.

(d) Contractor understands that the Owner Permits may require the satisfaction of conditions for the
continuing performance of the Work, and that Owner’s ability to maintain such Permits and satisfy such conditions, including
obtaining further approvals or authorizations from Governmental Authorities such as FERC and PHMSA for the performance of
the Work, is in part dependent on Contractor’s reasonable assistance and cooperation. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that
the Baseline CPM Schedule includes customary time for FERC and PHMSA reviews and inspections and that the requirements
of Governmental Authorities with respect to the Owner Permits shall not serve as the basis for a Change Order, unless such
approvals or authorizations from such Governmental Authorities are received more than sixty (60) Days after Contractor’s
submission of complete and accurate supporting documentation to Owner. Contractor shall be responsible for providing the
necessary engineering and technical information and preparing supporting documentation for Owner to demonstrate that the
Owner Permit conditions are satisfied. The Parties intend that the supporting documentation to be provided by Contractor will be
consistent with or reasonably inferable from the documentation that is contemplated in Contractor’s Permitting Plan as of the
Effective Date, but acknowledge that the relevant Governmental Authority may require additional or different documentation. In
such case, Contractor shall provide such documentation as is reasonably available to Contract, and Contractor’s Permitting Plan
may be updated accordingly from time to time as the Parties agree. Contractor shall submit to Owner a complete and accurate
package of engineering and technical documentation in accordance with the relevant Owner Permit for each such further
approval or authorization, no less than sixty (60) Days prior to the date receipt of such approval or authorization is required in
order to avoid delays to the performance of the Work, or such shorter period of time as Owner and Contractor agree are
appropriate under the circumstances of the required approval or authorization. Owner shall endeavor to submit such package for
approval or authorization within fourteen (14) Business Days after Contractor’s submission of same to Owner. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the sixty (60) Day requirement in the foregoing
does not apply in the case of engineering and technical documentation that is submitted in response to Condition No. 30(b) of the
FERC Order. Contractor shall respond to any Owner comments, provide additional documentation reasonably available to
Contractor requested by an applicable Governmental Authority, assist Owner in responding to questions or requests for further
information from the applicable Governmental Authorities, and coordinate with Owner so that any such further approvals or
authorizations are obtained in time so as to not delay performance of the Work in accordance with this Agreement. Any delay by
Owner in obtaining any such further approval or authorization due to Contractor’s failure to provide such assistance or to
reasonably cooperate with Owner with respect to the permitting process shall not constitute an Owner-Caused Delay for the
purposes of this Agreement.
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(i) Contractor shall promptly notify Owner of any conflict or discrepancy between or among the
Owner Permits, the Basis of Design, the Scope of Work and the design of the LNG Facility (other than as identified on
Appendix J-3) as and when such conflicts or discrepancies are identified, and confer with Owner to determine how Owner desires
to resolve such conflicts. If Owner elects to resolve the conflict by amending or modifying an Owner Permit, Contractor will
provide assistance in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Section 2.10.2.

(e) Contractor and Owner shall regularly schedule meetings to review the schedule for submission of
Permit applications, establish priorities, and monitor progress on the preparation of Permit applications and issuance of Permits.
Both Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide the other Party with relevant information and Permit
applications at least thirty (30) Days prior to the submission date of a Permit application.

(f) During the course of obtaining the Contractor Permits, Contractor and Owner shall meet as mutually
agreed to determine which, if any, of the Contractor Permits will be necessary for Owner to operate each Stage of the LNG
Facility following Substantial Completion. If any such Contractor Permits are identified, such Contractor Permits shall be
obtained in Owner’s name, where applicable and subject to the other provisions of this Section 2.10, or assigned or transferred to
Owner at Substantial Completion of the relevant Stage. Any necessary modification or amendment to such Contractor Permits
that must be made following Substantial Completion with respect to Owner’s operation of the LNG Facility after Substantial
Completion shall be Owner’s responsibility.

(g) To the extent a Permit that is identified following the Effective Date as being required for operation of
the LNG Facility is not listed as a Contractor Permit or Owner Permit on Appendix J-2 or Appendix J-1, respectively, and such
Permit is legally required to be issued in Owner’s name, such Permit shall be an Owner Permit for purposes of this Section 2.10
and Contractor shall cooperate with and shall provide reasonable assistance to Owner until Substantial Completion of the
applicable Stage in obtaining and maintaining such Permits, including preparing and developing supporting documentation and
other information reasonably available to Contractor that is requested by the Governmental Authorities, in a timely manner so as
to not delay the review or issuance of such Permit by the applicable Governmental Authority.

2.10.3 Interactions with Governmental Authorities. Contractor shall at all times cooperate and coordinate with
Owner with respect to all interactions with Governmental Authorities related to the Work or the Liquefaction Project.
Specifically, without limiting the foregoing, Contractor shall:

(a) dedicate an individual to coordinate with Owner to expedite the development of responses to technical
queries from Governmental Authorities such as FERC and PHMSA, and the submission of supporting documentation necessary
to satisfy Permit conditions so that Owner can obtain further approvals or authorizations for the continued performance of the
Work;
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(b) notify Owner of Contractor’s intent to obtain or renew any Contractor Permit at least five (5) Business
Days in advance of such filing wherever practicable or otherwise as soon as practicable;

(c) copy Owner on all filings, applications and written correspondence with any Governmental Authority
as such relates to Contractor’s execution of the Work;

(d) invite Owner to attend and participate in each meeting between Contractor and any Governmental
Authority relating to the Work;

(e) if Contractor encounters any issue or problem with any Governmental Authority in connection with
the Work or any of Contractor’s obligations hereunder, (i) promptly notify Owner thereof; and (ii) coordinate and cooperate fully
with Owner to solve such issue or problem; and

(f) promptly notify Owner (which notice shall include a copy of the relevant correspondence from the
applicable Governmental Authority) if Contractor or any Supplier receives any notice of violation or similar notification from a
Governmental Authority which asserts or alleges any breach or violation of any Permit.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor acknowledges and agrees that:

(g) inspections or reviews by Governmental Authorities may extend for a number of days and Contractor
and the relevant Suppliers of Work being inspected or reviewed must be available to and reasonably cooperate with Owner and
representatives of such Governmental Authorities during the period of the inspection or review, and respond promptly to requests
of representatives of Governmental Authorities that relate to the Work, so as to facilitate such inspection or review;

(h) no such cooperation or coordination nor provision of any assistance or advice by Owner shall reduce,
diminish or otherwise affect any obligation of Contractor hereunder; and

(i) Without limiting Contractor’s rights with respect to an Excusable Delay, Contractor shall not be
entitled to a Change Order as a result of any such cooperation or coordination or provision of assistance or advice provided in
accordance with this Section 2.10.3, regardless of whether Owner is successful in addressing any issue or problem.

2.11 Use of the Site.

2.11.1 Use of the Site. From and after the FNTP Date and until Substantial Completion of Stage II, Contractor
shall, subject to the other provisions of this Section 2.11, Section 2.28 and Appendix M, be entitled to full use of the Site for the
conduct of the Work in compliance with the terms of this Agreement such that Contractor may progress with construction on a
continuous basis without material interruption or interference. Subject to Sections 2.5.3 and 14.1, Contractor shall not allow any
Persons (other than Contractor’s or any
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Supplier’s employees or officers) to access the Site except directly in connection with the performance of the Work, without
providing prior written notice to Owner of the identity of such Persons. Thereafter, Contractor shall be entitled to use the Site as
reasonably necessary to fulfill its obligations under Section 2.11.10, but in any event for no longer than thirty (30) Days after the
Final Acceptance Date of Stage II, after which Contractor shall have no further right to access or use the Site except in
accordance with Article 10. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that (a) following the initial introduction of hydrocarbons in
Stage I, access to Stage I and the Common Facilities may be further restricted in accordance with Permit requirements;

(b) following Substantial Completion of Stage I, access to the controlled areas related to Stage I and the Common Facilities:

(i) for the purpose of completing any unfinished and planned Work, shall be on the terms set forth in Section 2.11.2(a); and

(ii) for the purpose of performing unplanned Work, including Punch List Items and any Corrective Work, shall be on the terms set
forth in Section 2.11.2(b); and (c) after Substantial Completion of a Stage, Owner’s operating procedures and the Owner HSSE
Program shall apply to all Work performed on the areas of the Site and the LNG Facility that are controlled by Owner following
Substantial Completion of that Stage, in addition to any further procedures adopted by Contractor.

2.11.2 Use of the Site After Stage I Has Achieved Substantial Completion.

(a) Planned Activities. Contractor shall provide Owner with notice in writing of the expected dates for
performance of Work on a Stage after such Stage has achieved Substantial Completion in accordance with Appendix M,
including providing the updates as described therein. Contractor shall submit a detailed written plan to Owner for Owner’s review
and comment or acceptance at such time as described in Appendix M, for the performance of Work that may interfere with
operation of a Stage that has achieved Substantial Completion. Contractor’s plan shall minimize, to the greatest extent reasonably
possible, interference with the operation of any Stage that has achieved Substantial Completion, and shall identify any such
interference that may occur. Once Contractor’s plan is accepted by Owner, Contractor shall perform such Work in accordance
with such plan. Owner shall permit Contractor with access when and as set forth in such approved plan.

(b) Unplanned Activities. No Work shall be performed on any part of a Stage that has already achieved
Substantial Completion except in accordance with Appendix M. During the performance of the Work, if a situation arises that
requires Work to be performed on a Stage that has achieved Substantial Completion in addition to that planned pursuant to
Section 2.11.2(a), or if Contractor intends or desires to perform any aspect of the Work which Contractor reasonably believes has
the potential of interfering with the operation of a Stage that has achieved Substantial Completion, in each case other than the
Work planned in accordance with Section 2.11.2(a) and Appendix M, Contractor shall follow the procedures for preparation and
submission of a plan for unplanned activities set forth in Appendix M. Such plans shall provide for the performance of such Work
in a manner that minimizes, to the greatest extent reasonably possible, interference with the operation of any Stage that has
achieved Substantial Completion, and shall identify any such interference that may occur. Contractor shall submit such plan to
Owner for review and comment or acceptance, and once such plan is accepted by Owner, Contractor shall perform such Work in
accordance with such plan.
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Notwithstanding Owner’s agreement to the schedule and the plan for the performance of such Work, Owner may, in its sole and
absolute discretion, subsequently prohibit the performance of such Work on such scheduled date, and Contractor shall work with
Owner to develop a new plan and date for performing such Work in accordance with this Section 2.11.2(b).

(c) Plan Requirements. In addition to the requirements set forth in Section 2.11.2(a), Section 2.11.2(b) or
Appendix M, as applicable, Contractor shall specifically note in each plan prepared pursuant to Section 2.11.2(a) or
Section 2.11.2(b), any interconnection activities or other portions of the Work that would involve shutting down or curtailing
production of LNG or NGLs for any Stage that has achieved Substantial Completion, or would diminish the capacity or
performance of the Common Facilities in any manner.

2.11.3 Other Locations. Contractor shall carry out the Work so as not to interfere unnecessarily or improperly
with, or damage, any access to, use or occupation of, public or private roads and footpaths or properties whether in the possession
of Owner or of any other Person. Contractor shall liaise with, and ascertain the requirements of, all Governmental Authorities in
relation to vehicular access to and egress from the Site and access via waterways, and shall comply with those requirements.
Contractor shall so organize the Work as to minimize, and if required by any Governmental Authorities having jurisdiction over
such roads or footpaths, avoid, vehicular travel during peak travel time on public roads, such as (but not limited to) school start
and finish times. Contractor shall use commercially reasonable efforts, in accordance with GECP, to prevent damage to any
highway or bridge by any traffic of Contractor or any Supplier and in particular, but without limitation, shall: (a) select routes,
obtain all Contractor Permits from, and post any and all bonds for potential damage required by, relevant Governmental
Authorities; and (b) choose and use vehicles and restrict and distribute loads so that any traffic interference or damage to roads
and bridges which may arise from the moving of equipment and materials to and from the Site shall be limited as far as
reasonably possible, consistent with those standards. Contractor shall maintain all access routes so as to minimize dust and dirt
accumulation on public roads adjacent to the Site, as well as within the Site. Contractor shall be deemed to have satisfied itself as
to and shall be fully responsible for the routing for delivery of heavy or large loads to the Site. Contractor shall implement
appropriate traffic control measures with respect to the performance and delivery of the Work, including those required under
Applicable Laws. As between Owner and Contractor, Contractor shall be fully responsible for all Claims made by third parties
for damages, losses, costs, expenses and charges arising out of damage to roads, bridges and other third-party property caused by
Contractor or any Supplier during performance of the Work and shall promptly restore at its own cost and expense such property
to the condition it was in before such damage to the extent required by such third-party Claim. Contractor shall and shall cause its
Suppliers to coordinate and conduct the performance of the Work so as to not interfere with or disrupt the use and peaceful
enjoyment of any property adjacent to the Site. For the avoidance of doubt, Contractor and Suppliers conducting the Work in
accordance with Applicable Laws and Permits shall not be deemed to disrupt the use and peaceful enjoyment of any property
adjacent to the Site. Where the nature of the Work is such as to require the use by Contractor of waterborne transport or
Contractor’s or any Supplier’s use any of the waterways, Contractor shall and shall cause its Suppliers to, coordinate with the
applicable Governmental Authorities so as to avoid, or
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minimize to the extent possible, any interference by Contractor or its Suppliers with the access by and use of the waterways by
other Persons, and shall comply with all Applicable Laws during use of waterborne transport or any other use of waterways in
connection with the performance of the Work. Contractor shall promptly address any complaints from the local communities and
harbors and waterways arising from any such damage or interference described in this Section 2.11.3 in an expedient and
professional manner. Contractor shall ensure that the construction dock complies with the terms of the Owner Permits, as
applicable, and all other Applicable Laws. Contractor acknowledges that busy harbors, waterways and jetties and the use of such
facilities by other Persons shall not constitute a Force Majeure event or an Owner-Caused Delay.

2.11.4 Owner Agreements. At all times during the performance of the Work at the Site, Contractor shall comply,
and shall cause all Subcontractors performing Work at the Site to comply, with the requirements of the leases, easement and other
rights affecting Owner’s or the Common Facilities Owner’s real property as set forth in Appendix LL, including allowing third
parties to access the Site in accordance with such rights.

2.11.5 Pipeline Crossings Rights-of-Way. Contractor shall provide Owner with the design of the pipeline
crossings in the locations as depicted on Attachment I.-4 to Appendix L. as Owner reasonably requires in order to obtain the
necessary rights-of-way for such pipeline crossings in accordance with Section 3.14. In designing the crossings, Contractor shall
design the crossing such that it would not cause any adverse effect on the utilities, and such design shall be subject to approval by
the utilities.

2.11.6 Off-Site Laydown Yard Lease. Contractor’s lease agreement with respect to its selected off-Site laydown
yard in Jefferson County, Texas shall be assignable to Owner at Owner’s request without the consent of the landlord upon a
termination of this Agreement. If Owner requests assignment of such lease in connection with the termination of this Agreement,
Contractor shall provide Owner with a true, correct and complete copy of such lease.

2.11.7 Location of Site Boundaries. Prior to issuance of the Full Notice to Proceed, Contractor shall physically
locate in the field the coordinates and the boundaries of the areas of the Site as shown on Attachment [.-1 and Attachment L-5.
Once such coordinates and boundaries are physically located in the field, Contractor shall notify Owner so that Owner may
review the staked locations. If any of the boundaries of the areas of the Site as shown on Attachment I.-1, as located by
Contractor in the field, encroach or infringe on any easements, rights-of-way or other property interests used or held by third
parties, or areas of the Owner Property reserved for other uses by Owner, and Owner determines that the boundaries of the areas
of the Site as shown on Attachment I.-1 must be moved, Owner and Contractor shall cooperate to re-locate the applicable
boundaries of the areas of the Site as shown on Attachment L-1. Once the Parties have agreed on the physical locations of the
boundaries of the areas of the Site depicted on Attachment [.-1, Contractor shall survey such boundaries and prepare a survey
depicting all boundaries of the areas of the Site and submit the same to Owner for review and approval. Once Owner approves
the survey, the Parties shall amend the
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Agreement by revising Attachment [.-1 by replacing it with the agreed survey which shall thereafter define the Site for all
purposes under this Agreement.

2.11.8 No Commercial Activities. Neither Contractor nor its Subcontractors nor its or their employees shall
establish any commercial activity or issue concessions or permits of any kind to third parties for establishing commercial
activities on the Site or any other lands owned, leased or otherwise controlled by Owner; provided, that lunch wagons and
vending machines may be permitted upon prior written acceptance by Owner.

2.11.9 Hunting, Fishing and Firearms. Contractor shall cause its personnel not to, and shall cause each member
of Contractor Group to cause its personnel not to, hunt, fish or carry any weapons, firearms or other similar items at the Site or
any other property owned, leased or controlled by Owner or any of its Affiliates, including the Common Affiliates Owner. Owner
may inspect the personnel of any member of Contractor Group to confirm compliance with this Section 2.11.9. Contractor shall
notify its personnel and shall require each member of Contractor Group to notify its personnel that a violation of this
Section 2.11.9 may result in prosecution under Applicable Laws, including Applicable Laws related to trespassing or the
possession of weapons, firearms and other similar items.

2.11.10 Clean-Up. Contractor shall, to Owner’s reasonable satisfaction, at all times and in a professional manner
in accordance with all Applicable Laws, appropriately manage and remove and dispose of all waste materials or rubbish caused
by the activities of Contractor or any of its Subcontractors. Without limitation of the foregoing or limiting Contractor’s
obligations, Contractor shall clean up all such waste materials or rubbish at Owner’s request with reasonable notice. As soon as
practicable following Substantial Completion of a Stage, Contractor shall remove, at its own cost, all of its equipment, materials
and other items not constituting part of the LNG Facility and remove all waste material and rubbish (but not including Pre-
Existing Hazardous Materials) from the areas of the Site related to that Stage. As soon as practicable after completion of all of the
Punch List Items with respect to both Stages, or upon Owner’s election to complete the Punch List Items under Section 9.9.4,
Contractor shall, and shall cause the Suppliers to, remove, at Contractor’s cost, all waste material and rubbish (but not including
Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials) and all of Contractor’s or such Supplier’s equipment, materials and other items not
constituting part of the LNG Facility, and restore the Site (to the extent applicable) in accordance with all Permits and this
Agreement. In the event of Contractor’s failure to comply with any of the foregoing, Owner, having given Contractor five (5)
Days’ notice and Contractor having failed to commence and thereafter diligence pursue a cure for such failure to comply, may
accomplish the same at Contractor’s expense.

2.12.1 Roads and Site Access Infrastructure. Contractor shall be responsible for providing or constructing any
access roads, haul roads, docks, or other site access infrastructure necessary for Contractor to transport materials, including
Equipment and Construction Equipment, to the Site. Contractor shall use the locations of entrances onto the Site as identified in
the Owner Permits. Any activities of Contractor in connection with the foregoing that require Contractor to access to, or that may
cause interference with the operation of, any Stage that has
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achieved Substantial Completion, including any potential interference with traffic in the Sabine Neches Waterway, shall be
subject to the requirements of Section 2.11.2.

2.12.2 Shipping and Storage.

(a) Contractor shall, as part of the Work: (i) arrange for complete handling of all Equipment, including
inspection, expediting, quality assurance, shipping, loading, unloading, FTZ admission, customs clearance, receiving, and
storage; (ii) make all necessary arrangements for tugs, escort services and any other arrangements necessary for the use of
waterborne transport of any items, including Equipment, to the Site; and (iii) construct and maintain the heavy haul road for use
in transporting items delivered to the materials offloading facility as described in Appendix A, until Substantial Completion of
Stage II occurs and care, custody and control of Stage II has been transferred to Owner. Contractor has provided Owner with a
shipping Plan as part of the Project Execution Plan that lays out the methodology and logistics of transporting the Equipment, the
Construction Equipment and all other items and materials incorporated into the LNG Facility as part of the Work or used in
connection with or necessary to conduct the Work but which do not form a permanent part of the LNG Facility, which Contractor
shall follow in shipping all Equipment to the Site. If Contractor determines that any access roads over which it will transport
items, including Equipment, to the Site, must be widened or otherwise improved under applicable requirements of the
Department of Transportation, FERC or other Governmental Authorities in connection with Contractor’s proposed use,
Contractor shall be responsible to obtain any Permit or prepare any applications to modify any Owner Permit and, subject to
Owner’s rights with respect to the Owner Permits, submit such application and obtain the necessary modifications to such Owner
Permit, and subject to Contractor’s rights with respect to a Change in Law, shall bear the risk of delay with respect to issuance of
any such Permit or modification.

(b) All Equipment, including operating spare parts and Capital Spare Parts, and other items comprising
part of the Work stored at a location other than the Site or with respect to which title has passed to Owner under this Agreement
shall be segregated from other goods and shall be clearly marked as “Property of Port Arthur LNG, LLC” or “Property of
PALNG Common Facilities Company, LL.C,” as applicable. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the preservation and
maintenance of all Equipment, including operating spare parts and Capital Spare Parts, Construction Equipment and any other
items of the Work, whether stored in any warehouse, stored on or off the Site, or installed in the LNG Facility, until transfer of
care, custody and control of the respective Stage to Owner in accordance with Section 11.2, as applicable. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing or the requirements of the Quality Assurance Plan, Contractor shall store all Equipment, including
operating spare parts and Capital Spare Parts, and shall maintain all Equipment while in storage, in accordance with the
requirements of the applicable Supplier’s requirements for the preservation and maintenance of the relevant Equipment, and the
requirements of the Scope of Work, Applicable Laws, if any, and any insurance programs related to such Equipment.

(c) Contractor shall not store any imported Equipment which is imported through the FTZ and for which
Owner is responsible for Customs Duties in accordance
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with Section 7.3 in any location other than a location designated as part of a FTZ. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Equipment that
is not imported or is not eligible to be imported through the FTZ, or which is necessary for fabrication of modular components
and must be stored at the modularization yards utilized by Contractor in Louisiana, notwithstanding that such modularization
yards are not designated as a FTZ, may be stored off the Site at such modularization yards or other locations as may be
permissible under the Owner Permits.

(d) In any event, if Contractor elects to store any component or item of Equipment at any location other
than the Site, Contractor shall: (i) prior to or concurrently with placing any component or item of Equipment into storage at any
location other than the Site, tag the Equipment as provided in Section 2.12.2(b); (ii) on a quarterly basis (as of the end of each
calendar quarter), provide written notice of the storage location of any component or item of Equipment where the value of the
item of Equipment, or the item of Equipment of which such component is a part of, exceeds [***], specifying in such notice the
components or items of Equipment currently stored at such location; (iii) provide a quarterly inventory (as of the end of each
calendar quarter) to Owner of all components or items of Equipment in storage with values as described in subclause (ii) of this
Section 2.12.2(d), specifying the location of each such component and item of Equipment; and (iv) provide Owner with
reasonable access to each such storage location and such components or items of Equipment to allow Owner or its designee to
inspect such components or items of Equipment for the purpose of verifying Contractor’s compliance with the requirements of
Section 2.12.2(b) and this Section 2.12.2(d). The notices and quarterly inventories provided by Contractor pursuant to this
Section 2.12.2(d) shall be provided in the form and format as described in Attachment S-4 to Appendix S.

(e) References to the Equipment or any component or item thereof in this Section 2.12.2 shall in all cases
include operating spare parts and Capital Spare Parts.

2.12.3 Laydown Areas. All of the off-Site laydown areas that Contractor will utilize during performance of the
Work are defined in Contractor’s Project Execution Plan. Contractor shall not utilize any other off-Site laydown areas in
connection with the performance of the Work without obtaining Owner’s prior written approval to the use of such laydown area;
provided, however, if a proposed off-Site laydown area complies with the Owner Permits and complies with the requirements of
Section 7.3, then Contractor shall notify Owner in advance in writing of the use of such other off-Site laydown area, but need not
obtain Owner’s prior written approval.

documentation, necessary to import Equipment and any other equipment and other items necessary to perform the Work into the
U.S., and shall coordinate with the applicable Governmental Authorities in achieving clearance of U.S. customs for all such
Equipment and other items. Equipment and other Contractor-Furnished Items for which Owner is responsible for Customs Duties
pursuant to this Agreement shall be imported through a FTZ in accordance with Section 7.3. If the FTZ is not designated as of the
date on which Contractor is importing the relevant Equipment, then Contractor shall import the relevant Equipment and Customs
Duties will be paid by the Parties in accordance with Section 7.3 regardless of the fact
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that the FTZ has not been designated. If the designated FTZ for the Liquefaction Project does not include Contractor’s selected
off-Site laydown yard in Jefferson County, Texas, Contractor may nevertheless import the Equipment and store it at the selected
off-Site laydown yard as may be permissible under the Owner Permits and, subject to Contractor having notified Owner in
writing that it has entered into an option to lease such selected off-Site laydown yard on or prior to March 31, 2020, Owner will
reimburse Contractor for Customs Duties. If Equipment or any Contractor-Furnished Items for which Owner is responsible for
Customs Duties pursuant to this Agreement are imported through a FTZ location other than the FTZ for the Site, Contractor shall
comply with Applicable Laws when transporting such Equipment or Contractor-Furnished Items to the Site so that such
Equipment or Contractor-Furnished Items are still eligible to utilize the FTZ for the Site. Without limiting the requirements of
Section 2.12.2(a) or this Section 2.12.4, Contractor shall as part of its shipping plan identify the proposed locations and other
relevant logistics and timing of the importation of any Equipment into the U.S. and shall notify Owner of any changes in the
location of import or other relevant logistics or timing of the importation of any Equipment as promptly as practicable.

2.13 Fuel, Utilities and Consumable Items.

2.13.1 Fuel. Contractor shall provide all fuel, including installation of all connections, necessary for the
performance of the Work, and including costs of Permits and usage (other than the Fuel Gas and Feed Gas to be provided by
Owner under Section 3.8).

2.13.2 Utilities. Contractor shall provide all utilities (e.g., electricity, water, communication, cable, telephone,
waste and sewer), including installation of all connections and substations, necessary for the performance of the Work and as
necessary for all office trailers to be provided by Contractor hereunder as part of its Work (whether for use by Contractor, Owner
or any Subcontractor), and including costs of Permits and usage, except that Owner shall provide electricity to the extent
specifically set forth in Section 3.2. Contractor shall not, and shall prohibit its Subcontractors from, utilizing any electricity
provided by Owner pursuant to Section 3.2 for any purposes other than to supply permanent power to Equipment, substation
buildings and other parts of the LNG Facility as necessary during pre-commissioning, commissioning, start-up and testing of
each Stage. Contractor affirms that it has reviewed and familiarized itself with the quality and quantity of electrical power to be
supplied by Entergy as described in Appendix B, and the LNG Facility shall be designed such that the LNG Facility shall be
capable of producing LNG as contemplated under this Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B.

2.13.3 Consumable Items. Contractor shall provide or cause to be provided all necessary consumables (other
than the Feed Gas to be provided by Owner under Section 3.8) as required in connection with construction, commissioning and
start-up of the LNG Facility. A “first fill” schedule that sets forth the amount of consumables to be supplied by Contractor to
provide a complete or full first fill, and the name of the Suppliers providing such consumables, shall be proposed by Contractor
and submitted to Owner on or before three hundred sixty five (365) Days before the scheduled date of Ready for Start-Up of
Stage I, for Owner’s review. At all times while Contractor maintains a diesel vehicle fueling station on the Site, Contractor shall
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allow Owner to gas-up up to twelve (12) of Owner’s ATV vehicles at Contractor’s vehicle fueling station, as part of the Contract
Price.

2.13.4 Minimizing Feed Gas Flaring, Venting and Loss. Without limiting the provisions of Appendix M, during
the performance of the Work, Contractor shall use safe and reasonable efforts to minimize the amount of LNG lost and to
minimize the amount of Feed Gas used prior to Substantial Completion of each Stage that is consumed by flaring, venting or loss,
giving consideration, however, to completion of the Work, including Performance Tests, by the Guaranteed Substantial
Completion Date of such Stage.

2.14 Spare Parts; Special Tools.

2.14.1 Commissioning Spare Parts. Contractor shall provide all pre-commissioning, commissioning, testing and
start-up spare parts necessary for each Stage to achieve Substantial Completion in accordance with this Agreement. The cost
associated with all Work related to such pre-commissioning, commissioning, testing and start-up spare parts is included in the
Contract Price, including the cost to procure and furnish such spare parts and the actual purchase price of such spare parts.

2.14.2 QOperating Spare Parts. With respect to operating spare parts for the Equipment for use after Substantial
Completion, no later than five hundred fifty (550) Days after the FNTP Date, Contractor shall deliver to Owner for Owner’s
review and comment a detailed list of the manufacturer- and Contractor-recommended operating spare parts for each applicable
item of Equipment necessary for operating such Equipment (including components and systems of such Equipment). If
Contractor is not able to obtain the necessary information with respect to the recommended operating spare parts from a Supplier
by such date due to the Supplier’s inability to identify the recommended operating spare parts based on the progress of the
relevant Purchase Order, Contractor shall notify Owner as to the date by which such operating spare parts shall be identified. In
any event, Contractor shall deliver the required information with respect to the recommended operating spare parts from such
Suppliers by no later than seven hundred (700) Days after the FNTP Date. The list shall consist of spare parts to support two (2)
years of normal operation, and shall include details of each proposed operating spare part to fully enable its procurement
(including the manufacturer, ordering contact information, pricing, lead-time for ordering such part, complete item description,
part number, quantity to order based on manufacturer’s recommendation and a separate column indicating the quantity
recommended by Contractor based on its experience for each part necessary for operating such Equipment (including
components and systems of such Equipment)). The list shall contain an interchangeability matrix for the operating spare parts
indicating which operating spare parts may be used across different items of Equipment. Owner shall have forty-five (45)
Business Days to comment on such operating spare parts list. Contractor shall update such list and provide a revised list to Owner
within thirty (30) Business Days after receipt of comments from Owner to such list. Owner shall then have ten (10) Business
Days to respond to Contractor identifying the operating spare parts, if any, that Owner wishes Contractor to procure as part of its
execution of a Purchase Order. Prior to execution of the applicable Purchase Orders, or addendums or releases to Purchase Orders
that were previously placed, under which such
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operating spare parts will be ordered, Contractor shall deliver the pricing and schedule for the operating spare parts to be ordered
under each such Purchase Order to Owner (but Contractor may redact the other commercial terms related to liquidated damages
provisions, performance security and limits of liability, before making such copies available to Owner). The cost associated with
all Work related to the two (2) years’ operating spare parts is included in the Contract Price, except for the actual purchase price,
property taxes associated with storage if Owner agrees in the applicable Change Order that such operating spare parts will not be
delivered directly to the Site, and delivery costs of such operating spare parts (which, subject to Contractor’s compliance with the
timely preparation and delivery of the list of operating spare parts in accordance with this Section 2.14.2, and timely placement of
the Purchase Order, may include costs to expedite delivery so that the operating spare parts are delivered prior to Substantial
Completion of the Stage for which such operating spare parts are being procured). In the event Owner requests in writing that
Contractor procure any operating spare parts for Owner, Contractor shall be entitled to a Change Order to the extent provided in
Section 8.3.1(a). The operating spare parts so requested by Owner shall be delivered to the Site (or to another location reasonably
requested by Owner) as a condition of Substantial Completion of the relevant Stage. Contractor shall maintain, and update as
necessary, a spreadsheet listing all of the operating spare parts ordered and delivered, that includes detailed information regarding
the operating spare parts delivered, including the manufacturer, complete item description, part number, quantity ordered, and
amount paid for such operating spare parts, in a format mutually agreed by the Parties to allow Owner to upload such list into
Owner’s inventory management system in advance of delivery of such operating spare parts.

2.14.3 Capital Spare Parts. Contractor shall, as part of the Work, procure the spare parts identified on
Appendix TT (the “Capital Spare Parts”). If during further development of the design and engineering of the project and during
procurement, Contractor or Owner determines that additional, fewer or different Capital Spare Parts would be appropriate or are
necessary, the Parties shall notify each other, discuss the reasons for the change and update the list of Capital Spare Parts as
agreed by Owner. In no event shall Contractor update, modify or change the list of Capital Spare Parts except as agreed in writing
by Owner. At FNTP, Contractor shall deliver to Owner detailed information regarding each proposed Capital Spare Part with
respect to its procurement (including the manufacturer, ordering contact information, complete item description, pricing, part
number, quantity ordered or to be ordered, including components and systems of such Equipment). Contractor shall notify Owner
no less than ten (10) Days in advance of when Contractor will place Purchase Orders for the procurement of any Capital Spare
Parts, identifying which Capital Spare Parts are being ordered and quantities, and the date on which such Purchase Order is
scheduled to be issued. If Owner notifies Contractor that Owner does not want to purchase a Capital Spare Part no later than three
(3) Business Days before such Purchase Order is scheduled to be issued, Contractor shall not include such Capital Spare Parts in
its applicable Purchase Orders. The cost associated with all Work related to the procurement of the Capital Spare Parts is included
in the Contract Price, along with a provisional sum for the estimated purchase price and delivery costs of such Capital Spare Parts
as set forth in Appendix C. In the event the actual purchase price and delivery costs of the Capital Spare Parts differs from the
provisional sum set forth in Appendix C, Contractor shall submit a Change Order request to Owner in accordance with
Section 8.3.1(b). The Capital Spare Parts shall be
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delivered to the Site (or to another location reasonably requested by Owner) as a condition of Substantial Completion, but in any
event no earlier than sixty (60) Days before the scheduled Substantial Completion Date. Contractor shall maintain, and update as
necessary, a spreadsheet listing all of the Capital Spare Parts ordered and delivered, that includes detailed information regarding
the Capital Spare Parts delivered, including the manufacturer, complete item description, part number, quantity ordered, and
amount paid for such Capital Spare Parts, in a format mutually agreed by the Parties to allow Owner to upload such list into
Owner’s inventory management system in advance of delivery of such Capital Spare Parts.

2.14.4 Contractor Use of Owner Spare Parts. Contractor shall not utilize any of the operating spare parts
procured by Contractor pursuant to Section 2.14.2 or otherwise procured by Owner, or any Capital Spare Parts, in the course of
performing the Work without Owner’s prior written consent. In the event Contractor utilizes any such spare parts, Contractor
shall supply Owner free of charge with spare parts equivalent in quality and quantity of such spare parts used by Contractor
(which shall be new except as otherwise agreed by Owner), from the original manufacturer of the spare parts used, or otherwise
as agreed to be Owner, soon as possible following Contractor’s use of such spare parts, or shall reimburse Owner for the
complete replacement costs incurred by Owner to replace such spare parts.

2.14.5 Special Tools. No later than the date that is seven hundred thirty (730) Days prior to the Guaranteed
Substantial Completion Date for Stage I, Contractor shall deliver to Owner a list of the special tools, based on Suppliers’
recommendations, that Contractor intends to acquire in connection with the Liquefaction Project, for Owner’s review, comment
and acceptance, such acceptance not to be unreasonably withheld. Such list shall include only one set of such special tools for the
Liquefaction Project. Owner shall have the right to use the special tools for the operation of Stage I, but shall return the special
tools to Contractor and Contractor will maintain possession of the special tools until Substantial Completion of Stage II.
Contractor shall maintain a tracking system that identifies the special tools being used by Owner for operation of Stage I
following Substantial Completion of Stage I.

2.15 Materials at the Site. Contractor shall dispose of water, soil, rock, gravel, sand, minerals, timber, and any other
materials developed or obtained in the excavation or other operations of Contractor or any Supplier on the Site in accordance
with Applicable Laws, except for Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials, and except that Owner may take title to, use or dispose of
any minerals developed or obtained by Contractor on the Site. Contractor may use in the Work soil developed or obtained on the
Site for fill purposes. Contractor may only use any such materials if Contractor determines that they comply with the
requirements of this Agreement and are suitable for the purposes for which Contractor is using them. OWNER HEREBY
EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS, AND CONTRACTOR ACKNOWLEDGES THAT OWNER IS NOT MAKING, ANY
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, WITH RESPECT TO ANY SUCH MATERIALS.
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2.16 Personnel Training.

2.16.1 Contractor’s Obligation. As part of the Work, operating personnel engaged by Owner or an Affiliate of
Owner (including operators, maintenance personnel, safety, engineering and other operating support personnel), as designated by
Owner in its sole and absolute discretion (“Operating Personnel”) shall be given training designed and administered by
Contractor at its expense, which shall be based on the program requirements contained in Appendix P. The anticipated number of
Operating Personnel that will be trained by Contractor is set forth in Appendix P. Owner will update the number of Operating
Personnel that will be available for training by notice to Contractor in accordance with Section 3.6.1; provided that the number of
Operating Personnel to be trained shall not exceed the anticipated number set forth in Appendix P. The training provided by
Contractor shall include instruction for the Operating Personnel in the operation and routine maintenance of each item of
Equipment in accordance with Appendix P. As part of the training, Contractor shall provide the Operating Personnel with full
access to the LNG Facility during commissioning, testing and start-up of each item of Equipment, including each LNG Train.
Training shall be provided by personnel who have actual experience in the subject area and who, in Contractor’s and the relevant
Supplier’s reasonable judgment, as applicable, are otherwise qualified to provide such training, subject to Owner’s review and
acceptance. Training shall take place at such locations and at such times as agreed upon by the Parties. Contractor shall provide
Owner and the Operating Personnel with the training materials as described in Appendix P.

2.16.2 Implementation of Training Program. Contractor shall complete the training of the Operating Personnel
on or before the date as described in Section 2.5 of Appendix P. Contractor’s training program shall include testing of the
Operating Personnel to verify that each of the Operating Personnel: (a) (i) has completed the training program and passed the
tests administered as part of that program; and (ii) is fully qualified to perform the work covered under the training program; or
(b) has failed to complete the training program or failed the tests administered as part of the program and is not qualified to
perform the work covered under the training program. Contractor shall provide Owner with the evaluations, test results and other
information to be provided to Owner in accordance with Appendix P.

2.17 Environmental Compliance; Hazardous Materials and Explosives.

2.17.1 Environmental Compliance. Without limitation of Section 2.3, Contractor is responsible for ensuring that
the Work is performed using GECP and in compliance with all provisions of this Agreement, all Applicable Laws regarding the
environment, and in compliance with the Contractor HSSE Program policies and procedures regarding the environment; provided
that if there is a conflict between Applicable Laws and GECP, Applicable Laws shall govern. Contractor shall, and shall cause
each of its Suppliers to, cause its and their respective personnel to comply with the Environmental Plan, the Owner Permits,
Applicable Laws and such policies and procedures. Contractor shall follow the requirements of the Environmental Plan, the
Owner Permits, Applicable Laws and such policies and procedures pursuant to Section 2.18 in performing any Work on the Site
in areas in which Owner has disclosed to Contractor that Archeological Finds or Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials have been
identified, if any.
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2.17.2 Limitation on Hazardous Materials. Contractor shall not, nor shall it permit or allow any Supplier to, bring
any Hazardous Materials on the Site except as provided in this Section 2.17.2. Contractor and its Suppliers may bring onto the
Site such Hazardous Materials as are necessary to perform the Work using GECP so long as Contractor and its Suppliers do so in
compliance with all provisions of this Agreement, Applicable Laws regarding the environment, and the Contractor HSSE
Program policies and procedures regarding the environment, including those policies and procedures related to the transportation,
storage and disposal of Hazardous Materials. Contractor shall bear all responsibility and liability for Hazardous Materials brought
onto the Site by or on behalf of Contractor or its Suppliers.

2.17.3 Handling of Hazardous Materials. Contractor shall, at its sole cost and expense, safely store, use and
dispose of all non-hazardous wastes and Hazardous Materials that Contractor or any of its Suppliers bring onto the Site, including
non-hazardous wastes that Contractor generates during performance of the Work and Hazardous Materials that Contractor
generates during performance of the Work from Hazardous Materials brought onto the Site by Contractor or any of its Suppliers.
All such non-hazardous waste and Hazardous Materials shall be disposed at disposal facilities not located on the Site and that are
permitted to receive such non-hazardous waste and Hazardous Materials, as applicable, in compliance with all Applicable Laws
regarding the environment, and the Contractor HSSE Program policies and procedures regarding the environment. Contractor
shall keep accurate records of the disposal of non-hazardous waste from the Site. Contractor shall also keep accurate records of
Hazardous Materials disposed from the Site, and provide Owner with copies of all transportation and disposal records of all
Hazardous Materials disposed of by Contractor. Contractor shall report to Owner any violation of or failure to comply with the
requirements of Section 2.17 by Contractor or any other member of the Contractor Group, as soon as reasonably possible after
having knowledge thereof and in no event later than twenty-four (24) hours thereafter. Contractor shall promptly, and in
accordance with all Applicable Laws, remediate any Release of any Hazardous Materials that Contractor or any of its Suppliers
bring onto the Site, including any Release of Hazardous Materials generated during performance of the Work from such
Hazardous Materials.

2.17.4 Discovery of Archeological Finds or Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials. Contractor shall not disturb any
Archeological Find or Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials the presence of which was disclosed by Owner or otherwise known to
Contractor pursuant to the FERC resource report or the Geotechnical Reports or otherwise known to Contractor prior to the
Effective Date pursuant to work conducted under the EDSA or the SWSA. If Contractor should encounter or Release any
Archeological Find or Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials on the Site, Contractor shall promptly cease working in the affected
area, notify Owner of such occurrence or encounter and take such other actions as described in the Environmental Plan with
respect to any such discovery (except that Contractor shall not handle test, treat, transport, dispose of or remediate Pre-Existing
Hazardous Materials). Contractor shall proceed, to the extent reasonably possible in the event of such discovery of an
Archeological Find or Pre-Existing Hazardous Materials, with other portions of the Work unless otherwise directed by Owner.
Work in the affected area shall be resumed after the Archeological Find has been addressed or the Pre-Existing Hazardous
Materials have been removed or rendered harmless or appropriate safety measures have been taken, as applicable, by Owner in
accordance with Applicable Laws.
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2.17.5 Right to Stop Work. Should Owner at any time observe Contractor, or any of its Subcontractors,
performing any part of the Work in a manner that does not comply with the Environmental Plan or the environmental
requirements of Appendix Q, or in a manner that may, if continued, fail to comply with the Environmental Plan or the
environmental requirements of Appendix QQ, Owner shall have the right (but not the obligation) to require Contractor to stop such
portion of the Work, as applicable, until such time as the manner of performing the Work complies with the Environmental Plan
or the environmental requirements of Appendix Q to the reasonable satisfaction of Owner; provided, however, that at no time
shall Contractor be entitled to an adjustment of the Contract Price or Key Date Schedule based on such work stoppage.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, if Contractor disagrees with any order to stop the Work due to failure
to comply with the Environmental Plan or the environmental requirements of Appendix Q that it receives from Owner, and
Contractor notifies Owner of such disagreement, Owner and Contractor shall each promptly escalate such disagreement to a
higher supervisory level, up to the level of the Contractor Representative and Owner Representative, as applicable. If after such
escalation, Owner continues to enforce the stop order and it is later determined that the Work was being performed in accordance
with the Environmental Plan and the environmental requirements of Appendix Q, as applicable, and such stop order delayed the
performance of the Work by more than four (4) hours, such stop order shall constitute an Owner-Caused Delay for the purposes
of this Agreement.

2.17.6 Explosives. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the use of explosives is not necessary or desirable
for the performance of the Work, and as a result thereof Contractor shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subcontractors to,
utilize explosives in any part of the Work, with the exception of the use of powder-actuated tools or similar devices where, by
design, the tool is powered from an explosive charge, in accordance with GECP.

2.18 HSSE Plans and Policies; Site Rules; Security.

2.18.1 Safety. Contractor shall take all necessary safety and other precautions to protect persons and property
from injury, illness or damage arising out of the performance of the Work. Without limitation of Section 2.3, Contractor is solely
responsible for ensuring that the Work is performed using GECP in a safe manner and in compliance with all provisions of this
Agreement, and Applicable Laws, regarding worker health and safety, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970
(84 U.S. §8§ 1590 et seq.) and any state plans approved thereunder, and regulations thereunder, to the extent applicable. In
addition, when Contractor conducts operations on any portion of the Site over which Owner has care, custody and control
pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor shall comply with the Owner HSSE Program. Contractor shall comply at all times with all
of Owner’s Site-specific orientation and training requirements, which shall be made available to Contractor upon request.
Contractor shall inspect the places where any of its employees, contract workers, agents, or Subcontractors are or may be present
on the Site, and shall promptly take action to correct conditions which are or may become an unsafe place of employment.
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2.18.2 HSSE Plan and Program.

(a) Attached as Appendix Q is Contractor’s health, safety, security and environmental plan and program
(the “Contractor HSSE Program”). The Contractor HSSE Program is consistent with GECP and complies with Applicable
Laws and the other requirements of this Section 2.18, and includes, among other things: (i) a drug testing program that meets
U.S. Department of Transportation drug and alcohol testing requirements applicable to Contractor’s personnel performing Work
on any Stage which has achieved Substantial Completion; (ii) policies and procedures regarding the transportation, storage and
disposal of Hazardous Material for which Contractor is responsible under this Agreement; (iii) an environmental and social
management plan that is consistent with the Environmental Plan, including any Permit conditions regarding mitigation of any
biodiversity impacts or other environmental impacts; (iv) a water and waste management plan, including a management strategy
for contaminated land; (v) an emergency response plan covering Contractor’s response to emergencies during performance of the
Work on the Site; (vi) policies and procedures to maintain compliance with applicable Permits during dredging and construction
of the marine berths and the materials offloading facility, including, if applicable, establishing any monitoring programs that may
be required by applicable Permits or otherwise under Applicable Laws; (vii) compliance with the requirements of any insurers
that provide any of the coverage maintained by Contractor; (viii) Contractor perform a root cause analysis of any reportable
incident or series of accidents, injuries or lost time incidents, whether similar in type or not, that indicate the Site is becoming less
safe; and (ix) security policies and procedures, including with regard to the security of the Site, the Work, and as otherwise
described in Section 2.18.5.

(b) Contractor shall prepare and provide Owner with a copy of a labor and working conditions policy
with respect to on-Site labor and the Site, and set standards for the design and operation of temporary housing, if any, for
Contractor’s labor force, in each case that complies with all Applicable Laws. Contractor’s labor policy shall also include a plan
to mitigate the impacts and effects of the influx of a sizeable temporary workforce on the local communities and the area around
the Site. Contractor shall provide Owner with such labor policy prior to the date on which construction activities, other than site
preparation activities, commence at the Site.

(c) Contractor shall implement the Contractor HSSE Program and such other Plans and programs as
contemplated under this Section 2.18 and shall assume all costs associated with compliance therewith. Any updates,
modifications, amendments or other changes to the Contractor HSSE Program shall be furnished to Owner and shall be subject to
review and approval in accordance with Section 2.4.6.

(d) In addition to the Contractor HSSE Program and such other Plans and programs, when working on
any portion of the Site over which Owner has care, custody and control in accordance with this Agreement, Contractor shall
comply with the Owner HSSE Program. Owner may update the Owner HSSE Program by providing written notice to Contractor
to address any health, safety, security and environmental requirements that Owner deems necessary, including by adding
requirements to the Owner HSSE Program to address
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areas of the LNG Facility after Substantial Completion of each Stage. If Owner modifies the Owner HSSE Program prior to
Substantial Completion of a Stage and such modification adversely impacts Contractor’s costs or schedule to perform the Work,
Contractor shall, subject to Section 8.4, have the right to a Change Order in accordance with Section 8.3.1(0).

(e) In the event of any conflict between any of Contractor’s applicable health, safety and environmental
plans and programs, the more specific requirement will prevail. When Contractor is performing Work that is subject to Owner
HSSE Program, in the event of a conflict between any of Contractor’s applicable Plans and the Owner HSSE Program, the
requirement containing the stricter performance standard will prevail. Contractor shall promptly notify Owner if it determines
that there is a conflict between any of Contractor’s Plans and Owner’s health, safety, security and environmental plans and
programs.

2.18.3 Implementation of HSSE Practices. Contractor shall appoint one (1) or more (as appropriate) safety and
environmental representative(s) acceptable to Owner who shall be stationed at the Site during any period in which Work is being
performed at the Site, and shall have responsibility to correct unsafe conditions or unsafe acts associated with the Work and the
LNG Facility as soon as possible, act on behalf of Contractor on safety, health, security and environmental matters, and
participate in periodic health, safety, security and environmental meetings with Owner after Work has commenced at the Site.
Contractor further agrees to provide or cause to be provided necessary training and safety equipment to its employees, contract
workers and Subcontractors, and to the employees, contract workers and subcontractors of Owner or the Other Contractors
entering the Site, to ensure their compliance with the foregoing health, safety, security and environmental rules and standards,
and enforce the use of such training and equipment. Contractor shall maintain accident, injury and any other Books and Records
with respect to safety, health, security and environmental matters as required by Applicable Laws or any additional Books and
Records with respect thereto as may be required under this Agreement. Contractor’s classification of any accidents, injuries or
lost time incidents shall comply with OSHA and other applicable Governmental Authorities reporting practices and policies.

2.18.4 Certain Owner Rights with Respect to Safety. Should Owner at any time observe Contractor, or any of its
Subcontractors, performing the Work in an unsafe manner, or in a manner that may, if continued, become unsafe, then Owner
shall have the right (but not the obligation) to require Contractor to stop the affected Work activity and coordinate with
Contractor until such time as the manner of performing such Work has been rendered safe, to the reasonable satisfaction of
Owner; provided, however, that at no time shall Contractor be entitled to an adjustment of the Contract Price or Key Date
Schedule based on such work stoppage. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, if Contractor disagrees with
any order to stop the Work due to safety concerns that it receives from Owner, and Contractor notifies Owner of such
disagreement, Owner and Contractor shall each promptly escalate such disagreement to a higher supervisory level, up to the level
of the Contractor Representative and Owner Representative, as applicable. If after such escalation, Owner continues to enforce
the stop order and it is later determined that the Work was being performed safely or was rendered
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safe, and such stop order delayed the performance of the Work by more than four (4) hours, such stop order shall constitute an
Owner-Caused Delay for the purposes of this Agreement.

2.18.5 Security.

(a) Contractor shall be responsible for the security, fencing, guarding and lighting of the Site until
Substantial Completion of Stage II, and shall hire guards and watchmen as reasonably required to control access and egress to
and from the Site, and to watch and guard the Site so as to prevent loss or damage to the LNG Facility and Equipment and
prevent unauthorized personnel from entering the Site for those portions for which Contractor is responsible; provided, however,
that following the transfer, care, custody and control of Stage I to Owner in accordance with this Agreement, Owner shall be
responsible for security within those portion of the Site for which care, custody and control has been transferred to Owner. Prior
to commencing any Work on the Site, as part of the Work, Contractor shall have completed the training of its security personnel,
including training on the use of force, and implemented its security Plan with respect to the Site as agreed to as part of the
Contractor HSSE Program. Contractor’s security Plan shall comply with the requirements of this Agreement, requires the
coordination of Contractor’s security program with Owner’s security requirements and policies, including coordination with
Owner’s security team, and complies with the safety and security requirements of all Applicable Laws, including, as applicable,
33 C.F.R. Part 127, 49 C.F.R. 193.2905(a), 49 C.F.R. 193.2913, 33 C.F.R. Part 105, and 33 C.F.R. 127.709; provided that
Contractor shall not be required to make material modifications to its security Plan except for those reasonably necessary to
address imminent threats to safety or security.

(b) As part of the Work, Contractor shall furnish, construct and install the permanent security system for
the LNG Facility. Upon Substantial Completion of Stage I, Owner shall take over the permanent security system and shall
implement the Owner HSSE Program with respect to accessing and performing Work on Stage I, while Contractor retains
responsibility for security with respect to other areas of the Site. Upon Substantial Completion of Stage II, the Site shall be fully
incorporated into the security perimeter maintained by Owner and thereafter access thereto, and Work therein, will be subject to
Owner’s site safety and security requirements and other obligations under this Agreement with respect to performing Work at the
Site.

2.18.6 Compliance with Federal Regulatory Requirements.

(a) All Work performed hereunder shall comply with the minimum federal safety standards for the
design, installation, inspection, testing, construction, extension, operation, replacement, and maintenance of facilities contained in
Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.), Parts 192 (to the extent applicable) and 193 and in 33 C.F.R. Part 127.
Contractor shall comply with requirements of the Operator Qualification Program that are outlined in 49 C.F.R. Part 193 Subpart
H and 49 C.F.R. Part 195 Sub-Part G of C.F.R. Part 195, where applicable.

(b) Without limiting the generality of Section 2.18.6(a), Contractor shall participate in inspections and
reviews required by Governmental Authorities, including

80



FERC and PHMSA, from time to time during performance of the Work. Contractor shall appoint an individual to coordinate with
Owner and to serve as a single point of contact with Contractor with respect to all such matters, and acknowledges and agrees
that it shall provide personnel from the appropriate disciplines as requested by Owner or a Governmental Authority to participate
in such inspections and reviews.

(c) Contractor shall implement and utilize a permit to work system during construction, pre-
commissioning, commissioning and start-up of the LNG Facility utilizing forms and procedures as specified in the Contractor
HSSE Program. Contractor shall administer the permit to work system under the Contractor HSSE program until Substantial
Completion, and Contractor shall allow for a reasonable transition to incorporate Owner’s requirements for permits to work used
in an operating plant under the Owner HSSE Program for use once hydrocarbons are introduced into a Stage for LNG production
(which, for purposes of clarity, will occur after RFSU and prior to Substantial Completion). Each Contractor or Supplier
employee, contract worker or representative needing access to a “secure area” (as that term is defined in the regulations of the
U.S. Coast Guard and Transportation Security Administration) of the Site shall have valid Transportation Worker Identification
Credentials (“ITWIC Card”). In addition, each such employee, contract worker or representative performing Work on the Site
shall have a valid TWIC Card when, and to the extent, all or portions of the Site become regulated by the Transportation Security
Administration, which, in any event, shall be no later than when such portion of the Site is incorporated into the security
perimeter pursuant to Section 2.18.5. Contractor acknowledges that it has fully investigated such Owner’s access requirements
and procedures, as well as its site safety and security rules and procedures, and has taken such requirements, rules and procedures
into account in preparing the Project Execution Plan and planning the Work to be performed in accordance with the Project
Schedule. As such, Contractor shall not be entitled to a Change Order as a result of its and its Suppliers’ personnel’s compliance
(or failure to comply) with such access, safety and security requirements, rules and procedures.

(d) Contractor shall, and shall cause its Suppliers to, attend training by Owner as required by Applicable
Laws, including such training as is required by the Commission.

2.18.7 Certain Owner Rights with Respect to Security. Should Owner at any time observe Contractor, or any of
its Suppliers, failing to comply with Contractor’s security plan, as accepted by Owner as part of the Contractor HSSE Program, or
if Contractor or its Suppliers are acting or omitting to act in a manner that may;, if it continued, fail to comply with such security
plan, then Owner shall have the right (but not the obligation) to require Contractor to comply with such security plan and to stop
the affected Work activity until such time as Contractor has corrected its implementation of such security plan and Contractor and
its Suppliers, as applicable, are once again in compliance with such security plan; provided, that at no time shall Contractor be
entitled to an adjustment of the Contract Price or Key Date Schedule based on such work stoppage. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in the foregoing, if Contractor disagrees with any order that it receives from Owner to stop the Work for failure to
comply with such security plan, and Contractor notifies Owner of such disagreement, Owner and
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Contractor shall each promptly escalate such disagreement to a higher supervisory level, up to the level of the Contractor
Representative and Owner Representative, as applicable. If after such escalation, Owner continues to enforce the stop order and it
is later determined that the Contractor was in compliance with, and would be in compliance with, such security plan, and such
stop order delayed the performance of the Work by more than four (4) hours, such stop order shall constitute an Owner-Caused
Delay for the purposes of this Agreement.

2.18.8 Local Community Relations. Contractor understands the importance of maintaining good relations with
the communities located near the Site and the LNG Facility, and shall endeavor to emphasize the importance of good community
relations to its Subcontractors, and its and their respective employees and other Persons under Contractor’s supervision on the
Site. Contractor shall cooperate and coordinate with Owner in Owner’s outreach efforts to the local communities and the State of
Texas, including, as requested by Owner, by participating in public meetings, meetings with Governmental Authorities and
Owner’s other outreach activities; provided that Contractor’s personnel shall not, without Contractor’s prior consent, be asked by
Owner to provide testimony at any such meetings. Among other things, Contractor shall establish a grievance and complaint
mechanism for use by the local communities around the Site, and shall maintain a log at the Site of any grievances or complaints
received by Contractor from whatever source and promptly notify Owner of same. Owner shall have the right to review
Contractor’s grievance and complaint logs at any time upon request. Contractor shall coordinate and cooperate with Owner in
resolving any grievances or complaints as soon as reasonably possible and in a manner that does not delay or adversely impact
performance of the Work, whether submitted to Contractor or to Owner.

2.18.9 HSSE Monitoring and Audit Rights. Without limiting any of its other rights of inspection, review,
acceptance or audit hereunder, Owner and its designees (but not including Competitors), including representatives of any of
Owner’s insurers, shall have the right to from time to time as determined in Owner’s sole and absolute discretion, monitor
Contractor’s performance of the Work, and review, inspect and audit Contractor’s Books and Records related to Contractor’s or
Subcontractor’s compliance with the Contractor HSSE Program, Owner’s HSSE Program, as applicable, Applicable Laws and
any other requirements of this Section 2.18. Without limiting Owner’s rights to stop work in accordance with Section 2.18.4 and
Section 2.18.7, Owner shall minimize interference with the performance of the Work during such inspections, reviews and audits
to the extent reasonably possible. Contractor shall and shall cause its Subcontractors to cooperate with Owner and its designees
when engaged in a monitoring program or during any such inspections, reviews or audits, and shall develop and implement a
corrective action plan, in the event such inspections, reviews or audits indicate the Contractor HSSE Program, Contractor or its
Subcontractors are not in compliance with the Contractor HSSE Program or the requirements of this Section 2.18, as applicable.
Owner’s monitoring, review, inspection or audit, or Owner’s failure to monitor or to conduct a review, inspection or audit
Contractor’s compliance with the requirements of this Section 2.18, shall in no way affect Contractor’s obligations hereunder.

2.19 Emergencies. In the event of any emergency endangering life or property or the environment in any way relating to
the Work, the LNG Facility, the Site or otherwise, Contractor
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shall: (a) take such action as may be reasonable and necessary to prevent, avoid or mitigate injury, damage or loss; and (b) as
soon as possible, report any such incidents, including Contractor’s response thereto, in writing to Owner. If Contractor has not
taken reasonable precautions for the safety of the public or the protection of the Work, the LNG Facility or the Site, and such
failure creates an emergency requiring immediate action, then Owner, with or without notice to Contractor may, but shall be
under no obligation to, take reasonable action as required to address such emergency. All reasonable costs of taking of any such
action by Owner shall be reimbursed by Contractor. Owner’s taking of, or failure to take any action, or providing any directions
with respect to an emergency, shall not alter Contractor’s obligations, responsibilities or liability hereunder.

2.20 Quality Assurance/Quality Control Plan.

2.20.1 Implementation of Quality Assurance Plan. Attached as Appendix R is a quality assurance/quality control
procedure and plan and Supplier source inspection plan detailing Contractor’s system, including quality plans and procedures, to
direct and control its organization with regard to quality (the “Quality Assurance Plan”). Contractor’s Quality Assurance Plan
as set forth in Appendix R shall be consistent with Applicable Laws, ISO 9001 criteria, Applicable Codes and Standards and
GECP. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the Quality Assurance Plan and assume all costs associated with
compliance therewith. Contractor shall cause each of its Suppliers to implement a quality assurance program that complies with
the Quality Assurance Plan as applicable to the Work that such Supplier performs, including the implementation and maintenance
of a rigorous inspection program, maintaining daily logs of inspections performed in compliance therewith, and the
implementation and adherence to the “build it clean, build it tight” requirements of the Quality Assurance Plan.

2.20.2 Modifications. Any updates, modifications, amendments or other changes to the Quality Assurance Plan
shall be furnished to Owner and shall be subject to review and approval in accordance with Section 2.4.6.

2.20.3 Records. As part of the Quality Assurance Plan (including the Supplier source inspection plan contained
therein), Contractor agrees that it shall keep a daily log of inspections that it or any Supplier subject to such inspection plan
performs. Contractor shall make a copy of Books and Records related to the Quality Assurance Plan, including the daily logs of
inspections performed, available at the Site for Owner’s and any Lender’s (including the Independent Engineer’s) review.

2.20.4 Quality of Equipment. Contractor shall only use Equipment for the Work as specified in or as is otherwise
consistent with this Agreement. All Equipment shall be fabricated, applied, installed, connected, operated (during start-up and
testing), cleaned and conditioned in a manner that meets or exceeds the written instructions of the applicable Vendor.
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2.21 Correction of Work in Progress.

2.21.1 Correction of Work in Progress. Upon Contractor becoming aware of a Defect, Contractor shall, as part of
the Work, correct such Defective Work, whether by repair, replacement or otherwise. If during the course of conduct of the Work,
Owner reasonably believes that any Work is Defective, Owner may provide written notice to Contractor identifying and
describing with reasonable specificity that portion of the Work that Owner believes is Defective. If Contractor believes the Work
is not Defective, Contractor shall notify Owner, including notice as to when a final determination as to whether the Work is
Defective must be made so as to avoid impacting the scheduled performance of the Work. During the period before such
determination must be made, the Parties shall work together in good faith to resolve any disagreements or reach resolution
regarding such Work. Contractor shall determine when Defects are corrected; provided, however, that (a) Contractor shall
promptly correct Defects (i) as necessary to prevent voiding or limiting of any Supplier warranties, including correction of
Defects related to the preservation of Equipment as required by the manufacturer’s specifications or written recommendations,
(ii) if such Defective Work presents an imminent threat to safety, health or the environment, or the structural integrity of an item
or component of a Stage or the LNG Facility; (iii) if such Defective Work directly impacts any Other Contractor’s work to tie-in
to the LNG Facility; and (b) correction of Defective Work identified prior to Substantial Completion of a Stage will be completed
before Substantial Completion of the applicable Stage unless such Defective Work is included on the agreed Punch List as a
Punch List D Item. If there is a disagreement about whether the Work is Defective and the Parties have not reached resolution,
without limiting Contractor’s right to Dispute whether the Work is Defective, Contractor shall correct such Defect if requested by
Owner while pursuing any such Dispute in accordance with the timing set forth in the foregoing sentence as applicable to such
Defect. Contractor shall implement a management of change process and track rework to correct Defects during the courses of
the Work in accordance with Appendix S. If Contractor fails to correct Defective Work in accordance with subclause (a) above,
Owner may, it its sole and absolute discretion, upon no less than ten (10) Business Days prior written notice to Contractor, either
correct or remove and replace such Defective Work and Contractor shall pay Owner the costs to correct such Defective Work
within thirty (30) Days after receipt of Owner’s invoice for such costs and expenses.

2.21.2 Deviations. If Contractor or Owner determines that any of the Work is Defective, and would if completed
be Defective, and such Defect or potential Defect: (a) does not or is not reasonably likely to result in the Work or the LNG
Facility failing to satisfy any Applicable Laws or the conditions of any Permits; and (b) would otherwise satisfy the requirements
to be a Punch List D Item, the Parties shall meet within seven (7) Days of when such Defect is identified or proposed to find a
remedy for such deviation or non-conformance. If the Parties agree on a remedy for such Defective Work that modifies the scope
of the Work or includes any adjustments to the Contract Price or the Key Date Schedule, Owner shall issue a Change Order,
which shall be in the form of Appendix F-1, and such Change Order shall become binding on the Parties as part of this
Agreement upon execution thereof by the Parties. Agreed remedies for such Defects or potential Defects shall constitute a waiver
of the relevant requirements of this Agreement only so far as mutually agreed and in no event shall such agreed
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remedies constitute an adjustment or change or modification of any relevant Specification, the Basis of Design or any other
requirement of this Agreement.

2.22 Reports.

2.22.1 Contractor Reports. Contractor shall provide Owner and, if so requested by Owner, Lenders’ Agent, with
an electronic copy of progress reports and such other information as reasonably requested by Owner, including the following:

(a) formal minutes and any action items for all status and other Project-related meetings within four (4)
Business Days following such meeting;

(b) safety or environmental incident reports within twenty-four (24) hours after the occurrence of any
such incident (including “near miss” incidents where no individual was injured or property was damaged), except for any safety
or environmental incident involving a significant non-scheduled event such as LNG or Natural Gas releases, fires, explosions,
mechanical failures (not including minor or insignificant failures), unusual over-pressurizations or major injuries which shall be
provided to Owner within two (2) hours of the occurrence of such incident where possible and if not possible, within twenty-four
(24) hours and in any event no later than notices are provided to any Governmental Authority; provided, however, notification
shall be provided to Owner as promptly as practicable by all reasonably practical methods if any safety or environmental incident
threatens public or employee safety, causes significant property damage, or interrupts the Work; provided, further, that Contractor
shall not be required to provide Owner with any attorney-client privileged reports;

(c) Weekly status reports generally reporting on the progress of the Work (“Weekly Status Reports™)
containing the information described in Attachment S-2 to Appendix S, which shall be provided one (1) Day prior to the Weekly
status meeting and shall cover all activities up to the cutoff date as described in Appendix S. Contractor shall arrange for the
electronic distribution of the Weekly Status Report as Owner may reasonably request;

(d) Monthly status reports generally reporting on the progress of the Work (“Monthly Status Reports™)
containing the information described in Attachment S-2 to Appendix S. Contractor shall provide the Monthly Status Report no
later than five (5) Days after the end of each Month, and the Monthly Status Report shall cover activities up through the end of
the previous Month (which for the purposes of this Section 2.22.1(d) shall end as of the second to last Friday of each Month).
Contractor shall arrange for the electronic distribution of the Monthly Status Report as Owner may reasonably request; and

(e) promptly upon completion of the last foundation for Stage II, Contractor shall send Owner a written
notice stating that the last foundation for Stage II has been completed.

2.22.2  Access to Site Records. Without limiting Owner’s rights under Section 2.23, during the performance of
the Work at the Site, Owner shall have the right to have access to and to review all of Contractor’s daily reports, logs and records
that Contractor
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maintains at the Site, for purposes of Owner’s reviews related to HSSE, quality and Equipment inventory and preservation.

2.22.3 No Notice; Owner Not Bound by Reports. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any minutes,
reports or other documentation delivered by Contractor under Section 2.22.1, Owner shall not be bound by any such documents,
shall not be required to take any actions based on any such documents, and shall not be deemed to have consented to or accepted
the contents of any such documents. In no event shall any such minutes, reports or other documentation, or any comments or
statements made by the Contractor Representative or other Contractor personnel, or any Supplier personnel, during any meeting
or otherwise in connection with any such minutes, reports or documentation, constitute notice to Owner for any purpose under
this Agreement.

2.23 Books, Records and Audits.

2.23.1 Maintenance of Books and Records. Contractor shall keep full and detailed books, construction logs,
records, daily reports, accounts, schedules, payroll records, receipts, statements, correspondence, vouchers, memoranda,
electronic files, job cost reports, accounting records, written policies and procedures, Supplier or sub-consultant files, external
correspondence, change order files (including non-privileged documentation covering negotiated settlements), and other pertinent
documents related to the Work and as may be required under Applicable Laws or this Agreement (collectively “Books and
Records”). Contractor shall maintain all such Books and Records in accordance with GAAP applicable in the U.S. and shall
retain all such Books and Records for a minimum period of four (4) years after the Final Completion Date, or such greater period
of time as may be required under Applicable Laws. To the extent Contractor does not have any of the foregoing information (if
audited by Owner), Contractor shall certify the same in writing to the extent requested by Owner.

2.23.2 Audit.

(a) Upon reasonable notice, until the fourth anniversary of the Final Completion Date, and with respect to
any matters related to Taxes (including the Tax Abatements) until the expiration of the constitutional or statutory period in which
an applicable Governmental Authority may audit Owner (each such period, an “Audit Period”), Owner, any Lender, and any of
their representatives and consultants (excluding any Competitors), including the Independent Engineer, shall have the right to
audit or to have audited the Books and Records with respect to: (i) ensuring that Contractor is using GECP and acting in
compliance with any and all Applicable Laws, including any documents relating to safety (in accordance with Section 2.18.9),
security, quality or Permits relating to the Liquefaction Project, the LNG Facility or the Work; (ii) any amounts billed on a
provisional basis and later reconciled to actual amounts, or billed under cost reimbursable or unit price Change Orders, or that are
otherwise reimbursed or are reimbursable under this Agreement, such as certain Taxes, Customs Duties and hedging costs;
provided that such other reimbursable items do not include the fixed price components of the Contract Price or disputed amounts
subject to Appendix XX; (iii) claims for amounts due and payable under Section 19.1.1or otherwise due to any suspension or
termination of the Work or this Agreement; (iv) Contractor’s information submitted in the Monthly Status Reports with
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respect to Local Labor, Local Suppliers and Qualifying Jobs, information in connection with the Tax Abatements as set forth in
Section 2.7.10; or (v) Taxes pursuant to Section 7.5.4; provided, however, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, such
Persons shall not have the right to audit or have audited the Books and Records in connection with the internal composition of
any compensation that is fixed in amount hereunder (including the composition of any markups, unit rates or fixed percentages or
multipliers specified in this Agreement). Any Owner consultant or other contractor performing any such audit shall be required to
enter into a reasonable and customary non-disclosure agreement with Contractor before such consultant or contractor may audit
any of the Books and Records, and any such Person shall be governed by the provisions in Section 14.2.1 (including entering into
confidentiality agreements with Owner to the extent required under Section 14.2.1) before such other Person may audit any of the
Books and Records.

(b) When requested by Owner during any applicable Audit Period, Contractor shall provide the auditors
permitted to audit pursuant to Section 2.23 with reasonable access to all of the Books and Records, including providing such
Persons with copies of all such Books and Records in the format as maintained or as required under this Agreement to be
maintained by Contractor (including scanned versions of hardcopy documents and electronic copies of native electronic data
files), organized in a manner consistent with Contractor’s records, during normal business hours, and Contractor’s personnel shall
reasonably cooperate with such auditors to effectuate the audit or audits hereunder. The auditors shall have the right to copy all
such Books and Records (including hard copy and electronic data), subject to the use and disclosure rights under the applicable
confidentiality agreements required in Section 2.23.2, at Owner’s expense. Contractor shall bear at its own cost and expense all
costs incurred by it in assisting Owner with audits performed pursuant to this Section 2.23.2.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in Article 20, the restrictions in this Section 2.23.2 to the audit rights of
Owner, the Lenders or their consultants or representatives (excluding Competitors), including the Independent Engineer, shall not
limit or restrict any rights such Persons have under Applicable Laws with respect to discovery in any arbitration or litigation
arising out of or related to this Agreement or the Contractor Guarantee.

(d) Owner shall conduct any such audit at its own cost and expense. In all events, Contractor shall
reimburse Owner for overpayments made to Contractor.

(e) Nothing in this Section 2.23 shall be deemed to limit or otherwise affect Owner’s rights to have access
to and to review Contractor’s reports, logs and records in connection with the safety and quality of the Work performed or as
otherwise permitted under this Agreement.

2.24 Inspections and Testing.

2.24.1 Generally. Contractor shall conduct all inspections of the Work in accordance with the inspection and
testing plan prepared by Contractor or Suppliers in accordance with Appendix R. Contractor shall provide notices or status
updates to Owner of testing and inspections in accordance with Section 2.24.3 and Section 2.24.4, as applicable
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depending on whether such test or inspection will be conducted on the Site or off-Site. Owner shall have the opportunity to
witness any such inspection. Owner’s Engineer and any equity participant in Owner or Common Facilities Owner shall also have
the opportunity to witness any such inspection. Other Persons, including customers, that are Invitees of Owner may observe or
witness any such testing or inspections, on Site or off-Site, subject to Contractor’s prior consent, not to be unreasonably withheld
or delayed. Owner will be entitled to monitor all aspects of the Work, including the fabrication shops and construction means,
methods, techniques, sequences and procedures for coordinating all portions of the Work. Inspection or failure to inspect any or
all of the Work by Owner shall not constitute acceptance of the same or act in any way to release Contractor from any or all of its
obligations and liabilities hereunder, it being the intent of the Parties that Contractor shall remain responsible for performance of
the Work in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement, including attainment of the Guaranteed Performance Levels.

2.24.2 Inspection and Test Plans. In addition to conducting the Performance Tests, the Performance Test
Procedures and requirements that are described in Section 9.7, Contractor shall, during the course of performing the Work,
perform, or cooperate and assist in the performance of, all tests and inspections of the Work or portions thereof that are:
(a) required under any Applicable Laws or by any Vendor in writing; (b) in accordance with the Specifications; or (c) in
accordance with GECP. Contractor shall develop detailed inspection and test plans, by discipline, with respect to off-site (factory)
and on-Site inspections and tests, including with respect to Work performed at fabrication or module yards. Such plans shall
include all notifications required to be provided to Owner, including notifications with respecting the activities and testing
described in Appendix T-1 and the activities and testing described in Appendix T-2. Such plans shall be provided to Owner for
information. Contractor shall implement and follow the inspection and test plan in connection with the performance of the Work.
The tests, inspections or activities that shall be hold points where Contractor may not proceed unless Owner is present, or Owner
has waived the requirement to be present in writing, are designated on Appendix T-1 and Appendix T-2, as applicable.

2.24.3 On-Site Testing and Activities. Contractor shall provide Owner with weekly inspection and testing tracker
of anticipated on-Site inspections and testing, including anticipated on-Site activities and tests as described on Appendix T-2, and
Owner shall be included in Contractor’s standard distribution method to be notified of any updates or schedule modifications of
such activities, inspections or tests; provided that Owner shall be provided notice at least twenty four (24) hours in advance of
any schedule modification. Owner, Lenders’ Agent and the Independent Engineer, as well as Owner’s Engineer and any equity
participant in Owner or Common Facilities Owner, may observe the performance of any such test and activity or inspection, and
review the results of such tests and inspections. Such Persons, as well as Owner’s Engineer and any equity participant in Owner
or Common Facilities Owner may also observe the performance of any other on-Site test and inspection. Contractor shall not be
required to delay any such test or inspection in the event any such Persons are not present at the notified time and location unless
such test or inspection has been expressly designated as a hold point in connection with the inspection and test plan covering such
Work.
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2.24.4 Off-Site Testing and Inspections. Contractor shall provide Owner, Lenders’ Agent and the Independent
Engineer with no less than ten (10) Business Days written notice (or such other advance written notice as provided in
Appendix T-1) of the scheduled dates for the conduct of, and opportunity to witness, the off-site (factory acceptance and other)
tests as described on Appendix T-1. Once Contractor notifies Owner of the scheduled date for the conduct of a tests as described
on Appendix T-1, Contractor shall not conduct such test on an earlier date or re-schedule the test to an earlier date without prior
agreement of Owner, and if Contractor delays conduct of a test, Contractor shall notify Owner as soon as practicable of the re-
scheduled date. If the schedule for the conduct of any such tests changes or re-testing is required, Contractor shall provide Owner,
Lenders’ Agent and the Independent Engineer with written notice of the revised schedule, or the schedule for re-testing, as
applicable, as promptly as practicable. Contractor shall not be required to delay any such test or inspection in the event any such
Persons are not present at the notified time and location unless such test or inspection has been expressly designated as a hold
point in connection with the inspection and test plan covering such Work. With respect to the tests identified on Appendix T-1,
Contractor shall provide Owner with copies of all off-site test results once each Month, or earlier upon Owner’s reasonable
request, whether or not any Owner Group member witnesses such test. With respect to any off-site testing of Equipment or
components thereof not listed on Appendix T-1, Contractor shall provide Owner with copies of off-site test results upon Owner’s
reasonable request. Owner’s Engineer and any equity participant in Owner or Common Facilities Owner, shall also have the right
to witness off-site tests and receive copies of all off-site test results to the same extent as Owner. Owner shall communicate any
questions or comments relating to such off-site testing or inspections to Contractor rather than directly to Vendors.

2.24.5 Uncovering.

(a) No portion of the Work that has been designed as a hold point pursuant to the inspection and test plan
agreed to by the Parties shall be covered contrary to the requirements of this Agreement and prior to giving Owner reasonable
opportunity to inspect such portion of the Work, subject where applicable to the provisions of Section 2.24.3 or 2.24.4. If any
such portion of the Work should be covered contrary to the foregoing sentence, it must, if required in writing by Owner, be
uncovered for inspection and subsequently be recovered, all at Contractor’s expense.

(b) At any time prior to Substantial Completion if Owner reasonably believes that a portion of the Work
is Defective, Owner may request that Owner or the Independent Engineer be afforded the opportunity to inspect a portion of the
Work which has been properly covered (i.e., Owner has been given a reasonably opportunity to inspect such portion of the Work
before it was covered, subject where applicable to the provisions of Section 2.24.3 or 2.24.4), and Contractor shall uncover the
same. If the Work that is uncovered is determined to be Defective, Contractor shall bear the costs of such covering and
uncovering and the costs to bring the applicable portion of the Work into conformance with the terms of this Agreement. If the
Work that is uncovered as a result of Owner’s request is not Defective, Owner’s request shall be an Owner-Caused Delay.
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2.24.6 No Obligation to Inspect. Neither Owner’s, Lender’s Agent’s nor the Independent Engineer’s right to
conduct inspections under this Section 2.24 obligates Owner, Lender’s Agent or the Independent Engineer to do so. Neither the
exercise by Owner, Lender’s Agent or the Independent Engineer of any such right, nor any failure on the part of Owner, Lender’s
Agent or the Independent Engineer to discover or reject Defective Work, shall be construed to imply an acceptance of such
Defective Work or a waiver of such Defect.

2.25 Design and Engineering Work.

2.25.1 General. Contractor shall, as part of the Work, perform, or cause to be performed, all design and
engineering Work necessary so that the Work meets the requirements of this Agreement and is otherwise capable of achieving the
Guaranteed Performance Levels while meeting the Emission Guarantees and the Noise Guarantee. All design Work shall be
performed by Persons who are (a) engineers or other professionals qualified, experienced and competent in the disciplines of the
design for which they are responsible; and (b) hold the professional licenses required under Applicable Laws to design the Work.

2.25.2 Drawings and Specifications. The Drawings and Specifications shall be delivered to Owner in Fully
Functional files and shall conform and comply with the requirements of this Agreement, including the Scope of Work, Basis of
Design, Applicable Laws, and GECP.

2.25.3 Review Process.

(a) Periodic Reviews. During the development of the Drawings and Specifications, Contractor shall
periodically conduct reviews of the design and engineering in progress with Owner in accordance with Appendix A,
Attachment A-1 to Appendix A, and Appendix U, and provide Owner with the opportunity to provide comments during such
reviews. Such reviews may be conducted at Contractor’s office located in Houston, Texas, at any of its Supplier’s offices, or
remotely by electronic internet access, as the Parties agree.

(b) Submission by Contractor. Contractor shall submit copies of the Drawings and Specifications and
other Deliverables to Owner for formal review, comment, or acceptance in accordance with Attachment A-1 to Appendix A and
Appendix U.

(c) Review Periods. Owner shall have up to ten (10) Business Days from its receipt of Drawings and
Specifications and other Deliverables submitted in accordance with Section 2.25.3(b) or Section 2.25.3(e) to issue written
comments (which may include mark-ups of Drawings) or written acceptances of such Drawings and Specifications to Contractor.

(d) No Owner Response. If Owner does not issue any comments, proposed changes or written acceptance
or rejections within such time periods, Contractor may proceed with the development of such Drawings and Specifications and
any construction relating thereto, but Owner’s lack of comments or acceptance, if applicable, shall in no event constitute an
acceptance, approval or waiver by Owner with respect to the Drawings and Specifications received.

90



(e) Rejection by Owner. In the event that Owner rejects the Drawings or Specifications, Owner shall
provide Contractor with a written statement of the reasons why such Drawing or Specification does not comply with this
Agreement or does not comply with the version of the applicable Drawing last accepted by Owner (except as modified in
accordance with Section 2.25.4), within the time period required for Owner’s response under Section 2.25.3(c). Contractor shall
respond to Owner’s statement and, as applicable, shall provide Owner with revised and corrected Drawings and Specifications as
soon as possible thereafter. Owner’s rights with respect to the issuing of comments, proposed changes or acceptances or
rejections of such revised and corrected Drawings or Specifications shall be governed by the procedures specified in this
Section 2.25.3; provided, that Contractor shall not be entitled to any extensions of time to the Key Date Schedule, an adjustment
to the Contract Price or any other adjustment as a result of the need for such revisions and corrections. If Contractor disagrees
that such Drawing or Specification fails to comply with the Agreement, or does not comply with the version of the applicable
Drawing last accepted by Owner (except as modified in accordance with Section 2.25.4), contrary to Owner’s rejection, then in
accordance with Section 8.5.1, Contractor shall identify any resulting change in the Change Request Log.

(f) Acceptance or Non-Response by Owner. Upon Owner’s written acceptance of the Drawings and
Specifications, or if Owner does not issue any comments, proposed changes or written acceptances or rejections of such
Drawings and Specifications pursuant to Section 2.25.3(c), such Drawings and Specifications shall be the Drawings and
Specifications that Contractor shall use to construct the Work; provided, that Owner’s review or acceptance of any Drawings and
Specifications (or Owner’s lack of comments or written rejection thereof) shall not in any way be deemed to limit or in any way
alter Contractor’s responsibility to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.

2.25.4 Technical Deviations. During the performance of the Work, Contractor shall utilize a technical deviation
protocol to address any modifications or changes to any Specifications, which shall provide for notice to and prior approval of
Owner of any such pending modifications or changes (not to be unreasonably withheld) before such modification or change is
utilized in the Liquefaction Project, and shall be subject to Section 2.21.2, as applicable.

2.25.5 Management of Change. Contractor shall prepare a management of change procedure (“MOC”) for
Owner review and approval. Any changes to piping and instrument diagrams (P&IDs) following completion of the hazard and
operability analysis shall be managed through implementation of Contractor’s MOC procedure. HAZOP reviews for any changes
which have safety or operability implications will be conducted with Owner participation and documented in the HAZOP LOPA
Reports as MOC addendums.

2.25.6 Design Licenses. Contractor shall perform, or cause to be performed, all design and engineering Work
using GECP and in accordance with Applicable Laws, and all Drawings and Specifications and design and engineering Work
shall be signed and stamped by design professionals licensed in accordance with Applicable Laws.
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2.25.7 CAD Drawings. Unless otherwise expressly provided under this Agreement, all Drawings and Record As-
Built Drawings prepared by Contractor or its Suppliers under this Agreement shall be prepared using computer aided design
(“CAD”), in such formats and delivered in accordance with Appendix U.

2.25.8 As-Built Drawings. During construction, Contractor shall keep a redlined, marked, up-to-date set of As-
Built Drawings on the Site as required under Appendix U. Contractor shall deliver to Owner the As-Built Drawings for each
Stage in accordance with Appendix U. The Record As-Built Drawings shall be delivered by Contractor for each Stage no later
than one hundred twenty (120) Days after the Substantial Completion Date of such Stage, but in any event, no later than Final
Acceptance.

2.25.9 3D Model. Contractor shall develop and deliver to Owner a 3D model that complies with the applicable
requirements of Appendix U. Contractor shall coordinate and cooperate with Owner to update such 3D model during
performance of the Work.

2.25.10 Deliverables. Contractor shall deliver copies of all Deliverables in Fully Functional files, and in the
formats and in accordance with timing and other requirements set forth in Appendix U and Attachment U-1.

2.26 Survey Control Points. Contractor shall establish all survey control points and layout the entire Work in accordance
with the requirements of this Agreement. If Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or any of the representatives or employees of
any of them move or destroy or render inaccurate the survey control point provided by Owner, such control point shall be
replaced by Contractor at Contractor’s own expense and Contractor shall be liable to Owner for all other damages, costs, losses
and expenses arising out of such relocation or destruction.

2.27 Operation Prior to Substantial Completion.

2.27.1 Use of Operating Personnel. Contractor shall provide all labor, administrative personnel, materials,
supplies and other items which may be required in connection with operation of each Stage prior to Substantial Completion
except for the Operating Personnel. Training of Operating Personnel for the operation and maintenance of the LNG Facility shall
be in accordance with Section 2.16. Until Substantial Completion of the applicable Stage, the Operating Personnel providing
support to such Stage, including during Contractor’s pre-commissioning, commissioning, start-up and operation of such Stage
and the conduct of Performance Tests and any other tests for such Stage, shall be under the control of and supervised by
Contractor; provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, such Operating Personnel shall remain employees or agents of Owner
and shall not be considered employees of Contractor for any reason; provided, further, that the foregoing shall not be deemed or
construed to limit Contractor’s obligation to provide personnel during commissioning and Performance Testing, and Contractor
agrees that it shall remain responsible for direct supervision of Operating Personnel that perform such activities.

2.27.2 Plan for Utilization of Operating Personnel. Contractor shall, no later than two hundred seventy (270)
Days before the date on which the first tranche of Operating
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Personnel are scheduled to complete training in accordance with Appendix P, prepare for Owner’s review a proposed plan
regarding the utilization of the Operating Personnel and the interface with Contractor’s personnel during pre-commissioning,
commissioning, start-up and operation of such Stage, and the conduct of Performance Tests and any other tests for such Stage.
Each such utilization plan shall, among other things, be prepared (a) so as to minimize, to the extent reasonably possible under
the circumstances (considering the obligation to keep any Stage which has achieved Substantial Completion operable), any
impact on the operation of any Stage that has achieved Substantial Completion; (b) to take into account Owner’s operating and
maintenance procedures; (c) based on the number of the Operating Personnel available for participation in pre-commissioning,
commissioning, start-up and Performance Testing, and taking into consideration that after commissioning of Stage I is completed,
all Operating Personnel assigned to maintenance and all other Operating Personnel that were part of the first tranche of training,
shall be assigned to work on Stage I; (d) with consideration of any specific safety issues for such Stage; and (e) taking into
account the type of activities to be performed. Such utilization plan shall be mutually agreed-upon by the Parties no later than
forty-five (45) Days after Owner’s receipt of Contractor’s proposed plan.

2.27.3 No Relationship with Operating Personnel. Nothing in this Agreement, including this Section 2.27, shall
be interpreted to create a principal-agent relationship between Contractor and any of the Operating Personnel. Notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Contractor will not be entitled to a Change Order or any adjustment to its obligations
hereunder as a result of the performance, skill or actions of the Operating Personnel.

2.28 Coordination with Others Performing Work. Contractor acknowledges that Persons (including the Other
Contractors), contracting with Owner, other Owner Group members or subcontracting with Other Contractors, may perform
certain work on or near the Site. Contractor shall: (a) in accordance with the Interface Management Plan, coordinate the Work
with the work of such Persons and cooperate with such Persons to minimize the impact of any interference; (b) attend any
meeting reasonably requested by Owner or the Other Contractors (whether or not Owner is an attendee of such meeting) for the
purpose of coordinating performance of the Work or to resolve concerns relating to the Work, either Person’s employees, or either
Person’s subcontractors; and (c) use its commercially reasonable efforts, and cause its Subcontractors to use commercially
reasonable efforts to, maintain good working relationships with Other Contractors and their employees and such Other
Contractors’ subcontractors and their employees. If any Other Contractor that is performing any work on the Site fails to
reasonably cooperate or coordinate with Contractor and interferes with Contractor in the performance of the Work, Contractor
shall promptly notify Owner, reasonably explaining the facts and circumstances surrounding such delay, and Owner shall use
reasonable efforts to cause the Other Contractor to avoid interfering with Contractor and to cooperate and coordinate their
activities with Contractor.

2.29 Compliance with Lender Requirements.

2.29.1 Financing of Liquefaction Project; Agreements with Lenders. Contractor acknowledges that the
Liquefaction Project will be financed with assistance provided by
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Lenders. Contractor agrees to deliver, at its expense and as a condition to any such financing or refinancing, such documentation
and information as is customary for a financing or refinancing of such type. Without limitation on the preceding sentence,
Contractor agrees, when so requested by Owner, to: (a) enter into, and cause Contractor’s Guarantor to enter into, direct
agreements with any such Lender or Lenders’ Agent substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix OO-1 and

Appendix O0-2, respectively (each, a “Direct Agreement”), with such modifications thereto as required by such Lender or
Lenders’ Agent but that do not increase Contractor’s liability or obligations to Owner or the Common Facilities Owner, or limit
Contractor’s rights with respect to Owner under this Agreement; (b) deliver to Lenders or Lenders’ Agent certified copies of
Contractor’s and any Contractor Guarantor’s corporate charter and by-laws, resolutions, incumbency certificates, legal opinions
(covering, without limitation, such items as the validity and enforceability of this Agreement and any Contractor Guarantee,
Letter of Credit or other credit support provided hereunder, the due organization and existence of Contractor and any Contractor
Guarantor, that Contractor and any Contractor Guarantor has obtained all necessary governmental consents, and that no material
litigation exists), financial information that is customarily provided to Lenders (in a form and format to be reasonably acceptable
to Contractor), evidence of insurance, a consent to receive service of process in New York, New York and such other items as
Lenders or Lenders’ Agent may reasonably request, or that Owner may request in order to meet the reasonable information
requests of rating agencies that are rating debt to be issued by Owner for the purposes of financing the Liquefaction Project
(subject to customary rating agency confidentiality terms); (c) deliver such other information, documents or data as customarily
required by Lenders for purposes of preparing an offering memorandum, prospectus or similar sales document for a financing or
capital markets offering, including by providing reasonable access to management for due diligence discussions in connection
with any capital markets offering; and (d) fulfill all obligations and comply with all procedures, and require Suppliers, to the
extent applicable, to fulfill all obligations and comply with all procedures, that may reasonably result from Owner’s financing
arrangements, including providing all information and reports reasonably requested by Lenders or Lenders’ Agent to facilitate the
financing or refinancing of the LNG Facility and the Liquefaction Project, including lien waivers in accordance with

Sections 6.3.5 and 6.6. Contractor acknowledges that Owner will from time to time seek the consent of the Lenders, Lenders’
Agent or the Independent Engineer in connection with actions that Owner may take under this Agreement as necessary or
appropriate under the terms of Owner’s agreements with Lenders, and that seeking such consent shall not be deemed or construed
to be unreasonable.

2.29.2 Lender Requirements. Contractor agrees, as part of the Work:

(a) to make available financing expertise within its organization to work with and assist Owner’s
financial advisors;

(b) to promptly advise Owner of any significant change in financial position or rating;

(c) to allow Lenders, their representatives and designees (including any advisors and consultants) access
to the Site, any other location where the Work is performed,
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and the Work, upon prior request, during normal working hours and in a manner that does not delay or disrupt construction of the
LNG Facility in any respect, subject to Contractor and the Lenders having agreed on reasonably satisfactory confi